GLOBAL REPORT on



equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development







WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Global report on urban health: equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development.

1.Urban Health. 2.Urbanization. 3.Cities. 4.Conservation of Natural Resources I.World Health Organization. II.UN-Habitat.

ISBN 978 92 4 156527 1

.

Cover photos: "Full of Life" by Agelshaxe is licensed under CC BY 2.0

Full of Life by Ageisliake is licelised under CC BT 2.0

"Apartment Building" by olly301 is licensed under CC BY 2.0 "Hong Kong - Apartments" by Himbeerdoni is licensed under CC BY 2.0 WHO/Anna Kari

"Slums in Costa Rica" by David Amsler is licensed under CC BY 2.0 WHO/Anna Kari

WHO/Anna Kari

"Karnataka Urban Development and Coastal Environment Project" by Asian Development Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0

"Child Drinking Clean Water" by Living Water International is licensed under CC BY 2.0

"Samoa: water and sanitation" by Asian Development Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0

WHO/Anna Kari

"Raahgiri Day 15" by EMBARQ Sustainable Urban Mobility is licensed under CC BY 2.0

© World Health Organization 2016

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization are available on the WHO website (http://www.who.int) or can be purchased from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: bookorders@who.int).

Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications –whether for sale or for non-commercial distribution– should be addressed to WHO Press through the WHO website (http://www.who.int/about/licensing/copyright_form/index.html).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

CONTENTS

FOREWORD
PREFACE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ACRONYMS10
INTRODUCTION
SECTION 1: A vision for healthier cities
Chapter 1 — Reduce health inequity for sustainable development
Chapter 2 — Advance universal health coverage in cities
Chapter 3 — Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases 67
Chapter 4 — Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic 80
Chapter 5 — Tackle 21st century malnutrition
SECTION 2: Plan cities for people
Chapter 6 — Provide safe water and sanitation for all
Chapter 7 — Design healthier, more sustainable cities
Chapter 8 — Transform urban mobility 153
Chapter 9 — Improve health in the home
Chapter 10 — Ensure safety in the city
SECTION 3: A Renewed Focus on Urban Governance
ANNEX 1. Methodological notes for the urban-level analysis using the Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) and the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS)
ANNEX 2: Methodological notes on the calculation of the Urban Health Index (UHI) 221
SEMANTIC INDEX
REFERENCES

FIGURES

Figure 1. Urban inequalities in health outcomes and risk factors for 79 countries from four United Nations regions — pg 21

Figure 2. Applying a health lens to cities: the UHI — pg 24

Figure 3. Common patterns of the urban advantage and intra-urban health inequity — pg 34

Figure 4. Visualization of ward-level UHI values, based on age-adjusted mortality rates in Tokyo — pg 36

Figure 5. Maps of socioeconomic deprivation and smoothed standardized mortality ratios (sSMR) for men and women at the census tract-level in London — pg 37

Figure 6. Dot map showing the concentration of immigrants in New York City by place of origin — pg 43

Figure 7. Universal Health Coverage Dashboard for Urban Settings in Countries — pg 52

Figure 8. Trends in service coverage, by region across two time periods — pg 60

Figure 9. Trends in DPT3 vaccination coverage in urban areas of selected countries — pg 64

Figure 10. HIV prevalence among general population, by sex and place of residence — pg 69

Figure 11. Impact of the 90–90–90 Target on HIV infections and AIDS-related deaths, 2016–2030 — pg 70

Figure 12. Trends in HIV prevalence, by sex in urban areas — pg 71

Figure 13. Comprehensive Correct Knowledge of HIV/AIDS by educational attainment and wealth — pg 73

Figure 14. TB prevalence maps of Rotterdam and London — pg 75

Figure 15. Trends in prevalence of overweight and obesity among urban women by country — pg 82

Figure 16. Inequalities in smoking rates among urban men by wealth quintiles and by region — pg 86

Figure 17. Trends in prevalence of overweight (including obesity) among urban adult women, 1990–2013 — pg 94

Figure 18. Trends in prevalence of stunting among urban children under 5 years, 1990–2013 — pg 97

Figure 19. Trends in prevalence of stunting among children under 5 years by country and urban wealth quintile, 1990–2012 — pg 98

Figure 20. Association between the prevalence of overweight (including obesity) among adult women and the prevalence of stunting among children under 5 years living in urban areas — pg 99

Figure 21. Urban food deserts in Houston, Texas — pg 104

MDG Scorecard — pg 112

Figure 22. Trends in country-level urban prevalence of access to improved water sources comparing 1990–2004 to 2005– 2013, by world region — pg 124

Figure 23. Prevalence of open defecation in urban areas by country and by household wealth quintile — pg 128 Figure 24. Household access to improved water sources in urban areas by country and by household wealth quintile — pg 130

Figure 25. Urban spatial expansion and population growth — pg 139

Figure 26. Population density and transport energy use — pg 140

Figure 27. Map of areas that are within one or more alternative transport networks in Bilbao, Spain, 2015 — pg 146

Figure 28. Wealth and car ownership levels — pg 154

Figure 29. Global map of air pollution levels in 1600 cities — pg 156

Figure 30. Top 10 causes of death among people ages 15–29, 2012 — pg 158

Figure 31. Reported traffic fatalities per 100 000 inhabitants in selected world cities — pg 159

Figure 32. Proportion of urban households with dirt floors by wealth quintile for selected countries — pg 172

Figure 33. Proportion of urban households using solid fuels for cooking by wealth quintile for selected countries — pg 182

Figure 34. Global housing affordability gap for 2400 world cities — pg 187

Figure 35. Distribution of murder — pg 190

Figure 36. Map of Cape Town districts by crime level — pg 193

FOREWORD

We are at an unprecedented moment in human development as the greatest migration in history unfolds around us. Less than a decade ago a majority of humankind still lived in the countryside, yet today a clear majority live in urban areas. By the deadline of the new Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in 2030, 60% of all people will reside in cities, proportionally twice that of 1950. For most of us from now on, life and death will be an urban affair.

In 2010, at the dawn of this urban world, we published our first joint global report on urban health titled *Hidden cities: unmasking and overcoming health inequities in urban settings.* The global community was not only waking up to this new demographic reality and the consequent implications for health, society, and economic and political affairs, but also to a host of new opportunities as humans shape and are shaped by an urban future.

Apart from the impact of urbanization on human health, the report used new statistics to demonstrate that the growth of prosperity in cities leaves behind significant 'hidden' urban areas and populations. Indeed, many of today's urban poor are not only much worse off than their wealthier fellow citizens, they even lag behind rural populations. Urban inequity is obviously unjust, but certainly also hindered national and global achievement of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs).

This new report coincides with the advent of the new SDGs and development paradigm. Equity, inclusiveness, and accountability in health and development are core principles and themes of the SDGs, as well as for the Third United Nations Conference on Housing and Sustainable Urban Development in Quito in October 2016. The commitment to universal health coverage, as well as to the New Urban Agenda that will emerge from Quito, is intrinsically linked to improving the living conditions and health of all city dwellers.

A healthy population is essential for creating economically competitive and inclusive cities. Health and its various determinants, cities and inequality, are all represented by individual goals in the SDGs and the solutions are interdependent. City leaders are broadening their responsibilities to take on global health and demographic issues such as pollution, slum upgrading, noncommunicable diseases, communicable disease such as HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis, as well as population ageing and migration.

Similarly, cities are increasingly focusing on measuring and challenging inequities. At least 102 cities in 53 countries use the WHO's Urban Health Equity Assessment and Response Tool (Urban HEART) to analyse and plan for more equitable health outcomes. International organizations have also focused on urban health equity in recent years, publishing flagship reports such as UNICEF's *State of the world's children 2012: children in an urban world*; UNAIDS' 2014 *The cities report*; and Save the Children's 2015 *State of the world's mothers: the urban disadvantage*, to name just a few.

Practical, proven solutions exist to tackle these 21st century challenges. This report presents evidence that in cities, progress in health depends not only on the strength of health systems, but also on shaping urban environments. Capitalizing on such intrinsically linked factors leads to efficiency, synergies and co-benefits, and is essential to the attainment of the SDGs. The report presents examples of effective actions by cities and nations around the world and subsequent successes. At the same time, it underscores the persistence of inequity and how its root causes must fundamentally be addressed in order to achieve meaningful progress.

As the global community transitions hopefully into a new era of sustainable development, committed leadership is needed to create healthier, more equitable cities. This report should serve as a starting point for identifying the health challenge faced by hundreds of millions of vulnerable people currently living in cities around the world, as well as for crafting policies and actions for sustainable urban development for the majority of humanity who will reside in the cities of the future.

Marie-Paule Kieny Assistant Director-General

Health Systems and Innovation World Health Organization (WHO) Joan Clos Executive Director

United Nations Human Settlements Programme (Habitat)

ΡG

PREFACE

This timely report comes at a decisive moment in history where we can reshape urban environments and health systems for the majority of the world's population that live in cities. Enabling this transformation are the SDGs, which have reconfigured how governments and the international community need to plan and implement actions to eradicate poverty and inequality, create inclusive economic growth, preserve the planet and improve population health. Central to this quest is to create equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development.

A focus on urban health not only recognizes global demographic trends but the inextricable and inter-dependent links between health, economic productivity, social stability and inclusion, climate change and healthy environments, and an enabling built environment and governance. With half of the anticipated world's population that will live in cities in 2050 not yet born or living there, we must seize the opportunity to create health systems and environments that enable improved health outcomes and liveable cities.

The first WHO-UN-Habitat global report, *Hidden Cities*, focused primarily on revealing health inequities. This second report reviews progress made in reducing equity gaps and enhancing health in cities, especially with respect to achieving the Millennium Development Goals. It emphasizes the use of high quality evidence and best practices for a wide array of multi-sectoral actions and solutions, illustrates how health and non-health sectors are determinants for one another's outcomes, and strategies for addressing health inequities, essential for achieving the SDGs.

The report draws from the WHO Centre for Health Development (WHO Kobe Centre) and its network of collaborators' decade of work to increase the knowledge base for urban health, particularly in understanding health inequities and the interaction of social, economic, and political determinants for health. The report could not have been possible without the contributions from many WHO Departments, units, and Regional Offices, from UN-Habitat, and from over 150 experts outside of WHO. Section 1 of the report presents a vision for healthier cities, inclusive of a review of health inequities, the promise of universal health coverage (UHC), the need, opportunities, and solutions to address communicable and non-communicable diseases, health emergencies, malnutrition, and supporting healthy ageing. As health gains can only be achieved with other sectors' engagement and actions, Section 2 provides a comprehensive look at actions required for co-benefits for health and for liveable, inclusive cities. These include urban planning, water and sanitation, transport, housing, energy, safety, and other factors that have positive and negative health implications.

The report seeks to provide a foundation from which to measure the SDGs, particularly for health, for urban settings, and for a number of other, inter-related goals and targets. Cities represent national "laboratories" for synergistic actions that are central to achieving a variety of SDGs and innovation at scale. Underpinning all such efforts is the need for bold leadership by leaders, across professional disciplines, and within communities, and the need for an "urban data revolution" as the report stipulates to measure and get things done.

For all of the potential of urbanization, disparities and inequities within cities will continue to undermine the realization of their promise. With nearly a billion people living in slums and informal settlements today, projected to double by 2050, optimal health outcomes for these populations cannot be realized without renewed commitment.

At the core of the dynamic and transformative nature of cities are people – healthy people. In order to pursue this goal and the SDGs, we must ensure that all citizens and communities, regardless of income, social status, or gender, have access to the quality health services they need with sufficient financial protection. A healthy population is the basis of a city's, and ultimately a nation's and the planet's, sustainable economic growth, social stability, and full realization of human potential.

> Alex Ross Director WHO Center for Health Development

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was developed under the leadership of Marie-Paule Kieny, WHO Assistant Director-General of Health Systems and Innovation and Alex Ross, Director of the WHO Centre for Health Development, in partnership with UN-Habitat with appreciation to Oyebanji Oyelaran-Oyeyinka, Director of Regional Office for Africa, UN-Habitat. Paul Rosenberg and Amit Prasad coordinated the development of this report.

The principal writers of this report were Paul Rosenberg, Megumi Kano, Isobel Ludford, and Amit Prasad. Thomson Prentice provided support for technical writing and AvisAnne Julien was the technical editor for the report. Additional data analysis for the report was supported by Dajun Dai, Cecilia Vidal Fuertes, Richard Rothenberg, Christine Stauber, Scott Weaver, and Doohee You. Accurat S.R.L. developed the layout, design and data visualisations for the report. Mariko Yokoo provided administrative support. This report benefited greatly from the inputs of many WHO and UN-Habitat colleagues.

Steering Committee

Rick Bell, Jo Ivey Boufford, Bijal Brahmbhatt, Carlos Dora, Chris Dye, Zeinab Khadr, Katsunori Kondo, Alain Le Saux, Vivian Lin Oyebanji Oyeyinka Oyeleran, Amit Prasad, K. Srinath Reddy, Alex Ross.

Scientific Advisory Committee

Carme Borrell, Alex Chika Ezeh, Keisuke Hanaki, Maria Isabel Gutierrez Martinez, Gora Mboup, Mushfiq Mobarrak, Rachel Nugent, Hoda Rashad, Osman Sankoh, Michael White.

Contributors

All chapters are based on contributions from WHO and UN-Habitat departments, programmes and partnerships as well as other United Nations agencies and academic institutions with specific contributions from Rudayna Abdo, Christy Abraham, Claudia Adriazola-Steil, Siddharth Agarwal, Surinder Aggarwal, Roy Ahn, Gustavo Angeles, Adeline Azrack, Sushil Baral, Donatien Beguy, Cathy Bennett, Gustavo Bergonzoli, Carme Borrell, Vanesa Castán Broto, Amanda Curry Brown, Thomas Burke, Somnath Chatterji, Jianhua Chen, Antony Chum, Thomas Chupein, Guéladio Cisse, Adolfo

Contreras, Jason Corburn, Silvia Costa, Tracy Creighton, Mike Davies, Diego Daza, Evelyn de Leeuw, Marc Marí Dell'Olmo, Marie des Meules, Èlia Díez, He Dongquan, Thaddaeus Egondi, Helen Elsey, Patricia Elung'ata, Sarah Engebretsen, Britt Erikson, Elin Andersdotter Fabre, Lizann Fernandez, Alexandre Chiavegatto Filho, Ann Forsyth, Sandro Galea, Sebastian Galiani, Gerry Gallagher, Stella González, Billie Giles-Corti, Mercè Gotsens, Husain Gulamhusein, Isabel Günther, Lawrence Haddad, Ian Hamilton, Masamichi Hanazato, Natasha Harris, Phil Hatcher, Peter Hawkins, Leo Heller, Jamie Hosking, Philippa Howden-Chapman, Stephen Jan, Zhou Jian, Abhas Jha, Pamela Juma, Alex Kalache, Ronald Kessler, Sudeepa Khanal, Meleckidzedeck Khayesi, Drew Kodjak, Carly Koinange, Katsunori Kondo Osamu Kunii, Catherine Kyobutungi, Jane Laishes, Natasha Ledlie, Karen Lee, Michael Loevinsohn, Rene Loewenson, Andrea Long, Melanie Lowe, Ruiyan Luo, Christoph Lüthi, Jack Makau, Konstantinos Makris, Davide Malmusi, Daniel Mansfield, Silvia Martins, Jeff Masuda, Annie Matan, Blessing Mberu, Patricia McCarney, Anita McGahan, Michael W. Mehaffy, Roshananak Mendiapah, Agnes Midi, Sarah Milton, Ray Minjares, Winnie Mitullah, Mushfiq Mobarak, Dinesh Mohan, Monrovia City Corporation, Office of the Mayor, Chisato Mori, Robert Muggah, Kanyiva Muindi, Hiroko Nakaoka, Parvathi Nampoothiri, Cory Neudorf, Priscila Neves-Silva,

James Newell, Peter Newman, Peter Ngau, Nicholas Ngomi, Sara Beysolow Nyanti, Thomas O'Connell, Patricia O'Campo, Japheths Ogendi, Toshiyuki Ojima, Tollulah Oni, Samuel Oti, Laia Palència, Jerome Pfaffmann, Louise Plouffe, Blake Poland, Barry Popkin, Prevention Institute, Public Health Agency of Canada, Centre for Health Promotion, Tom Pullum, Sandra Crouse Quinn, Francesca Racioppi, Vitoria Ramos, Maica Rodríguez-Sanz, Mónica Andrea Rojas, Joyashree Roy, Yvonne Rydin, James Sallis, Laura Sampson, Setsuko Saya, Christian Schweizer, Linda Selvey, Kunihiro Shiina, Jose Siri, Gary Slutkin, Warren Smit, Karin Sommer, Abdramane Soura, Phillip Stanley, Zuzana Stanton-Geddes, Claudia Adriazola Steil, Peter Kim Streatfield, Jean Swanson, Sara Terry, Dana Thomson, Hilary Thomson, Jasmine Tillu, Ojima Toshiyuki, Natalie Turner, Cristina Ugolini, Marianne Vanderschuren, Pritha Venkatachalam, Arpana Verma, Diego Victoria, Ramona Vijeyarasa, Alejandro Villegas, Ina Voelcker, Marylene Wamukoya, Gina Watson, Benjamin Welle, Jane Weru, Paul Wilkinson, Alan Zaslavsky, Nici Zimmermann.

Research Assistants

Sean Dalton, Koray Demir, Chelsea Gray, Jiawen Liu, Kavita Kothari Shah, Julia Stricker, Ali Hamza Syed.

ACRONYMS

ACP	African, Caribbean and Pacific			
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome			
APHRC	African Population and Health Research Centre			
ВМІ	Body Mass Index			
BRT	Bus Rapid Transit			
CLUES	Community-Led Urban Environmental Sanitation			
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease			
DHS	Demographic and Health Surveys			
DOTS	Directly Observed Therapy Short Course			
DPT	Diptheria, Pertussis and Tetanus			
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization			
GDP	Gross Domestic Product			
ны	Human Development Index			
HEAT	Health Economic Assessment Tool			
HiAP	Health in All Policies			
ніх	Human Immunodeficiency Virus			
ICLEI	International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives			
юм	International Organization for Migration			
LAC	Latin America and Caribbean			
LMIC	Low- And Middle-Income Country			
MDG	Millennium Development Goal			
MDR-TB	multidrug-resistant tuberculosis			
MICS	Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey			
MSM	Men Who Have Sex With Men			
NCD	Noncommunicable Disease			
NGO	Nongovernmental Organization			
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development			

PM	Particulate Matter			
PSU	Primary Sampling Unit			
PSUP	Participatory Slum Uprading Programme			
RHEP	Richmond Health Equity Partnership			
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal			
SEWA	Self Employed Women's Association			
тв	Tuberculosis			
TCNY	Take Care New York			
UCLG	United Cities and Local Governments Network			
UHC	Universal Health Coverage			
UHI	Urban Health Index			
UN	United Nations			
UNAIDS	United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS			
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund			
UN-Habitat	United Nations Human Settlements Pro- gramme			
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund			
UNISDR	United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction			
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime			
Urban HEART	Urban Health Equity Assessment and Response Tool			
US	United States			
US\$	United States dollar			
USA	United States of America			
wно	World Health Organization			
XDR-TB	Extensively Drug Resistant Tuberculosis			

SDGS:

PVRTY	
HNGR	
HLTH	
EDUC	
GNDR	
WATR	
ENRG	

7





PARTN 17

COUNTRIES:

	BRA
	CAN
	CHN
Sustainable Development Goals	000
	COL
•	FRA GBR
Multifaceted challenges for health	GHA
•	GIN
Cities take centre stage in global health and development initiatives	IND
	IRN
•	ITA
Inequalities: a universal concern	JPN
	KEN
•	КНМ
Action on health inequities using	LBR
Urban HEART	MLI
•	MOZ
	MWI
Measuring the prospects for good	NGA
health in cities	РАК
•	PER
	PHL
About this report	RWA
	SLE
	SWZ
	UGA
	USA
	ZAF
	ZWE

INTRODUCTION

HNGR

LUC A EDUC 4 WATR 6 ENRG 7 ECON 8 INFRA 9 INFRA 9

11

CLIMT

13

Cities are now at the forefront of tackling critical global development issues, including public health. In September 2015, 193 Member States of the United Nations gathered in New York City, USA, to adopt a new set of 17 global development goals with 169 national targets called the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (1). While the SDGs cover a wide range of critical issues such as ending poverty, achieving universal education and combating climate change, among others, one of its goals (SDG 11) is dedicated to making cities inclusive, safe, sustainable and resilient. Targets key to achieving this goal such as housing, air quality and transport are also important determinants of people's health in cities.

Improving health will remain a global priority during 2016–2030 with SDG 3 focused on ensuring healthy lives and promoting well-being for all at all ages. Healthy populations are essential to realizing human potential as well as the objective of equitable, inclusive and economically vibrant cities. The predominance and high density of populations in cities, the complexity of risk factors influencing health and the impact of inequities on health, social and economic outcomes argue for taking action on the determinants of health to improve health and attain universal health coverage (UHC).

The percentage of the world's population living in urban areas is projected to increase from 54% in 2015 to 60% in 2030 and to 66% by 2050. This is particularly significant when considering that until the start of the 20th century only one in 10 people lived in urban areas. In absolute terms, more than 1 billion people were added to urban areas between 2000 and 2014. The United Nations estimates that more than 90% of future urban population growth will be in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (2). Cities are not just economic drivers for countries, but are centres of innovation to manage and respond to dramatic demographic and epidemiological transitions. A few examples illustrate innovative approaches and the leveraging role of cities. For instance, in France on 1 December 2014, World AIDS Day, mayors from around the world signed the 2014 Paris Declaration to put cities on the fast track to end the AIDS epidemic. The mayors pledged that by 2020, 90% of people living with HIV in cities will know their HIV status, 90% of people living with HIV who know their status will receive HIV treatment, and 90% of people on HIV treatment will have a suppressed viral load (the 90–90–90 Target). These targets are expected to be met at the national level by 2030, but cities are fast tracking their efforts to achieve them by 2020.

Also, in 2014, a coalition of city leaders pledged to address climate change by reducing their greenhouse gas emissions. This initiative, the Compact of Mayors, was launched by the United Nations (UN) under the leadership of global city networks - the Cities Climate Leadership Group (C40), the United Cities and Local Governments Network (UCLG) and the International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI). To date, through this agreement, 206 cities with a combined population of 270 million have committed to undertake a transparent and supportive approach to reduce city-level emissions, to reduce vulnerability and to enhance resilience to climate change. In October 2015, mayors from 115 cities, home to 400 million people, signed the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact. This commitment entails local actions to tackle global emergencies of hunger, malnutrition and food wastage. Cities have pledged to develop sustainable food systems that are inclusive, resilient, safe and diverse that provide healthy and

PARTN 17 SUBSECTION

Introduction

affordable food to all people in a human rights-based framework, among other issues.

These examples underscore two main reasons for cities to develop a proactive approach in order to resolve global development problems. First, cities are likely to account for a large proportion of both the burden and the causes of specific issues. For instance, 25% of all HIV patients live in just 200 cities worldwide. In sub-Saharan Africa, HIV prevalence in urban areas is twice that in rural areas despite much progress over the past decade (3). With respect to climate change, cities are responsible for more than 70% of all greenhouse gas emissions

globally (4). Second, municipal and local governments have the ability to effect change through policies and programmes to address these problems locally, which collectively can make a significant impact at national and global levels. For example, municipal services such as energy, water and transportation can be delivered to citizens in a way that can reduce local greenhouse gas emissions. By making this a collective action such as through the Compact of Mayors, these local efforts can make a major contribution to addressing global climate change. There is much that the global development community can gain from the proactive and coordinated action of city leaders.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The 17 SDGs are a highly ambitious agenda that seeks to achieve economic, social and environmental development objectives, globally, with a focus on equity. A United Nations estimate puts the annual investment gap for achieving the SDGs in developing countries at US\$ 2.5 trillion (5). Achieving the SDGs will, however, require more than money. It will need a global change of mindsets and a synergistic approach to achieving the 169 targets set by the world's governments. Progress in cities will impact the achievements of every other SDG. Similarly, health achievements will support progress in other goals, and will be strongly influenced by advances in each of the other goals.

While the SDGs related to health and cities are not explicitly linked, they are increasingly linked in practice by mayors of cities, thus a number of synergies are likely to arise in achieving both goals. For example, SDG 3.8 for health establishes the far-reaching objective of UHC that is key to advancing equity, while SDG 11.3 broadly stipulates planning and management for inclusive and sustainable urbanization. Similarly, SDG 3.9 for health and SDG 11.6 for cities both focus on the impacts of air pollution. While the former emphasizes reducing deaths and disease, the latter focuses on the environmental impacts. Comparably, targets 3.6 and 11.2 both relate to improving road safety. These present clear opportunities for achieving two goals, and producing co-benefits, between those focusing on health development and those focusing on urban development.

There are a number of other health targets where achievement will be linked to urban development. For instance, SDG targets 3.3 and 3.4 focus on ending the HIV epidemic and reducing preventable mortality from noncommunicable diseases (NCDs). While the prevalence of HIV is concentrated in people residing in cities, urban lifestyle FRA

SUBSECTION

Introduction

15

USA

 is considered to be a driving factor for the increase in the burden of NCDs. If cities make adequate progress towards their targets on housing, the environment and socioeconomic issues, then they are more likely to support healthier and more prosperous populations.

An integrative approach to the SDGs will be beneficial for achieving the goals for health and for cities. Solutions for many of the challenges require multisectoral collaboration. For instance, reducing preventable deaths due to NCDs in cities will need coordination across diverse sectors such as health, urban planning, education, finance, commerce and regulation, among others. This coordination will also have to take place across different levels of government – local, provincial and national – and be supported by global actions.

The urban advantages of having greater resources, higher density, and better infrastructure and service availability than in rural areas, on average, can facilitate a higher quality of life. An emphasis on decentralizing authority in many countries has enabled city governments to achieve greater autonomy in raising revenues and developing social and economic policies and programmes. City authorities also have the advantage of being closer to the people they serve and can potentially collaborate more effectively across different sectors of government, the private sector and civil society.

Innovative initiatives by city governments, including cities in LMICs, in collaboration with civil society and academia have focused on improving people's health. Bogotá, the capital of Colombia, was one of the first to implement the *Ciclovía Recreativa* programme, where over 97 kilometres of city streets are closed to traffic on Sundays to help promote cycling, walking and physical activity, and to reduce traffic-related air pollution. Approximately, from 600 000 to 1.4 million people make use of the programme with over 40% participating for more than three hours at a time. It is estimated that the programme has led to US\$ 3.2–4.3 annual savings in health-care costs per person in Bogotá (6).

In a move towards UHC, city authorities in Guangzhou, China, increased the scope of their free basic health service provision in 2009 to include registered immigrants. The free package includes 12 key health services focusing on infectious disease, chronic illness, maternal and child health, and public health emergencies, among others. This service reached nearly 13 million people in 2013. At the same time, Guangzhou government funding for the programme doubled between 2009 and 2015 from US\$ 4 per person per year to US\$ 8 (7).

Mayors are turning their city halls into policy labs and are innovating on a grand scale. Cities are collaborating across national borders more than ever before: sharing ideas; forming coalitions; and challenging their national governments to adopt policies. This is not to say that cities can replace the nation–state in reducing poverty, improving security or fighting disease. They cannot. Instead, this is to highlight that cities are not only effective partners for national authorities, but also that, increasingly, this partnership is becoming a necessity (8).

CLIMT 13

PARTN 17

PVRTY

нітн

з

EDUC

4

WATR 6

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

CITY

11

Global partnerships can also provide additional leverage for city authorities and civil society. A number of independent international organizations act as platforms for cities around the world to exchange ideas and cooperate on development issues. Some of these organizations, such as ICLEI and Metropolis, have been active for the past 25–30 years. These organizations connect city leaders from across the world in strategic alliances with an objective to develop better cities.

ICLEI, for instance, focuses on sustainable development in cities and encourages solutions that are low carbon, resilient and healthy with a green economy and

SUBSECTION

smart infrastructure. It connects more than 1000 cities, covering 20% of the world's urban population. Metropolis has a network of 141 metropolitan areas and cities and provides a global platform for mutual learning, innovation, governance and technical and financial assistance. While health is not yet a primary focus of activities at Metropolis, the organization has jointly developed initiatives with WHO, including its *Cities for health* report (9), to put health on the agenda of mayors.

The SDGs offer a new platform for cities to connect globally and cooperate color a wide range of development issues, including health, environment and the economy.

MULTIFACETED CHALLENGES FOR HEALTH

In virtually all cities the advantages for health can be considerably greater for some people than for others. In fact, for some people living in cities, there is no urban advantage at all. For example, in London, United Kingdom, people live 17 years longer in Westminster than those just a few stations further along the Underground (10). People in some communities in Baltimore, USA, live 20 fewer years than others in the same city (11). Their life expectancy is similar to that of the People's Republic of Korea, where people are, on average, 30 times poorer than those in the USA.

Cities in LMICs face severe problems in distributing limited resources among rapidly growing populations. This mismatch of rapidly increasing populations and limited resources is most visibly manifested in the proliferation of slums and informal settlements. More than 880 million people are currently estimated to live in slum conditions around the world (12). Projections reveal that this is expected to more than double to 2 billion people by 2050 (13).

Poor housing conditions, overcrowding, lack of access to safe water and sanitation, and a lack of secure tenure characterize slums. They account for about three in five people in urban areas of sub-Saharan Africa, one in three people in urban Asia and one in five people in urban Latin America and the Caribbean (12). Most worryingly, the extent of the problem might be underestimated. Poor urban households may be "invisible" in areas of higher wealth or "illegitimate" in informal settlements. Many people are also likely to be pushed into poverty due to higher prices of essential commodities in urban areas. For example, in eastern and southern Africa, rapid urbanization in almost all countries in the region is raising new social, economic, public health and health system challenges. While the rural-urban gap in poverty has narrowed in many countries, such as Mozambique and Uganda between 1990 and 2010, this reduction is in part due to a rise in urban poverty. A major consequence of rapid unplanned urbanization linked to rising urban poverty has been high urban food prices. In South Africa, for example, food inflation was 16.7% between October 2007 and October 2008, outstripping overall inflation (at 12.1%). The poorest urban households would have had to raise their incomes by at least 22% to maintain the same food basket between April 2007 and October 2008 (14).

Furthermore, a range of health conditions and vulnerabilities has emerged, which represent an urban disadvantage offsetting earlier gains. NCDs – the diseases that result from a combination of our biology, how we live our lives and the environment we live in – are endemic to city life. A study of more than 100 countries found that body mass index (BMI) and blood cholesterol levels, both major risk factors for NCDs,



MOZ

UGA

CHN

GBR

rose rapidly with increases in national income and level of urbanization (15). WHO estimates that 68% of global deaths were caused by NCDs in 2012 (16). Much of this burden will be concentrated in cities.

Urban environments offer favourable grounds for the spread of infectious diseases, especially in areas of high population densities with low resources such as slums. Increased international travel and migration have resulted in cities becoming important hubs for the transmission of infectious diseases, as shown by recent pandemics such as H1N1 and Ebola virus. In addition, rapid urbanization can introduce diseases mostly prevalent in remote rural areas into cities. For example, schistosomiasis has established itself in urban areas, most probably through infected migrants in many sub-Saharan African cities. The global incidence of dengue has grown dramatically in recent decades with about half of the world's population now at risk. It is found in tropical and subtropical climates worldwide, mostly in urban and semi-urban areas. In high-income European countries, the prevalence of tuberculosis (TB) in big cities is 2.5 times that of the national prevalence (17). This has been attributed mainly to the concentration of high-risk population groups such as migrants from high-incidence TB countries.

The concentration of poverty in overcrowded urban areas also constitutes an increased risk for violence and injuries. Homicide rates in the 10 biggest cities of Brazil were 3.5 times higher than the national average in 2011 (18). In many LMIC cities, urbanization and the increased number of motorized vehicles have not been accompanied by adequate transport infrastructure, enforcement of traffic regulations or implementation of measures to ensure improved road safety, resulting in a higher incidence of road traffic injuries and deaths.

The types of health challenges that need to be tackled are varied. Looked at another way, however, cities have several potential entry points through which they can improve the conditions for health and their outcomes.

Source: WHO/Anna Kari



HLTH



Source: WHO/Anna Kari

CITIES TAKE CENTRE STAGE IN GLOBAL HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES

A rising prevalence of NCDs, the persistent threat of infectious disease outbreaks and an increased risk of violence and injuries are key public health concerns in urban areas. WHO termed this phenomenon as the "triple threat of disease" in urban areas in 2010 when it led a global campaign on urban health. On World Health Day in April 2010, the worldwide 1000 Cities, 1000 Lives campaign engaged more than 1500 cities in 100 countries to conduct activities to raise public awareness on how urban living impacts health and what can be done about it.

Later in 2010, WHO and the United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat) launched a global report on urban health titled *Hidden Cities: unmasking and overcoming health inequities in urban settings*. This was the first joint report by the two organizations aimed at increasing the attention of policy-makers and the international community on urban health. It was also the first time that the magnitude of urban health inequities was systematically revealed and compared across countries. Drawing on the experiences of cities in different sociopolitical contexts and levels of development, this report introduced a framework for action on health for cities.

Also in 2010, mayors from around the world adopted a call to action at the Global Forum on Urbanization and Health in Kobe, Japan, consisting of three major JPN

BRA

SUBSECTION

Introduction

 areas – evidence-based action, multisectoral coordination and community participation in decision-making. Tools to help local authorities and civil society plan action on health inequities, such as the WHO Urban Health Equity Assessment and Response Tool (Urban HEART), were introduced along with other resources.

Since then, there has been a growing recognition of the role of cities in improving global health. In recent years, a number of international organizations, including the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), the United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the International Organization for Migration (IOM) and the international nongovernmental organization (NGO) Save the Children, to name a few, have produced global reports focused on the various impacts of urban living on population health and their key determinants. Each of the reports has recognized that cities need to address the significant disparities in access to basic services, social justice and economic opportunities.

The UNICEF State of the world's children 2012 report (19) noted that hundreds of millions of children live in urban slums, many without access to basic services. Many actually live in close proximity to urban amenities, including modern health facilities, but are still deprived of even the most rudimentary services due to inequity and social exclusion. There can be no enjoyment of health for these children. Such poor outcomes and opportunities leave children more vulnerable to the effects of environmental shocks. Improving access and service quality are vital to reducing child mortality and morbidity. This also has long-term implications for children's health, longevity and prosperity as adults.

The 2015 edition of the Save the Children report *State of the world's moth*ers: the urban disadvantage (20) affirmed that "one of the worst places in the world to be a mother is in an urban slum". This report also focuses on the vast inequalities that impact health and economic opportunities for large numbers of urban citizens. For example, in relative terms, under-5 mortality across wealth groups have roughly doubled in urban areas of Kenya, Malawi and Rwanda despite these countries' overall success in saving more children's lives in cities.

The cities report in 2014 from UNAIDS acknowledged that urban areas are home to millions of people who are excluded from social, political and economic progress, and thus are more likely to be at higher risk of diseases such as HIV. Urban characteristics, especially in slums, of poor sanitation and overcrowding are also linked to a higher risk for TB, a leading cause of death among people living with HIV. While recognizing the challenges, the report expressed confidence in cities' abilities to tackle the social causes of inequalities that create a higher risk environment for health.

CLIMT 13

PVRTY

нітн

з

EDUC

4

GNDR 5

WATR

6

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INEO

10

CITY 11

INEQUALITIES: A UNIVERSAL CONCERN

A common theme across all global initiatives on health in cities has been the need to tackle inequalities in health and in the underlying social, economic, environmental and political determinants of health. Even if cities possess resources in abundance, these resources often are concentrated in the hands of a relatively small proportion of the population and it is clear that the presumed urban advantage systematically excludes hundreds of millions of people. Inequalities that are systematic and remediable are considered to be

PEACE 16

PARTN SUBSECTION

17

Introduction



inequities, and are a manifestation of social injustice.

A_{sia} Pacific

Latin America and Caribbean

While there are substantial inequalities across regions, there are also high inequalities that exist within cities, countries and regions across various dimensions such as gender, age, wealth status, education levels and ethnicity. An analysis of urban data from 79 LMICs across four global regions revealed that children in the poorest fifth of urban households are more than twice as likely to die before their first birthday as children in the richest fifth of urban households are, with substantial variations within regions (Figure 1(a)).

As another example, solid fuel use for cooking, a major contributor to deaths due to indoor air pollution, is uncommon among the richest populations in three of the four regions, Africa being the exception (Figure 1(b)). However, in the Asia-Pacific region, one in two people in the poorest fifth use solid fuels for cooking. In Africa, 90% of the poorest fifth are likely to use solid fuels for cooking compared to 50% of the richest fifth. These two examples illustrate that it is not enough to monitor urban averages. It is also necessary to disaggregate data by sociodemographic characteristics of the population. This information can then inform policies and programmes to improve equity.

KFN

MWI

RWA

Figure I(a). Infant mortality per 1.000 live births, Figure 1. Urban inequalities in health outcomes and risk factors for 79 countries from four United Nations regions

East Europe

median, by weath quintile

Note: The analysis includes data from urban areas in 79 countries: 40 countries in Africa, 23 in the Asia-Pacific, 8 in Eastern Europe, 8 in LAC countries. Median values for urban areas were calculated for countries within each region. For details, see Annex 1: Table A1.2.

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).



East

Europe

Figure 1(b). Fopulation using solid fuels (%),

median, by wealth quintile

Pacific

Latin America

and Caribbean

ACTION ON HEALTH INEQUITIES USING URBAN HEART

More than 100 cities in 53 countries around the world have used the WHO Urban HEART tool (22) to plan action for reducing health inequities. Developed by WHO in partnership with academics and city officials, Urban HEART guides users through a process of bringing different stakeholders together, collecting and collectively analysing disaggregated data on health and its determinants and planning action to reduce inequities informed by best practices. The tool has been used in diverse environments, from small cities such as Matsapha, Swaziland, with a population of 35 000 to Tehran, the Islamic Republic of Iran, home to more than 8 million people. Cities at varying levels of development in countries such as Canada and Mali (23) have used Urban HEART to achieve the same goal of reducing health inequities.

In Matsapha, a town of 35 000 in central Swaziland, more than 80% of its population lives in peri-urban areas where no public services were provided. This situation changed after the town council used Urban HEART in 2014–2015 in partnership with the Ministry of Health, WHO, Médecins sans Frontières and many sectors within the government. Since implementing the tool, the town council has introduced an integrated solid waste management strategy, a mobile clinic, a maternal and child health programme, a partnership with Médecins sans Frontières to set up a comprehensive health-care clinic and has improved crime prevention strategies. Other towns in Swaziland are now planning to adopt Urban HEART based on Matsapha's experience (24).

Paranaque, a city of 654 000 people in the Philippines, has used Urban HEART routinely since 2009 to monitor health and take appropriate action. Key achievements include increases in facility-based delivery (from 65% in 2009 to 90% in 2014), access to safe water for the entire city, strengthening health information systems and institutionalizing the use of the tool to monitor health. Many of the city's subunits, called barangays, have also institutionalized the use of Urban HEART. Since 2015, the city has been using the tool to support its goal to achieve UHC, while focusing on equity (25).

In Agra, India, Urban HEART was adapted for a qualitative approach in the absence of good quantitative data. In the city of the Taj Mahal, the Urban Health Resource Centre trained women's groups from 40 slums in using the tool. Using neighbourhood mapping techniques and local information on priority issues, women from the slums were empowered to take action. This included ensuring better provision of basic public services, including access to safe water, girls' education and securing identification cards for slum residents to benefit from the government's food subsidy act (26).

Urban HEART continues to be used around the world, and increasingly so as the importance of equity and cities gains traction in the global development field.

MEASURING THE PROSPECTS FOR GOOD HEALTH IN CITIES

A number of initiatives have developed measures of urban living and health. For example, in 2013, UN-Habitat introduced a measure for prosperity, the City Prosperity Index. This index was constructed to help decision-makers design appropriate policy interventions and was applied in 69 cities worldwide. The index includes five dimensions that determine the quality of life in cities: productivity; quality of life; infrastructure;

PEACE 16

17

BIODV

15

нітн

3

EDUC

4

GNDR 5

WATR

6

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

CITY

11

PARTN SUBSECTION

Introduction

environmental sustainability; and equity. Health is one of the three subcomponents of the quality of life dimension along with education and public space.

The Urban Health Index (UHI) published by WHO in 2014 provides a standardized method for constructing a composite measure of population health. Adapting the method used by the Human Development Index, the UHI guides users through a flexible approach in the selection of indicators, tailored to local needs. This is particularly useful since priorities can vary substantially across cities and contexts. The UHI has the potential to measure overall health as well as inequalities in health.

For this report, the UHI was computed for 57 cities in 53 LMICs to determine how conducive city environments are for health (Figure 2). Of the 57 cities, 30 are in Africa, 16 in the Asia-Pacific, 4 in eastern Europe and 7 in Latin America and Caribbean (LAC) countries (Table 1). The index combined information from nine determinants of health indicators covering the social and physical environments and health service coverage. The nine indicators include access to water and sanitation, use of solid fuels, women's education, two indicators on women's knowledge of HIV (each weighted as ½), and three child health service coverage indicators (each weighted as ½). Latest available data during 2003–2013 were sourced from the Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) for cities with sufficient sample sizes and identifiable boundaries using geocodes. Details of the construction of the index and process for selection of the indicators are described in Annex 2. While this application of the UHI is a first attempt at using reliable and comparable data across cities, there were limitations, especially with respect to selection of indicators and cities, and generalizability. It was not possible to include all cities or all preferred indicators in this iteration of the UHI mainly due to lack of data or small urban sample sizes.

Table 1. List of cities included in the calculation of the UHI, using the United Nations classification of countries by region

	Africa		Asia-F	Pacific	Eastern Europe	LAC	
Abidjan	Dar es Salaam	Maputo	Amman	Kolkata	Baku	Bogotá	
Accra	Freetown	Mbabane	Bishkek	Male	Chisinau	Georgetown	
Addis Ababa	Harare	Monrovia	Delhi	Manila	Tirana	La Paz	
Antananarivo	Kampala	Moroni	Dhaka	Mumbai	Yerevan	Lima	
Bamako	Kigali	Nairobi	Dili	Osh		Port-au-Prince	
Brazzaville	Kinshasa	Niamey	Dushanbe	Phnom Penh		Santo Domingo	
Bujumbura	Lagos	Ouagadougou	Islamabad			Tegucigalpa	
Casablanca	Libreville	Sao Tome	Jakarta				-
Conakry	Lilongwe	Windhoek	Karachi				
Cotonou	Lusaka	Yaoundé	Kathmandu				

SWZ

23

ΡG

SUBSECTION

Introduction

CAN

IND

IRN



PVRTY 1

HLTH 3

EDUC 4

WATR 6

INEQ 10

Figure 2. Applying a health lens to cities: the UHI

Source: Mil, million; Popn, population; Q2, 2nd quintile; Q4, 4th quintile



SUBSECTION

С Д

Figure 2 shows the results of the UHI. The UHI has a possible range of 0 to 1, and *in this* analysis, higher values of the index reflect better opportunities and environments for health. Of the 57 cities included, 21 were from low-income countries, 27 from lower-middle income countries, and nine cities were from upper-middle income countries. There are several key messages from this city-level analysis:

- \rightarrow National level wealth does not always determine conditions for health at the city level. Index values range from 0.94 in Yerevan to 0.07 in Monrovia, with a median value of 0.44 (Harare). The median index value was nearly twice as high for cities in lower-middle income countries (0.57) compared to those in low-income countries (0.29). However, there is much variation even among cities in low-income countries, with values ranging from 0.07 for Monrovia to as high as 0.69 for Kathmandu.¹ Even in cities in upper-middle-income countries, the UHI value was as low as 0.33 for Libreville.
- Megacities in LMICs have worse conditions for health than smaller cities. \rightarrow Seven megacities (population greater than 10 000 000) were included in the analysis: Dhaka, Jakarta, Karachi, Kinshasa, Lagos, Mumbai and Delhi; 19 cities have a population less than 1 million, while 31 cities have a population between 1 and 10 million. Megacities have a median index value of 0.43, while smaller cities with less than 1 million people have the highest average index value of 0.68 (not controlling for income level). Among megacities, Delhi has the highest value (0.59), which is still lower than the average value for smaller cities, and Lagos has the lowest (0.30).
- Conditions for health vary widely even between cities within the same \rightarrow geographic region. While African cities have the lowest median index value (0.32), there is substantial variation across the continent. Nairobi has the highest index value among the included cities from Africa (0.69), followed by Mbabane (0.63) and Windhoek (0.63). The four eastern European cities have the highest median index value (0.88). In the LAC, median UHI value was 0.76, but values ranged from 0.15 in Port-au-Prince to 0.81 in Bogotá.
- The capital cities of countries most affected by the 2014–2015 Ebola out- \rightarrow break had some of the poorest conditions for health. The capital cities of Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone, where the 2014–2015 Ebola outbreak had struck worst, suffered poor conditions for health prior to the outbreak. Based on data from 2013 and 2014, Conakry (0.21), Monrovia (0.07) and Freetown (0.17) fall in the bottom fifth of all cities examined. The need to strengthen health systems in these countries has increasingly become a focus in the aftermath of the outbreak, but these data also show the need for substantial improvement in other determinants of health such as access to water and sanitation, and women's education.

ΡG

25

SLE

years before the April 2015 earthquake.

SUBSECTION

Introduction

7WF

COG

GIN

IND

LBR

NGA

PAK

Despite some limitations to the analysis, these results convey an extremely valuable message. It is possible to develop city environments that are more conducive to health under widely different circumstances, even with relatively few resources. There is much that cities and local governments can accomplish independent of national-level wealth, or their geography or population size. In short, every city has a chance to make itself a place of opportunity for health and prosperity for everyone. Greater efficiency and impact can be attained by addressing a variety of factors that determine health outcomes, including the health system and social and physical environments. This report presents evidence of both how different domains of urban life affect people's health and how actions in these areas can contribute to better health, equity and sustainability in different contexts.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INEO

10

CITY

11

PARTN 17 This report aims to help cities uncover health inequities with a focus on identifying solutions to resolving them. These are not simple problems – cities are complex systems where a multitude of factors affects people's health. However, there are several clear pathways through which progress can be made. In order to reach the SDGs targets, and to achieve UHC, city decision-makers must act to strengthen health systems to create cities equitable and healthier cities. Accordingly, Section 1 presents the major urban health challenges that would need to be tackled in order to realize a vision for healthier cities. It presents evidence of deprived and high-risk populations within cities as well as possible solutions to control preventable ill-health within them. It further reviews past evidence on urban health inequities, and presents a special analysis (MDG Scorecard) showing the likely effects of urban health inequities in achievement of the Millennium Development Goals (MDG) at the national level.

There is abundant evidence that some of the greatest health gains to be had in cities lie beyond the health sector. The urban environment itself plays an instrumental role in health because it affects the way we live our daily lives. The places where we live, work and play, and how we access these elements of daily life are increasingly impacting our health. This has particularly been a problem for many of the fastest growing cities, which have had neither the time nor the resources to plan for unanticipated growth.

Still, throughout history, most of the world's cities have been planned largely without human health in mind. Whether in planning for public spaces, energy use or transportation corridors, cities have often been planned primarily for commerce and cars. Cities can and should be planned for people in order to optimize the health of their residents, and maintain their economic and cultural vibrancy. Section 2 uncovers the pathways through which cities, as currently planned, affect the health of their residents. It demonstrates that not only can these effects be identified, but that there are also practical ways to modify our cities and their structures to make them more conducive to health and prosperity at the same time.

This report strongly advocates that cities adopt a multisectoral response by showing how individual components of city life – such as urban planning, housing, transport and energy – are interconnected and both separately and together have positive and negative health implications. This report also considers the challenges for health equity through these lenses and provides evidence of solutions for cities where people can thrive.

SUBSECTION

Invariably, challenges bring out the best in people – from the leaders of cities and their advisers to the communities and families who live in them. Section 3 discusses the characteristics of a multisectoral approach in urban governance which should be mobilized to effectively act on the various challenges and solutions that emerged in this report. There is something in this report for every city in the world, and for every city leader. They can relate to the challenges and adapt the problem-solving approaches to their own unique circumstances to make their own city a healthier and better place to live in during the coming decades of the 21st century.

SUBSECTION

Introduction

AVISION FOR **HEALTHIER** CITIES

SECTION 1

KEY MESSAGES

Achieving meaningful progress in health in cities everywhere depends on reducing health inequity.

Greater attention to the health needs of the urban poor is essential to move towards universal health coverage.

Cities must play a leadership role in the fight to against communicable disease.

Noncommunicable diseases present not only a threat to human health, but also have significant economic implications for cities.

Cities increasingly face the unprecedented dual challenge of undernutrition and overnutrition.





PVRTY 1

HNGR

HLTH 3	
EDUC 4	
WATR 6	_

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

СІТҮ

11

Cities worldwide are taking on the challenge of the major health issues of our time, from preventing and controlling the spread of endemic and emerging infectious diseases to taking bold initiatives on the growing burden of NCDs. At the heart of it all is the challenge of health equity – ensuring that all people have the opportunity to achieve good health and affordable access to the health care they need throughout the life course. These are not only a daily concern for individual health, but also one of the most daunting economic, political and social challenges of the 21st century.

The five chapters of Section 1 examine these issues and provide examples of some of the many initiatives that cities across widely different contexts have taken individually, and which can serve as models for others elsewhere.

Urban areas enjoy many advantages compared to rural areas when it comes to availability of resources that support good health. Basic infrastructure that are essential to health, such as water, sanitation and housing, are generally more developed than in rural areas. Health-care services and facilities tend to be concentrated in cities, along with financial resources, personnel, supplies and equipment. The density of urban areas coupled with better transport and information and communications technology facilitate access to these resources. More opportunities for education and employment, which are important enablers of health, are also available. In short, urbanization is associated with economic and social development that provide better opportunities to achieve good health.

However, cities also have relative disadvantages for health. Finite resources need to be distributed among a very large, often expanding, and heterogeneous population. Crowded conditions of daily living and working as well as large pockets of informal settlements are conducive to the spread of communicable diseases. Sedentary lifestyles and the urban food environment lead to the rise of NCDs. Crime and violence are often concentrated in urban areas.

Affecting all of these conditions is poverty and exclusion that result in certain areas and groups of people in urban neighbourhoods suffering substantially worse conditions than the rest of the urban population, and sometimes even worse than their rural counterparts. When such differences, or inequalities, are not random but are systematic, and not due to biologically determined factors but due to modifiable social factors, they are unjust *inequities*.

Inequity often manifests as a large and growing gap between the best-off and worst-off people in urban areas, but also as a socially graded pattern that affects the entire population. It is often worse in urban than in rural areas because of the tendency for both extreme wealth and poverty to concentrate in cities. Inequity is perhaps one of the biggest urban disadvantages for health as it hampers not only development in health, but also in social, economic and human development for the city as a whole, with implications for national and global development.

This section begins by examining the different manifestations of urban health inequity and what is needed to better address them. It then discusses the potential of UHC as a key approach to improving health outcomes and equity, focusing on specific implications for the urban context. The latter half of this section discusses the double burden of communicable and noncommunicable diseases, and food security and nutrition with an emphasis on the innovative actions and solutions undertaken by cities in all regions of the world.

BIODV 15

PEACE 16

PARTN 17 PG

CHAPTER 1 — REDUCE HEALTH INEQUITY FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

KEY MESSAGE • Achieving meaningful progress in health in cities everywhere depends on reducing health inequity.

Equity is an ethical imperative and an essential principle of the SDGs and the new global health agenda to attain UHC. Progress in reducing inequity is a key milestone that can be measured. Cities everywhere can benefit from greater investment in achieving equity in health. In addition to ensuring that no one has to suffer from unfair disadvantages, cities are more likely to thrive and be stronger economically when equity creates greater solidarity and enables more people to contribute to society.

While evidence of the "urban advantage" suggests that city populations often enjoy better health than their rural counterparts, there are substantial differences in health opportunities and outcomes in urban areas. In 2010, the WHO/UN-Habitat global report on urban health, *Hidden cities: unmasking and overcoming health inequities in urban settings* (28), was the first report of its kind to shed light on the lesser known, hidden side of cities; that is, the fact that a considerable portion of the urban population is suffering unacceptable conditions of living and suffering serious consequences to their health. Five years later, the body of new evidence gathered for this report reveals that urban health equity remains a persistent, priority global health issue.

The most recent analysis by WHO of urban data in 79 countries, extracted from the DHS and the Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) (21), showed that children in the poorest one fifth of urban households are twice as likely to die before their fifth birthday compared to children in the richest one fifth. In Cambodia, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Mongolia, and Sao Tome and Principe, this ratio is actually greater than five.

The good news is that in nearly all (94%) of the 50 countries for which longitudinal trends were analysed, comparing data from 1990–2004 to 2005–2013, urban under-5 mortality rates improved over the two time periods. Some countries, such as Ethiopia and Nepal, have made rapid progress, with the poorest urban populations witnessing faster gains than the richest groups, even though under-5 mortality rates remain high in urban areas in both countries (Nepal = 46, Ethiopia=69, per 1000 live births) (Box 1). In other countries, such as the Philippines and Rwanda, which have made much progress in reducing urban under-5 mortality among its poorest groups, the richer urban populations have reduced mortality at an even quicker pace, thereby resulting in an increase in absolute inequality. This shows that even in cases where significant progress is made, special attention to differential rates of progress within urban areas is still warranted.

A special MDG Scorecard follows this section that illustrates the likely impact that achievements among the urban poor had on attainability of the MDGs. The MDG Scorecard also creates a baseline for the SDGs accounting for these health inequity effects. FTH

кнм

NPI

STP

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

PG

HEALTH INEQUITY IN CITIES: A COMPLEX BUT SOLVABLE PROBLEM

The sheer size of the urban population can easily mask internal inequality. In most cities, and in all countries, there are urban subpopulations, defined demographically, socially, economically or geographically, that face disadvantages in their daily living conditions, or what are known as the broader social and environmental determinants of health. Many of the worst-off of these groups are in effect part of an "invisible population" that is systematically excluded from mainstream urban society.

Poor urban households, especially in informal settlements, are often invisible in population surveys or official statistics and unrecognized by researchers, analysts, city planners and others. This seriously challenges the equitable delivery of essential services, including primary health care. If certain people or areas are not recognized, then they are unlikely to receive health and social services.

GNDR 5

FCON

8

INEQ

CITY

11

PVRTY

нітн

3

Counting the hidden poor in Nepal's ur	ban centres
--	-------------

The hidden poor in Nepal's urban centres are thought to be a large and growing population as a result of food insecurity in remote rural areas and civil unrest. To better identify the hidden poor, the Health Research and Social Development Forum (HERD), a Nepali NGO, is testing an innovative approach to household sampling.

Box 1.

To ensure that people living in informal dwellings are fully represented, the WorldPop population dataset rather than census data is used as a first-stage sampling frame. WorldPop is a publicly available dataset that disaggregates census population data to 100 metre by 100 metre grid cells based on dozens of spatial datasets such as land cover type and road network. Not only does this give probability of selection to areas of informal settlement such as slums, it also overcomes a main hurdle to household sampling, which is that local-level census data are highly sensitive and difficult to obtain. GridSamp, a publicly available algorithm, is then used to randomly select and aggregate adjoining grid cells to create a set of primary sampling units

(PSUs) of approximately equal populations. These PSUs are overlaid onto street maps using OpenStreetMap to create paper maps for survey teams to use in the field. To fully represent the "hidden poor" in shared housing, all households within PSUs are listed by asking residents during field visits about the number of households within each dwelling (a household is defined as a group of people who share a cook stove). Finally, a subset of these households is selected at random to create the final sample for which the detailed questionnaire is administered. The data resulting from the survey will be used to assess the health status of small areas across cities, and to identify appropriate locations for health clinics. It will also allow health services to identify areas where the population includes large numbers of migrants, for whom previous work has shown special provisions must be made to advertise services and make it clear that the services are intended for all.

Source: HERD Nepal 2015 (73).

PARTN

17

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development PG

In many developing countries, inadequate supply of urban public facilities and poor quality services have resulted in significant inequity in provision and access. Even when public services are available and accessible, people are reluctant to use them because of many quality-related drawbacks such as poor attitudes of health workers, shortages of drugs and supplies and long waiting times. This has led to the proliferation of private sector practice in urban areas, some of which is unregulated, offering fee-forservice health care.

For example, a study of the effect of health facility access and quality on family planning decisions of urban Senegalese women found that the quality of the facility or service may effectively be a barrier to access (29). An analysis of data from 4950 households and 205 facilities across six urban sites, including the capital Dakar, found no evidence that greater access to health facilities and pharmacies increased family planning use among urban women. Neither the number of public or private health facilities nor that of pharmacies had any significant effect on the likelihood that a woman would use family planning. Instead, the greatest impact on a woman's family planning decisions was the average quality of the facilities near her home.

In examining equity, there is also a need to understand the demand-side factors. City residents vary by their geographic, social, cultural and economic backgrounds, which, in turn, influence their health-related behaviour, including health-care utilization. Historically, population heterogeneity is in part a consequence of the migration of large numbers of people into urban areas, either from rural districts in their own country, or from other countries. Much of the diversity currently seen in cities is a result of that history as well as more recent urban population dynamics, including more temporary migration and daily commuters from outside the city. While this diversity adds to the richness of urban society, researchers are uncovering great variations in the health of urban populations, in both high- and low-income contexts, upsetting the perception that urban residents enjoy better health than their rural counterparts do.

The graphs in Figure 3 illustrate some typical manifestations of urban health inequity, using urban data extracted from the latest DHS. In general, an urban advantage is observed when comparing the median values of health-care coverage or health outcomes in rural and urban areas, as shown with antenatal care coverage (upper left graph). Within urban areas, however, there is a disadvantage associated with demographic and socioeconomic factors, such as level of educational attainment (upper right), with wealth (lower left) and with gender (lower right), to varying degrees. The graphs are based on urban data from countries in four UN classified world regions to demonstrate global patterns, but these patterns emerge, often even more sharply, when urban data are disaggregated at the national or local levels.

While these are typical patterns, health inequity is actually very complex, and the patterns can vary depending on the health determinant or health outcome in question. For example, Figure 3 shows that urban women have a slight disadvantage in terms of having correct knowledge about HIV transmission. However, data from other studies show that men are often at higher risk of injury-related deaths in urban areas. Or, wealthier people often have a health advantage, but in several urban contexts, they are at higher risk for NCDs.

To illustrate, a survey covering more than 70 developing countries found that, while on average, child mortality is lower in urban areas for almost all countries, children living in city slums are substantially worse off than those in non-slum areas of

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

NPL

ΡG



CITY 11

cities (30). Furthermore, town settings, which are in transition from a village to becoming a city, seem to pose the highest health burden on children, more so than city slums. In contrast, among adults, average urban mortality rates exceeded rural mortality rates in many of the sub-Saharan African countries in the 2000s.

An added layer of complexity is that much of the data presented in the graphs, and other commonly used data sources, may not have included the invisible or informal populations living in a city. Therefore, inequities are likely to be generally underestimated. This systematic lack of data for certain populations is itself a fundamental form of inequity.

Experience shows, however, that such challenges can be overcome. The 2015 *State of the world's mothers: the urban disadvantage* report (20) featured six cities for having made good progress in addressing inequities in child health, despite significant population growth.



SUBSECTION

PARTN

17

PG

Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, for example, has made some of the greatest child survival gains of any city, and this progress has almost exclusively favoured the poorest children. Under-5 mortality in Addis Ababa dropped by half between 2000 and 2011, from 114 to 53 deaths per 1000 live births. In the same period, the child death rate among the poorest 20% of Ethiopian urban children (not only those in Addis Ababa) fell by over 40%, while there was little to no change among the top 20%. As a result, the urban survival gap in cities across Ethiopia has narrowed dramatically. The rapid socioeconomic progress in the city as well as increased availability and coverage of maternal and child health services partly explain the success seen in Addis Ababa. Their case reinforces the need for multiple health and non-health interventions to effect positive change.

In the case of Kampala, Uganda, the progress in reducing child deaths and closing the survival gap within the city is attributable to a variety of outreach efforts that take health-care information and services directly to the communities where poor people live. In Phnom Penh, Cambodia, rapid improvements in facility-based births and skilled birth attendance were achieved in part through investments in midwifery training and increasing the numbers of midwives within an expanded primary health care network. In addition, an expanded system of health equity funds made health care free of cost for poor people.

The six featured cities have achieved success through a variety of approaches, but the most consistently employed success strategies included: (i) better care for mothers and babies before, during and after childbirth; (ii) increased use of modern contraception to prevent or postpone pregnancy; and (iii) effective strategies to provide free or subsidized quality health services for the poor. Whereas these are often considered to be national-level strategies, these cities show that it is possible for local authorities to take these actions themselves with demonstrable success.

Box 2. Uncovering urban children's needs UNICEF, in partnership with leading research This promotes routine use of equity and organizations and universities, is developing performance assessments of localized areas, disaggregated data methodologies to uncover with innovations such as the use of improved urban children's needs and give them a voice spatial data analysis for risk-informed to policy-makers. One example is enhancing planning. When projections of urban growth the UNICEF MICS (31) to assess more are overlaid with analysis of multiple health accurately not just urban areas, but also and social deprivations, decision-makers urban slums. This greater precision allows have greater ability to estimate and respond to future needs. Such data are used to inform urban MICS to identify pockets of poverty and children's needs that would otherwise policy-makers, spur innovation and support go unseen in aggregated data models. local advocacy efforts.

UGA

ETH

кнм

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

PG
CITIES CHAMPIONING HEALTH AND SOCIOECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STILL MARKED BY HEALTH INEQUITY

The challenge of health inequity is not limited to low-income countries; it is a challenge for cities everywhere. Japan, a country that sets the world's standard for healthy life expectancy and provides its people with universal health insurance, also exhibits striking health inequities between and within cities. Figure 4 visualizes how health outcomes vary at the ward and municipal subdivision levels of the Greater Tokyo Area using the UHI based on age-adjusted, cause-specific mortality rates (32). Here, a higher UHI value represents worse outcomes (higher mortality), and mortality is highest in some older parts of the urban core (the far east/right end of the map), lowest in the newer downtown

parts of the urban core (the far east/right end of the map), lowest in the newer downtown parts and adjacent areas (middle section) and then higher again in the peripheral areas furthest away from the urban core. Using longitudinal data, it can also show differences between areas with improving or worsening health outcomes, and where health gaps are narrowing or widening.

Tokyo

Figure 4. Visualization of ward-level UHI values, based on ageadjusted mortality rates in Tokyo

Source: Rothenberg et al. 2014 (32).







	Health Index 0 to 1)
	0,194 - 0,243
imm)	0.244 - 0.252
	0.253 - 0.270
	0,277 - 0,280
	0.281 - 0.291
	0.292 - 0.323
IIIIIII	0.324 - 0.356
	0.357 - 0.379
	0.380 - 0.389
	*0,390 - 0,60

INEQ 10

PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

A separate comparative study of mortality in the 10 largest cities in Japan during 2003–2007 found that the average total mortality (as expressed by five-year cumulative standardized mortality ratios) among the cities was about the same as the national average. However, levels of mortality varied widely both between and within the cities (33). A comparison of the two largest cities, Tokyo and Osaka, revealed that over half of the 23 wards that form the urban core of Tokyo have lower levels of mortality than the national average; in contrast, only one of the 24 wards in Osaka had lower levels of mortality than the national average. The range in ward-level mortality was also much wider in Osaka than in Tokyo. These examples illustrate place-based inequalities.

Health inequities are also a major concern for public health in Europe. In the last two decades, the number of studies examining health differentials by geographical area has increased, but intra-urban inequalities in mortality have been less frequently analysed. In 2008, the former London Health Observatory showed that every two stops on the London Underground travelling east from central London represented more than one year of life expectancy lost. In 2012, a researcher at the University College London further expanded this work. The new map, Lives on the Line (10), shows

PARTN

17

PG

Figure 5.

Maps of socioeconomic deprivation and smoothed standardized mortality ratios (sSMR) for men and women at the census tract-level in London

Source: Reproduced with permission from Borrell et al. 2014(34).

that the range of life expectancy in London is as wide as 20 years. For instance, there is a six-year difference in life expectancy at birth between two consecutive stations on the London Underground, just on opposite sides of the River Thames. The new analysis also showed the link between life expectancy and child poverty, providing further evidence for the well-established association between deprivation and life expectancy.

A more extensive study of European cities supports these findings. The INEQ-CITIES project examined socioeconomic inequalities in mortality by census tracts of 16 European cities. The results for London are shown as an example in Figure 5 (34). Areas with relatively higher rates of mortality for both men and women correspond to those areas that are more deprived, indicated by the clusters of brown areas. Similarly, areas with relatively lower rates of mortality correspond to those areas that are



SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

GBR

ΡG

- less deprived, indicated by the clusters of blue areas.

There was a consistent pattern of inequality in total mortality in almost all cities, with mortality increasing in parallel with socioeconomic deprivation. Socioeconomic inequalities in mortality were more pronounced for men than for women, and relative inequalities were greater in eastern and northern European cities.

What makes people vulnerable in cities? The health inequities seen in cities are linked to many factors – social, demographic, economic or geographic – and these factors can interact to create compound vulnerability.

POVERTY AS A PREVAILING VULNERABILITY

The urban poor are a central concern of this report, and the effect of poverty and deprivation on urban health inequity has already been shown from different perspectives. Many of the analyses presented in this report highlight the gap between the poorest and the wealthiest urban residents based on a measure of wealth that is broader than an income measure. Other analyses show an incremental, almost dose-response relationship, between wealth and health determinants and outcomes that affect the entire spectrum of the population. More sophisticated measures of social deprivation are also used to show how it relates to differential outcomes in health.

Poverty profoundly affects all aspects of the daily conditions where people live, work, learn and play – those essential determinants and enablers of health. Poverty and the social exclusion that often comes along with it are extremely detrimental to people's health. They increase people's exposure to health hazards, deprive them of the capacities, resources and opportunities to achieve good health, and often trap them in a cycle of poverty for generations. The effects of poverty in a community are not only restricted to the poor, they also have wide-ranging impacts on the social, physical and economic well-being of the entire community.

In the following discussion about other common social stratifiers linked to health inequity, it must be recognized that to be among the urban poor is an overriding vulnerability in itself that is often compounded by other factors, such as gender, age, migration status and place of habitation.

Source: WHO/Anna Kari



SUBSECTION

Reduce health in development

HLTH

PVRTY

1

EDUC 4

GNDR 5

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEQ

10

CITY 11

CLIMT 13

PEACE



Source: WHO/Anna Kari

GENDER-BASED HEALTH DISADVANTAGES

Women and girls are among the most vulnerable members of society, for both biological and social reasons. Some gender-based differences in health outcomes (e.g. breast cancer incidence) are strongly determined biologically. However, several kinds of gender-based health inequalities are strongly influenced by social factors.

A study of urban poor communities living in informal settlements in Nairobi, Kenya, found that almost three quarters of adult deaths in 2003–2012 were attributable to HIV/AIDS, TB, injuries and cardiovascular disease (CVD), but there were clear differences by gender. There were twice as many deaths due to HIV/AIDS among women than among men, and CVD deaths were also higher among women (*35*). Many of the known determinants of HIV/AIDS and CVD are modifiable, some more easily than others are. Unfair access to resources, such as education, formal employment, money, health care and preventive measures, as well as unfair distribution of power between genders, can contribute to the relative vulnerability of women.

By contrast, injury deaths were four times more likely among men than women in the Nairobi study. While women in slums are generally at greater risk of physical and sexual violence, men are more likely to be involved in armed conflicts and gang-related violence leading to death. The poor infrastructure and weak law enforcement in informal settlements contribute to higher levels of homicides and violence.

Given the effects of gender on health risks and outcomes, gender-based approaches to address health inequity can produce benefits in all contexts. An example is the Self Employed Women's Association (SEWA) in Ahmadabad, India, a women's organization with more than 1.8 million national and international members. Since the overwhelming majority of these women are poor and self-employed in the informal sector, the main objective of SEWA is to help them develop their social and economic empowerment.

SEWA members realized that their earning capacity depended on their health and the health of their family. Affordable health insurance, health awareness, immunization and training of midwives have been part of the strategy to improve their health status. Trained members provide all of these basic health-care services at families' doorsteps. These activities have contributed to substantial declines in incidence of illness and reductions in monthly health expenditures. SEWA illustrates how even some of the most disadvantaged women in society can be empowered to overcome their challenges and produce positive health outcomes for themselves and their families, and reduce health inequities.

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

IND

KEN

ΡG

OLDER AGE: A VULNERABILITY IN CITIES THAT FAIL TO PLAN FOR DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE

Attention to the vulnerabilities of different age groups is essential to ensure health for all people throughout the life course. Global health initiatives have historically had a strong focus on maternal and child health, while the needs of older adults have received relatively less attention. There is growing global concern about the welfare of older adults, especially in cities. Population ageing is considered one of the two global demographic transitions of the 21st century, alongside urbanization. It affects the more developed regions of the world first, where fertility is lower and life expectancy is longer, but a rapid increase in the older population ageing typically begins in rural areas due to the drain of young people who leave for the city in pursuit of better opportunities though now it is affecting many urban areas in high-income countries and increasingly in LMICs.

Cities are generally designed with a relatively young, healthy and actively working population in mind. In these settings, older age can easily become a vulnerability factor. For example, Japan's "new towns" were projects of the 1960s and 1970s in suburban areas that accommodated a massive influx of people into metropolitan areas. The people who moved to these new town settlements during their working years are now 65 years or older, and constitute the majority of residents in many such places. The new towns were designed for the convenience of private automobiles, which makes it extremely difficult today to provide efficient access to public services for older people, especially once they are no longer able to drive (36).

Careful planning can prospectively address these vulnerabilities. Beyond improving physical accessibility to essential urban services and facilities, it is important to create urban communities that are inclusive of older people as well as people of other generations. Such an approach is embodied in the WHO Global Network of Age-friendly Cities and Communities, discussed later in this report. It is not only important to ensure that older people as a whole are included in society, but also to pay attention to any possible subgroups of older people that may be disadvantaged or even marginalized. A pioneering initiative in Japan called the Japan Gerontological Evalua-

Source: WHO/Anna Kari



EDUC 4

PVRTY

INEQ 10 tion Study (JAGES) has been collecting longitudinal data on over 100 000 older people residing in 30 municipalities across the country to examine health inequalities at the local government level and at a small area (e.g. ward, school district) level. This research, while not exclusively focused on urban areas, has generated valuable evidence of socially modifiable differences in health determinants, risks and outcomes among older people (37). It has also identified a number of effective and equitable community-based prevention interventions that local governments can implement to increase opportunities for older people to maintain their functions and enjoy a good quality of life (38).

PLACES WHERE PEOPLE LIVE WITHIN CITIES CLOSELY TIED TO OPPORTUNITIES FOR GOOD HEALTH

The places where people live within cities can create inequities when the social benefits of urbanization are not widely extended. The location of health-care facilities, for example, may favour areas where private or employee-funded insurance cover most people rather than those where people are uninsured or relying on public programmes. As cities grow outward, outlying neighbourhoods – the peripheries of urban expansion – are particularly vulnerable, especially in cases where there is unplanned growth of informal settlements.

People can be vulnerable even at the metropolitan core; for example, in the USA, the urban core has a higher poverty rate than in the suburbs. The heavy urban core population losses of the 1960s through the 1980s are generally no longer occurring. Yet, between 2000 and 2010, more than 80% of the population growth in the urban cores was below the poverty line (*39*).

Place-based inequalities arise from a combination of factors. Population redistribution – for example, rural–urban migration – can shift and sort the population with regard to advantage and disadvantage. Inequalities are also often linked to political, class or ethnic divisions, and cause some groups to be socially excluded and deprived. In many urban areas, those at most risk remain invisible, subject to heightened risk from diseases and with the least access to health care and healthy living conditions. Even when they do have access to the things they need, such as schools, health care and food, they may be of poor quality. Coupled with these challenges often comes a sense of distrust of government and experiences of discrimination and marginalization, that is, a breakdown of social capital. Policies can surely play a role. This may result from the absence of appropriate policy in the face of demographic and health trends as well as explicit policies that have unintended deleterious consequences, or policies that are perhaps invoked to favour one group or condition over another.

Policies to formalize residential areas, or not, can have grave impacts. Since 2008, researchers in Burkina Faso have been following the status of 80 000 individuals living in five neighbourhoods in the capital of Ouagadougou through the Urban Health and Demographic Surveillance System (HDSS) observatory (40). Longitudinal data are collected and compared between the residents of three informal areas devoid of formal planning zones located on the periphery of the city and the residents of two formal neighbourhoods located nearby.

People living in informal areas tend to be younger, poorer, less educated, further from public services and more often migrants. Despite their disadvantages, the residents of informal areas go to health centres when their children are sick as often

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

41

ΡG

JPN

- as those who live in formal areas. Still, infant mortality is almost twice as high in the informal settlements, compared to the formal ones, and the risk of child morbidity is also much higher due to deprived living conditions. In addition, older adult residents of informal settlements are less likely to seek health care when they are sick compared to their counterparts living in the formal neighbourhoods. However, they appear to have the advantage of being less affected by chronic conditions and road traffic injuries.

These particular patterns may partly be due to selective in or out migration, but they also reflect the health impacts of the physical and social conditions of places where people live, and the broader impacts of unplanned urban growth.

Understanding the potential impact of location on facilitating or interrupting the intergenerational transmission of health inequities is also important. For example, according to a study of more than 5 million families who moved across counties in the USA (41), every extra year a child spends in a better environment (as measured by the outcomes of children already living in that area) improves the outcomes with lasting effects into adulthood. Equal and opposite exposure effects have been found for children whose families moved to worse areas, with some gender differences. When a family with a boy and a girl moves to an area with a high crime rate, the boy's outcomes worsen in proportion to the number of years he grows up there, but the girl's outcomes change much less. Boys have especially poor outcomes in highly segregated areas.

The high housing prices that families often must pay to achieve better outcomes for their children may partially explain the persistence of poverty in large cities in the USA. One approach to addressing this problem is to provide subsidized housing vouchers that enable families to move to better neighbourhoods. Related research (42) showed that the Moving to Opportunity experiment, which randomly assigns families to receive subsidized housing vouchers to move to low-poverty areas, significantly improved long-term outcomes for children who moved at young ages, providing direct support for such policies.

There is also increasing evidence that place-based interventions – multicomponent approaches that often combine environmental, social and policy changes – may be effective in ameliorating spatial or placed-based inequities. See Section 2 for examples of cities planned for people.

BARRIERS TO GOOD HEALTH LIMITING MIGRANTS' POTENTIAL CONTRIBUTION TO CITIES' PROGRESS

In some cities, former migrants have established themselves as long-time members of a multicultural society. In others, a steady flow of new migrants continue to flow in, either internally or internationally. In all cases, to varying extents, the migration of sizable numbers of people with diverse backgrounds challenges the equitable provision of health care and other services in cities that may already be stretched.

In general, most people moving from rural areas to cities do so for economic reasons in search of a better life for themselves and their families, to find employment, education and all the services and benefits that they perceive cities have to offer. Others migrate to escape poverty or intolerable hardships that include natural disasters, wars, civil strife or political oppression. For them, cities offer a place of safety, as well as economic opportunities.

PEACE 16

PVRTY

1

нітн

3

EDUC

4

GNDR 5

FCON

8

INEO

10

CITY 11

CLIMT 13

- SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

Reduce health

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development



Figure 6. Dot map showing the concentration of immigrants in New York City by place of origin

Source: Walker 2015 (46)

Migrants also differ by where they came from, what their lives were like before they migrated and the situations into which they move. These differences lead to different levels of advantage and disadvantage, exposures to health risks and access to health services that should respond to their needs. Migration and mobility are determinants of the health of migrants as well as of non-migrants, both at places of origin and destination (43).

In many situations, migrants are more likely to be exposed to poor living and working conditions because they have no other viable option, they are more willing to accept such conditions or are unaware of their rights or options. In the case of migrant girls, for example, their gender further compounds their vulnerability. In some countries, social barriers keep migrant girls from affordable, quality health services. They are more likely to be out of school and socially isolated, increasing their sexual and reproductive health risks, compared to their non-migrant peers (44). Researchers in China have iden-

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

CHN

PG



PEACE 16

CITY

PARTN 17

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

1

CHELSEN

8

0

44

In a

100

2

\$552

tified insufficient antenatal care as contributing to the much higher rates of stillbirths among young migrant women than among non-migrants in urban areas (45). Survey data revealed a similar problem in India, where 15–19-year-old migrant girls in both rural and urban areas were less likely to deliver in a medical institution than non-migrants of the same age (44).

Elsewhere, there is evidence that migrant girls face considerable risks of abuse in exploitative work. Migrant adolescent girls may have difficulty responding to violence because of similar types of barriers that prevent them from accessing health services. For instance, harassment was a constant risk for Haitian girls working in domestic labour in a Dominican border town. The girls did not seek institutional protection when they experienced gender-based violence; instead, they went to members of their social networks. They explained that they were unaware of their rights and did not know where to go for safety (44).

Despite their struggles, migrants add to the richness of urban societies and contribute to their progress. Studies in the USA have shown that, in general, migrants have higher rates of upward economic mobility, independent of where they live. Thus, New York City, which has a very large share of immigrants (Figure 6), exhibits unusually high rates of upward mobility (41). Socioeconomic advancements can lead to better health opportunities for both the individual migrant and their families, and can also help create positive neighbourhood effects on health.

The IOM *World migration report 2015: migrants and cities, new* partnerships *to manage* mobility comprehensively addresses how migration and migrants are shaping cities and, in turn, how the life of migrants is shaped by cities (47). Understanding the drivers behind migration and ways to improve migrant health and welfare is critical to improving quality of life in cities.

The examples listed here by no means cover the full range of health inequities that occur in all urban societies. There are many other factors that may intertwine to cause certain people or places to suffer needlessly from poor opportunities for health. These include, for example, race and ethnicity, social class, and geography (48). The strength of these factors varies by context.

Targeted interventions towards well-defined groups that face unfair disadvantages in achieving good health have merit. They must, however, take into consideration the full range of possible sources of vulnerability rather than focusing on a single factor and be aware of the risk of creating or perpetuating stigmatization. Targeted interventions are often perceived as being more practical, but cities should strive towards comprehensive population approaches to redress health inequities. Approaches to improve urban health equity must fundamentally address the structural roots of poverty and the broader social and environmental determinants of health.

GROWING DEMAND FOR AN URBAN DATA REVOLUTION

The increasing global ambition to reach the most marginalized people and eradicate extreme poverty means that more information for the disadvantaged groups is needed. Now that equity clearly features on the new global agenda for both health and development, there will be a greater demand than ever for accountability. City and local governments are not exempt, as urban residents comprise the majority of global citizens and, as such,

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

IND

ΡG

equity in urban areas has strong implications for equity at the global and national levels. This emphasizes the need for better urban data – especially at the local level. While national and international initiatives often have the impulse to standardize, compare and
scale up, local information is extremely important when trying to determine how to deal with local problems in local ways. The expected new indicators for SDG Targets, notably for SDG11 and 3, will require such data.

Despite the best efforts of international agencies, government officials and researchers using the latest technologies and tools, there are still enormous data gaps worldwide. Knowing how many people are born or have died, and from which causes, is vital information about a population, and yet many countries do not have a well-functioning health information system. Even when they do exist, data about entire groups of people, often those most deprived, are missing. This is the highest form of inequity, and one of the most profound forms of exclusion that is as true for cities as it is for countries. The absence or shortage of urban health data, and the lack of capacity to produce and use data, are a major handicap in advancing science, developing policies and monitoring and evaluating programmes to address urban health equity.

Many city, national and international organizations are calling for an urban data revolution that informs local action and draws on the knowledge and capacity of the urban poor as collectors and users of information.

In 2015, the United Nations Secretary-General Independent Expert Advisory Group on a Data Revolution for Sustainable Development produced the report *A world that counts: mobilising the* data *revolution for sustainable development* (49). It highlights the challenge of invisibility and inequality in the current state of data and urges governments and the United Nations to take advantage of an unprecedented opportunity to close key gaps in coverage, access and use of data in working towards sustainable development.

Some political leaders may prefer to leave the masses nameless, however, counting everyone is a step in the acknowledgement of human worth. The many who have been toiling with this issue for years have laid the groundwork.

Semi-structured interviews conducted with over 100 policy-makers, data producers and data consumers in Ethiopia, Ghana, Senegal and Uganda led to one conclusion, that the demand for data is indeed increasing (50). The drivers of this demand include international influences such as requirements for monitoring progress towards targets and results-based budgeting. At the same time, internal demand is viewed as essential to sustain better quality data, access and use. Such internal demands for data have been catalysed by moves towards decentralization and democratization. If central governments lack useful data at the subnational level, then they are prone to making decisions without taking into account the real needs at lower levels. Without access to good disaggregated data, the larger goals for health, as well as democratization and decentralization are unlikely to be met.

This report advocates strongly for greater investment by cities in comprehensive data gathering. Enhancing the availability and quality of data, including technological improvements for geocoding and analysis as well as developing the capacity to use the data *at the local level*, are key requirements for improving urban health outcomes and equity. Data can be a resource for innovation that will power sustainable development. It can also provide governments with the tools to provide better service for more people with less money, especially if they can demonstrate the health benefits resulting from action in different sectors or the co-benefits generated from coordinated action across multiple sectors.

CNSUM 12

INFRA

9

INEO

10

СІТҮ

11

PVRTY

HNGR

2

нітн

3

GNDR 5

BIODV 15

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development To help fill the void of urban health data, the WHO Centre for Health Development created a dedicated site on the WHO Global Health Observatory (21) to share comparable global data on urban health. It includes statistics by region and by country on specific health determinants, service coverage, risk factors and outcomes and disaggregated by sociodemographic variables such as wealth and gender.

To further promote the collection and use of local data, WHO has also developed a tool to support the development of public health observatories at the local level (*51*). Urban health observatories, as seen in Latin America, the United Kingdom and elsewhere, have been successful at generating relevant, accurate, timely and accessible data, free of political interferences, and used to inform urban health and development policies. The attention to socially determined health inequalities is a common feature of the observatories, which necessitates an intersectoral and communityinclusive approach in both generating and applying the data.

ETH GBR GHA

IND

KEN

NGA

Several research initiatives and institutions have already set good examples of how to improve data production and analytical capacities to inform urban health and development policies, even in low-resource settings. As mentioned in the introduction to this report, the WHO Urban Health Equity Assessment and Response Tool (Urban HEART) has been used in over 100 cities in 53 countries, mostly LMICs, since its introduction in 2010. The tool has enabled national and local governments to gather evidence of urban health inequalities, or identify the absence of such data, and devise actions to address those problems. UN-Habitat's Urban Data provide free and open access to urban data for countries and cities around the world. A few other examples of international initiatives or institutions in LMICs that generate urban-level data include the Urban Reproductive Health Initiative in India, Kenya, Nigeria and Senegal (52); the Urban Health and Demographic Surveillance Sites managed by the International Network for the Demographic Evaluation of Populations and Their Health (INDEPTH) (53), a global network spanning Africa, Asia and Oceania; the African Population and Health Research Centre (APHRC) (54); and the African Food Security Urban Network (55).

A number of new funding initiatives have been established in recognition of the critical need to address the data issue both nationally and locally. WHO and the World Bank, with input from several agencies and countries, have developed a Global Civil Registration and Vital Statistics Scaling Up Investment Plan (56) with the goal of universal civil registration by 2030. Bloomberg Philanthropies, in partnership with the Australian government, launched Data for Health (57), a US\$ 100 million initiative that will enable 20 LMICs to vastly improve public health data collection and its use. Bloomberg Philanthropies will spend an additional US\$ 42 million for a new What Works Cities Initiative (58), which is specifically aimed at 100 mid-size cities with be-

UGA

SEN

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

PG



PVRTY 1

HLTH 3

> tween 100 000 and 1 million residents, to make better use of data and evidence in their policy-making.

Whether sampling or census is employed, most investigators would recognize the difficulty of counting everyone. A major group of researchers, policy-makers and public health workers, however, have noted the psychological and social importance of counting everyone (59, 60). A first step towards amelioration of social ills, poor health and health inequality is making it clear that everyone matters, everyone counts and nations should, therefore, count everyone.

10 CITY 11

INEQ

ECON

8

In the meantime, a number of work-arounds exist to use the data that are available (61, 62). These include population censuses, sample registration systems and international surveys. Adjunct methods such as verbal autopsy, modelling based on available data and attempts to "triangulate" based on different data sources have been invoked as well in order to furnish estimates of vital events. Taken together, such methods provide a demographic and health picture that serves many of the needs of planners. However, none fulfils the fundamental mission of accounting for everyone. Cities will remain hidden until we learn who is there and how they live their lives.

WORKING ACROSS SECTORS AND ENGAGING THE COMMUNITY FOR HEALTH EQUITY

Equally important regarding urban health equity is the need to work across different sectors to address the broader determinants of health, and to have an inclusive approach that engages the local community (63). Urban health inequities arise as the result of decisions and policies across sectors that determine the distribution of power and resources.

PEACE 16

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

A community health worker conducting a survey in the Korail slum, Bangladesh

Source: A community health worker conducting a survey in the Korail slum, Bangladesh by Lucy Milmo/ DFID is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/legalcode Such decisions are influenced by national and global forces, but local governments are uniquely placed to take action on health inequities at the city level as they have policy control over many of the determinants of health (e.g. transport; land use policy).

Tackling health inequities requires governments to consider the influence on health outcomes of policies and decisions made beyond the health sector, and to work collaboratively across organizational siloes to address the inequitable distribution of the determinants of health. Relying on health sector responses and giving inadequate attention to the risks posed by the environment and wider cross-sectoral policies that affect them places heavy burdens on poor households in particular. The benefits of this collaboration are not just reaped by the health sector, but action across sectors can have multiple co-benefits for those involved. For example, improving nutrition outcomes positively influences not only health, but also educational attainment, employment and productivity.

It is also important for local governments to be reminded that people in cities are not merely passive consumers of information and services, they are also the creators of city life. Local governments need greater competence and willingness to work with the people in their communities, including those typically excluded or marginalized. By doing so, they can gain the granular information they need in order to make real improvements in health equity. Moreover, they can break down barriers of mistrust and empower the people to engage with governments in collective action towards common goals, thus building social capital. The active involvement of affected communities can add force to government sector interventions. It also engenders broad local ownership of key issues and initiatives, which help to ensure the social sustainability of relevant policies and programmes, even under changing political environments.

SUMMARY

Health inequities – the systematic, socially modifiable and unfair differences in health – still persist within urban areas, despite some progress since the first review of the situation in the 2010 global report on urban health. New evidence shows that health inequities affect both high- and low-income countries alike and, in some cases, health outcomes are even worse in urban areas than in rural areas.

Social, demographic, economic and geographic factors interact to create complex vulnerabilities in urban settings that affect health risk exposure, health behaviours, access to health care and health outcomes. It is essential to reduce such vulnerabilities and inequities in health as a matter of justice as well as to ensure the future sustainability of cities.

Actions to address urban health equity must fundamentally address the structural causes of poverty and the broader social and environmental determinants of health found in the daily conditions in which people live, work, learn and play. These actions need to be informed and guided by better urban-level data, which counts everyone and thus reveals detailed patterns of variance in health in cities. In addition, these must be a whole-of-society effort, where different sectors of government and society act in unison to tackle health inequity, with the engagement of the affected communities as a key principle. Concrete examples of how some of these actions are implemented at the local level illustrate the feasibility of action and its potential impact on creating fairer and more sustainable urban societies from a health perspective.

SUBSECTION

Reduce health inequity for sustainable development

PG

49

BGD

CHAPTER 2 — ADVANCE UNIVERSAL HEALTH PVRTY COVERAGE IN CITIES

KEY MESSAGE • Greater attention to the health needs of the urban poor is essential to move towards universal health coverage.

Currently, at least 400 million women, men and children around the world are excluded from what is a basic human right: access to affordable health care (64). They either have little access or no access to health services and have inadequate health insurance or none at all. UHC is a major step towards reducing inequity in access to health care. Simply stated, the goal of UHC is to ensure that all people and communities obtain the quality health services they need without financial hardship.

Most of the excluded are living in low-income countries and large numbers are trapped in urban poverty. Greater attention to their health is essential to achieving real progress on UHC. The challenges for health systems are huge, faced as they are with the double burden among urban populations of infectious diseases and, increasingly, the spread of chronic NCDs in cities.

While the challenges are daunting, there are reasons for optimism going forward. The global movement towards UHC is a major opportunity. National and local governments, civil society, academia and international organizations have started working together to adapt solutions from successful countries. This has led to a global conviction on the prime importance of UHC in improving equity.

UHC is also a critical component of the SDGs, which include a specific health goal: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages. Within this health goal, a specific target for UHC is proposed:

> Achieve UHC, including financial risk protection, access to quality essential health care services and access to safe, effective, quality and affordable essential medicines and vaccines for all (1).

In this context, the opportunity exists to unite global health and the fight against poverty through action that focuses on clear goals. The questions this chapter attempts to answer are how UHC can be adapted to different contexts to improve equity and ensure affordable and accessible high-quality health care for all and what is the role of cities in doing so.

Cambodia: Improving hospitals and healthcare helps save lives

Source: Cambodia: Improving hospitals and healthcare helps save lives by Chhor Sokunthea / World Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/2.0/legalcode



SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

FCON

8

нітн

3

EDUC

4

CITY 11



Mother comforts baby

Source: Mother comforts baby by Dominic Chavez/World Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/ by/2.0/legalcode

THE HALLMARK OF URBAN COMMITMENT

The focus on UHC as part of the SDG agenda has much to offer. First, it provides a platform for an integrated approach within the health sector. Second, the SDGs and UHC are intrinsically about improving equity. Using UHC as a common monitoring platform ensures a continuous focus on health equity. Third, the health goal is closely linked to many of the other social, economic and environmental SDGs.

UHC has a direct impact on a population's health, enabling people to be more productive and active contributors to their families and communities, which is also an economic bonus for the cities they live in. It also ensures that children can go to school and learn. At the same time, financial risk protection prevents people from being pushed into poverty when they have to pay for health services out of their own pockets. UHC is thus a critical component of sustainable development and poverty reduction, and a key element of any effort to reduce social inequities.

For UHC to be achievable it is important that a strong, efficient, wellrun health system exists that meets priority health needs. In addition, the challenges in achieving UHC require recognition of the critical role played by all sectors in assuring human health, including transport, education and urban planning, among others (65).

One of the aims of this report is to show city leaders what they can do to make UHC a reality. Perhaps one of the biggest difficulties for cities in terms of progress on UHC is the growth and heterogeneity of urban populations, their different social, cultural and economic circumstances and backgrounds, and specific subpopulations that are disadvantaged. In some cities, many people are located in slums or informal settlements that city administrations often do not count. Many live in dire circumstances that exclude them from the urban development around them. They often represent the invisible or hard-to-reach populations within a city, who need to be reached most urgently.

SUBSECTION

UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE DASHBOARD FOR URBAN SETTINGS **IN COUNTRIES**

The Universal Health Coverage Dashboard illustrates urban inequalities in coverage for nine tracer indicators of UHC. Most of these are included in the WHO/World Bank list of illustrative measures of essential services.

in coverage for the wealthiest and poorest population quintiles living in urban areas, by country. The values for these two sub populations are represented by a black circle and a white circle. Precise values are also given in the text beneath each cone. Inequality is represented by a shadow cast between the two, where the length of the shadow indicates the difference between the two values. Longer shadows indicate greater inequality.



Antenatal care

Piped water

Figure 7. Universal Health Coverage Dashboard for Urban Settings in Countries

Afghanistan	Albania	Argentina	Armonia	Azerbaijan	Bangladesh	Barbados	Belsrus	Bolizo	Benin	Bhutan	Bosnia & Herzegovina	Burkina Faso	Burundi
51.4 24 37.1	6.6	99.3 91.6 94.6	97.6 94.8 97	78.2 32.1 63	74.2 14.5 39.8	100 96.8 98.9	100 100 100	97.8 91.4 94.4	85.6 38.3 70.1	90.2 84.5 87.4	90.9 78.9 83.4	61 30.4 45	53.5 27.1 39.4
93.4 49.1 74.2	7 99.4	÷	100 99.9 99.8	99.5 96.6	82.3 22.1 49.9	100 977.1 98.3	100 100 99.9	97.8 98.6 98.4	98.8 65.2 91.5	99.5 89.4	100 100 100	98.3 93.9	98.3 74.2 87.9
- •	97.2 79.6 89.5	+	73.9 78 75.1	88.4 22.2 56.5	100 86.8 81.3	+	87.4 87.4 92.2	+	80.1 64.2 78.8	÷	89.3 90.1 93	91.2 99.1 92.7	94.4 88.8
38. 11 26.3	78.9	94 80,1 88	79 61.1 72.4	51.9 15.8 40.5	76.6 47.3 57.9	96.3 94.9 94.5	92 91.5 89.3	85.6 69.2 79.5	78 55.8 73.1	66.8 77.5 74.5	33 29.5 46.4	79.9 81.2 82.1	92.9 90.6 90.7
49.5 31. 39.5	4 97.8	+	96.1 94.4 93.7	84.9 64.1 76.3	96.7 93.2 95.3	+	97.8 99.1 98.5	72.5 75.6 76.2	76 52.3 68.9	٠	97.5 82.1 90.3	92.3 90.7	90.7 86.9 91.4
	8 95	+	95.7 96.4 95.4	94.8 60.5 81	94.4 86.9 90.7	+	94 96.8	85.2 83.7 86.9	88.8 56.5 79.1	+	94.7 78.9 82.9	95.1 84.7 90.4	97.2 93 96.1
+	+	·	+	+	+	+	+	+	73.2 68.4 71.1	+	÷	48.7 47.4 46.8	68.3 55.3 62.8
96.1 52.0 82.1	5 96.8	99.7 93.2 97.8	99.8 91.7 98.6	98 71.6 86.4	99 98.3 99.2	100 99.8 99.9	100 99.6 99.8	98.9 99.6 99.3	98.4 60.5 83.9	100 99.1 99.6	99.1 99.3 99.6	99.2 77.2 94.5	95.7 71.1 85.8
58.: 6.9 31.:	80.1	÷	99.8 83.2 97.4	95.7 40.6 75.6	76.4 1.3 36.5	99.5 97.0 98.8	99.2 75.3 91.8	3.1 55 24.9	80 3.4 36.2	99.3 78.6 93	93.2 79.6 90.6	80.4 0 32.7	92.6 1 45.4

Note: ITN, insecticide treated mosquito net *Source:* Global Health Observatory 2015 (*21*).

	Carmer oon	Central African Republic	Chad	Colombia	Comoros	Congo (Brazzaville)	Costa Rica	Côte d'Ivoire	Cuba	Democratic Republic of the Congo	Dominican Republic	Egypt
Antenatal care	88.8 56.9 77.2	71.3 37.5 57.8	62.6 24.2 46.3	96.2 94.1 92.3	70.7 49.4 60.4	94.6 76.8 85.2	98.6 87.8 90.9	77.9 40.6 61.4	+	75.5 45.5 60.8	99.5 99.9 96.7	92.5 61.1 80.8
Skilled birth attendance	97 66.2 86.7	93.8 62.4 82.4	84.1 30.2 59.7	99.5 93.5 98.1	98.6 79.4 92.2	99.4 97.4 98.2	100 99.8 99.3	95.5 69.7 84.4	+	98.3 94.2	99.7 97.5 99.2	98.7 72 90.2
HIV Knowledge (men)	84.6 72.9 80.3	70.1 80 71	71.3 74 68.1	+	89.6 77.6 88.2	87.6 86.2 89.2	+	89.9 80.9 82.4	+	79.5 72.2 75.3	86.4 87.7 87.1	+
HIV Knowledge (women)	B3 65:2 76:4	67.9 62.6 67.9	56.5 33.7 49.6	62.3 82.3 82.2	62.1 77.5 68.7	81.5 71.7 76.8	92.7 69.2 85.8	NA NA 86.1	79.5 54.1 66	65.8 63.7 64.7	87.8 83.7 86.1	40.3 15.8 27.9
DPT3 coverage	87.7 80.3	60.6 33.5 51.4	31.8 22.6 27.5	90.7 03.3 89.9	74.1 66.7 70.6	70.3 64.3 68.7	92.5 87.1	81.7 60.1 71.6	NA NA 98.6	88.7 58.1 76.6	96.2 79 89.9	99.7 98.5 99.1
Measles coverage	93 74-4 83.7	81.5 63.8 75.9	67.5 40.5 54.8	91.9 91.9 91.5	85.6 71 78.4	91 85 86.7	88.1 91.7 84.6	85.6 64 76.8	NA NA 94.4	95 74.2 83.7	97.7 87.1 95.6	99.4 97.0 99.1
ITN bednets coverage	31.9 19 24.8	43.3	45.9 6.3 29.3	+	37.4 31.5 38.3	19.6 30.4 23.4	+	24.6 38.2 32.4	+	59.3 57.9 55.7	+	+
Improved water	98.5 70.8 89.6	97.2 57.3 85.5	97.6 46.5 84.4	99.8 87.5 98.1	94.1 94.1 94.8	87.9 87.6 92.9	100 99.5 99.9	99 78 92.2	NA 96.8	96 50 - 9 84	94.7 85.2 88.8	100 99.1 99.8
Piped water	65.8 1.9 25.7	9.7 0.1 3.3	62.7 0.2 28.2	95.7 69.9 91.9	68.9 50.8 58	70.2 3.8 39	99.9 97.3 99.4	92.8 20.2 62.9	• NA 82.4	63.1 0.4 20.1	0.9 25.7 7	98.6 92.5 97.9

Figure 7. Universal Health Coverage Dashboard for Urban Settings in Countries

Ethiopia	The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia	Gabon	Gambia	Georgia	Ghana	Guinea	Oulnea-Bissau	Guyana	Haiti	Honduras	India	Indonesia	Iraq
			+	+			+	0		0			•
76.6 20.5 46.3	99.4 97 98.1	89.7 67.3 82.2			98.2 82.1 94.2	89.1 60.2 78		97.2 92.5 94.8	89.8 65.5 77.1	95.8 85.8 91.5	88.8 33.5 62.7	97.8 81.8 93.3	67.2 46 56.9
91	100	95.2	95.7	97.9	100	95.5	88.3	98.2	83.8	98.2	95.1	97.6	96.1
22.9 51.6	95.8 98.3	85.9 93.6	69.1 83	100 98.9	70.8 88.2	60 83.9	50.3 68.7	98.9 98.2	37 59.6	84.8 94.4	45.5	80.6 92.4	88.5 93.9
94.6 87.5	+	92.4	+	+	72.7 81.3	86.7 83.1	+	99 77.6	90.4 93.2	86.1 83.8	90.5 71.3	70 45.7	+
88.6		90	-		80.9	84.9	•	91.2	89.4	85.3	82.9	64.4	-
81.7 71.8	84.6 34	84.3 81	82.9 78-1	65.8 40.8	84.4 74.9	79.4 71-2	75 64-3	94.4 88.9	86.8 86.6	76.4 72.1	76.5 36.4	55.1 39.8	29.8 12.1
79.6	74.7	83.4	81.6	61	79.6	76.9	73.3	91.3	86.9	76.3	56.7	50.7	21.2
85.9 38.4 55.8	94.5 94.5 94	52.8 41.8 47.1	79.2 78.5 80.3	75.5 67.8 69.4	93.6 92.9 92	59.2 54.4 58.2	77 61 69.2	79.9 84.5 89.2	72.4 55.7 67.6	95.1 92.4 94.8	87.3 45.9 68.3	84 65.1 76.6	83.8 66.7 77.1
	\bigcirc		\bigcirc						0				
94.4 56.3 76.1	92.2 91.5 93.4	77.5 74.2 79.2	89.9 90.7 90.4	74.5 64.4 73	97.9 95.5 94.6	86.2 61.7 78.9	90.3 76.8 84.7	86.3 84 86.1	73.2 71.5 72.2	96.3 92.4 94.4	93.2 52 74.2	91.7 77.5 85.1	90.1 77 85.2
0	+	●	+	+	∕	∕	+	•	ø	+	+	+	+
3.6 2.6 4.1		29.1 41.6 41.3			24 46.5 29.9	19.8 38.7 25.3		10.3 20.1 12	30.4 15.2 22.4				
0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	•		0	•	0	0	•	0
99.2 82.8 92.9	100 100 100	97.1 88.4 97	98.7 88.5 91.3	100 93.9 98.7	78.3 77.3 82.2	97.5 81.9 94.3	94.4 48.2 82.4	99.8 95.6 98.2	94.5 73.3 87.4	99.8 93.4 97.7	98 92-2 95-2	76.2 57.6 65.9	99.4 90.9 97.7
,					∕				ø	•		•	•
94 7.5 46.8	83.7 94.7 91.5	93.8 22.5 71.9	96.9 4.6 51.5	100 51.9 89.7	28.9 0.9 17.1	78.3 8 42.8	62.8 1.4 29.7	10.5 51 30	10.2 0.9 7.4	10 13.2 18.9	78.4 16.8 50.6	17.1 11.4 16.3	76.3 60.2 69.3

Note: ITN, insecticide treated mosquito net *Source:* Global Health Observatory 2015 (*21*).

	Jamaica	Jordan	Kazakhstan	Kanya	Kyrgyzstan	Lao People's Democratic Republic	Lesotho	Liberia	Madagescar	Maland	Maldives	Maii
Antenatal care	98.7 99.9 92.8	98 98 94.7	97 97.3 97.4	¥ 71.4 44.8 61.8	¥ 98.6 89.2 95.1	91.9 37.2 69.8	88 68.4 84.4	90.2 75.1 85.5	89.5 54 70.8	2 62.2 47.2 49	98.8 96 97.8	83.8 50.3 67.3
Skilled birth attendance	100 100 99.8	99.6 98.6 99.6	100 98.9 99.7	85.6 49.5 74.9	99.8 100 100	97.3 51.2 79.6	96.5 79.6 90.9	88 55.1 72.7	96.9 55.5 81.6	94.9 69.2 85.4	98.9 99.2 99.2	95.7 80.8 92.4
HIV Knowledge (men)	·	·	78.1 81.7 84.2	93.3 79.1 86	78.6 55.3 66.6	93.4 78.6 89.6	98.6 70.5 88	78.7 62.1 70	87.6 87.7 88.6	69.2 69.2 73.1	100 100 100	80.7 74.5 79.6
HIV Knowledge (women)	• 0 90.9	76.3 46 56.1	81.6 71.4 79	86.2 64.3 76.7	62.6 60.1 61.8	91.5 73.9 87.4	90.6 86.3 87.9	81.8 73.2 75.8	79.4 82.3 84.8	75.8 66.7 76.5	82.8 76.3 81.1	72.1 62.2 71.4
DPT3 coverage	B4.2 91.9 89.4	99.2 96.6 98.9	95.8 96.3 96.3	87.8 80.4 84.1	71.6 91.2 82	77.3 49.2 67.7	91.8 83.9 83.9	78.5 59.7 73.1	95.1 75.2 88.3	93.6 89.9 92.3	97.2 100 96.4	78.8 72.7 76.8
Measles coverage	87.3 97.1 92.8	97.7 95.3 97.4	96.2 96.5 93.4	93.6 92.3	98.1 94 96.2	87.9 60.5 77.5	91.9 83.7 89.1	88.1 72.2 80.6	95.4 75.9 88.7	98.9 98.9 96.4	93.7 96.8 95	88.9 85.3
ITN bednets coverage	÷	+	+	58.7 56.3 63.3	+	13 44.7 32.8	+	29.6 37.3 38.5	61.2 40.2 56.8	62 33.8 49.2	÷	68.9 69.3 70.4
Improved water	99.2 99.1	41.5 83.6 57.1	99.8 99.1	98.7 91.1	100 77.4 94.5	93.4 66.4 81.7	98.9 77.4 90.4	77.7 71.4 81	99.4 55.9 87.6	99.8 77.4 91.9	98.7 99.6 98.9	98.9 91.1 93.4
Piped water	81.8 76.6 85.6	37.7 80.2 52.3	96.8 52.1 84.9	89.4 14.1 55.4	100 60.6 85.8	• 14.5 22.2 16.4	92.8 7.7 58.6	4.8 0 1.9	65.2 2.5 20.5	89 1.8 32.4	39.2 71.3 56.7	75.1 6.2 34.7

Figure 7. Universal Health Coverage Dashboard for Urban Settings in Countries

Mauritania	Mongolia	Montenegro	Mozambique	Namibia	Nepal	Nigor	Nigeria	Pakistan	Peru	Plurinational State of Bolivia	Philippines	Republic of Moldova	Rwanda
+	98.4 95.8 96.1	+	73.4 51.7 60.8	90.2 79.1 83.5	90.4 38.8 71.6	65.2 33.3 46.5	93.5 51.7 76	82.6 18.9 61.3	99.2 91.4 95.9	92.5 70.3 81.6	94.7 72.9 87.4	100 85.2 95.4	59.9 35.1 40.5
94 78.7 90.1	100 98.9 99.4	100 100 99.5	92 62.8 80.3	98.4 91.9	95.8 47.5 74.4	95 68,2 83	91.3 38.4 68.2	92.2 37.9 71	99.4 94.7 96	98.9 74.5 88.3	96.2 53.4 83.2	100 99.5	98.7 67.6 82.4
72.4 52.2 65.6	93.4 71.5 85.5	+	83.8 86.1 84.9	93.2 90.9	91.2 81.6 89.5	79.7 71.2 75.2	76.9 75.4 78.3	16.9 26.8 41.3	72.8 58.4 63	91.7 80.8 85.2	67.3 57.5 65.8	95.6 87.4 89.3	93.7 93.6
44.4 24.1 34.9	90 79.4 84.8	91.1 60.5 87	80 60.2 67.6	B9.9 89.2 89.4	91.6 69.8 86.8	71.1 50 63	70.1 36.6 64.7	50.4 10.5 26.8	78.4 77 76.9	82 69.8 76	53.6 43.7 51.8	89.1 83.2 86.4	94.3 90.2 94
55.7 38.5 45.9	92 93,3 92	92.3 76.8 90.9	87.4 85.3 86.4	71.3 70 74.3	96.1 93.1 93.1	BB.6 78.4 83.7	85.5 37 62.1	84 56.7 75.8	81.2 78.8 78.8	89.6 81 85.3	92.8 77.3 87.9	78 68.6 71.3	98.4 96.6 97.7
81.9 66.1 74.4	91.6 89.1	82.8 72 79.8	97 91 93.1	90.8 91.1	97.8 79.4 92.1	90 74.8 81.5	86 40-1 64-3	88 61.9 78.3	89.5 84.0 86.5	87 81-1 85-3	93.1 81.6 89	79.8 84.1	98.7 96.7 97.9
+	+	+	44 43.7 43.6	3.4 6.4 5.3	+	O 33.1 32.5 37.9	O 21.3 21.1 18.4	• 0.1 NA 0.7	+	+	+	+	82.4 68.1 76.5
60.5 54.5 48.5	99.9 53.4 69.2	100 99.4 99.9	96.5 56 84.2	98.3 93.7 97.1	88.4 90.3	98.6 92.9 96.9	68.9 67.9 75.9	65.2 89.2 83.9	99.7 73.8 91.8	99.6 82.2 94.3	99.9 93.4 98.5	99.6 86.6 95.5	96.3 77.7 88.5
56.3 22.2 31.9	99.3 0.2 29.8	97.7 90.3 95.5	93.7 0.6 36	98.2 11.4 70.5	65.3 9.1 40.8	89.3 3.2 41.3	11.3 2.4 6.1	48.8 27.8 49.5	91.6 62.4 83.8	99.5 71.9 91.8	16.4 32 31.8	73.9 46.9 69.6	85.5 26.9

Note: ITN, insecticide treated mosquito net *Source:* Global Health Observatory 2015 (*21*).

	Saint Lucia	Sao Tome and Principe	Senegal	Serbia	Sierra Leone	Somalia	State of Palestine	Sudan	Surinsmo	Swaziland	Syrian Arab Republic	Tajikistan
Antenatal care	72.4 81.7 84.8	93.1 68.3 81.4	72.5 46.6 61.4	98.8 97.5	94.1 96.5 90.6	+	96.4 93 94.8	89.3 49.1 59.4	92.3 84.2 87.3	82.7 70.9 80.1	+	·
Skilled birth attendance	100 100 100	96 79-1 88-7	90.2 62.7 78	100 99.1 99.8	88.3 61.1 78.9	68.5 36 58.4	61.2 70.2 68.1	100 87.2 94.5	92.3 91.7 94.5	88.5 83.5 89.3	99.5 95.3 97.6	96.8 96.1 89.4
HIV Knowledge (men)	+	88 74.5 83.1	90.3 66.9 83.4	96.6 89.7 95.5	85.6 73.3 80.2	+	+	+	+	92.6 91.9 92.9	+	+
HIV Knowledge (women)	86 87.1	80.7 68 78.5	82.8 71.6 77	95.8 95.4 95.4	B1 66.6 76.3	30.3 17 25.4	+	26.7 13.9 23.4	B4.7 74.1 79.5	92 96 94.5	40.1 27.7 33.3	38.1 18.9 24.7
DPT3 coverage	+	92 80.4 87.4	96.4 90.4 92.6	93.6 68.4 93.7	77 74.1 76	30.8 22.7 29.3	93.5 92.8 93	92.1 54.4 74.9	54 40.0 51	90 92.5 91	76.4 73.1 75.8	63.8 50.2 52
Measles coverage	+	88.7 76.2 86.1	92.4 83.4 88.8	78.5 56 81.6	87.1 87.2 85.5	58.6 36.3 43.7	94.6 97.2 95.9	97.4 64.3 79.7	77 70 - 4 74 - 6	97.4 92.7 94.7	90.9 78.4 85.2	88.9 73.8 76.7
ITN bednets coverage	+	80.3 53.7 67.9	29.1 71.4 42.5	+	35.4 50.2 41.8	+	+	+	• NA NA 0	• NA 0.9	+	+
Improved water	100 98.7 99.7	99.8 98.1 99.2	93.7 66.7 88.5	99.6 99.8 99.8	84.9 68.3 83.8	90.3 38.9 58.5	85 39.4 58.8	96.3 35.3 66.5	99.8 97 99	97.8 73.7 91.2	99.8 85.3 93.5	100 85.3 93.1
Piped water	62.2 61.3 70.1	80.5 5.2 38.8	92.4 30.3 74.2	77.4 87.3 84.2	24 4.1 10.6	83.5 1.5 38.9	81.1 29.4 53.5	96.2 12.4 59.5	95.2 60.8 80.5	96.7 35.1 75.1	99.7 81.1 92.1	100 46.8 75.9

Figure 7. Universal Health Coverage Dashboard for Urban Settings in Countries

Thailand	Timor-Leste	Togo	Tunisia	Uganda	Ukraine	United Republic of Tanzania	Uzbekistan	Vanuatu	Viot Nam	Yaman	Zambia	Zimbabwe
+	73.8 43.8 62.7	87.9 51.1 71.9	97 81.5 88.5	72.1 41.2 58.4	93.4 94.5 93.2	74.6 40.2 54.1	86.4 89 89.1	+	94.6 51.6 82	+	68.7 53.8 59.7	74.7 57.9 66.8
100 97.8 99.4	83.2 14.7 59.1	95.5 80.2 91.1	99.5 99.7	95.6 79.4 90.3	99.2 97.6 99.2	96.6 61.8 82.4	100 100 100	93.6 22.5 86.8	97.7 97.5 98.8	88.1 47.4 61.7	94.1 57.8 83	91.6 73 86
+	69 44 61.9	67.6 80.6 79.7	÷	77.7 87.7 86.3	91.9 91.7 92.4	70.6 73.7 75.7	+	+	÷	+	80.6 75.9 74.7	85.8 84.2 83.7
80.4 86 84.6	53.1 28.4 47.7	78.2 80.7 76.4	74 54-4 65-4	82.7 82.4 85.4	96.8 92.3 93.9	76.7 76.9	58.5 54.9 59.8	62.5 65.6 65.9	39 64.7 49.9	32.4 29.2 32.7	73 67.5 71	02.3 79.5 80.1
92.6 89 90.7	72.1 50.1 62.7	71.4 67.3 68.7	95.6 94.7 94.5	81.5 73.6 76.1	72 64 69.7	98.1 91.8 95.7	65.1	59.3 65.6 62.9	85.4 67.3 79.7	72.1 54.1 60.1	50.7	81.8 71 78.9
95.5 92 94.9	81.2 59 71.7	87.5 65.9 77.7	86.3 87.5 88.2	91 87.5	71.8 68.4 71.2	98.5 92.4 95.1	90 90 91.5	53.1 56.6 57.9	94.8 86.7 94	85.4 66.5 78.1	95.6 85.7 88.9	86.9 78.2 84.6
+	49 33.1 52.6	44.7 48.4 50.2	÷	55.3 44.7 50.3	÷	65.6 61.2 64.4	+	+	÷	+	35.6 24.8 30.7	11.9 8.5 10.8
94.8 92.3 93.9	98.6 64.9 88.2	91.2 75.4 87.8	99.6 99.3 99.5	98 77.6 89.7	99.6 99 98.5	87.1 52 76.6	100 100 99.9	100 89.9 97.8	97.3 91.4 93.3	85.5 65.9 73.8	97.3 49.3 82.2	99.2 83.4 95
51.5 27.9 39.2	49.2 12.7 38.9	41.4 0.8 12.8	46.2 80.3 69.2	78.1 0.8 28.6	90.3 57.6 81.6	47.3 1 22.4	99.7 66.9 86.4	70.2 24.9 48.6	81 22.6 53.9	47.7 58 54.2	84.5 4.4 42.7	78.8 44.6 71.6

Note: ITN, insecticide treated mosquito net *Source:* Global Health Observatory 2015 (*21*).

While the dashboard provides an opportunity to PVRTY highlight a wide variety of messages, the following are some of the key findings that are most relevant to this chapter.

- \rightarrow Median population coverage for some services such as access to an improved water source (93%) and skilled birth attendance (91%) are high in urban areas, globally. Using a threshold of 80% for defining UHC, most people in urban areas have access to these services. However, inequalities in skilled birth attendance are still high in some countries such as Bangladesh, Ethiopia and Timor-Leste, and services would need to be expanded, especially to meet the needs of the worse-off populations.
- \rightarrow Globally, median access to piped water (51%) in households is still quite low. Relative inequalities in access to piped water are particularly high. Households in the richest quintile are 2.7 times more likely to have access to piped water compared to the poorest 20% households. In Africa, this rate ratio is closer to 17.
- For seven of the 10 indicators, African coun- \rightarrow tries have the lowest coverage. Asia-Pacific countries have the lowest coverage for having correct knowledge of HIV/AIDS, while LAC countries have the lowest bednet coverage. Coverage is particularly low for contraceptive prevalence (37%) and for access to piped water in households (42%) in Africa. For nine of the 10 indicators, LAC and eastern European countries have the highest coverage. The exception is bednet coverage where Asia-Pacific countries have the highest coverage, though data for this indicator were only collected in malaria-endemic countries.
- Some countries have particularly low coverage rates \rightarrow (fewer than two in five people are covered) for certain indicators. For example, fewer than one in five women in Benin, Chad, Guinea and Togo reported contraceptive use. In nine countries - Afghanistan, Iraq, Mauritania, Pakistan, Somalia, Sudan, Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan and Yemen - fewer than two in five women had correct knowledge of HIV/AIDS. In Afghanistan, Chad and Somalia, fewer than two in five children received DPT 3 immunization.



нітн

3

WATR 6

INEO 10

CITY 11

SUBSECTION

PG 60

Figure 8. Trends in service coverage, by region across two time periods

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).



Trends in coverage for five of the 10 indicators across four regions are shown in Figure 8. The earliest available dataset from 1990 to 2004 and the latest dataset from 2005 to 2013 are included for urban areas in each country. Only those countries with at least one dataset in each time period were included. This resulted in reducing the number of countries for which trend analysis could be done to 50. The 80% threshold identified by WHO/World Bank to determine universal coverage was used (*66*).

Figure 8 shows that the most rapid increase in coverage was for correct knowledge of HIV/AIDS among women, except in eastern Europe where there was a slight fall for the study countries. The largest increase (+45%) was in the Asia-Pacific; yet, median coverage of this indicator remained low at 59%. Access to antenatal care is another indicator for which there were substantial improvements across all regions, except in Africa. In fact, in Africa, there was a drop in median coverage of antenatal care from 65% to 60% between the two time periods.

In all regions, there was universal access to improved water sources for drinking. In three of the four regions, the exception being Africa, universal coverage had already been achieved in the earlier time period. For DPT 3 immunization, three of the four regions achieved universal coverage in urban areas. Each of the four regions witnessed an increase in coverage over the two time periods.

Caution is needed when interpreting the results. It is possible that in many countries, populations that are not officially registered or counted by the city administration have not been included during the data collection process. This often includes people who have recently migrated into cities. For example, in China, rural to urban migrants cannot easily take advantage of *Hukou*, a system of household registration, which entitles them to access essential public services in cities. Thus, it is likely that the urban coverage of services are overestimated.

OVERCOMING BARRIERS TO ACCESS

In order to progress towards UHC it is important to address the barriers to access and identify solutions that have worked in different contexts. Barriers to access take a variety of forms, as noted in the previous discussion on health inequities. One major barrier is the basic lack of quality health services, but there are other obstacles such as distance to the nearest health facility, restricted opening hours at facilities or overcrowded facilities that impose long waiting times. The cost of the health services may also deter use, especially where direct out-of-pocket payment is involved.

Even while facing such major obstacles, cities and communities have worked to develop solutions to improve access to health services. In Lima, Peru, people living in poverty have been excluded from high-quality health care due to health services that were concentrated around a very small number of central hospitals located far from people without insurance or those relying on Seguro Integral de Salud (SIS), the state insurance programme for the poor. Everyday stressors related to living in poverty made it more difficult for the poor to overcome an illness and stay healthy. Additional illnesses, such as HIV or TB, or managing a home as a single parent can make seeking services seem overwhelming. Even if a diagnosis is reached, these factors can make it difficult to follow through with treatment and long-term care.

Recognizing the problem, Socios En Salud (SES) (Partners in Health),

AFG BEN

BGD

CHN

ЕТН

GIN

IRO

PER

SDN

YEM

PG

a non-profit organization, has developed strong community-based networks of care and health services for TB, HIV, mental health and child development in some of Lima's poorest neighbourhoods. Mutual support groups have led to particularly good outcomes in both multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) and HIV patients (67). More than 10 500 people with MDR-TB have been treated in slums around Peru at a cost-per-case lower than that of countries such as the USA, and with the highest cure rate in the world of 75%, overturning assumptions that treatment of MDR-TB is too expensive and too complicated to succeed in poor communities (68).

National governments, too, can play an important role in addressing the issue at the urban level. For example, India's recently launched National Urban Health Mission aims to improve availability and access to essential primary health care services and reduce out-of-pocket expenses for treatment. It will cover close to 800 cities with a population exceeding 50 000, which includes over 220 million people, including 77.5 million who are considered poor (69).

However, in a country the size of India, the role of civil society and NGOs will be equally important in alleviating critical health issues in slums and disadvantaged areas of cities. For example, the Asha Community Health and Development Society is an NGO that is working to transform the lives of half a million residents in 60 slums across New Delhi (70). Asha (meaning "hope") has worked to create networks of trained community volunteers who provide basic health care to their fellow slum residents. These volunteers educate them on how to keep healthy and on the importance of utilizing services when needed. Asha's multipronged approach includes emphasizing acting on the social determinants of health. Programmes on education, environment, empowerment and financial inclusion supplement and enhance the opportunities for people in slums to lead healthier lives (71).

In Lagos, Nigeria, recommendations from its first urban inequity study in 2011 by the Lagos State Investment Case for Health stressed the need of having integrated service delivery for hard-to-reach and marginalized populations (72). This led to the implementation of a government-led urban slum initiative, with a strong social protection and equity lens. One of the advantages of localized systems strengthening approaches is the potential to engage the community and local providers in solving coverage and access issues. This initiative also engaged traditional birth attendants as community health links to improve service utilization through systematic referrals. Preliminary results of these localized systems strengthening effort, though unpublished, indicated an increased access to maternal and child health, HIV and sanitation services for slum dwellers.

Many low-income countries, which are the least urbanized, are experiencing rapid rates of urbanization. This is leading to high growth of population levels in cities that is putting pressure on local resources to deliver basic services, including health. Nepal is one of the fastest urbanizing countries in South-East Asia. Cities in Nepal are not able to keep up with increased demand for health, education, and environmental and housing needs, thus the urban poor face many adversities. With the changing pattern of diseases and population dynamics, the national government endorsed a new National Urban Health Policy that aims to ensure the delivery of quality essential health-care services to the urban population, particularly to the urban poor, women, children and marginalized groups (73). A related initiative involves a community health centre that provides basic health services and an outreach clinic for one of the biggest squatter slum

SUBSECTION

Advance universal health coverage in cities

62

PVRTY

HLTH

3

EDUC

4

GNDR 5

WATR 6

INEO

10

CITY

settlements in the capital city region. Volunteers and tailoring other services for the slum community lowered access barriers and increased ownership of the clinic by the slum population, leading to increased use of services.

REFORMS AND ACCESS

In 2013, close to half of all countries in the world – across all income levels – were engaged in health reforms that aimed to extend, deepen or improve coverage by providing needed health services, financial protection, or both (74). These reforms have led to a sharp increase in the demand for expertise, evidence and measures of progress and have helped the push to make UHC one of the SDGs. UHC is also the motivation for many of the recent adjustments to health systems and health financing systems in LMICs.

However, those country-level reforms do not always translate into real improvements in access to health services for the people who need them the most. Moreover, a global study of child mortality trends between 1990 and 2009 showed that while many countries made good progress in reducing the mortality rates for children 5 years and under, that heartening momentum masks a troubling fact: those countries have also experienced worsening inequities between their wealthy and poor populations (75). Gender discrimination and low levels of education also remained powerful determinants of inequities. Local governments must take action in addition to or in the absence of efforts at the national level to ensure universal coverage. Policy interventions that have allowed health systems to improve equity include removing financial and social barriers to accessing welfare services, innovations to make supply of critical services more available to the poor and increasing local accountability of the health systems.

ACHIEVING URBAN EQUITY IN DPT3 VACCINATION

Trends in DPT3 vaccination over the past two decades provide a peek into this reality. Importantly, the national and local governments can act together to achieve high levels of coverage, while maintaining a focus on serving the populations most in need of their services.

Figure 9 shows that in Ethiopia DPT3 vaccination coverage in urban areas did not improve over the past decade, and wealth-related inequity remained unchanged. At the same time, there are several cases where both coverage and equity in coverage in urban areas have substantially improved over the same period, as exemplified by Burkina Faso, the Plurinational State of Bolivia and Cambodia.

According to a 2014 UNICEF/WHO report on immunization, in the Plurinational State of Bolivia, DPT3 vaccination coverage was 41% in 1990 (76). In 2002, a collaborative project by the government, WHO and the World Bank launched a new phase with equity as its key priority (76). In a bid to increase coverage, since 1999, a collaborative project between the government, the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) and the World Bank strengthened the National Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) and achieved an increase in coverage. In 2002, a second phase was launched with equity as its key priority. This phase focused on guaranteeing and ensuring universal access to immunization services for all children, with special emphasis

63

BTN

BFA

ETH

IND



кнм

NPL

NGA

PER



CITY 11

given to the population at increased risk of contracting vaccine-preventable diseases. Central elements of this initiative were data analysis by district, purposeful engagement of local community leaders, inclusion of vaccination requirements in conditional cash transfers and the use of mobile vaccination brigades to ensure access in hard-to-reach areas (77).

Despite results showing equitable coverage by sex and ethnicity, vaccination coverage was significantly lower in urban areas compared to rural ones. Taking these results into account, the city of La Paz-El Alto, an area with the lowest coverage, conducted operational studies to understand better the causes, which, in turn, informed new strategies aimed at reaching unvaccinated or undervaccinated children in crowded urban areas. By 2013, DPT3 vaccination coverage had increased nationally to 94% (76). If the trends in urban coverage rates in Figure 9 are any indication, it is probable that the equity gap in vaccination coverage at the national level was reduced as well.

Figure 9. Trends in DPT3 vaccination coverage in urban areas of selected countries

Note: DPT, diptheria, pertussis and tetanus

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).

PARTN 17 PG

HEALTH FINANCING: OUT OF WHOSE POCKET?

Many people, including those from different ethnic groups, those living in informal settlements and migrants, are also more likely to lack proper health coverage than those who are better off. Many informal settlements are not formally recognized by local authorities and as such do not receive health and other services.

Financing mechanisms exist to help cities advance UHC. Two important mechanisms are: (i) tax financing; and (ii) collecting insurance premiums from only those in salaried employment and pooling them with tax revenues to finance health coverage for the entire population. These financing approaches, compared with alternatives such as voluntary health insurance and social health insurance, prioritize equity and universality. Rather than collecting contributions from people who are too poor to pay, countries that are making the most progress towards UHC have prioritized spending on health from general taxation – either on its own or pooled from payroll taxes and international aid (78).

Cities are uniquely positioned to unmask the differences in health-care coverage and services among their residents and then ensure that those who are most vulnerable get those services. For example, Healthy San Francisco is a health-care access programme for uninsured adults ages 18–64. It offers enrolment in a subsidized system of health care rather than covering uninsured individuals through a health insurance product. A 2011 evaluation suggested that the programme has led to an increased use of primary care services in medical homes and decreases in emergency department visits and potentially avoidable hospitalizations (79).

China is another important example where social health insurance schemes cover most of the population (80). Urban populations benefit from the urban resident-based basic medical insurance scheme, launched in 2007, and the urban employee-based basic medical insurance scheme, launched in 1998. Following guidelines from the national government and implementation plans from provincial governments, funds for the two urban insurance schemes are pooled at the municipal (prefecture) level for local operation. As such, local governments play a key role in progress towards UHC. For example, the municipality of Guangzhou, a mega city in south China, with an urban population of over 15 million, launched programmes in 2009 through which grassroots medical and health service institutions offer free-of-charge basic public health services to both urban and rural residents. In 2015, it integrated urban and rural medical insurance schemes, unified financing and treatment standards across different subpopulations and raised the government funding ratio to 70%. The services are now available without any charge, including to those with household registration and migrants without household registration, but with permanent residency.

ΡG

65

CHN

PVRTY 1

нітн

3

EDUC

4

WATR

6

ENRG

7

FCON

8

INFRA 9

INEQ

10

CITY

11

Box 4.

In many countries in West Africa, communitybased health insurance schemes have been initiated to try to close utilization gaps. Mutual health organizations, often called mutuelles, provide health insurance services to their members, and are typically financed and managed by the communities they serve (81). Member households pay for enrolment and regular premiums as well as a co-pay when health services are used. The rise in popularity of these organizations reflects the need to address the financial distress that can be caused by significant health expenses. The urban scheme in Mali, implemented in urban areas where half of the population lived in poverty, revealed a positive effect on the utilization of many priority health services. Members were 1.7 times more likely to have a fever treated in a modern health facility, three times more likely to use oral rehydration salts or seek modern care for children with diarrhoea, and twice as likely to make the full complement

of prenatal visits during pregnancy. Members did not save money overall on health expenses, but the scheme helped to smooth healthcare spending throughout the year so that shorter-term acute needs were not financially catastrophic.

Rwanda has rolled out a national-level policy establishing mutuelles to cover the uninsured. A 2012 evaluation found that the expansion of mutuelles brought coverage from 1% in 2000 to 85% in 2008, including the capital city of Kigali (82). During the same period, medical care utilization for children under 5 years with acute respiratory infections, diarrhoea or fever increased from 13% to 33%, and the utilization of skilled-birth attendants rose from 39% to 67%. Among children under 5 years who reported having acute respiratory infections, diarrhoea or fever, and women who had a delivery, mutuelle enrollees reported significantly higher rates of medical care utilization than the uninsured in the survey year.

SUMMARY

As a target in the SDG on health, attaining UHC is a priority objective for national governments, international organizations and NGOs to be achieved within each country's context. Given the emphasis on equity and access to a wide range of quality health services from prevention to palliative care, local and national authorities, along with the international community, will be expending substantial human, financial and organizational resources to secure attainment of UHC around the world. . Cities will play a major role in demonstrating the feasibility and value of UHC. Innovative solutions such as those from Guangzhou, Lagos and Lima highlighted in this report are likely to be replicated and adapted in different contexts.

Success in increasing coverage of health services over the past decade in urban areas masks the exclusion of large numbers of people without the rights or the means to access them. As highlighted in the discussion on the need for a data revolution, many people in urban areas are not even accounted for in official statistics due to their official status as migrants or illegal residents. People living in informal settlements have limited access to health services, or the services provided to them are inappropriate or unacceptable. Cities will have to ensure that the economic and well-being aspirations of billions

SUBSECTION

PG

of people who live in them will not be curbed by restricted opportunities to access quality health care and services. Data at urban level will be essential to monitoring the SDGs.

An imminent challenge for LMICs is the rising burden of NCDs, which has major implications for their ability to achieve UHC. Even in countries with early success in controlling infectious diseases and improving maternal and child health, integrating NCDs in health services effectively remains a challenge. In addition, many of these countries and their cities still suffer from infectious diseases. This double burden of infectious and chronic NCDs and its implications for cities worldwide are discussed at greater length in the next two chapters, with environmental health factors discussed in Section 2.

CHAPTER 3 — LEVERAGE THE URBAN ADVANTAGE TO TACKLE COMMUNICABLE DISEASES

KEY MESSAGE • Cities must play a leadership role in the fight against communicable disease.

Cities are positioned to exercise leadership on altering the course of some of the most devastating infectious diseases of our time. They can lead national efforts to curb infectious diseases. Cities may also lead at the front lines of outbreaks. In 2014, the Ebola outbreak entered Nigeria via Lagos, a city with the largest population and greatest population density on the African continent. Aggressive contact tracing efforts identified all 900 people who had been in contact with the disease; 19 were eventually diagnosed with the disease, 12 survived, and the virus was effectively halted.

Cities have demonstrable advantages for controlling communicable diseases, thereby enabling them to play a central role in reducing this global burden. They are comparatively well resourced with health workers, financial resources and facilities. They are more likely to have stable electricity and refrigeration facilities as well as stronger supply chain management for vaccines and other medicines and commodities. The relative human density of cities enables mobility and access at scale for reaching healthcare providers, facilities, medicines, and more.

Cities deserve special attention for the control of communicable diseases because they also have features that make them uniquely vulnerable. High population density can cluster people around risk. For example, in cases where there is unsafe water or poor sanitation, even one individual can make entire communities sick in densely populated spaces. Furthermore, the high human density can expose residents to airborne diseases such as influenza or TB.

Unquestionably, too many cities have become highly unequal societies. Many urban populations in developing countries are still growing faster than can feasibly be managed by local governments, creating new vulnerable communities in their periphery. In many cases, these develop as informal settlements where the combination of poor living conditions, disconnection from public services and infrastructure, and inadequate

PG

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

ML

NGA

PER

RWA

health service coverage facilitate the transmission of disease. Children are particularly at risk of vaccine-preventable and diarrhoeal diseases under these conditions.

Inequity in cities can facilitate the transmission of disease, even in high-income cities that are hardly growing at all. Cities are heterogeneous places, and they are home to a great many vulnerable people. In some high-income cities, TB manages to hide and proliferate in disadvantaged subpopulations. HIV has become disproportionately prevalent in cities as stigma and high-risk behaviours in cities can expose vulnerable urban residents to transmission.

The tragedy is that the infectious diseases in cities are highly controllable and treatable, and cities are highly capable of taking action to reduce and ultimately eliminate them. This chapter addresses communicable diseases that are aggravated by the urban environment through the lens of HIV/AIDS and TB. It also explores the nature of these diseases in cities, including how they disproportionately impact certain people and communities within cities. Most importantly, it looks at the strategies cities can take or are already operationalizing to mitigate and ultimately eliminate these conditions.

ENDING HIV/AIDS IN CITIES

Cities have become the focus of global ambitions to end the HIV/AIDS epidemic. While the global epidemic may have peaked in the early 2000s, HIV has been concentrating more in cities of late. Analysis conducted by UNAIDS of 200 high prevalence cities has shown that they account for as much as 25% of all people living with HIV (83). Moreover, these 200 cities represent only 10% of the world's total population. In sub-Saharan Africa, for example, HIV is highly concentrated in cities. Nearly half of all people living with HIV live in urban areas (83), but the subcontinent is only 40% urbanized (84). A similar pattern of urban concentration manifests in other high prevalence countries as well. In Brazil and the Russian Federation, more than half of all people living with HIV live in urban areas. In the USA, just 21 cities can account for 40% of all HIV cases. In Viet Nam, 31% of all people living with HIV live in just two cities (83). In countries where the DHS has observed urban prevalence, both urban men (2.2%) and women (4.7%) are more likely to be HIV-positive than their rural counterparts (1.6% and 2.0%, respectively) (Figure 10).

Cities where injecting drug use and paid sex are prevalent can concentrate risk for HIV infection. In Indonesian cities, for example, HIV prevalence among intravenous drug users has been estimated at up to 56% (83). UNAIDS has also observed that infection rates among men who have sex with men (MSM) can be considerably higher in cities. In Bangkok, for example, infection rates among MSM are more than three times the national average.

For these reasons and more, UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) view cities as critical venues and partners in achieving a world without AIDS. The concentration of risk and prevalence in cities presents an opportunity to be harnessed, both for access to treatment and prevention. Cities are endowed with better resources and infrastructure, and their density puts people in closer proximity to services. Cities are better equipped to manage health commodities and supply chains than rural areas. Facilities in cities are more likely to have electric-

SUBSECTION

INFRA



Figure 10. HIV prevalence among general population, by sex and place of residence

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).



ity for cold storage of antiretroviral medicines. In some sub-Saharan African countries, more than 90% of HIV/AIDS-related health services are located in urban areas (85).

Accounting for these factors, UNAIDS has encouraged cities to capitalize on the opportunity presented by the urbanization of the disease and the inherent strengths that cities offer to end the global epidemic. UNAIDS asked mayors from around the world to sign the Paris Declaration and to commit to doing their part in the AIDS response. Each of these mayors has pledged to reach three concrete goals: by 2020, they have pledged that 90% of their constituents living with HIV will know their HIV status, 90% of those who know their status will be receiving HIV treatment, and 90% of people on HIV treatment will have a suppressed viral load (the 90–90–90 Target) (Figure 11). The commitment also entails the provision of prevention services and the end of stigma and discrimination.

This strategy focuses on achieving these targets in the 35 highest prevalence nations, which account for over 90% of all new infections and more than 90% of people who die from AIDS-related causes (86). These "fast-track countries" are home

communicable diseases

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle 69

BRA

FRA

тна

RUS

to more than three quarters of the highest prevalence cities in the world. If the targets can be achieved in the fast-track countries, beginning with cities, UNAIDS projects that AIDS-related deaths will drop by 80% by 2030, and 95% of people living with AIDS will have a suppressed viral load (87). In accomplishing these goals, UNAIDS estimates that the world would be on track to end the AIDS epidemic as a public health threat.

Achieving these ambitious goals in 15 years will depend on cities successfully identifying and ultimately reaching at-risk populations and residents living with HIV. This will require cities to grapple with not just the risk factors for contracting HIV, but also the underlying social determinants that place certain people at greater risk than others. Importantly, it will also require cities to make the most of their vast potential to treat and care for people living with HIV.

GNDR

PVRTY

1

нітн

3

5

In many countries, there is a strong gender dimension to HIV risk in cities. Urban women are particularly vulnerable. Figure 12 depicts the trends for both urban women and men, showing that prevalence is declining for both sexes virtually everywhere. However, it is also clear that despite this progress, women still disproportionately bear the burden of the disease. In countries where the DHS has observed urban prevalence, WHO finds that urban women are at least 1.5 times more likely to have contracted HIV than either urban men or rural women (21). Urban men may be at lower risk than urban women, but MSM are at significantly greater risk than other men. MSM are 19 times more likely than other men to be living with HIV, and only 14% of MSM living with HIV have access to treatment in low-income countries (87).

As seen in so many cases, the places where people live can be similarly influential in their risk exposure for contracting HIV. People living in informal settlements are particularly vulnerable, notably in urban South Africa and Nairobi where prevalence is at least twice as high as the formalized areas of the city (83). In 2003, the leading cause of death in the slums of Nairobi was attributable to AIDS, at 30% (35). Infrastructure

Figure 11. Impact of the 90-90-90 **Target on HIV infections** and AIDS-related deaths, 2016-2030

Source: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS 2014 (88).



9

INFRA

INEQ 10

CITY 11



PEACE 16

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

70

PG

Figure 12. Trends in HIV prevalence, by sex in urban areas

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).







and health-care services in informal settlements simply cannot compare to the access advantages found elsewhere in cities. Informal settlements in Durban, South Africa, for example, have the highest rates of mother-to-child transmission and the lowest rate treatment utilization compared with other areas of the city.

In the 35 fast-track countries, health equity remains a hurdle to accomplishing the fast-track goals by 2020. Urban slums and informal settlements are crucial issues that must be addressed not only on the grounds of social justice, but also as clear obstacles to making progress with HIV. Urban women disproportionately bear the burden of HIV. In fast-track countries where it is measured, poor and less educated

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

PG
urban women, in particular, are less likely to have comprehensive knowledge of how the PVRTY HIV virus is transmitted than their wealthier, more educated peers. In some cases, the gaps between income groups and educational attainment is quite large (Figure 13). In Pakistan, for example, the wealthiest urban women are nearly six times more likely to have knowledge of transmission than the poorest urban women. In the Ukraine, highly educated women are more than 2.5 times more likely to have comprehensive knowledge than poorly educated women. Urban women in nearly all fast-track countries are less likely to have this knowledge than urban men (21).

HLTH 3

GNDR 5

1

Box 5.	Cities responding to the call	
the world are	gh burden of HIV/AIDS around taking the initiative to develop ategies to turn back the epidemic	the informal settlements twice weekly with free medicines provided by the Ministry of Health (90).
in their munic are proving to populations a disease are of city of Windh estimates of 15% in 2009 infections we where inform because of th coverage by these vulneral Windhoek an	cipality. City-level strategies o be essential, as vulnerable and the epidemiology of the often unique in each city. In the oek, Namibia, the most recent adult prevalence stood at nearly (89). The city found that most ere clustered in parts of the city al settlements have developed ne city's rapid growth, with poor the city's health services. Once able populations were identified, d its partners developed a strategy where clinicians visit	Another example is the city of Kigali is home to one third of people living with HIV in Rwanda (91). At 7.3%, it has the highest prevalence rate in Rwanda, while all other provinces have a prevalence rate below 3% (92). The city works in tandem with national-level and district-level policies and programmes, but the city focuses on key vulnerable populations. The city will expand condom provision and services for male circumcision as well as enhancing the provision of food and community-based hom care for people living with HIV in the city.

CITY

INEQ 10

11

PARTN

17

ADAPTING THE END TB STRATEGY IN CITIES

TB continues as a major public health threat, particularly in large urban centres. It ranks alongside HIV/AIDS as a leading cause of death worldwide (93). WHO estimates that 9.5 million people were sick with TB in 2014. For 1.5 million people, the illness was fatal. Complicating the challenge is that the disease continues to evolve due to incomplete or inappropriate treatment. Drug resistant strains have emerged, with 500 000 cases of MDR-TB estimated worldwide. More troubling still, the emergence of extensively drug resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB) means that most second-line therapies are no longer efficacious for affected patients, treatment can cost up to half a million dollars and cure rates are very low (94).

TB has managed to proliferate in large urban areas, particularly among densely populated, deprived communities. In some larger cities of low-burden, higher-income coun-

SUBSECTION



Figure 13. Comprehensive Correct Knowledge of HIV/AIDS by educational attainment and wealth

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).





- ▲ Males
- Females

UKR USA

NAM

PAK

RWA

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

tries, TB incidence can be several multiples or more of the national average (95). TB incidence in Toronto, Canada, and Osaka, Japan, is three times their respective national averages. At least 15 large cities in Europe have been found to have more than double the national incidence rate, even as national rates are falling in Europe (17). TB tends to thrive in the more deprived communities within cities. In the United Kingdom, more than 70% of all TB cases come from the 40% most deprived areas (96). Mapping the epidemic in Rotterdam, the Netherlands, and London reveals similar patterns of high TB concentration in focused pockets of the city (Figure 14).

TB continues to be more widespread in large cities in the developing world, where rapid urbanization, poverty and inadequate living conditions exist on a far greater scale without commensurate capacity in the health system to cope. Over 95% of global TB incidence and mortality is carried by developing countries (97). The growth of slum housing contributes to the disease's perpetuation in urban centres. Up to one third of all urban housing in the developing world may be classified as slums. These homes often suffer from crowding, poor hygiene and ventilation, and indoor air pollution. Homes in informal settlements often have inadequate access to health facilities and services. These areas not only enable the transmission of TB between residents, but also have poor access to care and costs that can undermine treatment. A study in three slum districts of Abia and Anambra States in Nigeria found the prevalence of TB to be 6.4% (98). Similar studies have shown lower, but still unacceptably high TB prevalence in slums in Bangladesh (0.3%), Cambodia (0.2%) and Uganda (3.5%) (99). At the same time, widespread access to medicines without prescriptions from pharmacies or informal providers can contribute to the emergence and spread of MDR-TB.

There can be no doubt that the challenges in rolling back the disease are significant, but cities and their partners, including WHO, are pushing forward with new initiatives to drastically reduce the number of TB-related deaths. The World Health Assembly in 2014 approved the End TB Strategy with the goal of reducing TB mortality by 90% by 2030 and an 80% decline in TB incidence. The SDGs adopted the same 90% decline in deaths by 2030. The WHO strategy proposes an approach with three mutually reinforcing focus areas to achieve its global goal. The first component of the strategy covers integrated, patient-centred care and prevention, focusing on expansion of early diagnosis and treatment as well as preventive action to care for those at high risk, including people who are HIV-positive. The second component focuses on policy and systems, including securing political commitment, advancing UHC and social protections, and addressing the social and environmental determinants of health. The third component focuses on research, ranging from basic research, to tools development and operational research.

Cities are well positioned to help deliver on the End TB Strategy. Cities in some of the highest burden countries in the world are mobilizing strategies to improve screening and diagnostic services, especially in the most vulnerable communities, expand treatment and social support, and develop policies and programmes to address the social and environmental determinants of TB.

In the fight against TB, the resource and density advantages of cities present significant opportunities for eliminating TB deaths. Cities are demonstrating that they can harness these advantages and significantly scale up their response in a short time. In India, home to the highest absolute burden of TB in the world, the city of Mumbai has been experiencing an unprecedented epidemic of MDR-TB. In 2014, Mumbai registered 2951 MDR-TB cases, over 12% of the cases in the entire country (*100*). Mumbai

SUBSECTION

G

СІТҮ 11

CLIMT 13

PARTN

17

HLTH 3

PVRTY

Figure 14. TB prevalence maps of Rotterdam and London

Source: de Vries et al. 2014 (17).









NGA
NLD



UGA

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

PG

75

BGD

CAN

has a health system with a highly unequal distribution of essential infrastructure, exper-PVRTY tise and other resources necessary to combat TB in places where it may be needed most. Since the launch of a city-led initiative to improve access to diagnosis and treatment, the city has scaled up the number of labs from one to 12, providing free rapid TB diagnos-HNGR tics. The number of hospital beds designated for MDR-TB treatment has expanded from 22 to 314. The city and its partners have trained 1500 informal health-care providers to administer quality diagnostics and treatment and vastly expand the system's reach in the slums. These broader systems have enabled the city to more than double the number of MDR-TB patients identified each year, and quickly get them under treatment.

City leaders are demonstrating that they can coordinate TB policy up and down the various levels of government, and more effectively engage with communities. Programmes coordinated by WHO and partners in the WHO Region of the Americas are facilitating these new dynamics. Cities in the region are among the most unequal in the world, with one fourth of the urban population living in poverty, and over 100 million people living in slum conditions. These conditions create an environment in which TB can proliferate, and barriers to accessing and staying in care for those who fall ill are great. As a first step, WHO is bringing together national-level managers and local authorities to deliver political commitment at all levels of government to end TB in their cities. WHO is working with national and local authorities to facilitate coordination on urban TB strategies. Fragmentation of providers across cities, between public and private providers, medical colleges, specialist hospitals and prison health services, has historically constrained coordination at the city or national levels. These programmes have mapped providers across cities in the region, and developed new frameworks to coordinate and unify their services and reporting. In order to reach the most vulnerable people in the region's cities, these systems must be coordinated with community-based networks of care. Community-based care delivery programmes in the most vulnerable areas of Lima have been able to deploy DOTS (Directly Observed Treatment, Short-

A patient receives an HIV test

Source: A patient receives an HIV test by Arne Hoel / World Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/2.0/legalcode



PARTN 17

0

нітн

3

WATR 6

INFRA

9

CITY 11



Course) and DOTS-plus at the community level, at low cost and with 83% cure rates (67). Coordination between community-based and formal care systems is another level of integration that has been crucial to efforts to bring TB under control.

Cities are also developing the analytical capacity to identify vulnerable groups of people and, as a result, deliver more targeted programmes to control TB. In the Philippines, a country with a high burden of TB and MDR-TB, the city of Manila and its partners are working towards new analytical approaches to identify at-risk communities and people. For the first time, the city is using geographical information systems to map the disease and identify where it clusters in neighbourhoods across the city. Subsequent analysis of the social determinants has been able to link specific housing characteristics and educational status to neighbourhoods with high rates of TB. This will ultimately help the city to develop more targeted interventions and determine where to expand services.

HEALTH EMERGENCIES IN CITIES

With increasing globalization and connectivity of human settlements, city populations are exposed to infectious diseases that, in most cases, can be effectively controlled with basic public health measures and functioning health systems. Occasionally, however, even common endemic diseases can lead to infectious disease outbreaks. In recent years, several rare diseases have also landed in cities with devastating effect. The Ebola virus, Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS), severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) as well as new variants of influenza arrived and spread in urban environments, resulting in great loss of life.

The existence of abysmal living conditions for millions creates vulnerabilities through crowding, poor building construction and ventilation, malnutrition, inadequate access to safe water, sanitation and waste removal, among other unacceptable conditions that can create environments that quickly propagate communicable diseases. Resolving the inequities of urban living will be central to any city's strategy to build

A portrait of Dr. Abdoul

Source: A portrait of Dr. Abdoul by Dominic Chavez/World Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/2.0/legalcode

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

HLTH 3

PVRTY

EDUC 4



resilience to outbreaks, as well as other health conditions.

No two outbreaks are the same, and in the absence of well-functioning health systems, there are no silver bullets. For example, the Ebola virus has landed in urban areas before. In 1995, Ebola broke out in Kikwit in the former Zaire (now the Democratic Republic of the Congo), and in 2001 it entered Gulu, Uganda, with populations of 400 000 and 100 000, respectively (101). In both cases, there was significant loss of life of about 250 people, but on a considerably smaller scale than the 2014 Ebola outbreak in West Africa. Neither city would have had substantially better social conditions or health system capacity than the cities affected in 2014, nor were they immune to urban poverty. Lagos, one of the most crowded cities on the subcontinent, was able to contain the virus in 2014. An important question is what can we learn from the myriad of experiences with these and other outbreaks to make cities more resilient?

City contexts and the evolving nature of outbreaks are diverse, but it is certain that city governments must be able to communicate effectively with their residents about outbreaks. Communication from government officials, community leaders and health professionals helps to prepare the public for the actions they need to take. Often in an acute emergency, people need to make decisions in a short time, the decisions may be irreversible, and yet information can be incomplete or uncertain. Equally importantly, people and their communities need to trust the messenger and the information that they receive. Such trust is more likely to be absent or weak in places where health and other forms of inequities are prevalent.

Officials need to communicate to the public what they know about the disease and how to prevent its further spread. Communication is vital to ensuring that community members change behaviour when required and follow necessary precautions. Experience and research have taught that uncertainty is a given, that community members need help to accept it and that communicating honestly about it can build trust and

Maouloud festival in Mali, January 2015

Source: Maouloud festival in Mali, January 2015 by UNMEER/Pierre Peron is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/2.0/legalcode

INEQ 10

CITY 11

SUBSECTION



Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

G

confidence, which must be earned. During an outbreak, people likely will turn to sources they already trust. When people do not trust certain officials, it is critical to identify whom they do trust and would listen to and how to reach them with information. Conversely, overly reassuring the public leaves them unprepared for difficult situations and, ultimately, reduces the trust in communication from those leaders.

During the Ebola virus epidemic in Guinea, local leaders, Ministry of Health officials, the International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, WHO, local NGOs, universities and religious leaders worked together to communicate broadly with the city's residents about prevention of Ebola (102). The communication campaign used multiple channels and trusted sources. Tailored to the literacy level of the population, prevention messages were communicated by bullhorn in crowded markets and other public places, door-to-door visits that included giving out bleach and radio and television messages in multiple languages.

In Nigeria, in addition to aggressive contact tracing, the Ministry of Health and other partners utilized social media and television programmes, drawing on its internal resources of Nigerian movie stars (103). They developed and delivered public education programmes and engaged traditional, religious and community leaders to disseminate messages to communities. Similarly, in Liberia, where legacies of conflict and mistrust may have frustrated communications about the outbreak and prevention, civil society organizations, along with community radio stations, were trusted arbiters of information. Combined with community leaders conducting door-to-door visits, they were able to deliver important information from WHO and the government so that information resonated (104).

Communications are crucial in times of outbreaks. Building confidence in communities and identifying trusted messengers and information channels is a critical undertaking that should be prioritized before outbreaks occur so that they can be relied upon during times of emergency.

SUMMARY

Cities have become the focus of much of the international community's efforts to eliminate deadly infectious disease epidemics. There is good reason for their urban focus. The unique characteristics of the modern urban environment promise both vulnerability and opportunity at a significant scale. These vulnerabilities can be addressed. Urban health inequity, by its very definition, is avoidable and solvable with the resources and capabilities that already exist. New technologies and medical advances could catapult these efforts forward, but there is much that can and should be done at present. Ending deadly disease epidemics such as HIV and TB will depend on cities to control transmission and ensure that those who are already dealing with infections are affordably accessing and adhering to treatment. This will depend on building capacity to identify those who are at risk and those who are already infected as well as extending the reach of treatment and prevention for all, particularly for vulnerable people and communities. Importantly, cities must address the social and environmental determinants that contribute to the persistence and spread of these diseases. Enhancing urban health risk management, reinforcing local health systems and preparedness can reduce the impact of new communicable disease outbreaks, as well as other disasters and health emergencies.

UGA

COD

COG

GIN

IRR

ML

NGA

SUBSECTION

Leverage the urban advantage to tackle communicable diseases

PG

CHAPTER 4 — NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES: PVRTY OVERCOME THE NEW URBAN EPIDEMIC

KEY MESSAGE • NCDs present not only a threat to human health, but also have significant economic implications for cities.

Cities face a multitude of health challenges, not least the risk posed by communicable diseases. However, there is a new urban epidemic emerging - NCDs - shaped by the lifestyle and working patterns of urban residents. CVD, cancer, chronic respiratory conditions and diabetes have replaced communicable diseases as the leading causes of death in many settings, and are the primary focus of this chapter. Mental health is also examined, while violence and injuries and related interventions are dealt with in more detail in the chapter on safety in Section 2.

THE DOUBLE BURDEN OF DISEASE

NCDs have rapidly emerged as a 21st century health threat and present a challenge to policy-makers, who are now tasked with addressing the double burden of communicable and noncommunicable disease. Approximately 38 million people die annually from NCDs, representing 63% of the total global deaths from all causes. NCDs also impact longevity and the ability of people to age well, with more than 16 million people dying prematurely before the age of 70. CVDs account for most NCD deaths (17.5 million people annually), followed by cancers (8.2 million), respiratory diseases (4 million) and diabetes (1.5 million) (105).

In LMICs, NCDs now coexist with communicable diseases, representing a significant challenge to disease prevention and control efforts. The burden of NCDs in LMICs is disproportionately high and accounts for almost three quarters (28 million) of NCD-related deaths (105). In India, for example, urbanization and its associated lifestyle changes have triggered a health transition in favour of NCDs. CVD and cancer are now the top two leading causes of death in urban areas (106). Similar transitions have been observed elsewhere. In Kenya, CVD and injuries significantly increased and mortality related due to HIV/AIDS declined among the urban poor of Nairobi between 2003 and 2012. Cardiovascular deaths steadily increased from 2% in 2003 to 8% in 2012, and peaked at 14% in 2005, with women more frequently affected (35).

While NCDs are not confined to cities, the city environment is conducive to lifestyles and behaviours that contribute to their development, including greater consumption of unhealthy foods, use of tobacco and alcohol, and physical inactivity. Demographic shifts associated with population ageing also have implications for NCD prevention and control – not only are people living longer, in many contexts they are also developing NCDs at an earlier age. With up to 80% of older people expected to be living in LMICs by 2050, urgent action is required to ensure that health and social systems are ready to address the growing burden of NCDs (107). Governments must seek solutions beyond the health sector to address the burden of NCDs on the human capital and economic productivity of cities.

PEACE 16

17

1

нітн 3

ENRG

7

FCON

8

INEQ

10

CITY

11

SUBSECTION PARTN

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

PG

THE ECONOMIC COST OF NCDS

NCDs present not only a threat to human health in cities, but also have significant economic implications. It is estimated that, if intervention efforts were to continue in their present form in the face of the growing burden of NCDs, the cumulative economic losses to LMICs from CVD, diabetes, cancer, chronic respiratory diseases would exceed US\$ 7 trillion during 2011–2025. These losse equate to an average of nearly US\$ 500 billion per year and are equivalent to approximately 4% of these countries' current annual output. On a per-person basis, the annual losses range between US\$ 25 and US\$ 139, depending on a country's level of development (*108*).

The lifestyle and working patterns of urban residents have the potential to fuel an increase in NCDs in cities. It will come as no surprise then that the cost of NCDs is substantial in urbanizing economies. China and India are rapidly urbanizing: between 2014 and 2050, China is expected to add an additional 292 million people to its cities, while in India that figure is estimated at 404 million (2). The cost of CVD, diabetes, cancer, chronic respiratory diseases and mental health conditions has been estimated at US\$ 27.8 trillion for China and US\$ 6.2 trillion for India, respectively, during 2012–2030 (Table 2) (109).

		China	India
	CVD	8.25	2.25
	Diabetes	8.25	2.25
	Respiratory disease	5.71	1.17
	Cancer	3.97	0.31
	Mental health	9.43	2.28
	total	27.85	6.16

In both countries, CVD and mental health conditions present the greatest economic threats, followed by respiratory diseases and cancer. China's losses exceed those of India's as the impact of lost labour and physical capital is greater in higher-income countries.

NCDs can also have an adverse effect on the economic position of individuals and their families. NCDs can be an additional burden to those already facing financial hardship. In China, 73% of stroke survivors reported experiencing catastrophic health expenditure, whereby their out-of-pocket health-care costs exceeded 30% of their annual household income (110). Out-of-pocket expenses, ongoing costs related to treatment, loss of employment and the need for care and lifestyle modification all

Table 2. Cost of NCDs in China and India: estimated losses during 2012–2030 (2010 US\$ trillions)

Source: Working paper No. 19335, August 2013, National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER), cited in Bloom et al. 2013 (*109*).

```
SUBSECTION
```

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

KEN

CHN

ΡG

contribute to the overall cost of NCDs and can contribute to the vicious cycle of poverty, particularly in underinsured populations. The evidence of ruinous and long-term economic burdens borne by many households indicates that effective prevention and management of such diseases will help achieve the wider objective of global poverty reduction. Poverty alleviation can be promoted through programmes that strengthen financial protection from ill-health. In the context of NCDs, this means not only protection from the burden of user fees associated with illness, but also providing the means to cope with the ongoing costs of long-term treatment, rehabilitation and prevention. In LMICs, incomplete or absent health insurance can force households to employ a wide range of coping strategies that call upon their financial reserves. Even for countries that have ostensibly achieved UHC, chronic illness can still be a major source of economic hardship (111).

UNDERSTANDING THE RISK FACTORS AND DETERMINANTS OF NCDs

The four leading risk factors for the development of NCDs are physical inactivity, an unhealthy diet, smoking and alcohol consumption. In the urban context, a significant body of research has examined the relationship between urban form, physical activity and healthy eating. While these issues are covered in further detail in Section 2, it is important to underscore how cities contribute to health-harming behaviour. Poor transportation and an overreliance of motorized transport have resulted in people spending longer periods of time commuting, the availability of affordable healthy food is restricted by poor urban planning policies and longer working and commuting hours, coupled with increased female participation in the workforce, has contributed to dietary changes in favour of convenience foods. The interaction of these factors is reflected in the rising rates of overweight and obesity, particularly in urban areas and, increasingly, for the urban poor.

Rising rates of overweight and obesity have the potential to fuel an increase in the burden of NCDs. Trend data from LMICs showed that the prevalence of urban female overweight and obesity has increased substantially over time (Figure 15). Critically, the burden of overweight and obesity favours urban areas, where one in three women are overweight or obese compared to one in five in rural settings. Of the countries examined, the fastest increase in overweight and obesity was observed for Bangladesh, Benin and Nepal, while substantial gains also occurred in Egypt, Jordan and Zimbabwe.

Similarly, smoking is a risk factor for NCDs and remains a significant concern. Globally, one in five men smoke.

PARTN

17

PVRTY

нітн

3

GNDR 5

ENRG

7

FCON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

CITY

11

CLIMT

13

SUBSECTION



Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

Figure 15.

Trends in prevalence of overweight and obesity among urban women by country

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).



However, there is substantial regional variation: in the Asia-Pacific region, one in two urban men smoke compared to one in six in the African and LAC regions (Figure 16). The poorest one fifth of urban men are nearly twice as likely to smoke as the richest one fifth. The prevalence of smoking among the poorest one fifth of urban men, compared to the richest one fifth, is even higher when examined at the country level for Cambodia (4.8 times), Sierra Leone (4.9) and Malawi (8.8). Smoking is particularly high among the urban poor in Bangladesh and Indonesia, where seven in 10 and eight in 10 urban men in the poorest one fifth of households smoke.

The rise of overweight and obesity and persistent levels of smoking, especially among the urban poor, across all regions is a worrying trend for the future of NCD prevention and control. In the African region alone, the prevalence of NCDs is projected to increase by 27% in the next 10 years. The burden is already high, with the prevalence of hypertension ranging between 30% and 60% in western and southern Africa (*112*). With low awareness, late presentation and weak health service readiness, there is a need to act at the primary care level to address the impact of NCDs, particularly in LMICs. An urban survey from Mozambique revealed that 80% of cervical cancers were diagnosed at late, inoperable stages. Only one tenth of people with diabetes knew they had the condition, and only 18% of people with hypertension were aware of their condition (*113*).

However, addressing health system readiness is not the only need resulting from the NCD epidemic – consideration also must be given to the physical and social environment. Poor infrastructure, high levels of insecurity and weak legal systems interact with poverty and social exclusion to create unsafe living and working conditions. In Nairobi, injuries were the second most frequent cause of death (21%) reported during 2003– 2012. Injury deaths were four times more likely among men and the prevalence doubled over the 10-year period (*35*). Section 2 of this report provides a more detailed discussion of violence and injuries and the strategies to improve interpersonal safety in cities.

The environment can also interact with individual characteristics, meaning some people are more vulnerable to poor health outcomes due to their living and working conditions. Violence and harassment are common occurrences for migrant girls living in slums, where they may be limited in their capacity to seek assistance from health and social providers (44). The built and social environment of urban areas can also significantly impact mental health outcomes (114). For example, analysis of the World Mental Health Survey in the metropolitan area of Sao Paulo, Brazil, revealed high levels of mental health disorders, with one third of respondents reporting a mental health condition in the past 12 months (115).

THE BEST BUYS – COST-EFFECTIVE STRATEGIES TO TACKLE NCDs

Addressing the conditions and risk factors associated with the development of NCDs requires multilevel, multisectoral responses. Globally, the need to address the social, economic and public health burden of NCDs has been recognized through the adoption of the United Nations Political Declaration on the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in 2011 as well as the adoption of the WHO Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013–2020. As part of these global efforts, a core set of NCD interventions – the "best buys" – have been identified

SUBSECTION

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

PG

83

BEN

BGD BRA

EGY

JOR

MOZ

NPL

SLE

ZWE

et Healthy Philly

Source: Get Healthy Philly reproduced with permission fr the Philadelphia Department o Public Health

n municable diseases: overcom utban epidemic

e

QUINTILE DISTRIBUTION

How you should read the data

In this visual model, levels of service coverage or prevalence are given for urban populations by wealth quintile. Rates for the poorest 20% of urban residents in a given country are represented by the bar labeled I in the first row of each grid. Each subsequent bar represents rate for each of the next four wealth quintiles, ending with the wealthiest 20%, labeled V. Levels of coverage can be read by the height of the bar, or its precise value at the end of the row.

The bars are also oriented from right to left, according to their approximate value. This helps to visualize the differences between the wealth subgroups. When there is a difference of more than 20% between two consecutive income groups, that portion of the grid is highlighted in order to underscore the gap.

A coloured bar indicates the difference between the poorest 20% and the wealthiest 20% of urban residents in a given country. For indicators where higher values denote more desirable results, such as access to an improved water source, the gap is yellow. For indicators where higher values denote poorer results, such as smoking rates, the gap is indicated in red.



SUBSECTION

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic



Figure 16. Inequalities in smoking rates among urban men by wealth quintiles and by region

23.5

21.5

-12.6

\$2.5

40.3

46.7

62.1

80.6

70.4

66.6

59.2

Kyrgyzstan

5.3

54.2

53.3

\$5.2

44.9

\$5.8

Azerbaijan

15.1

81.4

76.0

81.3

71.0

66.0

India

14.5

\$9.0

14.7

87.2

72.9

57. H

72.3

\$3.8

Kazakhstan

13.1

56.5

53.9

32.4

53.3

Honduras

Pakistan

2.5

35.7 35.8

\$8.9

51.3

54.2

Albania

18.7

89.5

80.0

75.2

40

75.0

67.8

acific

1 22.7 70.7 70.7 70.7 70.7 70.7

Indonesia

10.1

12.5

12.3

32.3

32.9

32.2

37.8

10.8

19:0

Maldives

13.7

67.9

39.5

58.3

55.3

34.3

Guyana

Cambodia

16.5

81.2

76.7

23.0

64.6

Nepal

16.0

Republic of Moldova

33,3

35.3

42.

31.3

58.6

17.0

12.4

41.4

Armenia

11.1

37.9

90.5

90.E

80-1

182.7

Haiti

Eastern Europe

Ukraine

50.0

Timor-Leste

3

Bosnia & Herzegovina

14.5

14-1

\$0.5

43.3

43.3

Belarus

1.9

33.4

93.7

92.9

86.2

89.3

61.2

59.3

19.3

\$7.7

16.2

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2. Q2, 2nd quintile; Q4, 4th quintile

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).

Dominican Republic

to assist policy-makers, members of civil society and business leaders in responding to the challenges posed by NCDs. The intervention strategies include taxation, advertising restrictions and public information, and are aimed at the risk factors and diseases associated with NCDs, namely tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity for CVD, diabetes, cancer and chronic respiratory diseases (*108*).

The price tag for scaled-up implementation of a core set of NCD "best buy" intervention strategies is comparatively low, with the potential to be highly beneficial. Population-based measures for reducing tobacco and harmful alcohol use, as well as unhealthy diet and physical inactivity, are estimated to cost US\$ 2 billion per year for all LMICs – less than US\$ 0.40 per person. Individual-based NCD "best buy" interventions, which range from counselling and drug therapy for CVD to measures to prevent cervical cancer, bring the total annual cost to US\$ 11.4 billion. On a per-person basis, the annual investment ranges from less than US\$ 1 in low-income countries to US\$ 3 in upper-middle-income countries. Investing in these strategies will help avoid many millions of premature deaths and result in significant economic savings. For example, reducing the mortality rate for ischaemic heart disease and stroke by 10% would reduce economic losses in LMICs by an estimated US\$ 25 billion per year – a cost-effective investment when just one third of this amount is required to achieve these benefits (*108*).

EXPLOITING THE URBAN ADVANTAGE

Tackling the burden of NCDs presents an opportunity for government, the private sector and civil society organizations to work together to an unprecedented degree and make life-saving, life-enhancing differences for entire city populations. It is a chance for cities to show their true worth and to exploit the urban advantage to maximum effect.

The WHO "best buy" strategies provide a starting point for NCD prevention and control efforts. Local governments often exercise policy and legislative control over many of the strategies to reduce the risk factors for NCDs. Tax increases, consumer information and health warnings, smoking prohibitions in public spaces and cessation programmes have been used effectively to reduce tobacco consumption. In New York City, a comprehensive antismoking programme bundled tax increases, smoke-free workplace legislation, public and health-care provider education, and cessation services saw a 19% drop in tobacco consumption from 2002 to 2006. This is approximately a 5% annual decline on average (116). The health outcomes of smoke-free legislation are substantial, particularly for child and maternal health. The implementation of smoke-free legislation in England has been associated with a reduction in stillbirths (7.8%), low-birth-weight (3.9%) and neonatal mortality (7.6%). Furthermore, in the first four years after legislation, it was estimated that 991 stillbirths, 5470 cases of low-birth-weight and 430 neonatal deaths were prevented (117). A worldwide meta-analysis study of the impact of smokefree laws found both immediate and sustained reductions in hospital admissions for a range of cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, including an average reduction of heart attacks, by 15%. Notably, the study found a dose-response relationship between smokefree laws and disease and expense. In other words, more comprehensive smoke-free laws are associated with greater health and cost effects (118). Comprehensive approaches applying both to increased prices as well as nonprice interventions, have been shown to substantially impact smoking cessation as well as the initiation of smoking (119).

PARTN

17

PVRTY

1

HNGR

0

HLTH

3

EDUC

4

FCON

8

INEO

10

CITY

11

- SUBSECTION

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

PG

More than 600 000 people die from second-hand smoke each year (120). Local governments have the capacity to influence smoking in public spaces and workplaces through the implementation of smokefree legislation. The evidence for action is compelling – compliance with legislation is high, it has high levels of public support and it is good for business. The WHO guide *Making cities smoke-free* (121) is designed to assist mayors and local government officials in the preparation and implementation of effective smoke-free legislation. The guide draws on the experiences of cities in widely different contexts – from Almaty to Liverpool to Mecca and Medina – to provide practical information about how cities can become smoke free.

Source: WHO Centre for Health Development 2016 (122).

Cities can benefit from reducing alcohol-related harm. Both taxation and restrictions on availability and use have been shown to be effective in reducing alcohol-related harm (123). To be effective, both types of interventions should be targeted with higher-risk drinkers in mind. For example, a tax programme in Thailand balanced risk reduction with revenue generation by taxing lower-quality beverages by alcohol content, while also taxing higher-quality drinks by value. Restrictions of the sale of alcohol (e.g. restricted opening hours; reduced density of outlets; safe service practices) have also been effectively tailored to high-risk groups, as well as high-risk locations (124, 125). Such restrictions can help to reduce harmful alcohol consumption, and have also been used as a mechanism to reduce urban violence. Restrictions on harmful use, such as those targeted at motor vehicle operators, have also been found to be effective, when enforced. These restrictions have been found to reduce fatal vehicle crashes using sobriety checkpoints and blood alcohol limitations, particularly for younger drivers (124).

Strategies to improve diet and physical activity levels of urban residents are discussed in the next chapter on urban food security and nutrition. In addition to the best buy strategies, governments must also consider the environmental and social conditions associated with the development of NCDs and the capacity of communities to respond, particularly in informal settings.

Box 7.

The impact of the built environment on health equity in cities

Many of the most cost-effective measures are population-based programmes for NCDs that encourage healthy lifestyles and behaviours. The built environment – including buildings, streets, neighbourhoods and their amenities – have a significant role in shaping lifestyles and behaviours. There is strong evidence for the effectiveness of environmental approaches to support physical activity, since inactivity is one of the four leading risk factors for NCDs. Interventions, including the development of walkable streets and neighbourhoods,

THA

USA

SUBSECTION

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

PG



connected sidewalks, and adequate lighting and visibility have been shown to increase regular physical activity up to 161%. Within buildings, simple environmental measures such as placement of point-of-decision signage at elevators and stairs have been shown to increase stair use by a median of 50% (126). Improving stairwells through increased visibility, music and art, and natural lighting have also been shown to be associated with increased stair use (126,127). Importantly, environmental interventions can have multiple co-benefits across sectors, helping governments to achieve wider goals, including environmental sustainability and universal accessibility. Evidence from New York City reveals that improvements to the physical environment to promote physical activity also resulted in improved safety, air pollution and economic outcomes. The introduction of protected bicycle lanes in the Manhattan area of New York City resulted in a 35–58% drop in injuries to all street users and increased retail sales in the area by 49% (*128*).

Turning to the health sector, the double burden of disease necessitates an integrated approach to health care. This has become increasingly important as more patients present with coexisting communicable and noncommunicable diseases. In Khayelitsha, the largest informal settlement in Cape Town, South Africa, comorbidity of HIV, TB and NCDs has become commonplace among adults attending primary health care services (129). To address this growing reality throughout the country, the national government of South Africa is introducing a new integrated health-care delivery strategy (Box 8).

Common risk factors for communicable and noncommunicable diseases also call for a shift in the disease prevention and control paradigms away from the traditional, disease-specific approaches to care to health-centred, all-inclusive models of care (130). Models developed specifically for the underresourced and fragmented health systems of LMICs, such as the Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions Framework, focus on the need to improve health-care delivery by developing multilevel synergies between patient and families, community and health-care organizations and coordinated policy and health systems for effective long-term interventions in primary health care. The participatory role of the community and patients in the prevention of NCDs is considered essential to the success of such an approach (131).

CITY 11

CLIMT 13

FCON

8



PEACE 16

- SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

90

PG

level. The model also focuses on assisted self-management by empowering chronic disease patients to take responsibility for their own health. The chronic diseases in this model include HIV, TB, diabetes, hypertension, epilepsy, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and mental health illnesses.

Source: Department of Health, Republic of South Africa 2013 (132).

While integrated, effective health system functioning is a necessary component of NCD prevention and control, it is only part of the solution. Data systems are required to ensure evidence-informed policy and decision-making at all levels of government. At the local level, data utilization is critical to ensuring that interventions are responsive and timely to community needs, particularly in poor urban settings where there is a scarcity of information for NCDs and risk factors. Urban HEART, for instance, has been used to collect and use health and determinants of health data for NCDs.

SUMMARY

NCDs are changing the landscape of urban health by becoming the dominant cause of morbidity and mortality in many cities regardless of whether they have conquered communicable diseases or not. The urban environment, especially those characterized by poor urban planning, heavy reliance on personal motorized transport and lack of access to healthy food options, enhances NCD risk factors such as physical inactivity and poor diet. NCDs have typically been thought of as diseases of affluence, but they are now killing more people in the developing world than anywhere else, including in the urban slums. They take a heavy toll on people's health as well as on the economy.

The urban health system needs to be better oriented towards dealing with NCDs. Integrated health-care delivery systems that provide seamless prevention, early detection, treatment and management of NCDs along with communicable diseases will be essential both at national and local levels. Moreover, actions must be taken in various other domains of the urban environment in order to address the primary causes and risk factors of NCDs. The other chapters in this report show how the urban food environment, the spatial layout of the city, transportation systems, housing conditions and safety all play a role in shaping the urban NCD burden, as do other social determinants such as education and income.

In responding to NCDs, it is clear that action by the health sector alone is not sufficient, and that collaboration across sectors is essential. Such collaboration will increase the likelihood that resources are used efficiently and that the outcomes will not only benefit the health sector, but also contribute to achievements in other areas. Local governments often have the policy and legislative control over key issues affecting NCD risk. Thus, they are poised to exploit the urban advantage to reduce the health and economic burden of NCDs. Encouraging active participation of multiple stakeholders and critically, the communities themselves, is a necessary component of effective, sustainable solutions.

7 A F

SUBSECTION

Noncommunicable diseases: overcome the new urban epidemic

91

ΡG

CHAPTER 5 — TACKLE 21ST CENTURY MALNUTRITION

HNGR 2

HLTH

EDUC

4

KEY MESSAGE • Cities increasingly face the unprecedented dual challenge of undernutrition and overnutrition.

From the very beginning of life, good nutrition influences individual health and well-being across the life course as well as many other determinants of health, including education and employment. Rapid urbanization has led to a fundamental shift in the way we live our lives, including how and what we eat. Cities, by their very nature, influence the quality and quantity of food, its availability, price and consumption patterns. The food system is inherently related to the city dynamic, from how cities are planned and the policies governing land use, to social norms around food consumption.

In the evolution of cities worldwide today and over recent decades, two outstanding trends are occurring almost side by side. Both have profound implications for the health of urban populations everywhere. The first is the "epidemiological transition" in which the main causes of disease have been shifting steadily from infectious to noncommunicable conditions, even though some infectious diseases continue to flourish (as discussed in the previous chapter). The second trend, closely related to the first, is the "nutrition transition", or the malnutritionⁱⁱ transition, in which overnutrition is increasingly a problem, while undernutrition is being brought under control, though modestly and unevenly across countries. Overweight, obesity and increased risks of chronic diseases are thus on the rise. Yet, here too, there is a "double burden" – both may coexist in communities and even within the same household, with parents who are overweight, while their children are stunted.

Rapid urbanization coupled with lifestyle trends, socioeconomic development and generally improved health status have led to the growth of this relatively new pattern of malnutrition in cities. This chapter takes a close look at nutrition outcomes in urban areas, which have profound implications for the burden of communicable and noncommunicable diseases discussed earlier, and explores the cross-sectoral approaches available to cities for improving food and nutrition for its citizens.

> ii Malnutrition encompasses both undernutrition (includes underweight, stunting, wasting and micronutrient deficiency) and overnutrition (overweight and obesity). Different standards apply for children and adults. See: A manual: measuring and interpreting malnutrition and mortality. Atlanta and Rome: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and World Food Programme; 2005 (http://www.micronutrient.org/nutritiontoolkit/ModuleFolders/13.Manuals_and_resources/ WFP_Measuring_and_Interpreting_Malnutrition_ and_Mortality/3)_Chapter_1-_Defining_&_measuring_malnutr_(pgs_15-32).pdf); and WHO Indicator and Measurement Registry for indicator definitions (http:// www.who.int/whosis/indicators/en/).

ECON 8

> CITY 11

Tackle 21st century malnutrition



PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

GNDR

5

INEO

10

INCREASING OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY IN CITIES

Overweight and obesity have more than doubled since 1980 and are linked to more deaths worldwide than underweight. In 2014, more than 1.9 billion adults were considered overweight and, of these, more than 600 million were obese (133) (Figure 17). The left panel of Figure 17 shows how overweight, including obesity, has increased in the urban areas of LMICs in Africa, the Asia-Pacific, and Latin America and the Caribbean between 1990-2004 and 2005-2013. In Latin America and the Caribbean, where the average prevalence is highest, about half of urban women are overweight. In the right panel of Figure 17, rising rates of overweight among urban women in selected countries over the last decade or more are highlighted. In some countries, such as Egypt and Jordan, a great majority of urban women are overweight according to most recent estimates. These trends partly explain why no country is currently on course to meet the global nutrition target of halting the rise in adult overweight and obesity (134).

Historically, in LMICs, these two conditions have been linked to high-income status, while the opposite has been the case in richer countries, where overweight and obesity are more common among low-income groups (135, 136). However, this pattern in developing countries is changing, with overweight and obesity increasing even among the lower-income groups, including in urban areas.

Urban overweight and obesity in seven African countries increased by about 35% over at least a 10-year interval during 1992–2005. This growing health burden is much greater for the poor, with a 50% increase among the urban poor, compared to only 7% in the richest group. Furthermore, there was an increase of 45–50% among the non-educated and primary educated women, compared to a reduction by 10% among women with secondary education or higher (137).

Another analysis of 36 developing countries found that among adult women living in urban areas, overweight exceeded underweight by a factor of 5.8, compared to 2.1 in rural areas. In this case, too, a considerable burden was borne by the poor. In the relatively more developed countries, half (51%) of urban women of low socioeconomic status are overweight (138).

Worryingly, children, including in LMICs, are also

Figure 17. Trends in prevalence of overweight (including obesity) among urban adult women, 1990–2013

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2.

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (*21*).



SUBSECTION

PG















SUBSECTION











100

80

BOLIVIA











1990-2004 earliest dataset 2005-2013 latest dataset worsening improving 1990-2004 avg 2005-2013 avg

— VISUAL KEY —



PG

JOR

EGY

1 HNGR 2

PVRTY

becoming part of a worldwide rise in obesity due largely to poor nutrition in early childhood and exposure to energy-dense, micronutrient-poor foods (133, 139). However, most countries still tend to focus primarily on undernutrition in the under-5 age group. Many countries do not collect or utilize data on childhood overweight and obesity beyond the age of 5 and into adolescence, which is a critical time when nutrition-related habits are formed and unhealthy food marketing is often targeted.

HLTH 3

INEQUITIES HAMPERING PROGRESS ON UNDERNUTRITION

At the same time, evidence shows that undernutrition and micronutrient deficiencies, or "hidden hunger", is still common in many LMICs. Overall, the number of people with inadequate dietary energy intake (i.e. undernourished) in the world is down by 167 million over the last decade, and 216 million less than in 1990–1992. The decline is more pronounced in developing regions, despite significant population growth. However, of about 795 million people in the world who are still undernourished, 780 million are in developing countries (*140*).

In urban areas, undernutrition is also commonly associated with socioeconomic status. From 1990 to 2013, while child stunting – an indicator of sustained poor dietary intake, repeated infections, or a combination of both – had generally declined over the years in urban areas, most dramatically in the Asia-Pacific and LAC (Figure 18, left), the inequity in stunting had not improved. On average, the relative difference in prevalence of child stunting between the poorest one fifth and richest one fifth of urban households only slightly decreased among countries in Africa, and in countries in the other regions it increased (Figure 18, right). The latest data from the DHS showed that in LMICs in LAC, stunting was about five times higher in the poorest one fifth of urban children than in the richest one fifth.

Such inequities limit progress on reducing stunting in urban areas that, in turn, can hold back progress at the national level. Figure 19 shows trends in stunting rates among urban children in four countries in South-East Asia over different periods. In each country, prevalence of stunting among the richest one fifth of urban children was between 10% and 20%, according to the latest DHS in each country. Child stunting rates among the richest urban households improved since the earliest survey undertaken in each country in the 1990s, with the exception of Bangladesh. On the other hand, stunting still affected 40–60% of the poorest one fifth of urban children in these countries according to surveys conducted since 2000. In Pakistan, there was hardly any reduction in stunting among the poorest one fifth between 1990 and 2012. Thus, large gaps remain to be filled in order for all urban children to have stunting rates as low as those of the richest urban children.

Figure 18.

Trends in prevalence of stunting among urban children under 5 years, 1990–2013

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2.

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).





INEO

10

ENRG

7

PG





BGD

SUBSECTION

Tackle 21st century malnutrition

PG





11

ECON 8

PVRTY

1

HNGR

2

HLTH

3

CO-EXISTENCE OF OVERNUTRITION AND UNDERNUTRITION IN CITIES

With the changing patterns of malnutrition associated with urbanization, wealth and development, an increasing number of LMICs are now experiencing the simultaneous burden of both undernutrition and overnutrition, especially in urban areas. Figure 20 shows that, in general, the prevalence of overweight and obesity among adult women declines with increasing levels of child stunting in the urban areas studied. However, several countries, clustered in the centre of the graph, carry a double burden in terms of a moderate level of both child stunting and adult female overweight. The countries in the first (upper-right) quadrant have an especially heavy double burden, with levels of both stunting and overweight above the urban median.

Other global studies have found similar trends of an increase in overacquisition (or excess consumption) of nutrients in the face of declining undernourishment (134). Even in households of urban slums in Nairobi, a study of 3335 children and their mothers showed that only 7.5% of the mothers were underweight, while 32% were over-

SUBSECTION

20j,

Figure 20.

Association between the prevalence of overweight (including obesity) among adult women and the prevalence of stunting among children under 5 years living in urban areas

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2.

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).



weight or obese. Moreover, 43% of the overweight mothers and 37% of the obese mothers, respectively, had stunted children (141). Thus, the dual challenge of overnutrition and undernutrition manifest not only at the population level of cities and countries, but even within households. The specific causes of this coexistence is yet to be fully understood.

MANY POTENTIAL COSTS TO CITIES FROM MALNUTRITION

Malnutrition in all its forms presents several interlinked challenges in cities. First, there is the human cost of children and adults who are kept from reaching their full potential and may have shortened lives – malnutrition is a risk factor for increased mortality and morbidity from noncommunicable and infectious diseases as well as psychological disorders. Second, there is the cost to the health system in terms of treatment and care. Third, there is the cost to economic and social progress. Altogether, these issues create a fourth challenge for city leaders and policy-makers: how to prioritize actions that prevent and reduce malnutrition.

Malnutrition, which includes undernutrition and overnutrition, is a risk factor for both communicable and noncommunicable diseases (134). The toll it takes on people's lives is substantial. Globally, undernutrition alone is responsible for 45% of all deaths in children under 5 years, approximately 3.1 million deaths per year (142). It is the leading risk factor for poor health outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa, and fourth highest in Asia (143). Overweight and obesity cause more deaths than underweight worldwide because they are major risk factors for the development of NCDs, which are responsible for about 63% of all deaths worldwide (144). Globally, 44% of diabetes, 23% of ischaemic heart disease and 7–41% of certain cancers are attributable to overweight and obesity. A large proportion of NCDs lead to premature death, particularly in



SUBSECTION

 LMICs. A higher proportion (29%) of all NCD deaths in LMICs is estimated to occur in people under the age of 60 than in high-income countries (13%).

Malnutrition also creates huge costs to the health system. In a country such as Egypt, where undernutrition is associated with 11% of all child mortalities, the health system costs of treating pathologies related to undernutrition (e.g. diarrhoea; respiratory infections; anaemia; low-birth-weight) generated an estimated cost of 1.14 billion Egyptian pounds, based on 2008 data (145). While the families are thought to bear around 72% of this health-care cost, it is still an important component of public expenditure, consuming approximately 1.6% of the total budget allocated to health. In New York City, obesity is epidemic, and it starts early in life. More than half of adult New Yorkers are overweight (34%) or obese (22%) as are nearly half of all preschool and elementary school children (146). As a result, more than 50 000 deaths per year are caused by obesity and overweight, which cost the city US\$ 4.0 billion in medical costs alone (147).

In Canada, evidence shows that people with more severe food insecurity (a contributing factor to malnutrition) use more health services and incur higher health-care costs of between 23% and 121% compared with adults in food-secure households (148). The 3.4 million Canadians affected by food insecurity in 2013 – including nearly 1 million children – are vulnerable to the physical and emotional hardships that characterize the experience of food insecurity and the associated compromises to health and well-being (149).

The social and economic costs of malnutrition are not negligible. Malnutrition impacts the individual's capacity to engage in education and employment opportunities, and contributes to poorer educational outcomes. Adults affected by malnutrition are less able to work, contribute to local economies and provide care for their families. This perpetuates a cycle of poverty and economic stagnation.

A study in Guatemala, for example, demonstrated this cycle, showing that adults who were stunted as children had less schooling, lower test performances, lower household per capita expenditure and a greater likelihood of living in poverty (150). It has also been estimated that malnutrition can result in a decrease in earning capacity in adulthood of up to 2.9% (151).

An extensive study in Egypt showed that stunted children are more likely to drop out of school and that this disadvantage in the labour market led to losses in potential productivity. A large proportion (40%) of Egyptian adults are also stunted, representing more than 20 million people of working age that are not able to achieve their potential as a consequence of child undernutrition. Furthermore, an estimated 857 million working hours were lost in 2009 due to absenteeism from the workforce due to of nutrition-related mortalities. This represents an economic loss equivalent to 0.5% of the country's GDP (145).

Altogether, malnutrition costs US\$ 3.5 trillion per year to the global economy. Undernutrition and micronutrient deficiencies cost up to US\$ 2.1 trillion per year, and the cost of NCDs related to obesity and overweight was estimated at US\$ 1.4 trillion in 2010 (152).

These costs are partly supported by studies from around the world. In Asia, malnutrition reduces human productivity by 10–15% and GDP by 5–10% (153). In the USA, obesity alone is estimated to result in productivity losses equivalent to US\$ 668–4299 per person per year (154). In Egypt, the annual costs associated with child undernutrition is estimated at 20.3 billion Egyptian pounds (US\$ 3.7 billion), which is equivalent to 1.9% of GDP (145).

SUBSECTION

PVRTY

1

HNGR

0

нітн

3

EDUC

4

WATR

ECON

8

СІТҮ

11

CLIMT 13

DIFFERENT PATHWAYS FOR CITIES TO TACKLE THE CAUSES OF MALNUTRITION

Evidence from cities and nations around the world about the human, health system, socioeconomic and other costs bolsters the argument for cities to tackle the widespread roots of malnutrition. The SDGs also spur cities with a call for action to end hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture.

The large body of evidence and experience on effective nutrition interventions demonstrates that they can have a lasting impact on multiple aspects of people's life. Primary health care is a logical and critical setting for conducting food and nutrition interventions alongside other health promotion activities, and much work is already under way in these areas.

However, in order to adequately and fundamentally address the challenges of food and nutrition in cities, broader interdisciplinary and intersectoral actions are required. This chapter thus focuses on the many ways that urban services and planning can contribute to improve food and nutrition in cities. This also provides a bridge to Section 2, which directs attention to urban sectors beyond health.

One important area of urban management that has strong ramifications for nutrition is water, sanitation and hygiene (see also the chapter on water and sanitation in Section 2) (155). Repeated episodes of diarrhoea or intestinal worm infections due to unsafe water, inadequate sanitation or insufficient hygiene are associated with half of all malnutrition cases globally (156). Diarrhoea, in particular, is a leading cause of death of children under 5 years worldwide, and its constant presence in low-income settings contributes significantly to undernutrition (157). Repeated parasitic infections can result in anaemia and inhibit physical and cognitive development. Over 2 billion people worldwide are infected each year, while an estimated 4.5 billion people are at risk of infection (158, 159). The burden of undernutrition can thus be reduced with adequate provision of basic urban services such as safe water, sanitation and hygiene.

In addition, city planning and design that promote physical activity can be effective in preventing and reducing unhealthy weight gain that is important for NCD prevention. Urban planning also influences access to healthy food sources (discussed later in this chapter). While these areas of urban services and planning – water, sanitation, hygiene, active city design, distribution of healthy food sources – are typically dealt with independently, coordinated action can generate valuable synergies that can make a real impact on improving nutrition outcomes in cities.

SUSTAINABLE FOOD SYSTEMS TO ENSURE FOOD SECURITY IN CITIES

The growth of cities poses a challenge for all aspects of the food system. It increases competition for land use, contributes to the demand for food supplies and shifts food consumption habits towards convenience foods. Moreover, the growing impacts of climate change can affect availability of food, resources required to produce food, access to and utilization of food, and stability (e.g. price fluctuation) (160). Between 2003 and 2013, natural hazards and disasters such as flooding and drought in developing regions affected more than 1.9 billion people and resulted in nearly half a trillion US dollars

PG

101

Tackle 21st century malnutrition

USA

GTM

CAN

EGY

in estimated damage. The agricultural sector absorbed up to 22% of the total economic impact of these events (140).

HNGR

WATR

FCON

8

INEQ

10

CITY 11

CNSUM 12

CLIMT 13 Some countries are struggling to improve the availability, access and utilization of food in the face of rapid urbanization and economic instability (161). Many cities across all levels of development are similarly affected. In rapidly urbanizing cities, uncontrolled urban expansion can lead to the loss of nearby agricultural land, strain transportation and logistics systems for distribution and thereby exacerbate problems with access and utilization of food. In contrast, already highly urbanized places are faced with concentrations of poverty that are inextricably linked to food insecurity and sprawling development that results in more expensive locally produced goods and heavier reliance on more distantly grown products (162). For example, in Zambia's capital, Lusaka, 69% of households in the poorest neighbourhoods are severely food insecure; only 4% are considered to have total food security (163). In the USA, the most recent national survey of household food security revealed that 14% (or over 17 million) of households are food insecure, and 81% (or over 14 million) are in metropolitan areas, of which 40% (nearly 6 million) live in principal cities. The health impact of such food insecurity includes malnutrition and reduced diet diversity (164).

All stakeholders need to work together at global and local levels for advocacy and project implementation as well as for raising awareness on urbanization and food security as one of the key issues of our times. A more localized food system approach can and should be promoted in connection with national and international food systems. Interactions of local and global food supplies should be governed in ways that promote trade and local procurement to improve the conditions for small and limited resource farmers in all regions. Local authorities can act to improve the food security of their cities by adopting city-region food systems: creating a diverse food supply geographically close to population centres and improving local management of food systems, while strengthening linkages with rural producers (*160*).

Although local authorities are key players in developing policies and interventions that support sustainable food systems in city regions, often they have not considered the food system as an important issue when designing, planning and managing cities. The perception has been that because food is there, and one can easily buy it in supermarkets or on the streets, food will always be there (160). This perception, however, is rapidly changing.

There is good evidence that many cities are now firmly committed to action. In April 2015, 100 cities from around the world signed the Seoul Declaration, which calls for the development of sustainable urban production and resilient city-region food systems (165); and, in October 2015, another 115 cities, including several from LMICs, signed the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, which calls for the development of food systems based on the principles of sustainability and social justice (166).

URBAN AGRICULTURE

The implementation of urban agriculture – the cultivation, processing and distribution of food within the city – could prove an important response to anticipated food shortages, while also providing several economic and health benefits (167). Urban and peri-urban agriculture offer many potential benefits to cities: supply and distribution of fresh food;

PEACE 16

- SUBSECTION

increased dietary diversity; lower food costs for consumers resulting from reduced distribution costs; income generation for producers and distributors; and contributions to environmental sustainability by reducing pollution, stabilizing soils and absorbing excess rain water (168, 169).

Other specific actions that can be taken at the local level include legislation regulating land use practices, zoning, transportation and permitting urban and peri-urban agriculture as well as enhancing land use security for food production and sale (*168*).

For example, in Beijing, China, urban agriculture is integrated into its strategic development plan. Five specialized agricultural zones have been created to promote urban agriculture to produce food as well as to attract tourism and to use as an educational tool. Farmers are encouraged to establish cooperatives to take advantage of their combined scale and bargaining power. Through the cooperatives, the government delivers subsidies to incentivize growth, including selling organic fertilizers and less polluting pesticides at lower prices, reducing farmers' costs and enhancing food safety. The city government estimates that this urban agriculture practice is worth RMB 340 billion a year, with a growth rate of 6.1%, not just in terms of products, but also in contributions to the social and environmental fabric of the city (*170*).

The Participatory Urban Agriculture Project, founded in Quito, Ecuador, in 2002 (171), supports more than 12 000 individuals (86% of them women) and 380 community-based organizations in urban and peri-urban farming. It is inclusive of all community members, including those who would often be excluded or marginalized – older people, single mothers, abandoned children, migrants and refugees, and people with disabilities. More than 1000 active gardens have been established, including 140 community gardens. Annual food crop production is estimated at 400 tonnes, with 47% of produce sold and the remainder kept for home consumption. Participants earn at least US\$ 55 per month from the sale of surplus produce and make a further saving of at least US\$ 72 per month on food purchases by consuming what they grow. The programme has helped diversify the diet of urban farmers and their families, and supported the establishment of produce markets across the city.

In the Democratic Republic of the Congo, government support for urban and peri-urban horticulture since 2000 has created over 16 000 producers across five cities. This has generated some 60 000 jobs and produces 150 000 tonnes of vegetables per year for a total urban population of 11.5 million. Between 2000 and 2010, the project disbursed loans worth US\$ 1.08 million to market gardeners for investment in crop production and other income-generating activities. Most of that credit was channelled through "microbanks" managed by development NGOs and growers' associations. Each microbank serves 50–75 growers, who contribute 20% of the loan amount for approved activities. The loans, averaging US\$ 60 per grower, are used mainly to buy inputs and farm tools, or invested in small-scale enterprises, such as seedling nurseries, composting units and small-scale animal production (*172*).

Bringing attention to the fact that urban agriculture contributes towards many city-wide health, social, economic and ecological benefits as well as to the goals of municipal agencies and elected officials may help overcome challenges in mobilizing resources and multiple stakeholders.

ΡG

103

ΙΤΑ

СНИ

COD

cog

ECU

ACCESS TO SAFE AND HEALTHY FOODS

The availability and accessibility of safe and healthy foods are essential for good nutrition, but there are many obstacles to this in cities. Local authorities have an influential role in determining the location of outlets stocking fresh fruit and vegetables and ensuring that healthy food is available, accessible, safe and utilized, not only where people live, but also in other spheres of urban life such as school, work or recreational places. Poor urban planning and sprawl combined with dysfunctional transportation networks can make healthy food outlets hard to reach. It can also lead to increased hours of commuting for working people, leaving them with less time for food preparation. In poorly constructed housing, there may be no kitchen space, refrigeration or water, all necessary for safe food preparation. These conditions increase reliance on processed or prepared foods, which tend to be higher in calories and lower in nutrition, especially among people with fewer resources. Food safety is also a concern especially with foods prepared in unhygienic conditions in urban street markets and by street vendors.

These situations can sometimes lead to what are called "food deserts". Food deserts appear when residents of low socioeconomic status are unable to access nutritious, affordable food in the vicinity of their home (173). For example, some 43 000 households in Houston, USA, many of them in neighbourhoods with the greatest poverty, are located more than half a mile from a supermarket and do not have access to a car, leaving them vulnerable to malnutrition (Figure 21).

Figure 21. Urban food deserts in Houston, Texas

Source: McMillan 2014 (174).





CITY 11 CNSUM 12

PVRTY

HNGR

0

нітн

3

EDUC

4

WATR

6

INFRA

9

CLIMT 13

PARTN SUBSECTION

PG

Such problems could be addressed by: (i) legislation that supports local food production (e.g. informal markets; famers markets; community gardens; urban agriculture); (ii) linking social protection schemes to food purchase; (iii) integrating food security considerations into transportation and spatial planning (e.g. zoning food outlets); (iv) healthy eating guidelines for schools and community organizations; and (v) policies and infrastructure on safe food storage, processing, transport and distribution, among other possible interventions.

WHO has developed an approach to improve the safety and nutritional quality of foods sold in urban markets as part of its Healthy Cities Programme. The Healthy Food Markets approach aims to achieve sustainable improvements in food markets, not only by improving the physical infrastructure and essential services, but also by changing the behaviours of various market participants, including primary producers, wholesalers, market vendors and consumers (175).

Box 9.

Get Healthy Philly

Get Health Philly is a city-wide approach to improving food security, tackling food deserts and reducing inequities in childhood obesity in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

The programme uses a range of measures, including: (i) public awareness campaigns (e.g. for salt reduction; smoking; physical activity); (ii) city-wide nutrition standards for all food served by city agencies affecting almost 64 000 residents and 20 million meals; (iii) supporting corner stores to stock and promote healthy food options; (iv) incentives for food subsidy recipients to spend money on fruit and vegetables; (v) healthy vending machine standards; and (vi) increasing the number of farmers markets. The city pioneered new financing strategies to bring back full-service grocery stores to underserved neighbourhoods and improve food and physical activity in schools, and was one of the first jurisdictions in the country to remove all sugar-sweetened drinks from public school vending machines. Urban planning policies focus on making it easy and appealing for people to walk and bike throughout the city. Since the programme began in 2010, a 6.3% decline in childhood obesity has been reported compared to the baseline in 2006–2007. Importantly, significant improvements are reported among the African-American and Asian racial/ethnic minorities who live in the city.

Source: Deparatment of Public Health, City of Philadelphia 2015 (176).

COST OF FOOD IN CITIES: A REMOVABLE BARRIER TO BETTER NUTRITION

The impact of food cost is closely tied to socioeconomic status and nutrition outcomes. When food prices go up, there are at least two consequences: those most affected suffer a loss in the quality of their diet; and then go on to eat less. This may be especially true of women and mothers who eat less in order for there to be more for other members of

SUBSECTION

PG

the family. Other consequences may be that families make less use of health services, and their children go less often to school (177). When food prices go up, policy attention tends to focus on rural food insecurity and agriculture. But this approach misses a large
part of the problem as there is evidence that urban food insecurity exceeds or equals rural levels in many LMICs (178).

The reduced quality of food intake as a result of high food prices in cities is partly due to greater consumption of street foods, with potentially unhealthy consequences. As vendors can buy produce and fuel in larger quantities than individual households, street foods can be cheaper than cooking at home, making it especially attractive to low-income families. For example, in Accra, Ghana, street foods account for 40% of food purchases by low-income families, and even 25% of those by high-income families (178). But street foods everywhere are often high in starch and fat, and researchers have noted the risk that this contributes to increasing levels of overnutrition (177). On the other hand, reduced costs for healthy foods have been shown to achieve the opposite effect by sustaining healthy selections once new habits are established (179).

These issues go back to an earlier stage of the food chain. The food and agriculture sector has the primary role of feeding people well by increasing availability, affordability and consumption of diverse, safe, nutritious foods and diets, aligned with dietary recommendations and environmental sustainability. Agricultural programmes and investments can help improve nutrition if, among other strategies, they incorporate explicit nutrition objectives and indicators into their design, target vulnerable populations, and improve equity through participation and access to resources. They can also improve processing, storage and preservation to retain nutritional value, shelf life and food safety, and make healthy foods more convenient to prepare.

Food and agriculture policies can have more impact on nutrition by increasing incentives (and decreasing disincentives) for availability, access and consumption of diverse, nutritious and safe foods. They can also monitor dietary consumption on the same basis, and include measures that protect and empower the poor and women and provide safety nets that allow people on low incomes to access nutritious food during hard times. These and related recommendations have been formulated following an extensive review of available guidance on agriculture programming for nutrition conducted by FAO and through consultation with a broad range of partners, including United Nations agencies, NGOs, government officials and donors (*180,181*).

In addition, social protection programmes, such as cash transfers, can be delivered at the local level and buffer against food insecurity. The Get Healthy Philly programme (Box 9), for example, includes incentives for recipients of food assistance to buy fruits and vegetables. The case study from Brazil (Box 10) cites similar initiatives and others that can contribute to a virtuous cycle of better nutrition and higher labour productivity.



PARTN 17

PEACE

PVRTY

1

HNGR

0

EDUC

4

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INEO

10

CITY 11

CNSUM 12

Tackle 01st contin

106

Tackle 21st century malnutrition

making (182). The Zero Hunger programme in Brazil, started in 2003, reached almost one quarter of the population, mainly women, and provided families with approximately US\$ 100 per month if their children went to school. This programme, in combination with other schemes, has significantly reduced income inequality in Brazil and, within six years, reduced the number of people facing food insecurity from 50 million to 30 million (140). This national programme originated in a pilot initiative in the city of Belo Horizonte in 1992. The newly elected mayor launched a programme of inclusive development to tackle hunger and poverty. A municipal food agency was established to ensure food security that continues to deliver programmes such as food distribution, school meals, subsidized food sales and price regulations.

Under a municipal urban agriculture programme, more than 100 gardens and orchards have been established, including in areas serving vulnerable populations. School gardens have been used for environmental and food education. Since 2011, at least 30% of the food for school meals is bought directly from family farms. Other initiatives include the distribution of fruit trees, gardening education and the establishment of distribution points where families can sell their goods. The contribution of urban agriculture to the overall food system is low (approximately 50 tonnes of a total of 45 000 tonnes), but the programme has contributed to strengthening social networks, community education and environmental sustainability. The civic forum Urban Agricultural Space was established to bring together 33 civil society organizations and government agencies. In 2013, it successfully campaigned for the municipal government to increase programme funding from US\$ 160 000 in 2012 to US\$ 240 000 for urban, peri-urban and rural food production. Agriculture is now integrated into municipal programmes for housing, welfare, health, education, employment, training and environmental protection.

Source: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations 2015 (171).

BRA

CHN

GHA

MEX

HEALTHY EATING BEHAVIOUR INFLUENCED THROUGH LOCAL ACTION

Across all countries, it would be difficult to find an urban community where cheap, processed and packaged foods are not a significant part of the diet. This is especially true in many low-income urban neighbourhoods where foods are often of very poor quality, containing high levels of unhealthy fats, sugar and salt, and lacking in essential nutrients. Eating food from restaurants and street vendors is also common in urban areas. While some serve healthy foods, most serve unhealthy foods, or even unsafe foods, with a higher concentration of such food outlets in lower-income areas.

In Mexico, overall, 58% of caloric intake is from processed foods. This proportion goes up to 66% in Mexico City. China is at an earlier stage of the retail food sector growth and, hence, an earlier stage of consumption of consumer-packaged foods and beverages. Nevertheless, already one third of total calories consumed comes from processed foods. The consumption of calories from processed foods and restaurants increases with the size of the urban area. In Chinese megacities, 35% of total calorie intake is based on processed foods and 19% on restaurants (*183*).

Different measures have been taken to promote healthier eating behaviour in cities as well as nationally, including policy measures to alter the food environment,
public awareness campaigns and skills training, and programmes within specific settings PVRTY such as schools and workplaces.

Regulatory and taxation measures have been used to influence the availability and consumption of unhealthy foods. For example, in 2006, New York City passed the first regulation in the USA restricting the use of trans-fats, a risk factor for coronary heart disease, in restaurants and fast-food chains. This resulted in a decrease in average trans-fat per purchase by 2.4 grams, with restaurant patrons from high- and low-income areas benefiting equally (184). In Mexico, purchases of sugar-sweetened beverages fell by about 10% within three months after a one peso per litre tax on the products was introduced nationally in 2014 (comparing the first quarter of 2014 to that of 2013), in combination with a 7% increase in purchases of non-taxed beverages (185). Importantly, though, taxation alone can be regressive. Individuals may not be responsive to price increases if the cost of the desired product is already high or the tax is a small proportion of their income. As such, additional targeted strategies, including tax redistribution measures, subsidies, behaviour change campaigns and regulatory restrictions, are also required to improve health outcomes.

Public awareness campaigns aim to influence consumer choice through improved nutrition knowledge and food utilization. Dietary guidelines and messaging as well as cooking recipes or demonstrations can all promote healthy eating. While food labelling is another potentially effective strategy, its success depends on the audience – the use of nutrition labelling is considerably lower among people of lower socioeconomic status and people who have little nutritional knowledge (186). In general, public awareness strategies are most effective when delivered as sustained components of a larger intervention strategy (179).

While national governments are often responsible for the rollout of such measures to promote healthy eating, such approaches have also been incorporated into local-level approaches. This includes programmes within schools, workplaces, marketplaces and other specific community settings. School-based nutrition programmes are especially important for child development and forming healthy eating habits that will affect their health over the life course. The WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health recommends that school policies and programmes support the adoption of healthy diets and physical activity (187). Furthermore, the WHO Nutrition Friendly Schools Initiative provides a framework for addressing the double burden of malnutrition (described at the start of this chapter). It includes components relating to school-based healthy eating policies, staff and community engagement in nutrition and health-related issues, and supportive school environments and curricula (188).

The evidence consistently shows that multicomponent interventions are effective (179). For instance, in northern India, a controlled trial evaluating a multicomponent, school-based, nutrition intervention with urban adolescents found that the intervention group had improved knowledge, lower consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and energy-dense goods, greater fruit consumption and lower BMI (189).

In northern France, EPODE (Ensemble, Prévenons l'Obésité des Enfants - Together Let's Prevent Childhood Obesity), a school-based nutrition education programme that began in 1992 in two towns, has now scaled up internationally, promoting a community-based model of a multisectoral, multipronged intervention to tackle obesity. The initial programme was expanded in scope over 12 years to eventually address physical activity and nutrition in the town populations as a whole through a series of com-

1

HNGR

0

нітн

3

EDUC

4

WATR

6

ENRG

7

FCON

8

INEO

10

CITY

11

CLIMT 13

munity-based actions. Over the years, downward trends in mean BMI and obesity have been observed among children. In the years following the scale-up of the intervention to incorporate multiple components both in and out of the school setting, the prevalence of overweight children was found to be about half (8.8%) that of a comparison town (17.8%) (190).

The original programme has now been adopted and expanded to over 300 European cities and towns as well as overseas. The EPODE model is an innovative methodology that enables the entire community, to create a healthy environment that facilitates social change (191). It promotes the involvement of stakeholders across different sectors and at both local and national levels to ensure consistency with national legislation.

SUMMARY

The burden of ill-health associated with malnutrition is significant in cities worldwide. Overweight and obesity, both indicators of overnutrition, are growing while undernutrition still remains a challenge for many of the world's urban poor. As a result, the coexistence of overnutrition and undernutrition, even within the same household, is occurring in urban settings. This is especially the case in LMICs undergoing a transition from undernutrition to overnutrition as the main malnutrition challenge. All of these forms of malnutrition contribute to the burden of communicable and noncommunicable diseases and conditions, and threaten the economic and social foundations of sustainable city development. Overall progress on a broader level is further impeded by persistent inequities in nutrition outcomes.

Malnutrition in cities is largely the result of a complex web of interactions between the physical, economic and social environments of cities. On the one hand, this presents a daunting challenge for cities. On the other hand, it offers multiple avenues for cities to make incremental, but sustainable change to improve food and nutrition outcomes in cities. While primary health care is a key setting in which food and nutrition interventions should be delivered, this chapter goes beyond the boundaries of the health sector to highlight approaches that take advantage of the link between the urban environment and malnutrition. Water and sanitation services are an essential complement to nutrition interventions aimed at reducing undernutrition. Land use regulation and transportation planning can promote urban agriculture and equitable access to safe and healthy food. Active city design can increase physical activity that is a key to preventing overweight and obesity along with nutrition. Other actions that can be taken at the city level to tackle malnutrition include integrating food security considerations into social protection programmes and promoting healthy food choices through education and regulation. The various factors that strongly influence each of these aspects, whether they lie with the private sector or at national and global levels, must also be taken into consideration. Furthermore, without an explicit focus on ensuring equity, large portions of the community will continue to suffer from the lifelong implications of poor nutrition.

The multifaceted nature of urban malnutrition thus requires an overarching framework relying on multidisciplinary approaches in which resources are combined and policies are coherent and integrated to holistically improve urban food security and health and nutrition outcomes.

SUBSECTION

PG

MEX

USA

HLTH 3

EDUC 4

GNDR 5 The adoption of the SDGs in September 2015 has created a new framework where global, national and city goals can align. The adoption of a goal and targets for cities in the SDGs has brought city leadership onto the global development agenda and implicates city leadership to take action. It also links them to other global goals, including health, where they can have significant influence. The population scale of cities, the unique nature of diseases and vulnerability in cities and the resources they wield for prevention and care endows cities with the power to move the needle on global priorities as well as local. For the first time, many global health and

SECTION 1 — CONCLUSION

development agencies are focusing their attention on the city venue for their work. These dynamics present cities with the opportunity and the obligation to take on a leadership role in rolling back many of the world's most challenging diseases and creating environments that actually produce good health.

Cities should embrace their leadership position. It is not only a moral imperative to tackle these sources of premature mortality, reduced quality of life and health inequity, but also an economic imperative. These conditions are eminently preventable

INEQ 10

ECON 8 and treatable, and the cost of their prevention or swift treatment overwhelmingly outweigh the costs of hospitalization and preventable death. Disease and premature mortality also have implications for the loss of economic productivity. Most importantly, these are human beings, who along with their families are a part of the fabric of the city and deserve the opportunity to live a long and healthy life. Cities have the power to grant them this opportunity.

A frequent problem in cities is more often one of not using adequately the tools and resources that exist than a lack of usable solutions. Cities are nested in nation-states that share their health priorities and these priorities and strategies need to be aligned and accountable. Nation-states should have urban health strategies, and they should coordinate with city leadership to ensure alignment and feasibility. In order to tackle these health issues at the scale required of them, cities need to recognize the cost of health inequity. They need to understand the groups in their city that are more vulnerable and why, whether it is due to gender, education or even the location of homes within the city. This depends on increasing the quantity and quality of city-level data for health. An urban data revolution is overdue and will give city officials much needed capacity to determine empirically health-related policies and programmes. Armed with better data, cities will be better equipped to deploy solutions that efficiently distribute access to better health and its determinants. Cities are, therefore, capable of leading on UHC. Cities are capable of eliminating preventable, premature death for all people, and that is eminently within reach.

MDG SCORECARD

Why this matters

While the Millennium Development Goals [MDGs] have now been replaced by the Sustainable Development Goals [SDGs], we take a look back at how people in urban areas fared with respect to the MDG targets. There are two main objectives for doing so:

- 1. To recap our focus on MDGs in the first Hidden Cities report in 2010. In particular, we claimed that rapid progress was needed for the more disadvantaged sections of the urban populace to achieve the MDGs. Therefore, we will examine progress with reference to inequalities in health-related MDGs;
- To prepare a baseline for the SDGs since all of the health-related MDGs are included within the framework of the new global goals. For example, targets 3.1 3.3 of SDG 3, focused on health, are aligned with MDGs 5, 4, and 6 respectively.

How you should read the DATA

Indicators for MDGs 1.C and 4.A indicate a worse outcome with increasing values, e.g. under-five mortality. These indicator values for the highest and lowest income quintiles are given by black and red squares, as in the figure below. The contrasting differences in size between these squares depict inequality in progress toward the MDG target. The MDG target is represented by a blue line.



For all other indicators a higher value denotes a more desirable result, e.g. skilled birth attendance. These indicator values for the highest and lowest income quintiles are given by black and yellow squares, as in the figure below.







	PG
MDG SCORECARD	114











SDGS:	

PVRTY 1 HNGR 2

HLTH 3

EDUC 4

GNDR 5

6

7

ECON 8

INFRA 9

INEQ 10

CITY 11

CNSUM

12

CLIMT 13

OCNS 14

BIODV

15

PEACE 16

PARTN 17

PLAN CITIES FOR PEOPLE

SECTION 2

PEOPLE

KEY MESSAGES

Despite significant global progress, lack of access to safe and sustainable water and sanitation continues to pose an urgent challenge for cities.

Cities can be designed and managed in ways that enable healthier behaviour and achieve better health outcomes.

٠

Urban transport can be transformed to be healthier, safer and more sustainable.

•

٠

Targeted housing interventions, greater use of clean energy and improved affordability can help tackle the global challenge of healthy and sustainable urban housing.

Poor safety and urban violence come at a significant cost to the health of urban residents and the societies where they live.

٠

INTRODUCTION

EDUC 4 WATR 6 ENRG 7

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

СІТҮ

11

HLTH

As the populations of cities around the world have surged in recent decades, this demographic change has challenged cities and their leaders to adjust to the new reality of ever-growing urban populations. Their cities would have to grow in order to accommodate more people – either with denser housing and workspaces or by stretching the boundaries of cities. Cities need to plan for these growing populations to live their lives and contribute to the city. Doing so would entail planning for residential areas and transportation to get people to and from work and other daily needs. It requires planning for water provision, energy and other basic services provision such as education, health and safety.

Many cities simply grew too quickly, outpacing their capacity to cope with planning and resources. They are often challenged by the proliferation of informal settlements, substandard housing, inaccessible basic needs and undrinkable water, among many other challenges for urban inhabitants. There has been large-scale development of urban slums, where hundreds of millions still live. Twice as many people are projected to live under these conditions by 2050, unless there is fundamental change in the way cities absorb growing populations. The effects of living under these conditions on residents' health are powerful. As discussed earlier in this report, people living under these conditions often have significantly worse health outcomes, sometimes even worse than their rural counterparts who have no access to the benefits of the city at all.

In many other places, while cities have managed to keep pace, too often the focus has prioritized economic vitality, and not the people themselves. They present familiar scenes of urban sprawl, traffic-clogged streets and polluted air. Even in the most prosperous cities, neighbourhoods are deprived of green spaces. Many are burdened with longer commute times or inaccessible or unusable mass transportation, among other forms of intra-city inequality in planning and resources. Residents of such cities or neighbourhoods may struggle with NCDs, the result of one or more environmental factors such as exposure to pollution or insufficient physical activity.

The ways that cities are planned can profoundly affect the ability of their residents to live long, healthy and productive lives. There is no reason why these effects should be negative. Planning for commerce and planning for people are not mutually exclusive parts of a zero sum game. Cities can be planned for both. People can be enabled to move about the city affordably and safely. They can be enabled to be physically active and to access the things they need. There is nothing inevitable about unsafe drinking-water, even in the fastest growing cities. Practical standards, policies and programmes can enable people to live in safer, healthier homes. Cities can be safer.

Cities can be planned for people and there are great opportunities to do so. There are practical solutions to fix the features of cities that have already been built. Furthermore, since half of all people who will live in cities by 2050 do not live there yet, there is an opportunity, with currently available evidence, to plan healthier cities for these future residents.

Section 2 investigates in more detail the evidence on how people's lives and health are affected by the physical characteristics of the cities they live in. It examines the ways that these characteristics are inequitable in cities. The very fact that the distribution of healthy environments is inequitable clearly indicates that healthier living environments are indeed attainable. This section discusses practical solutions that can be deployed for people living in cities now, and which can also inform planning for future city residents. It focuses on four of the most important aspects of urban planning that have direct implications for people's health and the quality of urban life: water and sanitation management; spatial planning and land use; transport; and housing, including energy-related issues, and safety.

PARTN 17

CHAPTER 6 — PROVIDE SAFE WATER AND SANITATION FOR ALL

KEY MESSAGE • Despite significant global progress, lack of access to safe and sustainable water and sanitation continues to pose an urgent challenge for cities.

Access to water and sanitation is a human right, as explicitly recognized by the United Nations General Assembly in July 2010 (192). It acknowledged that clean drinking-water and sanitation are essential to the realization of all human rights. Water and sanitation is also one of the most significant urban services related to health outcomes, poverty alleviation and sustainable development. Thus, urban management must ensure equitable provision of safe, clean, accessible and affordable drinking-water and sanitation, with provisions to accommodate urban expansion and population growth.

Rapid population growth especially puts an enormous strain on the sanitation and solid waste management capacities of cities, more so in the developing world where such infrastructure is already weak or stretched. Inadequacies in urban environmental health infrastructure and services increase the transmission of diseases acquired through contact with contaminated water, soil and waste (see the chapter on communicable diseases in Section 1), and can have broader, long-term impacts on people's health and well-being.

RENEWED AGENDA ON WATER AND SANITATION FROM THE MILLENNIUM DEVELOPMENT GOALS (MDGS) TO THE SDGS

The world achieved the MDG target of halving the proportion of people without access to improved sources of water in 2010, five years ahead of schedule. Between 1990 and 2015, 2.6 billion people gained access to improved drinking-water sources. In the same time, 2.1 billion people gained access to improved sanitation (193).

Despite progress, 2.4 billion people are still using unimproved sanitation facilities. A further 1.9 billion people are estimated to be using either an unimproved water source or an improved source that has faecal contamination (194). Continued lack of access to clean and safe water and sanitation puts people at risk of a wide range of diseases such as dysentery, cholera, typhoid, schistosomiasis, trachoma and intestinal worms (195, 196). These are major contributors to ill-health and preventable mortality, which likely held back progress on other related global goals, such as on maternal and child health, nutrition and education.

Although the number of deaths attributable to inadequate water, sanitation and hygiene was halved between 1990 and 2012, 502 000 diarrhoea deaths were still estimated to be caused by unsafe drinking-water, 280 000 by inadequate sanitation and 297 000 by inadequate personal hygiene. In total, there were an estimated 842 000 diarrhoea deaths caused by this cluster of risks globally in 2012 (197). And these are likely to be underestimates, in part because the global burden of disease estimates do not take into consideration the possibility of exposure to drinking-water that is contaminated at the source (194).



PVRTY 1

HNGR 2

HLTH

WATR

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

СІТҮ

11

CNSUM 12 Even when diarrhoeal diseases are not fatal, frequent diarrhoea in early childhood can contribute to malnutrition and potential long-term consequences for child development (19).

The safe management of human excrement and effective removal and treatment of solid waste are also an integral part of the sanitation service chain as one of the most vital urban environmental services. These services are often focused on downtown and higher-income areas, while poor people, especially in unplanned areas, have to rely on onsite systems. The management of faecal sludge from these facilities is typically unregulated and in the informal sector, as it may be officially regarded as a temporary solution (198). In areas where waste is not collected frequently, the incidence of diarrhoea can be twice as high and acute respiratory infections six times higher than in areas where collection is frequent (199).

Clearly, water and sanitation is an unfinished MDG agenda goal, which is why it is prominently placed among the new SDGs for 2016–2030.

WATER AND SANITATION A PARTICULARLY URGENT PROBLEM IN CITIES

The lack of access to safe water and sanitation is a problem for both rural and urban areas. Although it is generally the case that these services are more developed in urban areas, it is often a particularly pressing problem in cities due to rapid urbanization that outpaces cities' coping ability, the size and fluctuation of demand for the services due to migration, and the huge pockets of poor and un-serviced populations.

The density of cities also increases the potential population health impact of exposure. In crowded urban environments, pollution created by any single individual has the potential to reach many others, placing all residents at risk from poor sanitation and not just disadvantaged communities. One manifestation of this is the effect of poor sanitation on child stunting (a result of chronic malnutrition strongly associated with frequent diarrhoea), which is much stronger in urban than in rural areas. An analysis of data from a multicountry study showed that eliminating open defecation thus has a much greater positive effect on child height in urban areas than in rural areas (200).

The successes and challenges of increasing access to improved water sources in urban areas is shown in Figure 22. On average, urban access to improved water sources has exceeded the UHC target of 80% in all regions examined, based on the most recently available data from the DHS. The greatest improvement in urban water access between 1990–2004 and 2005–2013 was ob-





SUBSECTION

PARTN 17



Figure 22.

Trends in country-level urban prevalence of access to improved water sources comparing 1990–2004 to 2005–2013, by world region

Note: Median lines are provided for each time period and region in the graphs.

Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21). served in countries in Africa. Countries in Africa and LAC also improved equity in urban access to water in this period, as seen in the narrowing of the gaps between the countries. However, in the Asia-Pacific, household access to improved water sources in urban areas actually declined during these periods, and the disparity between the countries widened. In terms of sanitation, since 1990, 1.2 billion people have gained access to improved sanitation in urban areas, increasing coverage from 76% in 1990 to 80% in 2012. Nevertheless, the population without sanitation in urban areas increased significantly from 215 million in 1990 to 756 million in 2012 (*201*).

Sanitation coverage for urban residents in the world's least developed regions remains very low at 47%, and particularly in sub-Saharan Africa where only 40% of its urban population has access to improved sanitation (193). Even when individuals have access to sanitation options such as community toilets, usage of these facilities remains low and many households continue to practise open defecation. Between 20% and 30% of urban populations in the regions mentioned above use shared sanitation facilities, and open defecation rates ranged from 6% in east Asia to 14% in south Asia (202). One potential explanation for the persistence of this practice is that it has become an ingrained habit that individuals continue to engage in despite having a better alternative.

With the urban population expected to double globally in the next 40 years, most cities already lack adequate wastewater management due to ageing, absent or inadequate sewage infrastructure. Low-income countries have only 8% of the required capacity to treat waste water effectively (203). This will not only lead to severe damage to the ecosystems and biodiversity, but also pose a major threat to human health, economic activity and water security if left unaddressed.

As for municipal solid waste, cities currently generate roughly 1.3 billion tonnes per year worldwide (204). For many cities in LMICs, solid waste management is already the single largest budget item, and biggest employer. Yet, as societies get wealthier and urbanize, solid waste production generally increases. It is estimated that solid waste production from cities will increase by 70% to 2.2 billion tonnes per year by 2025 (204).

Solid waste management is a critical matter for public health and environmental quality. Poor waste management can lead to clogged drainage ditches that can cause flooding and stagnant water. Blocked storm drains and pools of stagnant water provide breeding and feeding grounds for mosquitoes, flies and rodents. These, in turn, can increase the risk of diseases such as dengue, leptospirosis, gastrointestinal disorders, dermal infections and respiratory infections. Waste left to accumulate in private or public areas and disposed of in open landfill can also be sources of disease vectors. Burned waste can emit hazardous substances into the air. Proper management of solid waste can thus have a great impact on people's health. The sanitation service chain must be developed, financed, managed and maintained continuously and sustainably as services, with a focus on outcomes (e.g. how much solid waste is safely managed) rather than inputs (e.g. construction of latrines and sewers).

INEQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION OF QUALITY WATER AND SANITATION SERVICES

Most countries generally achieve an increase in access to water and sanitation, as well as a narrowing of inequality in coverage, with improved development. The practice of open

SUBSECTION

Provide safe water and sanitation for all

125



defecation also appears to decline, for example, with increasing levels of education (201). Yet, major differences in access to water and sanitation between rich and poor in urban areas remain widely prevalent. It is the poor and otherwise excluded and marginalized populations who tend to have the least access to improved drinking-water supplies and sanitation.

Figures 23 and 24 clearly illustrate how the practice of open defecation and access to improved water sources are strongly correlated with household wealth in urban areas, albeit in different patterns. In most of the countries where open defecation is still prevalent in urban areas, it is primarily among the poorest households. This indicates the exclusion of the poorest minority of urban households from receiving the benefits of improved sanitation. This may be because these households have no access to improved sanitation, or they are accessible but not used due to reasons such as poor maintenance or behavioural preferences.

Massive investments are made in infrastructure to address urban sanitation in developing countries, including construction of household latrines and public toilets, but often in favour of richer users. The poor are frequently left to fend for themselves. Self-built onsite systems are the norm for slum households. In these contexts, wastewater and faecal sludge from rich areas are typically channelled far away to a wastewater treatment plant, while those from poor areas stay onsite near the residences (198). However, the location of many cities in the world in coastal or riverine areas means that even privileged areas may be affected if the area is flooded, as faecal material will mix with the floodwaters and cause widespread contamination.

Similarly, stark inequities are found in urban access to safe water in some countries where, on average, less than half of the poorest one fifth of urban households have access to improved water sources in contrast to the richest one fifth that have over 90% access (Figure 24). These countries present a very steep social gradient in urban water access whereby the level of access to improved water sources increases systematically, and quite dramatically, with increasing levels of household wealth.

The perils of poor water, sanitation and hygiene are most egregious in informal settlements. A survey of New Delhi's slums found that 44% faced water scarcity, 90% reported that the drains were overflowing and 99% reported that the nearby dumpsters were emptied less than once a month. A toilet audit in these same communities found that 83% of toilets had faecal material, or significant amounts of other waste lying around the facilities, and only 16% had soap or sanitary fluid for washing (205).

However, informal settlements are far from being homogeneous as unfair differences exist even within these settings. In Mombasa, Kenya, almost one third of the better-off slum residents had piped water to their homes, while the poorest relied on water kiosks about twice as much as the better-off homes. Flush toilets were used by 70% of the richest one third of households compared to 10% of the poorest one third, and none of the richest one third practised open defecation compared to more than 15% of the poorest one third (201). The quality of facilities was also inconsistent. In the unplanned, low-income subwards of Dar es Salaam, United Republic of Tanzania, 56% of households used sanitation facilities that technically qualified as improved, but only 8% had the functional facility that can be considered as hygienically safe and sustainable. The biggest share of this unsafe sanitation was due to unsafe pit emptying (206).

Even in high-income countries, there are intra-urban disparities in access to safe drinking-water. In the USA, the first study to systematically examine the role of

TZA

USA

Figure 23. Prevalence of open defecation in urban areas by country and by household wealth quintile

22.5 0.7

Sao Tome And Principe

12.3

Madagascar

12.3

5.3 6.2 19.7 32.7

51.7

Namibia

46.0

0.0

10.2 10.0

Nigeria

Niger

29.6

0.0

3.0

39.5

1.7

0.0

34.5

2.0 35.1

62.6

76.8 91+5

Mauritania

11.3 0.1

12.3

Sierra Leone

12.4

Atrica

Chad

17.0 0.0 0.0 2.3

10,9

47.5

75.0 0., 5.5

8.3

10.7 0.0 0.3

č.,

20.1

10.3

Ethiopia

25.9 0.5 2.7 3.3

a. 26.4

33.7

76.5

54-0 32.8

Benin

14.2

0.0

14.6 79.3

Burkina Faso

Mozambique

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2. Q2, 2nd quintile; Q4, 4th quintile *Source*: Global Health Observatory 2015 (*21*).

Indonesia

Asia Pacific

Timor-Leste

56.3

0.2

36.3

India

0.3

0.5 5.8 32.0

28.1

50.0

0.0

12.7 37.5

21.0

15.3

Haiti

Nepal

22.2

0.3

30:2

0

24.8 58.9

Democratic Republic

0.0

Cambodia

58.7



race in access to municipal water service found that access was significantly lower in African-American neighbourhoods than in some other neighbourhoods. A study in Wake County, USA, the second most populous county in the state of North Carolina and home to the state capital, showed that African-American communities are significantly less likely than Caucasian communities are to be connected to a municipal water supply system in what are known as extraterritorial jurisdictions. Moreover, every 10% increase in the African-American population proportion within a census block increases the odds of exclusion from municipal water service by 3.8%. This disparity is a legacy of racial segregation. Historically, many cities and towns drew their boundaries to exclude African-American neighbourhoods from city limits, while encompassing them within extraterritorial jurisdictions over which town councils with a Caucasian majority retained control (207).

Nicosia, the capital of Cyprus, another high-income country, exhibits wide variability of exposure to environmental contaminants in piped water, with lower-income neighbourhoods exposed to worse pipe quality. Historically defined geographic



Source: WHO/Anna Kari

boundaries within a city, such as those defined by the drinking-water pipe infrastructure, provide a unique opportunity for city planners, policy-makers and health professionals to formulate cost-effective urban health interventions, if environmental exposures are well clustered within each neighbourhood (208).

While access to improved water sources and piped water are necessary steps in the right direction, they are insufficient in themselves to prevent ill-health from unsafe water. Microbiological contamination of water between the source and pointof-use is widespread and often significant. Increased faecal and total coliform counts in stored domestic water are frequently found in urban areas with uncontaminated sup-

SUBSECTION

PG

131

CYF



6

WATR

PVRTY

HLTH 3

EDUC 4

INFRA 9 INEQ 10 CITY 11

plies (209). Many systems classified as "improved" are in reality well below the standard necessary to reduce the risk of human contact with faeces. Access to an "improved source" provides a measure of sanitary protection, but does not ensure water is free of faecal contamination, nor is the level of contamination consistent between type of water source and the setting (194). Such evidence suggests that international estimates greatly overstate the use of safe drinking-water and do not fully reflect disparities in access. An enhanced monitoring strategy would combine indicators of sanitary protection with measures of water quality (210).

Similarly, sanitation is a complex service chain along which any failures will compromise safety. Providing access to "improved sanitation" alone does not necessarily ensure access to safe, sustainable sanitation. Sanitation consists not only of providing toilets, but also in making sure that people use, maintain and empty them safely. A recent systematic review found that individual psychosocial motivators, such as perceived benefit and self-efficacy, as well as interpersonal factors, such as social norms, are strongly influential in whether there is sustained adoption of safe water, hygiene and sanitation, in addition to contextual factors within the environment and characteristics of the technology itself (e.g. cost; durability) (211). Thus, community education and training as well as adequate drainage and solid waste management are essential complements to excreta management services.

The most effective household-level drinking-water intervention to impact diarrhoeal disease in LMICs has been shown to be a point-of-use filter in combination

Source: WHO/Anna Kari

with safe water storage, according to a recent systematic review and analysis (212). At the community level, introduction of high-quality piped water was found to be most effective. The same study also found evidence that sewer interventions are associated with a greater reduction in diarrhoea than basic household sanitation. These results are largely consistent with previously published reviews.

BARRIERS TO HOUSEHOLD INVESTMENT IN IMPROVED WATER AND SANITATION

Many cities, especially those in developing countries, suffer from inadequate supply of improved water and sanitation. Building such infrastructure is costly and may involve numerous technical, bureaucratic and legal constraints. However, even in places where the water and sanitation network exists and it is technically feasible to connect to it, there may be demand constraints that limit people's access to these services. Understanding the underlying factors that affect demand for urban services is a necessary first step in the design of the most suitable incentive mechanisms to improve access.

Evidence from different country contexts suggest that many families and households in developing country cities do not want to invest in improved water and sanitation, even if they could afford it (213, 214). Many urbanites are also migrants who are temporary or transient and are even less likely to invest in their houses. People may simply lack the money or willingness to pay for the service, may have a poor understanding of the benefits and costs of those services or may not be fully aware of the health costs of current options, partly because such information is not communicated to them (214).

A common situation is that people who do not have legal property rights to their dwellings, often informal settlers, are not motivated to make major improvements to them. They see no reason to invest in homes if they are not the recognized owners. Evidence in Latin America has shown that, in fact, households with insecure property rights are less likely to invest in improvements or to use their house as collateral for a loan to invest in improvements. While strengthening property rights in urban slums has been shown to have a significant effect on residential investment, it has also created other problems. Once land rights are granted, the poor may resell the land to wealthier people (215), and then create new slums elsewhere, perpetuating the problem of poor water and sanitation.

There are some examples of success, however. A randomized evaluation of a social programme in Tangier, Morocco, that offered low-income households a chance to get an in-home connection to the city water system by providing technical assistance and interest-free loans found that families were willing to pay a lot to have a private tap in their home. While there was no impact on health because these families already had access to clean water at public taps, the new water connections enabled more leisure time, fewer tensions with neighbours over using a communal tap and better perceptions of quality of life. The evaluation showed that not only making credit available, but also simplifying or assisting with the application process could greatly increase families' willingness to invest in water connections. It also showed that social networks (i.e. observing the benefits enjoyed by neighbours) are an important channel for learning about new programmes and benefits (216).

COORDINATED, SYSTEM-WIDE SOLUTIONS ARE NEEDED AND POSSIBLE

Given the challenges to small-scale private initiatives to invest in water and sanitation solutions and the systemic nature of water and sanitation services, well-coordinated system-wide solutions are also needed to achieve efficiency and effectiveness on a broad scale. This involves coordination between the water and sanitation sectors, including public and private providers, along the chain of services within each sector, within the affected community and between relevant national and local level policies.

Community level coordination is important in mobilizing the resources needed to invest in water and sanitation infrastructure and to ensure public health safety for all. To be effective, urban water and sanitation management has to be inclusive of all residents and areas, including the poor, and implemented within a city-wide framework. When done well, it could provide a wide range of benefits, including longer lifespan, reduced morbidity and mortality, higher school attendance, lower health costs and less time and effort devoted to managing water and waste (214). In economic terms, it is estimated that combined water supply and sanitation interventions have a cost-benefit ratio of 4.3 (i.e. an economic return of US\$ 4.3 per US\$ 1 invested) at the global level, ranging from 2.0 in Oceania to more than 5.0 in LAC and East Asia (217).

Coordination failures, however, pose serious challenges to implementing community-wide solutions. Not all individuals in the community may approve the development of water and sanitation services. For example, small, private water service providers – tanker operators, private kiosk operators, household resellers, door-to-door vendors, and operators of small boreholes and private piped networks – have a vested interest in preventing the construction of formal network-based services. Some of these provide good quality service under competitive conditions, but the price of water is usually much higher than that of the main water utility, and they are most often informal and unregulated providers. Even when new and improved solutions are implemented, they may not be sustained if no one takes responsibility for maintenance. There is evidence that community sanitation facilities are usually poorly maintained – and the failure of one affects many. Mismatches can also occur between demand for improved sanitation and the type of services provided, often resulting in unused or underused sanitation infrastructure.

Coordination can be challenging, especially in urban areas. In contrast to rural areas, urban settlements are often heterogeneous, both ethnically and in socioeconomic status, which hinders collective action. Longer-term residents may also find it difficult to motivate new settlers, especially transient migrants, or hold them accountable to investments, norms and rules. Poor communities face the additional challenge of lacking the political influence to affect municipal decisions. Sanitary conditions in these communities may not be the priorities for policy-makers.

For larger-scale solutions beyond the household or community level, local and central government participation is necessary. Issues surrounding the accountability of elected representatives in poor neighbourhoods then become very relevant. Despite the urban poor forming a sizable proportion of the population, this voting bloc has often been unable to leverage their political weight to gain improved public service delivery.

States should adopt the necessary measures to certify that water is universally guaranteed and affordable. Households must be able to afford a basic quantity of

PEACE

PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

WATR

ECON

8

INFRA

9

СІТҮ

11

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

Omnibus Infrastructure Development - Federated States of Micronesia

Source: Omnibus Infrastructure Development - Federated Status of Micronesia by Asian Develop ment Bank is licensed under Co BY 2.0, https://creati.ecommons. org/licenses/by/2.0/legalcode water for essential consumption. If the cost of water is above the financial availability of the poor, this will hinder universal access and the fulfilment of the right to the city for all. When water is unaffordable, consumption could decrease below the level of essential needs and result in serious health risks to the most disadvantaged (218). The public sector must, therefore, ensure tariff schemes that protect the most disadvantaged from disconnections due to high prices associated with weak financial capacity, without jeopardizing financial sustainability of service providers (219). At the same time, subsidy policies can ensure access for the poor, served both by formal or informal providers. If the poor are willing to pay for improved drinking-water quality, as is evidenced in some countries (220–222), volumetric rate of water service charge (instead of regressive lump sum water service charge) can be an important economic instrument and policy tool. It can increase efficiency in the water supply system by maintaining distributive justice, reduce wastage of water and ensure that the water provider has sufficient revenue to maintain safety (223).

Despite formidable challenges, coordinated system-wide solutions to deliver safe water and sanitation are achievable and sustainable. They can be successful even in urban slums as seen, for example, in Nairobi. Over the last 10 years, Kenyan government ministries, development agencies and civil society have invested considerably in initiatives to improve sanitation in urban slums. Great improvements have been made in the provision of water and sanitation facilities with corresponding improvements in health outcomes (224). Between 2000 and 2012, the proportion of Nairobi slum households buying water from vendors decreased from 74.8% to 11.4%, and those accessing water through public taps increased from 2.7% to 59.3%. The proportion of slum households using flush toilets increased six fold from 7.3% to 46.2%, while households using traditional pit latrines decreased from 78.8% to 44.0% – an almost 50% decrease. These improvements in access to water and sanitation have been linked to declines in diarrhoeal deaths (35) and in under-5 mortality (225).

SUMMARY

This chapter illustrates the pressing need to address the urban water and sanitation challenge comprehensively, with a strong emphasis on including slum dwellers and poor communities that have typically been neglected.

Lack of access to and use of safe, sustainable water and sanitation is globally one of the biggest contributors to ill-health and preventable mortality. Both access and quality will need to improve at a much faster pace and on a larger scale than in the past to meet this continuously growing demand. Currently, lack of access puts 2.5 billion people at risk of many diarrhoeal and other diseases even though, as noted, access is a globally recognized human right.

Without concerted intervention, the health, development and quality of life of all urban dwellers will be in jeopardy. There will be greater risks of diarrhoeal and other diseases and hazards that this chapter discusses and lead to significant disadvantages in education and productivity.

While water and sanitation is a problem for both rural and urban areas, it is particularly urgent in cities, and especially for marginalized populations in them. Furthermore, even though access to improved water and piped water are important steps in the right direction, they are insufficient alone to prevent ill-health from unsafe water

PEACE 16

PVRTY

HLTH

3

EDUC

4

WATR

ECON

8

INEQ 10

СІТҮ

11

SUBSECTION

thus water quality deserves more attention.

There are undoubtedly many obstacles at every level, however, solutions are available, achievable and sustainable. Some of these are system wide, and require local and central government participation. Others are on a smaller scale, involving communities and households. This chapter offers evidence of these solutions and ways that city leaders and urban communities can move towards implementing them.

CHAPTER 7 — DESIGN HEALTHIER, MORE SUSTAINABLE CITIES

KEY MESSAGE • Cities can be designed and managed in ways that enable healthier behaviour and achieve better health outcomes.

The ways that cities are planned can profoundly affect the ability of their populations to live long, healthy and productive lives. Planning influences the layout of streets and corridors, including which parts of the city they connect. It determines where to find the various features of the city – everything from hospitals and schools to commercial spaces and public parks. It determines whether a growing city stretches towards the sky or spreads out. These are among the ways that the invisible hand of city planners plays a role in where residents live, work and play, and how they access these features of their daily lives. The combination of these factors gives each city its own identity, with its different areas and neighbourhoods, streets and transport corridors of road and rail networks. The combination of these features, or the absence of them, also influences urban residents' health and quality of life.

Many cities around the world have grown so rapidly that they have had little opportunity to keep the interests of their residents firmly in mind, much less look ahead and plan for the future. Where the pace of urbanization has allowed planning to be done, too many of our modern cities have concentrated on providing for motor vehicles, commerce, industry and economic growth. Cities have become engines for economic growth, generating more than 80% of global economic activity (226). So often, the people who live in cities have been left off the designers' drawing board. This is a common, recurring oversight. When people and their quality of life are not recognized as priorities, the consequences are likely to be at least unhealthy and at worst fatal.

These unintended outcomes include featureless urban sprawl, substandard housing, traffic-clogged streets, toxic air quality and underserved neighbourhoods. Like so many other elements of the city, it is often the poorest families who are most affected, and are thus further locked into poverty.

The design of a city, while seeking to create a place where people can live and thrive, also often casts a long shadow over the health of the very people it tries to accommodate. This does not have to continue. The city environment is not an inherently unhealthy place. Quite the contrary, the city ideally offers opportunities and access that



can enable people to live healthier lives. Through improved design and planning, city leaders can play an enabling role in their constituents' health. They have an incredible opportunity to do so. For the multitude of cities that are already invested in less healthy infrastructure and planning, they can still make adjustments to the city environment to enable the current cohort of urban dwellers to live healthier lives. City leaders can plan healthier environments for the 3 billion future urban dwellers that do not yet live in cities. Many elements of planning that can affect the health of urban residents. The development of slum homes and neighbourhoods is a critically important issue to address (see the chapter on housing). City streets and other elements of mobility are also instrumental in the health of city residents. This chapter looks at how cities manage urban spaces and the ways that they can either positively or negatively influence the health of city residents. It also briefly addresses how cities are increasingly being planned for the health and well-being of older adults. In addition, it looks at how better urban planning can mitigate the impact of disasters on urban populations.

A WORLD OF SPRAWLING CITIES

нітн

3

EDUC

4

ENRG

7

INFRA

9

INEQ

10

СІТҮ

11

CLIMT

13

The growth of city populations over the last century has forced urban planners and city leaders around the world to cope with significant numbers of new residents in a short time. In most cases, cities have accommodated their new residents by pushing the boundaries of the city for expansion. These cities occupy increasing volumes of land cover - they stretch and they sprawl as they grow. Meanwhile, some cities have not coped with swelling urban populations and the new residents have pushed the city boundaries themselves, constructing informal settlements at the periphery of the city, where they lack city services and infrastructure.

Planned, or unplanned, cities have expanded significantly in response to urbanization. The problem this presents for planners is that many cities are expanding at rates that exceed their capacity to accommodate the growing population. In a global sample of 120 cities measured during 1990–2000, the geographic extent of the city grew more than twice as fast as the population (Figure 25) (227). At these growth rates, the world's urban population will double in 43 years, whereas the world's urban land cover will double in only 19 years.

Sprawling cities are among those whose outward expansion has outpaced population growth, resulting in lower density settlements. In some cities, relatively wealthy residents, seeking more space and access to the city, occupy these lower density settlements. In other cities, relatively poorer residents, often seeking more affordable housing, occupy the peripheral settlements.

In sprawling cities, the necessities of everyday life for many residents become less accessible. Public transportation requires dense populations in order to be sustainable. In the absence of density, public transportation for certain communities can be either infrequent or non-existent. Hospitals, schools, businesses, city parks and planned public spaces are all more sustainable with human density. With lower density – when cities sprawl – these institutions and infrastructure that make up the very essence of the urban advantage become unsustainable. In these cases, urban spaces often become single-use spaces – places where people live, or places where people work, play and access their daily needs, but not both.

SUBSECTION



CHANGE OF POPULATION (%) IN 2000 FROM 1985 BASELINE

In these modern cities, residents become more car-dependent. As cities have grown, and more single or limited-use communities develop, many people live long distances from work and other needs. Figure 26 depicts the relationship between transportation energy use and urban density, showing clearly that less dense cities have more energy-intensive mobility. Atlanta, USA, needs 783 gallons of petrol per person per year to make its urban mobility system work. By contrast, relatively more compact cities such as Barcelona, Spain, and New York City require 64 and 80 gallons, respectively, of petroleum per person (229).

Energy-intensive mobility is associated with a great proportion of the population relying on private motor vehicles and driving longer distances. Lower population density is also correlated with longer trips in private vehicles (230). Importantly, greater numbers of private vehicles on the road and kilometres travelled are directly related to health problems associated with air pollution and road traffic accidents (see on the chapter on transport). It is the structure of the city that allows for longer commute times and greater distances to daily needs. It virtually ensures longer daily vehicle time, and, for many people, less physical activity and reliance on less nutritious convenience foods. When combined with single-use neighbourhoods that lack accessible commercial, public and green spaces, the planning of the city can become a significant contributor to sedentary behaviour. Annually, 3.2 million deaths are attributed to insufficient physical activity. WHO recommends at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity per week for average adults (231). A person who walks or bicycles 10 minutes to and from the bus or train, from home and then to work every day, would get 200 minutes of walking just from their commute five days per week. Meanwhile, commute times and traffic congestion are worsening. In 95% of the largest cities in the USA, traffic congestion has been increasing (232).

SUBSECTION

Design healthier, more sustainable cities

Figure 25. Urban spatial expansion and population growth

Source: Angel et al. 2005 (228).





PG

139

Figure 26. Population density and transport energy use

Source: Reproduced with permission from Rode and Floater 2014 (229).



17

While the causal link is not yet established, the correlation between sprawl and ill-health is well documented, and there is clear value in enabling those who are constrained by the urban environment to live healthier lives if they so choose. In a 2014 update to a landmark study of sprawling metropolises, Ewing and colleagues again found a negative correlation between sprawl, health and economic opportunity across 221 cities and 994 counties in the USA (233). Put another way, the data indicated that in less sprawling cities people live longer and have greater economic mobility.

CITIES CAN BE DESIGNED TO IMPROVE HEALTH FOR EVERYONE

Cities can be planned for the health of their residents. It is certainly true that urban infrastructure is difficult to change once it is in place; streets and buildings live long lives with some maintenance, and cities can be difficult to rezone. However, it is possible to take steps to shape even the most sprawling cities for better health. In 2015, Los Angeles, California, passed sweeping legislation to overhaul city mobility. Rather than adding lanes to streets for more cars to alleviate congestion, the city is planning to add bicycle lanes, sidewalks and dedicated spaces for bus rapid transit (BRT) (234). Copenhagen, Denmark, embarked on a multi-decade project to remake completely the city with mixed-use neighbourhoods around transit-oriented development (Box 11). Not every city can do an "extreme makeover" for health, but every city can take steps in the direction of healthier planning. Furthermore, there is an opportunity to build healthier cities when it is clear that urban populations are set to more than double over the next several decades to 2050. There is a long time to plan these spaces for a better future.

Box 11.

Copenhagen: The world's best bicycle city?

The municipality of Copenhagen aims to be the "world's best bicycle city" and has a target for 75% of all trips to be by foot, bicycle or public transport by 2025. Good conditions for cycling are also part of the city's official health policy. Cycling is not a goal in itself, but a highly prioritized endeavour for creating a more liveable city. Currently, 26% of all trips to work or schools in Copenhagen are by bike. This high share is a key element of their goal to make the Danish capital carbon dioxide-neutral. More than six decades ago, Copenhagen initiated an integrated transport and land use strategy that led to the development of dense walkable urban centres connected to one another by rail-based public transport. Effective land-use regulations, considerable investments in public transport infrastructure and a clear spatial strategy, known as the Finger Plan, made this possible. The Finger Plan calls for urban growth along rail corridors (the fingers) from the city centre and protects the in-between green wedges from development. City-level land use planning promotes high-density, mixed-use developments around public transport stations and limits parking options for private vehicles.

Source: Rode and Floater 2014 (229).

PG

141

SUBSECTION

USA

DNK

HLTH 3

ENRG 7

ECON 8

СІТҮ

11

CLIMT

13

One key principle for making cities healthier for their residents is to make their daily needs accessible by a combination of walking or cycling and public transportation. Physical activity is a critical mechanism by which the built environment can affect health, particularly NCDs. One of the ways that city design can promote physical activity is through compact city design. Compact cities have relatively high residential density. In compact cities, intra-urban distances tend to be shorter - the things people need and the places people need to go are close by. Shorter intra-urban distances reduce time spent in a vehicle and lowers travel costs. The lower cost of transport can substantially help low- and middle-income households, where transport and housing can consume a great proportion of household income. Decreased transit time yields a boost to mental health as well as economic benefits. The average urban resident in an American city spends 42 hours in traffic, or the equivalent of one working week in their motor vehicle every year commuting to work (232). This is a week that could be reallocated to more productive activity, including work, but also leisure. Higher density residential neighbourhoods with shorter intra-urban distances are associated with more walking and cycling. This all adds up to fewer kilometres travelled by car, which reduces air pollution. Studies in the USA have also shown that relatively compact cities with mixed land use have better air quality than relatively sprawling cities (235).

Cities have to give careful consideration to how they should reap the rewards of compactness. For example, at the extreme, city density can lead to crowding. Crowding can of course be a cause of ill-health. In striving to achieve a more compact city and more sustainable density, it is important that city leaders do not artificially constrain the housing stock by limiting land use (236), which limits housing supply and can drive up home prices and rents.

Furthermore, the composition of spaces in cities can determine the extent to which high-density living can positively affect health, or not. Mixed land use spaces are a key element of healthy city planning. Cities do not have to be dense everywhere, but they can plan for residential density around mixed land use spaces. Mixed land use,

Los Angeles in a Good Llght

Source: Los Angeles in a Good Llght by Ron Reiring is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/ by/2.0/legalcode

SUBSECTION

together with high-density living, is correlated with increased levels of physical activity (237). Ideally, residential density around mixed land use means that people's needs are very close to their homes, which makes walking or cycling more attractive choices. Ensuring that corridors safely connect people to their daily needs within neighbourhoods will also encourage walking and cycling. Street connectivity and intersection density have both been found to be positively correlated with walking and cycling (238).

Urban density often conjures up images of concrete and metal landscapes, but green and recreational spaces are crucial additions to mixed land use planning for cities. Green spaces and recreational areas give city residents the opportunity to be physically active and promote mental health (239). Without them, physical activity is limited to paved spaces shared with cars and other obstacles. An international study in 17 cities found that proximity to public parks and attractive aesthetics positively correlated with leisure time physical activity among adults. The findings were similar across diverse cities on five continents (240). These results confirm those of prior studies and demonstrate that the importance of having parks within neighbourhoods is universal. Another significant study showed that proximity to parks was one of the most consistent correlates of children's physical activity (241). Parks can provide places for physical activity and favourable aesthetics of buildings and landscapes can help people enjoy being active in their neighbourhoods.

Cities can plan for smarter growth that enables their residents to live healthier lives. For cities that are more "locked in" to their current forms, it is more difficult and it can take some time to steer the city in another direction. Even then, it is possible. The Copenhagen example illustrates how a strategic approach to making the city healthier can succeed with patience and perseverance. Other cities around the world are also taking steps in this direction. The next chapter on transportation discusses cities that are making adjustments to locked-in forms in order to promote healthier transport. The payoff of creating the conditions for a healthier city is potentially significant for residents. In the Ewing cross-sectional study mentioned above of more than 200 cities and 994 counties, the researchers found that residents of relatively more compact areas performed better on selected economic and health measures. Although residents of compact cities tended to have higher housing expenses, they spent less on combined housing and transportation expenses, as savings in transportation costs outweighed higher housing costs. The more compact the area, the more these residents walked, while motor vehicle ownership and drive time decreased. People who lived in areas with more sprawl had higher BMI values, while those in areas that are more compact tended to live longer.

Box 12.

Piloting sustainable urbanization in China

Within three decades, China has experienced unprecedented urban growth unseen in any other parts of the world. China currently has 600 urban areas with populations exceeding 100 000, and it is expected to have over 1 billion urban dwellers over the next 35 years. While this has contributed to China's sustained high economic growth and overall raised living standards, the speed and scale of its urban development threatens to outpace the ability to plan and resource urbanization. High energy consumption, traffic congestion,

SUBSECTION

Design healthier, more sustainable cities

PG

143

CHN

DNK

USA
worsening air guality and the deterioration of quality of life have become major interrelated threats to the sustainability of China's cities. City governments have had to tear down and rebuild infrastructure no more than a few years old. Superblock style developments were designed as replicable, scalable, efficient housing to accommodate fast-growing urban populations. They were mono-functional and paired with widened roads in order to ferry residents to work and other needs, but this risks concentrating the flow of traffic, creating congestion and longer commute times. At the same time, they were significantly less accommodating to pedestrians and cyclists, which was a feature of traditional Chinese cities.

Solutions, however, are being sought. The Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development has initiated a Low Carbon Eco-city Pilot programme. The city of Kunming is among those chosen for the pilot programme. The city has partnered with the Energy Foundation China in redesigning an 8-kilometre square core area of the city based on eight key principles: (i) develop neighbourhoods that promote walking; (ii) prioritize bicycle networks: (iii) create dense networks of streets and paths; (iv) support high-quality transit; (v) develop a zone for mixed-use neighbourhoods; (vi) match density to transit capacity; (vii) create compact regions with short commutes; and (viii) increase mobility by regulating parking and road use. In practice, this has led to smaller neighbourhood blocks replacing superblocks, and a transit-oriented mixed land use development pattern. The new design resulted in a compact grid of smaller neighbourhoods with multimodal transportation infrastructure. The expected environmental benefits include reductions in vehicle emissions by 72%. greenhouse gas emissions by 59% and total vehicle kilometres travelled by 67%. While the pilot redesign is still too recent to measure outcomes, the standards from this project have been entered into the urban planning legal code, which means that all future developments in this area must follow these specifications.

Source: Energy Foundation China (242).

MAKING CITIES AGE-FRIENDLY

From the latest demographic projections, the trend towards an urbanized world is expected to continue at great pace and scale. The urban population is projected to add another 2.5 billion people to cities by 2050 (84). At the same time, the number of people 60 years or older is expected to more than double from 841 million in 2013 to more than 2 billion in 2050 (243). As the world is becoming older and more urbanized, the population of older adults living in the world's cities is growing. The population of older adults living in Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) cities grew by 23.8% in just 10 years during 2001–2011 (36). And while many of the most rapidly urbanizing cities in the world are still proportionately young, the number of older adults living in these same cities is nevertheless growing.

The implications of the convergence of these two demographic changes are significant for cities worldwide. It presents a compelling case for intersectoral, collaborative work across agencies in city leadership. For health sector managers, the shifting health profile of city residents requires careful planning and adjustment. The instrumental role of the city environment on the health of all residents, and particularly for older

16

PEACE

ENRG

7

FCON

8

INFRA 9

> INEQ 10

> СІТҮ

11

CLIMT

13

adults, is increasingly well understood. Research in this area has sought to determine relationships between the health of older adults and such factors as the accessibility of public spaces and homes, public transportation and neighbourhood walkability as well as the myriad elements of the social environment. These are elements of city living that interact in highly complex ways to affect health, although they are often managed by a range of responsible bodies within a city administration as well as the communities and individuals themselves.

WHO and its partners have created parameters and domains of action to enable cities to take on these complex forces and to work towards making our cities more conducive to active, healthy ageing. WHO also created a Global Network of Age-friendly Cities and Communities that helps promote sharing of lessons across cities of structures and services that are accessible to and inclusive of older people with varying needs and capacities. As of October 2015, the Network includes 287 cities and communities in 33 countries, covering over 113 million people worldwide.

Age-friendly initiatives generate more physically accessible and socially inclusive environments that can help ensure quality of life and dignity for all people as they age. The WHO introductory guide outlines the requirements for needs assessment and action in specific areas: (i) outdoor spaces and buildings; (ii) transportation; (iii) social participation; (iv) civic participation and employment; (v) respect and social inclusion; (vi) communication and information; and (vii) community and health services. Cities now have a tool for tracking their progress (244). They now have a tool for monitoring progress in their age-friendliness and evaluating outcomes. The WHO Centre for Health Development has developed a framework and indicator guide that articulates core indicators as an approach to measuring physical accessibility, social inclusiveness, quality of life and, importantly, equity (245).

All relevant government departments are called to collaborate on the development and implementation of a comprehensive action plan. The establishment of a mechanism to involve older people throughout the whole development process is also an essential feature of becoming an age-friendly city.

Opportunities to make cities age friendly exist at many levels. In Brazil, for instance, a federal law enacted in 2012 established the directives for a National Policy on Urban Mobility. By the end of 2015, Brazilian municipalities with over 20 000 inhabitants are required to present their Municipal Plans on Urban Mobility. This presents a unique opportunity to develop urban transport policies that are guided by the principles of universal design and by the aspirations of their residents, both young and old. Age-friendly city initiatives have also led to aligning policies on ageing between states and municipal governments (246). In some instances, such as the state of Sao Paulo, Brazil, and the province of Quebec, Canada, the age-friendly city initiative has been foundational for the ageing policy at the state and province level.

Ultimately, an age-friendly city requires action at the local level. In late 2010, the mayor of Bilbao, Spain, joined many other mayors in committing to create an age-friendly city. Since then, the city has carried out numerous interdepartmental, cross-sectoral initiatives in partnership with the community. As in many other cities, transport accessibility is one of the city's top priorities. Access to alternatives to private motor vehicle use for transport and mobility is considered an essential feature of age-friendliness in the city. It offers a sustainable way of enabling older people to move about in the city to access essential services and to go where they want. In the case of Bil-

SUBSECTION PG Design healthier, more sustainable cities 145

BRA

ESP





Figure 27. Map of areas that are within one or more alternative transport networks in Bilbao, Spain, 2015

Notes: Green areas are within walking distance (500 metres) of all three alternative transport networks: urban bus and tram stops; subway stations; and bicycle lanes. Yellow areas are within walking distance of two of the three networks. Orange areas are within walking distance of one of the three networks.

Source: Bilboa City Council 2015 (247).



bao, the City Council focused on improving access to two or more alternative transport networks, including bus and metro systems and bicycle paths, within walking distance (defined as 500 metres) (Figure 27). Currently, about 84% of the population enjoys this level of accessibility, but the city is aiming for 100%.

PLANNING FOR RESILIENT URBAN ENVIRONMENTS

It is seen with increasing clarity how the environments where we live can affect our health, both in the short term and in the longer term. From the homes we live in, to where those homes are located and how we move about the city, the impact of those factors on our health is clear. These are all manageable parts of a complex urban environment that city planners grapple with when trying to design prosperous and healthy cities. In today's cities, and for the planet as a whole, there are a number of shocks to the environments that we live in, many occurring with greater frequency and impact. These shocks come in many forms, including both natural and man-made disruptive forces that can cause immediate as well as long-term harm. Many of them are social in nature, ranging from age-old problems such as violent conflict to modern problems such as stock market flash crashes. These types of shocks are often visited upon the economy and the social fabric of a city, with important implications for health. Natural phenomena, including floods, earthquakes and heat waves, among other exogenous natural forces, will impact both the built and social environment. They can destroy infrastructure. They are also exacerbated by the ways our cities are built. Rising temperatures pose both the challenge of gradual disruption as well as significant events, such as heat waves and fires. In recognition of these phenomena, cities are joining a global movement to become more resilient to these impactful events. In 2015, the global movement culminated in the 2015 Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction, a landmark document signalling the global community's commitment to reducing the impact of disasters, importantly with emphasis for action on health.

Multilateral organizations, foundations, foreign assistance agencies and legions of cities champion urban resilience as a way to help urban populations to absorb these shocks when they happen. Resilience takes on many definitions. They all generally adhere to the principle that while these shocks are difficult to prevent altogether, their impact can be mitigated. In the context of the built environment and its relationship with urban health, natural disasters are highly pertinent. This chapter focuses on two in particular. First, heat waves and urban heat island effects increasingly affect city populations as global temperatures rise and urban environments continue to have heat-producing and heat-trapping features. Second, flooding continues to impact more people worldwide than any other natural disaster. Many cities are situated near bodies of water and the features of their modern construction often cause the city to retain water, rather than ushering it away. While global temperatures and water levels are not significantly modifiable by city leaders, these are two important areas in which cities can be planned and constructed to mitigate their effects on their populations.

SUBSECTION

RESILIENCE TO HEAT WAVES AND URBAN HEAT ISLANDS

In 2014, the global community experienced the hottest year on record and 2015 is on pace to surpass those levels. Nine of the 10 warmest years in recorded history have occurred after 2000 (248). There is little doubt that global temperatures are rising, and now with 2014 being the 38th straight year of above average temperatures, it seems clear that higher temperatures are the new normal. The global rise in temperatures is one of the most evident impacts of climate change and has significant heat-related health effects, including increased mortality and morbidity.

Excessive exposure to heat is a serious health risk, with possible effects ranging from mild illnesses such as rashes and fatigue to serious disorders such as cramps, heat exhaustion and heat stroke and even death (249). A heat wave that struck Europe in 2003 resulted in the deaths of 70 000 people (250). Subsequent heat waves across the world have also claimed thousands of lives; a 2010 heat wave in the Russian Federation led to 55 000 deaths (251). Most recently, heat waves that hit India and Pakistan from May–June 2015 led to over 3000 deaths (252). Climate change and the consequent increase in greenhouse gas concentrations are expected to result in more frequent, persistent and intense heat waves.

Cities experience discernibly higher temperatures than rural areas due to what is called the urban heat island effect, the result of a combination of factors emerging from the urban built environment and human activity. Cities are composed of streets, rooftops and other nonreflective structures that absorb the sun's rays and heat. These surfaces retain heat and re-release the heat into the city environment, raising temperatures. Many cities lack sufficient trees and other types of vegetation that provide shade from the sun's rays and dissipate heat with evaporated water. People living in cities are more likely to contribute to harmful feedback mechanisms that increase city heat levels. Urban residents are more dependent on air-conditioning, cooled water and artificial lighting in shaded offices and rely more on private motor vehicles. However, by using these modern conveniences, residents increase the generation of anthropogenic heat waste and carbon emissions, further contributing to the urban heat island and global warming. The use of air-conditioners, in particular, is a difficult problem to resolve - in conditions of extreme temperatures, one person's air-conditioner can keep them from suffering from heat effects, but the air-conditioner would be exacerbating the overall heat of the city. A recent study found that a city running air-conditioners at night can experience an increase in temperature of up to 1 degree Celsius (253).

Heat island effects can make cities on average up to 1–3 degrees Celsius warmer than rural areas, and as much as 1–2 degrees Celsius warmer in the evening (254). This leads to chronically higher temperatures in urban areas. Evidence indicates that when a heat wave strikes, the event intensifies the heat island effect (255), and the temperature gap between urban and rural areas widens. The combined impact of the urban heat island effect with a heat wave can be devastating, as heat waves expose people to elevated temperatures over a prolonged period of time. In the case of the 2003 European heat wave, it lasted as long as a week in some places.

Vulnerability to heat depends on climate factors (such as the intensity and frequency of heat waves) as well as on individual medical, behavioural and environmental risk factors (256). People at increased risk primarily include older adults as well as infants, those confined to bed and/or unable to care for themselves and those with

WATR

PVRTY

HLTH

3

INEQ 10

СІТҮ 11

CLIMT 13

PARTN 17

SUBSECTION



Source: WHO/Anna Kari

pre-existing cardiovascular and pulmonary disease. Older adults are at especially high risk because ageing decreases tolerance to heat; thermoregulation is impaired with age. In addition, older adults often suffer from comorbidity (other diseases) and physical and cognitive impairment (249). They often take multiple medications, and certain medications – in particular, ones that affect organs involved in thermoregulation – can increase the risk of heat-related illness or death. Children and infants have a limited ability to thermoregulate because of their high volume to surface ratio and because they depend on their caregivers for the thermalregulation of their environments. Social isolation tends to be an important risk factor for heat-related health illnesses. Studies in the wake of the Chicago, USA, heat wave of 1995 and the European heat wave of 2003 suggest that isolated residents – who are more likely to be the elderly, poor or disabled – are more vulnerable to the effects of heat (257). In addition, isolation has been found to be a stronger predictor of heat-related illnesses than wealth or age in some studies (258).

The impact and causes of urban heat waves and urban heat islands are intricately linked and require concerted efforts on the part of municipal governments, civil society and international organizations to strengthen urban resilience to heat through adaptation and mitigation strategies. Resilience to heat waves and urban heat islands can be strengthened by strategies that address the short-term effects and by efforts to mitigate the broader challenges of urbanization and global warming. Ways to adapt include raising public awareness on health risks of heat waves, developing early warning systems that provide advance notice to the public about predicted high temperatures and increasing capacity among health-care workers to recognize and treat heat-related illnesses.

Longer-term initiatives must be aimed at altering the use of urban spaces and building materials in cities. City planners can intervene to encourage people to be more responsible. There are reflective, permeable pavements that can replace impermeable surfaces in cities and reduce urban temperatures (259). They can increase the share of space allocated to green spaces. They can enable residents to reduce anthropogenic heat generation. INF

PAK

SUBSECTION

In response to the rising threat posed by heat exposure, many cities around the world have worked to strengthen resilience to heat. Some cities have targeted interventions on rooftops. Toronto was among the first in the world to adopt a policy mandating green roofs for buildings of a certain height (260). Los Angeles has similarly mandated that buildings adopt lighter coloured reflective roofs. Paris has passed legislation to pursue green roofing and solar panel roofs. These alternative roofs can help to cool the building and reduce the overall heat retention of the city, however, recent findings indicate that reflective roofs may disrupt helpful cloud cover and they do little to cool surface temperatures at street level.

Strategically allocating more of the city to green spaces and parks can potentially have greater effects. Recent studies have shown that parks and densely planted streetscapes were up to 3-4 degrees Celsius cooler than the surrounding urban landscape at mid-day (261). Studies have also demonstrated that non-wooded parks can be even cooler than tree-filled parks at night as they allow the flow of air and the release of heat (261). Some examples include a study of 92 parks in Japan found that parks needed to be larger than two hectares before a significant temperature difference could be detected. Increasing the amount of green space in cities can pay dividends to health by enabling physical activity, but increasing the number of green spaces allocated to larger parks could also yield significant benefits by reducing urban heat. In Manchester, England, researchers have estimated that a 10% increase in green cover would keep surface temperatures stable, even with global climate change predictions for the next 70-80 years. And Stuttgart, Germany, has developed a green infrastructure strategy to mitigate urban heat island effects. The city has widened open spaces covered with vegetation to create corridors that allow large-scale air flows to reduce temperatures, bringing cooler air in from the mountains and sweeping hotter air away.

URBAN PLANNING AND FLOOD RESILIENCE

As the most common natural disaster and the second leading cause of natural disaster fatalities worldwide, floods in particular have a significant health impact (262). Flooding accounts for over two thirds of people affected by natural disasters (263). Between 1994 and 2013, approximately 2.4 billion people were affected by flooding (264) that damaged more housing, schools and hospitals worldwide than any other type of disaster. Climate change and the consequent rise in sea levels, changing rainfall patterns and increase in storm surges are expected to increase the number of floods globally. The primary health effect of floods is drowning, which accounts for two thirds of flood-related mortality. Other health concerns include injuries, physical trauma, heart attacks, infectious diseases, stress and loss of essential services (265).

13

CLIMT

PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

WATR

ECON

8

INFRA 9

СІТҮ

11

OCNS 14 Cities are especially vulnerable to flooding and its impacts. Urban flooding risks stem from a number of factors: (i) the predominance of impermeable surfaces that cause water run-off; (ii) the general scarcity of parks and other green spaces to absorb water flows; (iii) rudimentary drainage systems that are often clogged by waste and quickly overloaded with water; and (iv) the ill-advised development of marshlands and other natural buffers (266). Given the projected rise in sea levels due to the effects of climate change, coastal cities, in particular, are exposed to flooding. In a more detailed look at the hazards faced by port cities with over 1 million population, an OECD study estimated

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

150

that, in 2005, about 40 million inhabitants were exposed to what is called a 100-year coastal flood event – a flood of significant magnitude that was once a rare occurrence (267). The study estimated that, by 2070, climate change, subsidence, population growth and urbanization would increase this figure to about 150 million (263). The urban poor are disproportionately affected by the impact of flooding because they often live in hazardous areas, lacking adequate housing, services and financial means. For example, it is estimated that in metro Manila, some 800 000 people, mostly informal settlers, live in high-risk areas. In Jakarta, Indonesia, spatial analysis of slum settlements and flood-risk areas shows strong correlation between informal and high-risk areas (268). The urban poor are more exposed to the environmental hazards caused by flooding because the housing they can afford tends to be located in riskier areas (266).

An integrated strategy for managing flood risk can help cities face current and future flood risk, and many tools and techniques are available to help them do so. Urbanization can be a positive force to build resilience and protect the most vulnerable.

The impacts of climate change on poverty will most significantly affect the urban poor and highly vulnerable countries in sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia, where the number of exposed poor may reach 325 million by 2030 (268). Urban planning and design that takes into account hazardous areas, location of vulnerable populations and of critical assets (such as schools and hospitals) can decrease the vulnerability of infrastructure and in this way protect unnecessary human loss and economic damage. As the poor are traditionally more reliant on public infrastructure, risk-conscious urbanization can play an important role in supporting poverty reduction and protecting the lives and livelihoods of urban dwellers. Flood risk management should be part of a broader agenda to make cities more liveable, sustainable and resilient. Promoting responsible urban governance, planning and development are vital for strengthening flood resilience.

In responding to flooding disasters, many cities worldwide have employed strategies that strengthen flood resilience. The flood risk management strategies of the



Source: WHO/Anna Kari

PHL

USA

DEU

FRA

GBB

IDN

JPN

city of Hoboken, New Jersey, implemented in the aftermath of Hurricane Sandy have been recognized by the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR) as a Role Model City of the Making Cities Resilient campaign (269). These strategies included plans to retain over 1 million gallons of storm water through green infrastructure initiatives such as building of "resiliency parks" as well as an emphasis on land-use regulations and public awareness of flood risks. Since the 2005 floods in Mumbai, the city has also worked to enhance its resilience to flooding through structural improvements such as widening, deepening and enhancing the capacity of the Mithi River, the flood plains that house a large number of vulnerable informal settlements (270). In addition, warnings are issued if rainfall intensity and the water level exceed critical points. Mumbai has made rainfall harvesting compulsory for larger new buildings, a concrete policy decision that municipal governments can take to reduce the burden on drainage systems and reduce the impact of flooding. UNFPA estimates that while the number of disasters attributed to flooding is on the rise, the number of people killed due to flooding remains steady (263). Moreover, the overall number of deaths due to all natural disasters is decreasing. This has been attributed to investments made in disaster preparedness, adaptation and mitigation, further demonstrating the important role effective leadership on urban resilience can play in reducing the health impact of flooding.

SUMMARY

PVRTY

нітн

3

WATR 6

ECON

8

INFRA

9

СІТҮ

11

This chapter explores the ways in which cities have grown into their modern forms and their impact on the health of their residents. In many of the fastest growing cities, more recently in the developing world, planners have struggled against the challenges of un-manageable growth. In many cities, planners have kept pace with growth, and built expansive cities fit for motor vehicles and commerce. Many of these cities have found great success. However, their residents too often live in single- or limited-use neighbourhoods, with long distances to work and lack of green spaces and other essentials of daily living. Residents of these cities often fall into sedentary behaviours, poor nutrition and mental health issues, among other precursors of NCDs. Rampant air pollution and traffic accidents are also common features of these environments. Moreover, many of these environments have not been built to adapt to demographic change and the changing climate.

These challenges can be met. This chapter discusses the ways whereby cities can adapt their current forms and be built for future urban populations to enable healthier living. Healthier urban designs can keep city residents mobile, but also keep them active and eating healthier. They can facilitate residents to spend less time in their motor vehicles and more time being productive or improving the quality of their lives. Cities can adapt to enable residents to age well in their communities. They can adapt to the changing climate. These are all achievable, while keeping cities economically dynamic and progressing forward.

OCNS

CLIMT

13

SUBSECTION

CHAPTER 8 — TRANSFORM URBAN MOBILITY

KEY MESSAGE • Urban transport can be transformed to be healthier, safer and more sustainable.

Cities promise to bring people closer to the things they need to live their daily lives. In this way, cities deliver access. They grant better access to jobs, food, health-care providers – everything people need, including other people. Mobility is often a high priority for urban and national policy-makers because of its role in enabling economic activity and growth. Cities deliver access by densely clustering people around their needs, or offering pathways to access these needs. However, as seen in the previous chapter, more and more cities are spreading out as they grow. City densities are declining. As cities sprawl, people living in cities become increasingly further from their daily needs. Thus, for too many people, private vehicles become almost a requirement of city living.

For this and other reasons, cities are becoming more motorized. Private motor vehicles have been a tool of enablement, and for many they still are. They can be convenient. They can shepherd people from where they are to where they want to be. Motor vehicle ownership has become an aspiration now achieved by hundreds of millions of people worldwide. The annual number of new cars sold has increased from 39 million in the 1990s to 63 million in 2012 (271). As national economies grow, evidence indicates that motor vehicle ownership tends to increase (272). Five years ago there were an estimated 1 billion motor vehicles worldwide. In another 20 years, there are expected to be 1.6 billion cars, light trucks and other motor vehicles. By 2050, this number will exceed 2.1 billion. Most of the increase will be in Asian countries, especially China and India (273). Within countries, as incomes rise, cities tend to sprawl more, while rising incomes for people are associated with increased vehicle travel (272). Figure 28 charts the per capita income against motorization rates for selected cities and countries across all regions, demonstrating the positive correlation between income and the number of cars per capita.

Whether out of necessity or for convenience, transportation in the world's cities is increasingly moving towards private motorized transportation. This trend may grant increased mobility and access to many individuals who need it, but for them and the people they share the city with, it also brings the potential for substantial hazards to health. As discussed elsewhere in this report, increasing use of motorized transport and urban sprawl are commonly associated with more sedentary behaviour, which has been shown to be closely associated with the rise of NCDs in cities.

The rising use of personal motor vehicles in cities contributes significantly to urban air pollution. Outdoor air pollution has short- and long-term health consequences for people exposed to it. There are also serious consequences for the urban environment, the whole planet and the global population due to the creation of greenhouse gases from vehicle emissions. Urban travel currently constitutes more than 60% of all kilometres travelled globally and is the largest single source of global transport-related emissions and the largest local source of urban air pollution (229).

Increasingly motorized cities are also exposing residents to significant risk of road traffic injuries and death. WHO estimates that at least 1.25 million people are killed in road traffic accidents per year (274). There are twice as many people killed by road traffic accidents than are killed by malaria (275). These numbers are trending upward with countries continuing to urbanize and private cars becoming an increasing share of urban transport.

PG

153

CHN

JEY







CLIMT



17





Figure 28. Wealth and car ownership levels

Source: Rode and Floater 2014 (229)

SUBSECTION PARTN

PG 154

Transform urban mobility

This chapter discusses urban mobility and the evidence of its impact on the health of urban residents. These are significant, growing challenges for city leaders, yet they can do much to bring them under control and improve health. Cities can deliver on the promise of access for their residents and reduce the health risks of urban mobility. There are attainable solutions that can make cities more accessible and safe, even for cities that are already sprawling. While national-level policy-makers are often in the best position to set limits on fuel quality standards and vehicle emissions, this chapter looks at solutions in need of local-level leadership.

URBAN TRANSPORT AND AIR POLLUTION

City- and national-level decision-makers have long sought to enable urban mobility. Infrastructure investment has supported the construction of highways, ever-widening roads, parking facilities, bridges and railways to make motorized movement possible throughout our urban spaces. As dependence on motorized infrastructure has grown, it is also necessary to wrestle with the downsides that come with this dependence. These downsides have been manifesting for decades. Even as far back as the 1950s, motor vehicle emissions containing tetraethyl lead were identified as a global health menace. Since then, in most places leaded gasoline has been regulated out of fuel markets, but motor vehicle emissions that remain harmful to human health have otherwise continued to grow.

It has taken decades to develop, but the capacity to measure the magnitude of vehicle emissions has grown considerably. It is understood that cities are the most significant contributors to greenhouse gas emissions on a global scale. At least 70% of global carbon dioxide emissions are produced within cities (4). Much of the urban share of global greenhouse gas emissions can be explained by the motorization of transportation in cities, the fastest growing source of greenhouse gas emissions in the world (276). Within cities, transportation is already the largest source of urban air pollution (229). In developing countries cities, transport accounts for 80% of all outdoor air pollution (277).

Intensifying greenhouse gas emissions emanating from cities have important implications for the health of people living in cities everywhere, as well as for the global community. WHO set guidelines for acceptable levels of ambient air pollution, above which air pollution should be considered harmful to human health. Monitoring the air quality in 1600 cities in 91 countries, WHO found that only 12% of the monitored populations were living in cities compliant with air quality guideline levels (278). Worse yet, in larger cities less than 4% of monitored populations live in cities compliant with the guidelines (279). Figure 29 maps 1600 monitored cities, colour coded for their respective levels of air pollution with darker colours indicating higher pollution levels.

City life exposes residents to relatively higher air pollution levels, and puts them in close proximity to the source of the pollution. Research from the Health Effects Institute (HEI) finds that health impacts of vehicle tailpipe emissions are strongest within 300–500 metres of major roads (281). Proximity to major thoroughfares is a common feature of city living. For example, HEI predicts that between 37% and 45% of the city populations in the USA live within 500 metres of major roads. In New Delhi and Beijing, approximately 55–60% and 77–86% of the total city populations, respectively, live within 500 metres of a major roadway (282).

The health consequences of heavy air pollution found in cities are severe.

PG

155

CHN

Figure 29. Global map of air pollution levels in 1600 cities

Source: World Health Organization 2014 (280).



SUBSECTION

С Д



Transform urban mobility

Outdoor air pollution is strongly associated with the top five causes of death worldwide. Exposure to air pollution is associated with ischaemic heart disease, stroke, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, lung cancer and lower respiratory infections in children. WHO estimates that outdoor air pollution was responsible for the premature deaths of 3.7 million people worldwide in 2012 (283). Recent estimates have indicated that as many as 3.3 million people die prematurely every year from exposure to fine particulate matter (284) – the type of air pollution that is most strongly associated with motor vehicle exhaust and other forms of combustion. These numbers are on the rise. Deaths attributable to air pollution to which motor vehicles are an important contributor grew by 11% (285). Even in the European Union, where many cities are compliant with particulate matter guidelines, it is estimated that life expectancy is 8.6 months lower than it would otherwise be (283).

INCREASINGLY MOTORIZED CITIES AMPLIFY RISK OF ROAD TRAFFIC INJURIES AND DEATHS

One of the most tragic consequences of the motorization of urban transport has been the rise of road traffic crashes. Road traffic injuries have emerged as the eighth leading cause of death in the world. They are also the number one killer of young adults ages 15–24 (285). Over the last 20 years, the number of deaths attributable to road traffic accidents has increased by 46%. If left unchecked, road traffic fatalities are expected to continue to climb. Without intervention, WHO expects the global burden to increase to 1.9 million people and become the seventh leading cause of death in the world by 2030.

The weight of this burden is most strongly felt in LMICs, where nine out of 10 of these fatalities occur (286). Low-income countries have the highest annual road traffic fatality rates at 24.1 per 100 000. The fatality rates in the middle-income countries are 18.4 per 100 000 (274). Even within high-income countries, people from lower so-cioeconomic backgrounds are more likely to be involved in road traffic crashes than their more affluent counterparts.

lights the great extent of the challenge in relatively unsafe cities. It also calls attention

Figure 31 depicts road traffic fatality rates in a selection of cities. It high-

Figure 30. Top 10 causes of death among people ages 15–29, 2012

Source: WHO 2015 (274).



Transform urban mobility

SUBSECTION

PG 158

HLTH 3

CITY 11

PVRTY



Source: Reproduced with permission from Welle et al. 2015 (*287*).





to the clear contrast between cities that are struggling with road traffic safety and those that have been more successful. The differences between these cities could be wider still, as high-burden cities may have road traffic fatalities that go unreported (285). Perhaps most importantly, it demonstrates what is attainable. Progress on road traffic safety is achievable. Today's Chennai could be tomorrow's Stockholm. The next chapter considers how cities can enable people to be mobile and accessible, while controlling the transportation's negative impacts on their lives.

ENABLING VIABLE ALTERNATIVES TO REDUCE POLLUTION AND IMPROVE HEALTH

Everyone deserves the right to safe, convenient passage to the places they need to go for their daily needs. It is the role of the city to enable its citizens to do so efficiently and safely. Increasingly, city residents have chosen private motorized means to achieve this, and cities have played an enabling role with investments in infrastructure and policies. In many places, these choices help to shape mobility policy and city planning for motorized surface travel, but not for the health and safety of the passengers of these vehicles, or the other residents of the city who are exposed to the hazards motorized transport create. Reducing the impact of vehicle emissions and road traffic crashes on people living and working in cities is critical. It depends on reducing the number of vehicles on the road and the kilometres they travel as well as making the vehicles and roads safer for everyone. Initially, this requires cities to facilitate the use of desirable, safer alternatives. For many growing cities, particularly the relatively smaller secondary cities where most urban growth is projected to occur, there is a prospective opportunity for cities to plan around healthier alternatives. For many cities, growing or not, transportation infrastructure is in some or large part "locked in". The usable lives of many highways and wide thoroughfares cutting through and around cities project long into the future. Many consider it too expensive to replace existing infrastructure, for example, with mass transit options. However, even cities that are in the near term locked in to their current infrastructure can make adjustments to help make transportation healthier and safer.

Cities that have been planned for transit-oriented development, with multi-use spaces and residences clustered around mass transit options and walkable spaces are ideal, and many cities around the world are already on this path. Many other cities have growth projections that offer opportunities to plan and build new areas of the city with this kind of approach. When people can access what they need on foot or bicycle, or quickly and conveniently by mass transit, operating a motor vehicle becomes a less desirable choice. For many cities that are already committed to private motorized surface transport, this kind of dynamic may seem out of reach in the short term. For these cities, the arrival of BRT, an older mode of transport adapted for the modern city form, presents a compelling solution.

BRT can reduce vehicle dependency, improve mobility and accessibility and decrease exposure to air pollution in cities. It is a solution designed to make use of existing city street infrastructure to make transit by bus faster and more convenient. Using the existing streets to deliver mass transit saves on costs and disruption over the construction of surface rail and subway options. BRT capital costs can be 4–20 times lower than light rail systems, and 10–100 times lower than metro systems with similar

PARTN 17

INFRA

9

СІТҮ

11

•••christianiabikes.dk

Source: Daily Commute by Alex Berger is licensed under CC BY 2.0. https://creativecommons.org licenses/by/2.0/legalcode

SWE

USA

capacity and service level (288). It can be implemented in cities that are already locked in to motor vehicle-dependent transit by reallocating existing lanes. BRT creates segregated lanes for the buses, mimicking the traffic-free experience of urban travel by rail, with competitive speed. Raised BRT platforms make on-boarding and off-boarding more efficient, particularly when the system allows for automated payment of fares.

Where it has been implemented, BRT has a demonstrated impact on air pollution and city residents' choices for transit options. For instance, a study of Trans-Milenio, the BRT system in Bogotá found that the system has measurably reduced greenhouse gas emissions in the city (289). Before and after measurements on one of the system's main corridors, Avenida Caracas, showed a 43% reduction in sulfur dioxide, an 18% reduction in nitrogen dioxide and a 12% reduction in particulate matter. The pre-post study found that the BRT system abated air pollution levels by 9.2% overall in the city, demonstrating stronger results than the policies to regulate personal vehicles and their emissions. Mexico City's Metrobús BRT system has reduced commute times by 50% (Box 13) (290). In doing so, the economic gains from reducing commute times for nearly 1 million users have been greater than the infrastructure cost of building the new bus system. Nearly 10% of trips on Istanbul's Metrobus system are a substitute for travel by private motor vehicles. The Metrobus has saved surveyed users nearly one hour of commute time per day, and nearly 40% of users choose walking as their mode of transport from the bus, while more than 20% of all users walk more than 10 minutes to and from the bus. The WHO Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT) model estimates that walking trips alone have saved more than 25 premature deaths per year. BRT systems are gaining momentum in cities worldwide, with systems currently implemented in 195 cities (291). China as well as the USA have implemented BRT systems in 19 cities. Even in the car- and rail-dominated USA, a Government Accountability Office evaluation found that BRT systems were able to increase bus ridership in one year, reduce commute times by up to 35% and were perceived to have contributed to economic growth with development along the BRT lines (292).

Box 13.

Remaking transportation in Mexico City

Mexico City is an economically ascendant city, home to a sprawling population of more than 20 million people. In its densest spaces, such as the *distrito federal*, 9 million people live in a 570 square mile space choked by traffic caused by 3 million cars (293). One third of these cars are at least 20 years old. Most of Mexico City's residents live at the outer reaches of the city, living along ever-stretching corridors into lower density settlements. This becomes an incentive for greater usage of cars and inefficient and informal means of public transportation. Traffic plagues the commute times of these residents, and the distances

they travel to get to daily needs is elongating. Daily trips can take up to three hours. The average vehicle kilometres travelled by the metropolitan population rose 36% from 1990 to 2010 (294). This has led to unacceptably bad air pollution. Studies estimate at least 2700 premature deaths per year in the metropolitan area due to air pollution (295). Mexico City has taken major, progressive actions in the last 10 years to improve transportation and air quality conditions. It has built five high-quality BRT corridors since 2005, which serve more than 900 000 passengers per day. Research shows that

CITY 11

ECON

8

INFRA

9

нітн

3

CLIMT 13

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

about 10% of passengers switched to using the Metrobús BRT from private motor vehicles (290). The Metrobús system's substantial emissions benefits are expected to eliminate an average of 6100 work loss days, 660 restricted activity days, 12 new cases of chronic bronchitis and three deaths per year (296).

In 2010, the city also implemented the Ecobici public bike sharing programme, with 271 stations, 100 000 members and 10 million yearly trips. This system is conveniently located throughout the central business district mass transit stations thus helping to expand the service area of public transportation. The Mexico City government has integrated the payment systems for the metro rail network, BRT and the bike share system. Public spaces have been improved, including revitalizing Chapultepec Park, the city's 680 hectare (1690 acre) urban oasis that now sees 18 million yearly users. On Sundays, the city hosts a Ciclovía, a time when roadways are shut down to cars for jogging, strolling and bicycling.

In addition, the city has pedestrianized key streets in its historic centre, added protected bicycle lanes, implemented traffic calming at high-traffic pedestrian areas and developed *parques de bolsillos*, or pocket parks, in underused street space. All of these actions have been important in helping residents choose to be more active.

Cities should also work towards making active mobility a desirable alternative for residents to choose over motorized transport. Enabling residents to walk or cycle for daily needs offers a substitute for motorized transport and facilitates physical activity. The choice may be easier for residents of more compact cities where more of their needs are already nearby. Walking and cycling in these environments may simply be the most efficient choice for residents. Even in relatively more compact cities, some destinations may lie sufficiently far away that making the choice is less clear for residents. Both convenience and safety are important considerations for the traveler and, for some, the benefits of physical activity and reducing air pollution may motivate them. Cities can make planning decisions that can make active transport a more persuasive choice for the traveler.

Cities can plan roadways and other corridors to assure safety for bicycle riders and pedestrians. Many street designs have favoured motorized commuters, granting them the greatest share of the road. Typically, projects to widen roads are intended to give a still greater share of the new road to motorized transport. Without adequate dedicated space for active commuters on transportation corridors, cyclists must share lanes with cars and trucks, and walkers and runners may not be able to share the road at all. Dedicated bicycle lanes and other bicycle and walking paths create safe spaces, segregated from motorized vehicles and at reduced risk of accident and injury. WHO developed HEAT to help city planners to make the case for the economic value of active transport investments and policies. HEAT helps cities to estimate the benefits of various numbers of people walking or cycling various distances per day by modelling for reductions in mortality. The tool is increasingly being used in Europe and recently piloted in the USA. The United Kingdom has used it to justify sustained investments in bicycle pathways. The subsequent assessment by the United Kingdom government was that bicycle pathways were "value for money". In Modena, Italy, HEAT was used to assess the value of GBR

ITA

SUBSECTION

PG

163

USA

TUR

Europe 2008 511

Source: Europe 2008 511 by Embarg Urban Mobility is license under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

- SUBSECTION

3

EDUC 4

INFRA 9

CITY 11

CLIMT 13

PARTN 17

Transform urban mobility

existing walking and cycling infrastructure, and it has subsequently been used to model the value of investments in additional cycle paths (297).

Planning for walking and cycling infrastructure may not necessarily cause people to give up their cars for bicycles and walking shoes, but it can enable those who may already be motivated, and may motivate those who may not have previously considered it. Cities with connected networks of dedicated infrastructure for cyclists tend to be safer, especially for the cyclists themselves. These cycling networks are recommended to connect residential areas to business and retail, schools, parks and mass transport through infrastructure that physically protects bicyclists. For example, after the Bogotá added 300 kilometres of bicycle paths from 1998 to 2000, the share of bicycle trips increased from a baseline of 0.58% in 1996 to 2.2% in 2002 (298). The city added another 100 kilometres of bicycle paths from 2003 to 2013 and the share of bicycle trips increased to 6%. Bicycle deaths have decreased by 47% during the same period, even as the number of cyclists increased significantly. Data from cities such as Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Portland, Oregon, in the USA and Copenhagen in Europe show that injury rates go down and more people bike when there is a connected network of dedicated infrastructure such as off-street trails and dedicated bike lanes (299). Portland developed a city-wide plan to increase bicycle transport, resulting in considerable increases in the miles of bicycle and boulevards bicycle parking facilities. The accident rate has decreased and the number of bicycle commuters has increased by 90% in the 10 years since the plan was implemented. Studies have shown that active transport is associated with physical activity and weight reduction at the population level.

Box 14.

Bicycle sharing schemes

Many cities throughout the world have introduced bicycle sharing systems in an attempt to tackle the growing challenges of obesity, climate change and traffic congestion. These low-cost rental systems are designed to encourage cycling for short urban trips and multimodality - the combination of cycling with other modes of transport - for longer trips (300). Barcelona's *Bicing* scheme was introduced in 2007 to promote sustainable transport, create a new individual public transport system, promote the bicycle as a common means of transport, improve air quality and reduce noise pollution. By August 2009, 182 062 people had subscribed to Bicing (11% of the population in the Barcelona municipality), with 68% of trips being used

for commuting to work or school and 37% combined with another mode of travel. A 2011 evaluation of the health co-benefits of these schemes revealed an annual reduction in mortality of the Barcelona residents using Bicing compared with motor vehicle users of 0.03 deaths from road traffic incidents and 0.13 deaths from air pollution. Due to physical activity, 12.46 deaths were avoided. In addition, annual carbon dioxide emissions were reduced by an estimated 9 062 344 kilograms. Since the first implementation of a bicycle sharing system in Lyon in 2005, many cities across the world have introduced them. The biggest schemes to date with over 60 000 bicycles each, have been implemented in Hang zhou and Wuhan, China (229).

165

CHN

DNK

ESP

FRA

SAFER URBAN MOBILITY

PVRTY

HLTH

3

FDUC

4

INFRA

9

INEQ

10

СІТҮ

11

One of the most important factors when increasing bicycling and walking in a city is ensuring that city residents can do so safely. In many urban environments, walkers and cyclists are vulnerable to motor vehicle traffic. Currently, 26% of road traffic deaths occur among cyclists and pedestrians (274). In some cities, it is as high as 75%. There are only limited studies on road traffic injuries in LMICs, where 90% of road traffic fatalities occur worldwide, however, the studies that have been conducted are grim. In a study of road traffic accidents in Indian cities, the research found that pedestrians and bicyclists accounted for at least 44% of road traffic fatalities, but ranged as high as 60% in Mumbai (301).

Overall, reducing the number of motor vehicles and the distances they travel can lead to fewer road fatalities, with fewer vehicles exposing all road users to a risk of death or injury (299). Efforts to foster viable alternatives such as mass transport, walking and cycling can help achieve these results. As previously noted, this can include improving mass transport through BRT or other rapid transit as well as dedicated in-frastructure for bicycling and walking, particularly by designing main roads to be safer places for all road users. Measures to improve and enforce behaviour such as curtailing drunk-driving are necessary and effective. However, reducing vehicle speeds on city roads is one of the most important measures that cities can take.

In urban areas, measures to reduce speed are critical to the safety of other road users. Vehicle speeds of 50 kilometres per hour are often considered to be best practice for urban speed limits. However, according to one conservative study, the fatality risk for pedestrians with vehicles travelling at 50 kilometres per hour is more than twice as high as the risk at 40 kilometres per hour and more than five times higher than the risk at 30 kilometres per hour (302). There is much corroborating evidence to support reducing speed limits to 30 kilometres per hour in order to calm traffic, especially in high density areas (274). In the United Kingdom, for example, 30 kilometres per hour, and cut vehicle collisions with pedestrians and cyclists by 67%. Establishing and enforcing lower speed limits in urban areas can dramatically reduce road fatalities. Evidence indicates that a 1% reduction in average speeds can result in a 4% reduction in fatalities (303). Reducing speed limits to safer levels is imperative, but cities can also introduce additional measures to calm vehicle speeds and further ensure vehicle safety. The Safe

Transportation in Bangladesh

Source: Transportation in Bangladesh by Asian Development Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/2.0/legalcode



SUBSECTION

Transform urban mobility

PARTN 17



BGD

GBR

Transportation in Bangladesh

Source: Transportation in Bangladesh by Asian Development Bank is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/2.0/legalcode

System Approach, endorsed by WHO in the Global Plan for the Decade of Action for Road Safety 2011–2020, assumes that road users are fallible, crashes do occur and that it is up to road designers and planners to reduce crashes and mitigate their impact. Street design can significantly influence the speed of cars and injury rates. Introducing traffic calming devices such as roundabouts, intersections, traffic lights, cross walks, protected bicycle lanes, pedestrianized retail areas and safe school zones are among the many ways that cities can suppress vehicle speeds and protect pedestrians and cyclists from being exposed to risk (287). These measures are important to implement for all city dwellers. Even in high-income countries, people from lower socioeconomic backgrounds are more likely to be involved in road traffic crashes (304). The large-scale Bridging the Gap study on income disparities in road safety and walkability in the USA showed that traffic calming devices are significantly more common in higher-income neighbourhoods in cities (305). In higher-income communities, 8% of streets featured traffic calming devices, compared to 4% and 3% of streets in middle-income and lower-income neighbourhoods, respectively. Similarly, streets with marked crosswalks are significantly more common in high-income communities (13%) than middle-income (8%) or low-income ones (7%).

Efforts are under way in many cities around the world to develop comprehensive road safety plans. For example, Sao Paulo has recently begun making changes to its streets to help improve safety and improve walkability. The Calçadas Verdes e Acessiveis (Green and Accessible Sidewalks) project has helped improve the walkability of sidewalks by repairing hazards and repurposing spaces allocated to vehicles, including parking spaces. At a centrally located intersection with high pedestrian volume, the city installed an "all red" signal crossing that allows pedestrians to cross all ways and brings all vehicle traffic to a halt during this period. The city also has begun to reduce vehicle speed limits to safer levels for pedestrians. The city of Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, has recently launched a plan to retrofit its streets to improve safety for all road users. The city is improving visibility on its streets and adding raised signalled crosswalks, wider

SUBSECTION

 pedestrian crossings, accessible curbs and widened safe spaces for pedestrians at medians and turn lanes. Such efforts are in motion in many cities across the world, some with measurable results.

An exceptionally successful story of safe design is the Republic of Korea, where traffic fatalities among children fell nationally by 95% from 1766 deaths in 1988 to 83 deaths in 2012 as a direct result of a range of projects that targeted regulations, education and the built environment. Among these was the School Zone Improvement Project, implemented throughout several cities, which aimed to create safe routes from children's homes to schools and child-care facilities. Speed limits were reduced through street design measures such as speed bumps. Dedicated right-of-ways for pedestrians were established and clear distinctions between sidewalks and roads created. New fences further protected children from road hazards. City officials installed traffic signals and speed limit signs within 300 metres of a school's main gate and painted roads within school zones with messages such as "school zone" and "protect children" so that drivers would proceed with caution. Additionally, they banned street parking on roads leading to schools' main entrances, reducing the potential contact between vehicles and children. Such measures can be taken in all areas of cities to improve safety for all (*306*).



CLIMT 13

PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

SUMMARY

City leadership everywhere has the opportunity to improve urban mobility and health simultaneously. In 2014, in the USA alone, urban traffic congestion added up to 6.9 billion hours, 3.1 billion gallons of fuel wasted and a cost of US\$ 160 billion (232). The most striking example of positive effects for health and for liveable cities is to reduce

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17 ambient air pollution, that accounts for 3.3 million preventable deaths per year. The dynamics of urban mobility pose an economic challenge and a tremendous impact on human health through pollution, sedentary behaviour and road traffic crashes. Fortunately, city leadership can do a great deal. Cities around the world are demonstrating that it is indeed possible to make cities safer and healthier. Many cities have tried to reduce the hazards of personal motorized travel by increasing the cost to the user through congestion pricing, tolls or parking fees and reduced parking stock. Recently, a number of cities have taken steps to make districts of the city car-free, or to have car-free days. The capital cities of Helsinki, Finland, and Oslo, Norway, have declared their intention to be completely car-free in the near future. Even though not every city can be quite that ambitious, they can keep their residents conveniently mobile, while making them safer, healthier and more prosperous. It is essential that cities create desirable mobility alternatives. Convenient public transportation is a crucial piece of any city effort to reduce the health effects of motorized cities. It is imperative for growing cities, and can be deployed even in cities where long-term infrastructure is already in place. Cities can make active transport a more desirable alternative as well. Planning that brings people's needs closer to where they live, or close to accessible public transportation, is important. Equally important is ensuring that should people choose to walk or bicycle that they have safe means of doing so.

CHAPTER 9 — IMPROVE HEALTH IN THE HOME

KEY MESSAGE • Targeted housing interventions, greater use of clean energy and improved affordability can help tackle the global challenge of healthy and sustainable urban housing.

Access to adequate housing is so fundamental to the health and well-being of people and the smooth functioning of economies that it is embedded in the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (308). Nonetheless, inadequate urban housing blights the health of billions of people worldwide. Security of tenure, availability of services and infrastructure, affordability, habitability, accessibility, location and cultural adequacy are all essential elements of adequate housing (309). The global challenge of adequate urban housing continues to grow, with a projected need of 1 billion new houses to be provided by 2025 to accommodate 50 million new urban residents per year (310).

Poor housing quality has been linked to the incidence of infectious diseases, chronic illnesses, injuries, poor nutrition and mental disorders (*311*). Poor housing is a particular problem in places where policies are lacking to ensure adequate housing, or where unplanned urban growth has led to the proliferation of unregulated, substandard housing. Even in cities in higher-income countries, many homes lack proper insulation, are poorly constructed or are made from hazardous materials. Furthermore, due to a lack of access to affordable and desirable energy for household needs, masses of people still FIN

SUBSECTION

PG

169

SWE



use solid fuels at considerable risk to their health and of those around them. Fortunately, there are housing interventions that can yield both short-term and long-term health benefits, while improving overall quality of life.

Housing can be considered at four levels of scale within a local context: (i) the physical structure of the house (or dwelling); (ii) the home (psychosocial, economic and cultural construction created by the household); (iii) the neighbourhood infrastructure (physical conditions of the immediate housing environment); and (iv) the community (social environment and the population and services within the neighbourhood). At each of these levels, housing has the potential to have a direct or indirect impact on the physical, social and mental health of the residents, and two or more levels combined can have an even greater impact (312). While the preceding chapters address the broader aspects of the community, this chapter focuses primarily on the physical structure of the house and the home environment.

THE HEALTH TOLL OF POOR QUALITY URBAN HOUSING

Some of the most dire housing conditions are found in urban slums. In 2015, more than 880 million people live in housing conditions that can be classified as slums (12). Slum households are technically defined by the lack of any one of the following five elements: access to improved water; access to improved sanitation; durability of housing; sufficient living area; and security of tenure.

Sub-Saharan Africa has a slum population of 199.5 million, South Asia 190.7 million, East Asia 189.6 million, Latin America and the Caribbean 110.7 million, South-East Asia 88.9 million, West Asia 35 million and North Africa 11.8 million (*313*). In some cities, slum occupants represent up to 80% of the population. Slums are a clear manifestation of both poor urban planning and management as well as a malfunctioning housing sector. The pressure of housing demand does not stop, however. Estimates concerning total housing needs in Africa have been set at around 4 million units per year, with over 60% of the demand required to accommodate urban residents.

Many slum residents live in houses with dirt floors, poor-quality roofs and walls constructed out of waste materials such as cardboard, tin and plastic. These houses do not provide proper protection against inclement weather, parasitic infections or unwelcome human intruders. Many have insufficient access to services such as clean water, sanitation, electricity or security.

Inadequate housing conditions even in wealthier parts of the world carry a big health burden. WHO estimates show that in the WHO European Region inadequate housing accounts for over 100 000 deaths per year (*312*). These take into account 11 housing hazards such as those related to noise, dampness, indoor air quality, cold and home safety. The numbers include 38 200 excess winter deaths per year in 11 European countries due to inadequate protection from cold and 14 280 excess deaths per year due to indoor air pollution from solid fuel use. Even if the housing structure is durable, lack of adequate ventilation, air-conditioning, heating and use of hazardous building material can cause acute effects on health and comfort.

Such exposure to substandard housing is not evenly distributed across populations. Poor housing is associated with other determinants of health. Studies have shown that disadvantaged populations, such as racial ethnic minorities and people with

Previous Page: Full of Life

Source: Full of Life by Agelshaxe is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/2.0/legalcode

SUBSECTION



Figure 32. Proportion of urban households with dirt floors by wealth quintile for selected countries

Note: For the full country names, see Annex 1, Table A1.2. Q2, 2nd quintile; Q4, 4th quintile Source: Global Health Observatory 2015 (21).

24.3

Mauritania

Asia - Pacific

89.7

Peru

40

74.6

12.3

6.5

21.1

P

173

23.3

\$1.0

69.0

Mali

86.3

6

25.5

57.2

-Leste

2.3 5.3 23.0 32.0 25.7

100.0

Central

99.9

Chad

37.5

13.2

75.3

Nicaragua

27.6

37.0

12.5

gladesh

21.6

.0

46.4

88.5

20.5

mbique

29.

12.3

87.5

Guatemala

93.7

Nopal

22.2

an Republic

28.9 35.0 39.3 39.3 39.3



WATR

PVRTY

HLTH 3

6

ENRG

7

low income are disproportionately affected (311). They are more likely to occupy homes with severe physical problems, live in overcrowded homes, lack adequate insulation and air-conditioning, and have increased risk of respiratory problems, injuries and home fires due to poor housing quality. Figure 32 selectively shows data for countries where, on average, over one fourth of urban homes have dirt floors. For each country, the prevalence of dirt floors is shown by wealth quintile, revealing that most of the homes with dirt floors in those countries belong to poor households. In a few countries, virtually everyone in urban areas lives in dirt floor homes except those in the richest one fifth of urban households. Vulnerable groups such as people with poor health, older people and the unemployed are among those most likely to live in poor housing, and they also tend to spend long periods of time indoors exposed to potentially hazardous environments.

INEQ 10

CITY 11 By contrast, good quality housing renders substantial benefits. Housing quality contributes to well-being, quality of life and mental health, especially as people spend a large amount of time in their houses to rest and relax. It can also induce a sense of dignity and pride. Adequate housing can promote physical health by providing protection against the ravages of the environment – roofs and walls provide shelter from rain and cold; water, sanitation and non-dirt floors protect against parasitic infestations and infections. In addition, housing may provide security and serve as a defence against crime. Increased home security can allow households to accumulate assets as well as free up time for use in more productive activities that would otherwise be devoted to protecting assets (*314*).

TARGETED HOUSING IMPROVEMENTS

Health considerations should be a major objective in the construction and rehabilitation of housing and other built environments. Ideally, standards for "adequate housing" or "sustainable housing" should have a health rationale, and not just a technical rationale, such as strength and durability (312). While many housing standards and codes may have originally been based on health principles, in most cases, there has been a lack of

PEACE 16

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17 PG

Hong Kong - Apartments

Source: Hong Kong - Apartments by Himbeerdoni is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/ legalcode continued input from the health community. The result is that, over the years, housing providers and other housing professionals have increasingly concentrated on the buildings and equipment, with limited ability to take into account health-based evidence. The health sector must become more involved in the development and implementation of policies and programmes directed at dealing with inadequate housing, which result in additional costs to society, including the health sector.

New dwellings make up only a very small proportion of the housing stock; the vast majority of the stock already exists and some of it is old and built to standards unacceptable today. It is the existing housing, therefore, where health-based policies and actions will have the biggest impact, and guidance should be developed for its improvement and rehabilitation. Housing refurbishments are typically more efficient, generate less carbon emissions and less disruptive to tenants than demolishment and reconstruction. Clearly, it will not be possible to improve all the housing stock at once. There should be national and local policies and programmes with defined, prioritized target areas where the most serious conditions are likely to exist.

Methods to improve housing are known, and there is evidence that housing upgrades and targeted housing interventions can significantly improve residents' health and quality of life, especially among those who are disadvantaged (222,315). A systematic review of studies from New Zealand and the United Kingdom examined the health impacts of housing improvements in heating and energy efficiency. After 5–12 months of the intervention, little indication of improved health was found in the United Kingdom studies, however, meaningful improvements were found across a range of respiratory and general health outcomes in the New Zealand studies (316). A key difference is that the studies in New Zealand targeted residents who lived in poor housing and residents with existing respiratory disease, and the results suggest that provision of improved warmth can lead to improved health, especially when targeted at those living under these conditions.

While housing improvements do not always lead to immediate improvements in health outcomes, there is evidence that improvements can have beneficial effects on broader socioeconomic determinants of health. The most common impacts reported shortly after housing improvements include: changes in domestic space and design; thermal comfort; housing costs (i.e. rent and fuel); and attitudes towards and control over

Source: WHO/Anna Kari



NZL

PG

175

GRR

the living environment. Where these changes are positive, they point to the potential for subsequent health improvements in the longer term (316, 317). When such co-benefits of housing improvement are taken into account across multiple sectors, the time required to recover the initial investment costs can be substantially reduced.

For example, a comprehensive home improvement programme in Liverpool, United Kingdom, honed in on the deprived areas of the city to improve housing conditions that cause or exacerbate preventable disease, injury and premature death (Box 16). It is difficult to isolate the contribution of the programme to observed declines in excess winter deaths and child accidents in the home, given the large number of other projects tackling poverty and health inequalities in the city. However, the intersectoral programme enabled residents to cope with their housing-related health and safety risks as well as fuel poverty. Cost savings to the National Health Service and wider benefits to the local economy were also achieved. These impacts on important determinants of health are expected to produce long-term health benefits.

 R			
	Box 16.	Liverpool's Healthy Homes Pro	gramme
-			
<u> </u>	The city of Liv	verpool has one of the highest	the property is rented, they have enforcement
		s and levels of health inequality in	powers to ensure that the property owner
	the United Ki	ngdom. Over 44 000 households	makes the necessary improvements. Referrals
	live in fuel por	verty. Poor housing conditions	are made to a range of partners to address
	are believed t	o be implicated in up to 500	identified health needs.
		rpool and around 5000 illnesses	The scheme has already led to over 3200
_		lical attention each year. A	referrals to dentists and general practitioners.
		oportion of properties within	There have also been many referrals for fuel
	-	nted sector is substandard,	poverty, smoking cessation, food and nutrition,
_	increasing the chance of occupants suffering		and home fire safety checks. As of March
		I-health and contributing to	2015, there have been more than 28 000
	health inequa	lity.	referrals to various partner organizations,
	The Healthy H	lomes Programme, started	over 5700 home risk assessments carried
	in 2009, impr	oves housing conditions and	out and over 4100 serious housing hazards
	engages resid	lents into mainstream health-	remedied. This has resulted in nearly 5.2
	related and w	ell-being-related services.	million of private sector investment by property
	Deprived area	as of the city are proactively	owners to improving the condition and safety
	targeted, whe	re advocates visit every	in properties. According to an independent
	property in the area to offer the services. The		evaluation, the total anticipated savings by the
	programmes'	Environmental Health teams	Healthy Homes Programme in the first year
	inspect home	s, assess the risk to health of	of its operation was 55 million, of which 42
	housing cond	itions and provide an outline	million was attributed to excess cold.
	of improveme	ent works that the homeowner	

Source: Watson and Hatcher 2013 (318).

- SUBSECTION

could take to make the property safer. Where

PG

PVRTY

HLTH

There is comparatively less evidence of the health impacts of housing improvement in LMICs, but there are some particularly illustrative cases with robust evidence.

For example, a government programme in Mexico replaced dirt floors with cement floors in Mexico City slums, resulting in reductions in parasitic infestations, diarrhoea and anaemia among children (Box 17). Researchers who studied the effects of the programme importantly noted that access to safe water and child health interventions (e.g. nutrition, deworming) are key to achieve the desired effects of the dirt floor replacements.

Many parasites and pathogens live in faeces		provides a benefit indefinitely.
and	soil, and are transmitted to humans	Two neighbouring cities across state borders
whe	en ingested or touched. Faecal matter	that are socioeconomically similar except
and	parasites can enter houses on shoes, on	for the influence of state policies (i.e. one
anir	nals, in unclean water and from unclean	with the Piso Firme programme, the other
bab	ies. Faecal matter tends to remain on dirt	without) were compared to evaluate the effects
floo	rs: it is difficult to see and dirt floors are	of the programme. In its first five years, the
hard	d to clean. Consequently, young children	programme achieved remarkable results
livin	ng and playing on dirt floors are more	in improving young children's health and
like	ly to ingest faecal materials and come in	family welfare. It is estimated that a complete
con	tact with parasites than children playing o	n substitution of dirt floors by cement floors
con	crete floors.	would lead to a 78% reduction in parasitic
Stat	te and federal governments of Mexico,	infestations, 49% reduction in diarrhoea,
und	er the Piso Firme programme (which	81% reduction in anaemia and a 36–96%
orig	inally started in 2000 in one state and	improvement in cognitive development in
late	r expanded to other states), had installed	children. The programme also had a significant
con	crete floors in over 300 000 homes of	impact on mothers' happiness by increasing
disa	advantaged families living in urban slums by	satisfaction with the quality of life, and reducing
200	9. The programme provides approximately	depression and perceived stress.
50 s	square metres of concrete to the home;	
the	family provides the labour for levelling off	Source: Cattaneo et al. 2007 (315).
the	wet concrete. This is a one-time cost that	

Another study provides valuable evidence regarding the causal effects of housing upgrades on the living conditions of extremely poor people in slums. It examines the impact of inexpensive, but sturdy houses constructed by TECHO, an NGO that provides basic pre-fabricated houses to extremely poor populations in Latin America. TE-CHO targets the poorest informal settlements, and within these settlements, the families who live in extremely substandard housing. TECHO houses are a significant improve-

SUBSECTION

177

GBR

ment over existing housing units in terms of their flooring, roofs and walls, though they
do not have indoor sanitation facilities, running water or kitchens.

An assessment of the effects of this housing upgrade based on a randomized control trial in three Latin American countries – El Salvador, Mexico and Uruguay – found that the better structures had a positive effect on overall housing conditions and subjective well-being (319). Satisfaction with quality of life is a dimension of social policy that is often overlooked yet is crucial to the life experience of poor people. In El Salvador and Mexico, they also found improvements in children's health, while in El Salvador, slum occupants' perception of their safety and security also improved. There were, however, no noticeable effects on the possession of durable goods or in terms of employment outcomes. While the size of the effects was not as large as expected or desired, the study showed that the provision of this kind of in situ housing upgrade has some significant effects on the living conditions of slum residents. Upgrading homes in existing slums should, therefore, be considered as an alternative option to relocating residents to new houses further away from urban centres.

Providing better housing and housing facilities improves residents' well-being and satisfaction with life, but does not reduce the various ailments from which they suffer due to living in poor neighbourhoods. Housing upgrade programmes must be complemented with more comprehensive interventions combining infrastructure and social components that can address the other major problems affecting the lives of people living in deprived environments.

NEIGHBOURHOOD AND COMMUNITY UPGRADING

An important aspect of housing is the neighbourhood and community environment, which encompasses the physical and social conditions of the immediate housing environment. Urban renewal programmes have the potential to address these broader aspects. For example, neighbourhoods in Barcelona which were part of a region-wide urban renewal project in Catalonia showed improved health and health equity as a result of such interventions (Box 18).

Box 18.

Urban renewal projects in Barcelona improve health and health equity

The Neighbourhoods Law (Llei de Barris), implemented by the Government of Catalonia between 2004 and 2011, led to large-scale urban renewal interventions across the region. The government and municipalities co-funded interventions in neighbourhoods, mostly deprived, that focused on physical improvement, social integration, health and economic gains, in order to improve living conditions of residents.

In Barcelona, 15 out of 73 neighbourhoods benefited from the programme, resulting in about 10% of the 1.6 million residents being directly affected by the initiative. An evaluation study assessed the health of women and men of different social classes living in five renewed neighbourhoods in Barcelona and compared it to that of people living in non-

PARTN 17

PVRTY

нітн

3

WATR

6

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEQ

10

CITY 11

Improve health in the home

intervened neighbourhoods with similar socioeconomic conditions (320). It evaluated two indicators from the Barcelona Health Survey: self-rated general health and mental health status. A comparison of data from 2001, 2006 and 2011 allowed an evaluation of the intervention effects on health and health inequalities. The results showed that perceived health status of both women and men improved in the renewed neighbourhoods. A particularly strong effect was found among the manual social class, resulting in reduced social class inequalities. Similar effects were found for women's mental health. The intervention did not improve men's mental health, but it did protect it from worsening. The residents also

perceived the intervention as positive and important for their well-being (321). One of the concerns about urban renewal programme is the potential for population displacement and selective mobility between neighbourhoods. The study was able to show that the observed positive effects were not due to recent in-migration: the long-term residents actually benefited. However, it did not account for the health and ethical implications of outmigration, some of which were forced, due to the renewal programmes. These are important considerations to be taken into account before such interventions are undertaken, as once those people have left and are out of sight, it is often too late.

The extent to which structures and land use can be determined by authorities through such measures as building regulation and codes varies considerably from setting to setting. In high-income countries, building regulations are more often used to control indoor environmental quality. Policies have also been developed to target households in the lowest socioeconomic group, particularly those that may live in fuel poverty (those spending more than 10% of income on fuel). In informal settlements, there is almost no control over building construction, even though inhabitants in those areas are among those who stand to benefit the most from simple measures.

Evidence of short-term health impacts of neighbourhood renewal projects is less conclusive, however, than that of targeted housing improvements (e.g. replacing dirt floors; improving warmth). Neighbourhood interventions are typically administered over broad, diverse areas, which likely include many homes that did not need or benefit from renewal. In such cases, neighbourhood-wide impacts may mask significant gains for individual households. There are potentially higher returns in neighbourhoods with relatively high proportions of homes in need, such as in slum neighbourhoods and informal settlements.

Slum upgrading is a broad term and there have been many different approaches, ranging from single interventions, such as improving sanitation, to integrated programmes comprising many activities and targeting various problems at the same time. A comprehensive systematic review of slum upgrading involving both single and multiple interventions found limited, but consistent evidence to suggest that slum upgrading that includes water infrastructure may reduce the incidence of diarrhoea among the residents and their water-related expenses (*322*).

Of course, slum upgrading should not only be judged from a health perspective. It is a moral imperative to improve the living conditions of the poorest in a city. It also allows residents to stay in their homes and close to their jobs, rather than uprooting them. While there is sometimes the concern that upgrading slums will attract even ESP

SLV

URY

SUBSECTION

PG
more people, often poor people, to the city and aggravate the problems of unplanned growth, there is no evidence that it actually causes increased rural-urban migration.

An important finding from the aforementioned systematic review is that slum residents' perspectives provide insight into barriers and facilitators for successful implementation and maintenance interventions. The value of community participation in such contexts is illustrated by the Participatory Slum Upgrading Programme (PSUP) to improve housing and the quality of living conditions in existing slums. Launched in 2008, PSUP is a joint effort of the African, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) Group of States, the European Commission and UN-Habitat (*323*). To date, the programme has reached out to 38 ACP countries and 160 cities, and has provided the necessary enabling framework for improving the lives of at least 2 million slum dwellers.

In practical terms, PSUP puts slums on the urban map and encourages the necessary policy changes, budget allocations and multistakeholder partnerships for the sustainable improvement of slum dwellers' living conditions. PSUP thus institutionalizes partnerships and empowers key urban actors to contribute to the incremental eradication of urban poverty at community, city-wide and national levels.

While slum upgrading is viewed as a valuable approach to dealing with existing informal settlements, it should not divert attention from the fact that unplanned urban growth is inefficient and requires enormous amounts of resources to maintain. High costs of bad or no decisions with respect to urban expansion can be irreversible. Ideally, city leaders drive constructive change through anticipating a problem and then plan for urban growth in advance (324).

UNCLEAN FUEL: A MAJOR AIR POLLUTANT PRODUCED IN THE HOME

In addition to the physical characteristics of the home and neighbourhood environment, indoor air pollution due to solid fuel use is a major housing-related health risk factor. Urbanization has long been assumed to enable households to move away from using dirty fuels to cleaner energy, but a great number of households continues to use highly polluting fuels despite having access to cleaner alternatives. While an estimated 94% of the urban world's homes have electricity, millions of urban households in some of the most rapidly urbanizing countries in the world are still without it and cannot afford, or choose not to use, clean energy sources (325).

In 2014, the International Energy Agency estimated that around 1.3 billion people worldwide do not have access to electricity and around 2.7 billion people rely on solid fuels for cooking and heating (325). In sub-Saharan Africa's least-developed countries, an average of only 45% homes have electricity, and it can be as low as 4% in the Central African Republic, Liberia and South Sudan.

Solid fuel use in urban homes is still highly prevalent even in some European countries, where 14 280 deaths per year are related to exposure to indoor pollutants from solid fuel use (312). A major health impact of this is acute lower respiratory tract infections in children under 5 years, which are estimated to cause 16.7 deaths per 100 000 children per year.

Household solid fuel use is also an important contributor to outdoor air pollution. About 12% of fine particulate matter (PM2.5) is attributable to household use

PEACE

BIODV

15

PVRTY

нітн

3

ENRG

7

ECON 8

INEO

10

СІТҮ

11

CLIMT

13

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

Improve health in the home

of solid cooking fuels. Based on the 2010 Global Burden of Disease study, it was estimated that exposure to ambient PM2.5 from cooking with solid fuels caused the loss of 370 000 lives and 9.9 million disability-adjusted life years globally (326).

Household air pollution, including both indoor and ambient exposure to air pollution from household use of solid fuels, was responsible for an estimated 3.9 million premature deaths and about 4.8% of lost healthy life years in 2010. In just two years, by 2012, it was responsible for 4.3 million deaths, making it the largest environmental contributor to ill-health (*327*).

The importance of household air pollution as a public health threat varies quite drastically by context. In LMICs, household air pollution is responsible for almost 10% of the mortality, while the same risk factor is only responsible for 0.2% of deaths in high-income countries (328). Among countries where, on average, over one quarter of all urban households use solid fuel for cooking, there is generally a strong correlation between household wealth and solid fuel use (Figure 33). At the same time, there are several countries where nearly all urban households, or all except the richest ones, use solid fuels.

In addition, women typically have more severe exposure to pollutants in the home from unclean fuels in contexts where solid fuel use is common as they often spend a greater amount of time indoors than men do, cooking and caring for infants and young children. For example, of the deaths due to solid fuel use in Europe in 2002, 53% occurred in children, and another 36% in adult women (*312*).

CLEANER HOUSEHOLD ENERGY STRATEGIES

A recent systematic review of health risks from household air pollution exposure concluded that household air pollution is linked to multiple major disease outcomes for children and adults (329). Controlling this exposure could reduce the risk of these outcomes by 20–50%. A separate review of quantified multiple benefits showed that increased productivity through reductions in infectious disease incidence from indoor air pollution

Source: WHO/Anna Kari



SDN

LBR

CAF

SSD

PG

181

Figure 33. Proportion of urban households using solid fuels for cooking by wealth quintile for selected countries

Ghana

12.1

15

33.3

d

90 (Brazzaville)

34.0

99.7

100-0

100.0

33.9 35.6

50.5

59.4

Malawi

33

23,

98.1

99.3

99.2

29.3

Togo

15.5

89.2

96.2

37.7

97,8

33.7

95-1

19.3 10.5

78.3

17.2

\$6.7

69.5

84.2

95.4

35.3

34.7

97.9

99.8

100.0

100.0

Chad

57.5

91.5

38.9

39.8

20.0

\$3.0

72.5

195.8

Comoros

30

19

78.2

90.5

95.8

39.5

Sudan

34.9

69.0

84.2

Ethiopia

39

61

24.4

98.5

99.5

100.0

Benin

20

Uganda

22

87.3

90.7

94.3

57.8

Africa

193.1

Kenya

51.

33

50,8

50.3

88.5

1 27.3

23.0

6.8

36.

84.8

99. P

99.8

Zambia

80.1

8

51.5 81.0

91.5

9₈, 8

Côte d'Ivoire

32

57 39.2

37.0

99,6

100.0

United Republic

of Tanzania

Cameroon

20.5

24.

53.2

73.3

77.0

34.3

Burkina Faso

38.

98.5

93.7

100.0

100.0

Niger

12.2

87.5

39.2

100.0

100.0

100.0

80.0

35,2

51.1

85.8

pe and Principe

23

56.

85.8

33.9

39.8

100.0

Mauritania

76.7

29

89 80.8

Sao

97.7

96.2

Mozambique

21

20.

57.6

100.0

100.0

100.0

Democratic Republic

of the Congo

Madagascar

10.8

24.8

58.8

88.4

98.8

Senegal

Nigeria



is particularly high (330).

PVRTY

1

HNGR

2

нітн

3

ENRG

7

INFRA 9

CITY

11

CLIMT

13

The best approach is to make cleaner fuels (i.e. electricity and gas) available, affordable, sustainable and desirable. Unlike typical biomass stoves, using gas and electricity does not pollute the household, even with suboptimal use. In addition to being a source of lighting, heating, cooking and air-conditioning, household electrification also allows families to store food safely.

Clean, efficient cooking stoves are actually relatively cheap and widely available in many parts of the world, but remain underutilized by the populations they are intended to reach. This may be due to relative pricing and affordability (and not simply availability), price volatility, intermittent availability and usability with existing embedded or cultural practices. Another important factor influencing the fuel choices that people make is how the built environment and housing designs facilitate the use of different fuels, and the extent to which local livelihoods depend on fuel trade. Other influences of the choice of fuels include available income, national and global trade, access to products and services, and infrastructure development aid (*331*).

Overall, perhaps the most crucial factor is the behaviour of individual households. Even if many people do have access to cleaner fuels, they may not make use of it because of an array of factors. There are about the same number of people using solid fuels today as 25 years ago, in spite of considerable development and urbanization during this time (332). A study among slum dwellers in Nairobi illustrates the kinds of misperceptions and related factors that can hamper widespread uptake of cleaner fuels (Box 19). Another study in Bangladesh, which looked at demand for clean cook stove technologies, found that users do not perceive indoor air pollution as a significant health hazard, they prioritize other basic needs and they prefer the free traditional cook stoves (333).

	В	ох	19.	
--	---	----	-----	--

Health-harming perceptions of air quality in Nairobi slums

A study by APHRC sought to establish the state of air quality in two slums in Nairobi, assessing the levels of fine particulate matter both in the ambient environment and indoors. Preliminary results indicated high levels of outdoor PM2.5 exceeding WHO guideline limits in both slums. Indoor air quality was equally poor in both slums with fine particulate matter exceeding WHO guidelines by a factor of about four in households using charcoal for cooking. High levels (in excess of WHO limits by a factor of three) were observed in the evenings when households reported poor ventilation practices.

When people's perceptions and attitudes towards air pollution and associated health

risks were assessed, outdoor sources of air pollution were mostly mentioned, while indoor sources were rarely mentioned. Furthermore, while people perceived outdoor air quality to be very poor and causing more annoyance, indoor air quality was apparently of little concern.

These perceptions clearly depart from quantitative evidence of poor indoor air quality, often worsened by poor ventilation and the seepage of outdoor pollution into the indoor environment. In addition, the people in the study area believe they are unable to do anything about air pollution, citing lack of government support for inhabitants of informal neighbourhoods, and poverty. Residents

appeared resigned to the state of air in their communities, reporting that they were "used to this" because they had long been exposed to air pollution.

Even so, most residents easily identified respiratory conditions as some of the health effects. Fewer people mentioned cardiac illnesses and cancers. Yet, 45% said they had never received any information about air pollution, revealing an important knowledge gap in the two communities. The study organizers concluded that efforts to mitigate air pollution in these communities will need to include increasing awareness of the impact of commonly used cooking and lighting fuels as well as the use of ventilation.

Source: Egondi et al. 2013 (334).

For households continuing to rely on solid fuels, the best possible low-emission solid fuel stoves should be promoted, backed up by testing and in-field evaluation. A randomized control trial of the impact of inexpensive, improved cooking stoves on household well-being in India showed that while smoke inhalation decreased in the first year of use, those gains were lost in subsequent years because the stoves were not used regularly and recipients did not invest in maintaining them properly (335). Encouraging such households to choose healthier options requires new approaches by city leaders drawing on the advice of environmental health specialists, economists and social scientists. They should have features that are highly valued by users, such as reduction of operating or maintenance costs, including fuel savings, even when those features are not related to the cook stoves' health impacts.

Whatever the mix of fuels and technologies ultimately adopted by households over the next 20 years, improved solid fuel stoves will continue to play a very important part. Achieving adoption and sustained use of improved stoves on a large scale will require community coordination and policies to support them. Even if one or several households convert to clean fuels, if the others in the community do not follow suit, all households will continue to be affected. In a systematic review of the impacts of solid fuel and clean fuel interventions on exposure to PM2.5 and carbon monoxide, researchers found that improved solid fuel stoves led to large reductions in exposure. However, post-intervention kitchen levels of PM2.5 were still very high, likely due to contamination from other sources. The evidence implies that there needs to be a strategic shift towards more rapid and widespread promotion of clean fuels along with efforts to encourage more exclusive use and to control other sources in and around the home (*329*).

Experts have often regarded energy access as a function of income. The assumption has been that increasing incomes would naturally lead to a transition from dirty fuels, such as crop residues, waste and dung, to cleaner sources of energy, such as electricity and gaseous fuels. Thus, it has been reasoned that households will move up the "energy ladder" and abandon "dirty" fuels, while increases in urban populations will lead both to increased incomes and access to urban infrastructure, thereby accelerating access to cleaner fuels (336). This has been the case in urban areas in some countries, such as Cambodia, but in general, the evidence is mixed. Numerous studies have revealed an extra rung at the lower end of the energy ladder. Instead of moving up to "clean" fuels, many households in low-income countries move to intermediary fuels, such as wood, coal and kerosene, where these are available (337-339). This half-step is mostly occurring in

Improve health in the home

185

IND

кнм



PVRTY

EDUC 4

> cities, where infrastructure and fuel markets are available and accessible. In such settings, households can choose their type of fuel replacement, but not necessarily opt for one that does not have adverse health implications.

> > At the same time, however, a global energy revolution is taking place that

Source: WHO/Anna Kari

ENRG is destined to change the way cities are shaped and the way people live in them. Although 7 it may not yet seem so, cities are on the threshold of potentially astonishing progress. This is part of the energy transition. It means moving away from fuels that pose a risk ECON to health to alternative energy sources that protect well-being and improve quality of 8 life. In order for this transition to succeed, political leaders, planners and partners across many sectors – and people themselves – will need a better understanding of the energy INFRA landscape. The challenge for cities now is to plan to ensure that the energies consumed 9 will be the cleanest, most efficient and equitably shared for the benefit of people at all levels of urban society. The key is to avoid getting locked into unhealthy and inefficient INEQ energy use for many decades to come. 10 СІТҮ

11

HEALTHIER AND AFFORDABLE URBAN HOUSING

Housing affordability is in itself an element of adequate housing and a determinant of health. Yet, in developing and advanced economies alike, cities struggle with the dual challenges of housing their poorest citizens and providing housing at a reasonable cost for low- and middle-income populations (310).

"Affordable housing", which often refers to low-income housing or social housing, is different from "housing affordability", which is considered at the middle of the market. In order to improve equity, housing policy requires a strong focus on affordable housing, but it also requires a broader focus relating to the entire population (236).

In rapidly expanding cities, population growth puts constant pressure on housing; even in cities with ageing and shrinking populations, total housing demand could still grow, as a new generation of young adults and families enters into the housing market. Studies have shown that high education levels, good health and high income will increase a household's demand for housing. That is, housing demand is significantly determined

SUBSECTION

Figure 34. Global housing affordability gap for 2400 world cities

Source: World Bank; UBS Prices and Earnings Report 2012; Numbeo; CEIC; Deposits.org; Global Banking Pool; Royal Bank of Scotland; Zillow; Metroscubicos; Exame; Notaires Paris Ile de France; Jones Lang LaSalle; McKinsey Global Institute Cityscope database; United States Census Bureau; national statistics offices; McKinsey Global Institute analysis, cited in Woetzel et al. 2014 (*310*).



by a household's human capital, and housing demand generally increases with age (340).

An estimated 330 million urban households around the world currently lack decent housing or are so financially stretched by housing costs that they forgo other basic needs, including food, health care and schooling for children. Based on current trends in urban migration and income growth, by 2025, about 440 million urban households around the world – at least 1.6 billion people, or one third of the urban population – will occupy crowded, inadequate and unsafe housing or will be financially stretched (*310*). Low- and moderate-income households are more likely to sacrifice having enough food, staying warm and living in adequate housing as housing and energy prices go up.

A study of 2400 cities worldwide revealed a substantial global housing affordability gap, defined as the difference between the cost of a city's acceptable standard housing and what households can afford to pay for it using no more than 30% of their income (310). The global gap is estimated to amount to US\$ 650 billion per year, a full 1% of global GDP. More than two thirds of this gap is concentrated in the 100 largest cities in the world, while the largest gaps are found in low-income countries. In some of these cities, the gap is as large as 10% of GDP or more (Figure 34). In order to close the global housing affordability gap, an investment of as much as US\$ 16 trillion will be needed by 2025.



The home is one of the largest expenditures that a family makes and it is a superior good, in as much as the share of income spent on housing typically increases disproportionately as income rises. Adequate, affordable housing provides a number of benefits. In the right locations, affordable housing boosts the city's productivity by integrating lower-income populations into the economy and reducing costs to provide shelter and services. It enables labour mobility, opening a path to rising incomes, giving households more to spend on goods and services in their neighbourhoods and, over time, enabling them to move up the income pyramid and help drive city GDP growth (310).

Achieving health equity depends substantially on changing the inequitable distribution of physical environments, with a focus on those with the highest health needs. Designing low-income and affordable housing to make it healthier provides important opportunities to address health equity. Creation of amenities that support health within affordable housing developments and neighbourhoods can make it possible for children, adults, older people and those with special needs who live there to have healthier lives (127). These interventions can be low cost or cost neutral, in part due to technological developments that enable lower construction costs and building materials. For instance, the costs of integrating physical activity-promoting strategies into new affordable housing developments were examined in three cities in the USA – Atlanta, New York City and San Antonio. The findings ranged from increases of 0.01% to 1.6% of total development costs to a cost savings of 0.5% (341).

EDUC 4

WATR

6

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

СІТҮ

11

нітн

3

PVRTY

By providing affordable housing and other services, including health, education and transport to lower-income households, cities can play important roles in achieving health and social equity objectives, while simultaneously reaping economic benefits. This approach is likely to stimulate economic opportunities such as the ability of those residents to obtain jobs within convenient reach by public transport. In this way, the increased pool of workers who are available to businesses boosts urban economic development.

For city authorities, one of the biggest questions is where housing developments should be built. The current model of urban housing development often places housing at the very edge of the urban fringe, which leads to long commutes and even abandoned units. While living away from the city centre may save on housing costs, the increase in transport costs often balance out the difference. One new model of affordable housing development now used in many cities is to locate them in mixed-income and walkable neighbourhoods with access to shops, leisure amenities and rapid, convenient public transportation. In general, smart growth principles of locating residences close to services and jobs can have great benefits to occupants as well as the larger communi-ty. Thus, transport and housing policies, along with land use and other related policies, should be jointly considered when addressing housing affordability(*342*). This is particularly relevant for cities with sprawling urban forms.

The importance of coordinating different policies for housing also applies to informal settlements. Many people live in informal settlements not because of poverty or housing affordability, but because of the lack of suitable small plots of land in the formal market (343). While most of the residents have only part-time or informal sector employment, many have full-time jobs with sufficient resources to live in formal neighbourhoods. By providing small plots of serviced land and secure property rights, the government could leverage the existing resources of the poor and assist in the creation of assets that would improve welfare of the poor.

SUMMARY

CLIMT 13

Given the pressing need to provide adequate housing to all current and future urban residents, housing policy must be elevated on the urban agenda. Too often, housing is not appropriately integrated into urban policies despite the fact that residential land use occupies the majority of the surface area of many cities (309). This practice must change in order to ensure the right to adequate housing for urban populations, including for the ever-increasing number of migrants and internally displaced people due to natural hazards and forced evictions.

PEACE 16

PARTN SUBSECTION

17

This chapter highlights the health risks of inadequate housing with a focus on the physical conditions of the home and neighbourhood environments, household energy use and affordability. It also demonstrates a number of interventions that cities can leverage to address these issues, from housing and neighbourhood upgrades to designing healthier affordable housing, and better urban planning to reduce transport expenditures associated with housing location. Greater policy coordination on housing will not only improve health outcomes, but also contribute towards the goals of other sectors. Such co-benefits could include increased participation in education and the work force, faster adoption and scale-up of clean energy, reduced air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, lower levels of neighbourhood crime and poverty reduction. Reducing indoor air pollution alone will make significant contributions to reduced morbidity and mortality.

As the poor and vulnerable households are the most affected by lack of adequate housing, the focus on these groups must not be lost. At the same time, due attention should be paid to the broad spectrum of urban middle-income households, even in some of the wealthiest cities, for whom housing is unaffordable or of substandard quality.

CHAPTER 10 — ENSURE SAFETY IN THE CITY

KEY MESSAGE • Poor safety and urban violence come at a significant cost to the health of urban residents and the societies where they live.

Safety has always been a top concern for city leaders. Not coincidentally, safety and security are among the chief concerns of their constituents. They have been found to be among the three most important factors that make a city an appealing place to live and work (344). The attractiveness of the city as a place to live, or visit, is just one of its many features influenced by the reality or the perception of safety of the city. Safety is intertwined with a city's economic vitality and social fabric. It underpins many of the basic functions of the city from transportation and infrastructure to the delivery of education. Safety in cities is also a health concern, as it is crucial to protect urban residents from physical and mental harm. As discussed above, the lack of safety of city roads is a significant source of injury and death in cities. In addition, safe drinking-water and safe passage to schools are important determinants of children's health and outcomes. Threats and hazards to our health abound and can take many forms in urban environments. Among these, one of the most significant sources of concern and disruption for urban societies is the threat of violence.

In many countries across the world, violence and crime remain chronic issues in cities. Across the developing world's cities, 60% of all urban residents are estimated to have been victims of crime (345). As much as 70% of these victims are residents of cities in the Latin American and African regions. These regions are also home to many of the most violent cities in the world, as depicted in Figure 35. However, cities plagued by violence are by no means restricted to developing countries. Three of the 50 most violent

PG

189





SUBSECTION

190

ЪG

cities in the world are in the USA (346). In some higher-income cities, overall rates of violence can mask intra-city rates that can be up to several multiples of the broader city, and more closely resemble rates seen in more fragile cities. For example, the intra-urban region of south-central Los Angeles has historically had murder rates that were many multiples of the city average. It has since improved its murder rate significantly, but it is still high (347).

Levels of urban violence vary widely between and within cities, with some of the world's largest cities also among its safest. Megacities such as Cairo, Egypt, and Jakarta, Indonesia, have remarkably low rates of fatal violence and, in Tokyo, fatal violence is nearly non-existent when juxtaposed against its size (349). Similarly, large cities such as Bogotá, New York City and Sao Paulo have all seen remarkable drops in violent crime despite dense and growing populations. Indeed, Sao Paulo has transformed itself from being one of the world's most dangerous cities to one that has reduced violence by 74% between 2001 and 2008 (350).

Why then do some cities, or parts of cities, experience more violence than others? Urbanization by itself cannot explain urban violence. As discussed previously, some of the largest cities in the world are also among its safest. Moreover, rapid urbanization is not necessarily predictive of violence either. China is among the most rapidly urbanizing countries in the world, and its violent crimes rates are relatively low. However, where cities experience violence, evidence implicates social exclusion, poverty, poor educational outcomes and inequality as key risk factors for violence in urban areas (351). Urban environments can be places of profound inequality, where these risk factors can aggregate (352) and cluster in space. Rapid urbanization can exacerbate inequalities by straining city governments' ability to deliver basic services that are protective against violence and crime.

There is clearly nothing inevitable about violence in the urban environment. However, in varying degrees, the threat of violence is a daily reality for cities everywhere. Whether it is a city concerned with chronic violence, or a city with very rare incidence, the impact of violence and fear of violence on society is a serious concern for city leaders. Fortunately, much can be done to prevent and reduce violence. This chapter concerns urban safety and health, of which there are many facets, but here focuses specifically on violence and violence reduction.

THE BURDEN OF VIOLENCE AND CRIMES IN CITIES

Approximately 526 000 people lose their lives to violence every year (353). The scale is roughly equivalent to the number of people losing their lives to malaria or influenza in a given year. Roughly 90% of these deaths happen in countries that are officially in a state of peace. In other words, the overwhelming majority of violence is perpetrated in places that are ostensibly not at war. In fact, there was more loss of life from 2000 to 2014 due to interpersonal homicide than in all of the wars during that period combined.

Much of this violence has become concentrated in urban areas, even in countries where the population is not substantially urban (349). There are, of course, notable exceptions. In fact, cities are also home to many factors that are protective against violence (354). There is also variation depending on the type of violence. A 10-country WHO study indicated that violence against women was more prevalent in rural areas than in urban areas (355). These figures also do not take into account the toll of nonfatal violence and its consequences for its victims, their families and their communities.

PG

191

IDN

BRA

CHN

FGY

Certain communities in cities suffer from an aggregation of risk factors, including poverty and comparatively worse education, infrastructure and other crucial city services. In Rio de Janeiro, for example, low-income areas have been found to have more than twice the homicide rate of wealthier areas, and more than four times the rate of tourist areas (*356*).

This is particularly acute in informal settlements and slum areas, which often lay beyond the reach of formal city services. In the Philippines, compared to nonslum residents, slum dwellers experience higher levels of gender-based violence, wherein female slum dwellers have an elevated risk of being attacked by someone who is not their partner (357). Rates of physical and sexual violence against women in cities in India, both inside and outside their homes, are commonly twice as high in slums than in wealthier areas (358). In Cape Town, the violent crime rates have declined from their peak, but they continue to be concentrated in the poorest districts of the city. The slums in Khayelitsha and neighbouring Nyanga and Guguleta townships accounted for 44% of Cape Town's total homicides in 2009–2010 (359). According to census data, these districts also suffered from unemployment rates as much as 80% higher than the city average, comparatively lower incomes for those who had employment and up to 57% of households living in informal housing. Figure 36 shows that these settlements are spa-

MOUNTING A RESPONSE TO VIOLENCE IN CITIES

tially clustered towards the right side of the core of Cape Town.

WHO estimates that homicide rates have declined 16% overall since 2000 (*360*). Consolidating these gains and continuing to reduce the impact of violence in cities requires that cities commit to understanding the root causes of violence in their communities. These can range from deep-seated factors, rooted in the deprivation of communities and resident's exposure to violence to more proximate triggers such as alcohol abuse or access to firearms. Understanding these root causes can then inform the city's response, ensuring that action is local relevant, timely and responds to the true nature of the issue.

Cities must first develop the capacity to collect and analyse data on violent events. Even at the country level, the data systems required to collect and analyse data on violence is lacking. An estimated 60% of all countries do not have usable data on homicide from civil and vital registration systems (*360*). For many of the countries where these data do exist, they are often not paired with much-needed complementary data that feed additional information about victims, perpetrators and other circumstantial data into the analysis. Furthermore, too many violent acts go unreported, particularly those perpetrated against women, children and older adults, making survey-based data critical to understanding the nature of violence.

These capacities are important at the national level, but crucial at the local level, where the impact is felt, where the root causes can be observed and where the response must be mounted. One approach to building this type of capacity was pioneered in Colombia when the country's first violence observatory was established to pull together and analyse data on violence in the city of Cali. The model has since been replicated in cities and states across Colombia (Box 20). Similar efforts are taking off across the region and spreading to other parts of the world.

Figure 36. Map of Cape Town districts by crime level

Source: South African Police Service, Crime Statistics 2003– 2010, compiled by the Strategic Development Information and GIS Department, City of Cape Town, 2010, cited in United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 2011 (359).

PEACE 16

17

PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

GNDR 5

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEO

10

CITY 11

Ensure safety in the city



VISUAL KEY		
	Homicides	
	0 - 2	
	3 - 7	
	8 - 17	
	18 - 41	
	42 - 290	

BRA

COL





IND



VISUAL KEY		
Sexual crimes		
	3 - 28	
	29 - 55	
	56 - 88	
	89 - 126	
	127 - 631	

PHL

PG

G

193

PVRTY

нітн

3

EDUC

4

Box 20.

Between 1983 and 1994, during the height of an epidemic of violence in Cali, Colombia, the city's homicide rate ballooned from 23 to at least 120 per 100 000 inhabitants (361). At such a rate, Cali would place the near the very top of today's most violent cities (346), but at the time it was not even the most violent city in Colombia. The leading cause of death in Colombia at the time was homicide. Victims included people of all ages, but particularly young men, with suspects rarely identified. In response to the outbreak of violence, the mayor, an epidemiologist by training, set up a violence observatory – a health research think tank focused on understanding urban violence. The observatory reviewed and standardized the variables that different institutions gathered about the victims and their assailants and the facts surrounding each case, reporting weekly to the mayor and other local authorities.

With enough relevant data, standardized and

housed in one place, analysts could look at trends of when, how and by whom violence occurred in the city. They found that 80% of the homicides were committed using firearms. Homicides predominantly happened on weekends, late at night, often in the presence of alcohol. The observatory found that most of the perpetrators were younger, and mapping the crimes helped to identify higher-risk neighbourhoods. The mayor's administration put a curfew on alcohol sales on weekend evenings, and banned the possession of firearms during these periods. Younger adults were given an earlier curfew on weekends. The districts of the city where these policies were implemented were able to reduce homicide by 35%. The murder rate had dropped to 80 per 100 000 people by 1997. By 2014, the city had managed to reduce its murder rate further to 56 per 100 000.

Source: Toro 2014 (362).

INEQ 10

CITY 11

When cities have developed the analytical capacity to understand violence in their environment, local evidence can then drive the design of interventions. Interventions must be proactive and address not just the proximate causes, but also the risks that often become entrenched in communities and cities, and can transcend generations. The roots of the different types of violence share many of the same underlying risk factors. Poor educational outcomes, economic inequality, unemployment and social and physical exclusion are among the many risk factors that can pool in communities and place people at risk. Nowhere is this more strongly felt than in the many informal settlements developing in the world's cities. Millions of people live in informal settlements, having moved there, or having been born there, looking for better prospects in the city for themselves and their families. However, as discussed previously, these can be places of profound exclusion. This is true in the physical sense, as these settlements are typically on the fringes of the city. It is most evident from a social perspective as these settlements are all too often deprived of the services of the city and the opportunities enjoyed by their peers living elsewhere in the city. These environments can aggregate risk factors for violence, and as the evidence presented earlier indicates, they can be associated with elevated levels of violence and victimization. As the determinants of violence are intersectoral in nature, so must be the

PEACE 16



Metrocable - Línea J

Source: Metrocable - Línea J by Edgar Jiménez is licensed under CC BY 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/ legalcode

response to violence. Cape Town is piloting one such approach, which is a whole-of-government response to turn these vulnerable settlements into liveable communities in order to reduce violence and improve livelihoods (Box 21).

Box 21. A comprehensive approach to violence prevention

In response to the unusually high incidence and health burden arising from interpersonal violence in South Africa's Western Cape Province, particularly in urban areas, the provincial government adopted an Integrated **Provincial Violence Prevention Policy** Framework in August 2013.

The policy framework outlines a comprehensive, intersectoral whole-ofgovernment and whole-of-society response to violence, rather than focusing on the criminal justice approach that is more typical in South Africa. It includes a suite of shortterm evidence-based interventions such as reducing the availability and harmful use of alcohol and guns. These are combined with longer-term interventions that aim to address structural factors to improve the quality of life

and access to means for whole communities; and the engagement of all citizens to address complex social factors and norms that are associated with violence. Despite pressure from industry groups, stricter gun control legislation has led to a significant decline in homicide. This has also been the case with alcohol legislation, where conflicting intradepartmental priorities and competing policies and directives for more liberalized trade have thwarted attempts to apply public healthcentred policies. Longer-term interventions include the Cape Town's flagship Violence Prevention through Urban Upgrading project that aims to reduce social exclusion. The project's three core aspects are: (i) the restructuring of the built environment to form safe and integrated human settlements and

195

COL

improve access to basic amenities (e.g. water, electricity and social services); (ii) building social and community cohesion, participation and engagement to address root causes of crime and violence; and (iii) the integration of planning and implementation of activities across all levels of government and civil society. Evaluation is complicated by the many concurrent dynamics affecting violence and safety, but promising early results have seen the uptake and replication of this model in five other municipalities in the province.

Source: Matzopoulos and Myers 2014 (363).

HLTH 3

EDUC 4

WATR

6

ENRG

7

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEQ

10

While slum settlements represent a more formal expression of exclusion in urban areas, many communities within the formal city share many similarities with the level of exclusion and depravity. Social inclusion refers to the capacity for individuals and groups to participate equally in society, and fostering the concept has been seen to prevent at least some forms of violence and victimization, which helps overall community cohesion (352). This can be further strengthened when citizens are helped to overcome the inequality or disadvantage they were born into, and by promoting equality of opportunity in employment and education. Life skills programmes have successfully been used to target at-risk youth and provide them with the necessary skills to make the most of opportunities. For example, between 2003 and 2006, the Abrindo Espaços Open Schools Programme, involving 5306 schools in Sao Paolo resulted in criminal acts being reduced by 45.5% through a mixture of sports, cultural and leisure activities and work-focused training (349). Creating access to better opportunity and designing communities to be more liveable can have profound effects on the incidence of violence. Broader approaches addressing both the physical and social environment in communities marred by exclusion is required to redress inequities and tackle the burden of violence and crime. The city of Medellin, Colombia, managed to reduce violence dramatically in one of its more marginalized communities by taking such an approach. Box 22 describes how a broader approach to community development, inclusiveness and safety can help to reduce violence.

CITY 11

Box 22. Reducing violence by reducing exclusion

Medellin is Colombia's second largest city, and for two decades was one of the most violent cities in the world, with homicide the leading cause of death since 1986. In 2002, before intervention, Medellin's homicide rate was more than three times the highest homicide rate in the USA.

In 1999, the city government responded

with a development programme designed to reduce physical and social exclusion of targeted communities. A new public transportation system known as the Metrocable was installed to connect impoverished neighbourhoods with the city centre. A parallel programme sought to improve the infrastructure of marginalized

PEACE 16

SUBSECTION

PARTN 17

communities with improved lighting, streets and walkways, schools, libraries, business development programmes and increased police patrols and presence. The government's principal motivation for bringing effective public transportation to remote areas of Medellin was to improve residents' access to jobs and attract new businesses to impoverished neighbourhoods. Reducing levels of violence, generating collective efficacy and increasing community members' willingness to rely on police seem to have been subsequent benefits of the dynamics set in place by the investment in public works. There was indeed a life-saving bonus beyond their intended area of impact:

homicide dropped 66% more in intervention neighbourhoods than in similar high-crime neighbourhoods, and reports of violent crimes declined 74% more in intervention neighbourhoods. This was one of the first natural experiments on neighbourhoods and violence, and the research findings have potential policy implications for cities elsewhere. They indicate that it is possible, even in LMICs, to harness municipal resources to implement structural interventions that will have an important impact on risk behaviours that place a significant burden on the health of populations.

Source: Cerdá et al. 2012 (364).

Cities need to deploy strategies to intervene with vulnerable spaces and communities, however, they must also intervene with vulnerable people. Population-based strategies can intercede in "hot spots" and reduce overall levels of violence, but within these hot spots there are individuals for whom life experiences and environments may increase their vulnerability to commit or be the victim of violence. Evidence indicates that there are ways to intervene with vulnerable individuals and vulnerable situations to prevent violence, without incarceration. Dangerous situations can be defused. People can be trained to manage violent impulses. In addition to helping people to make better life choices by enabling them with better opportunities, it is also possible to help people to make better decisions when faced with a dangerous situation.

Recent experimental evidence suggests that cognitive behaviour therapy might provide one of the solutions. In Monrovia, Liberia, researchers recruited 999 of the highest risk men in the city - young men, engaged in criminal behaviours, with violent tendencies. Subjects were randomized into treatment groups and a control group, with treatment groups receiving cognitive behaviour therapy, approximately three months' wages in cash, or both. The rationale behind treating people with cognitive behavioural therapy was that managing beliefs and behaviours, emotions and impulsivity are fundamental life skills that can be developed. The programme taught participants to be aware of their patterns of thinking and behaviour. It worked on developing skills for self-control, including planning skills, as well the ability to conduct deliberate, unemotional decision-making. It tried to foster a positive, nonviolent, non-criminal self-image among participants. The results of the study were dramatic. Among men who received the treatment, drug dealing fell by one half and thefts fell by one third within a few weeks of completion. These effects began to diminish after one year, but among those who completed treatment and received cash, the effects were longer lasting. After one year, this treatment group was 44% less likely to carry a weapon, 43% less likely to sell drugs and reported lower aggression (365). While it is not clear that this kind of intervention would work everywhere or for every individual at risk, the results are still highly

PG

197

COL



Source: WHO/Anna Kari

encouraging. First, the experiment raises the possibility that adults can be trained with life skills to control violent behaviour. Second, it indicates that when given the tools to avoid risky behaviours and the means to move in a more positive direction in life, people can make the right choices. The study found that most of the men who received therapy invested the money in a business or saved the money. For cities using job training as crime prevention, it is worth considering whether other life skills might be a worthwhile complement.

Similar therapy programmes carried out among youth in Chicago, for example, BAM (Becoming a Man), have experienced similar results. BAM found that its programmes reduced violent crimes among at-risk youth by 40% during the school year and may have improved graduation rates by up to 8% (*366*). Similar to the Liberia approach, the Chicago programme gives at-risk individuals both life skills and the means to achieve better life outcomes (in Liberia, in cash; in Chicago, a high school diploma). More research is necessary to understand how to sustain the progress achieved in this programme, as the study indicates that impact faded with time.

Another successful programme originating out of Chicago suggests that violence can be prevented by identifying and diffusing situations before they become violent, and with treatment from trusted members of the community, for those at risk of committing violent acts. The programme is in part motivated by the premise that chronic violence is the result of the tendency for violence to beget more violence. Heightened tensions, motivations for revenge, the apparent or real absence of justice – these can all incite one violent act to provoke another, and so on. The premise of the programme is to interrupt the flow of violence within communities, and stop further continuation. As detailed in Box 23, the programme trains members of the community, who are trusted by at-risk individuals, with skills to seek out and diffuse potentially violent situations. Once these situations have been diffused, the programme operators can work with social workers to train individuals and their communities to be resilient against future violence.

PEACE 16

PVRTY

HLTH 3

EDUC 4

ECON

8

СІТҮ

11

Box 23.

In 2012, there were 500 murders in Chicago - with more murders than any other city in the USA, its murder rate was four times the national average. In 2000, the NGO Cease Fire (now Cure Violence) developed a programme of "violence interrupters", community members who would intervene and stop the transmission of violence. Interrupters were hired from within violent communities, who would identify cases that could escalate to violence. They would also identify people close to the case, including those who might feel compelled to seek revenge, or otherwise provoke further violence. Trained in skills of persuasion, buying time, cooling people down and reframing, interrupters were trusted community members

whose job was to diffuse potentially violent situations. Once the violence had been interrupted, patients worked with outreach and social workers for up to 24 months. Community projects worked in parallel to change norms and create community resilience to violence. In its first Chicago community, Cease Fire reduced homicides by 67%. The approach moved to other neighbourhoods in Chicago, where evaluations showed reductions in homicides by an average of 38% more than in untreated neighbourhoods. It has since moved on to 23 additional USA cities, and eight other countries.

Source: Cure Violence (367).

SUMMARY

The effects of violence can be devastating, not only on the directly affected victims, but also as they ripple through families, communities and the city as a whole. Even nonfatal violence is known to cause lifelong ill-health, early death and social consequences for its victims and their families. In communities, violence can restrict mobility, deter investment, stigmatize neighbourhoods and constrain employment and educational opportunities

Violence comes at a significant economic cost to the city, the most obvious cost being the value of resources used to attempt to control it or treat its consequences in public and private expenditures. Violence and crime also have a high social cost. Being safe includes feeling safe – safe to simply take a walk in the park or neighbourhood and use public spaces, for example. A real or perceived lack of safety can isolate individuals and communities and change the way they interact with the urban environment. It affects their opportunities for work, education and recreation, and participation in political life. It also affects their health.

Reducing violence and improving safety in urban areas is a priority that cuts across issues and silos in cities. It is a challenge that affects the social fabric of the city, its economic vitality and the city's ability to function and deliver for its citizens. Violence and poor safety present a strikingly high burden of preventable ill-health and mortality for cities and the world, which, importantly, can be mitigated and prevented. City leaders can do much to intervene, but as with so many health issues in cities, the challenges and the solutions cut across sectors and silos and require coordination of a multisectoral response. LBR

For decades, city leaders everywhere have faced the challenge of accommodating growing urban populations and building prosperous societies around them. This is no small feat. Cities are complex systems of infrastructure and services, requiring nimble management of many moving parts. Shifting demographics make an already complex environment difficult to plan with everyone in mind.

In the worst of cases, surging populations in underresourced cities have left millions in unacceptable living conditions, in slum or slum-like housing with access to little or no city services. As noted, the outcomes in these environments are frequently poor. This section shows how the provision of safe water and sanitation has too often lagged behind the needs of the population. Unsafe water and sanitation can have devastating effects for individuals who are exposed, and in these unsafe environments,

SECTION 2 — CONCLUSION

waterborne disease can spread quickly throughout communities. It also explores the relationship between housing and air pollution, including both indoor air pollution from the use of unclean energy sources and outdoor air pollution that affects residents in poor housing environments. Many homes, even in cities, continue to have dirt floors, placing residents at further risk of ill-health. Even in higher-income cities, poor home construction may expose residents to hazardous materials and can fail to protect them from extreme temperatures. It explores how exclusion and inequity in cities undermines safety. Few places suffer from more exclusion and inequity than informal settlements.

In much of the world, cities have managed population growth, but in ways that are increasingly locking urban infrastructure

HLTH 3

PVRTY

WATR 6

ENRG 7

INFRA 9 INEO

CITY 11

10

CLIMT 13 into unhealthy forms for the long term. With the convenience of motor vehicle travel in mind, many neighbourhoods have fallen into mono- or limited-function environments, where the needs of everyday life and green spaces are difficult to access without personal motorized transport. Many growing cities have become sprawling expanses dotted with such neighbourhoods, where limited demand and supply of highly connected, accessible mass transportation has bolstered the need for personal motorized transport. With diminished physical activity and poor nutrition, these have fuelled the dramatic rise in NCDs and in obesity. This section covers how this phenomenon has contributed significantly to millions of annual deaths from ambient and indoor air pollution, road traffic fatalities, sedentary behaviour and poor nutrition.

These 21st century health challenges for cities can be avoided in growing cities and can be remedied in existing built environments. Cities can plan for natural growth and migration. Investing in services and infrastructure for growing populations can be expensive. However, the benefits of enabling new city residents to be healthy and productive are a significant counterweight, particularly when coupled with avoiding the cost of having to redesign poorly planned or unplanned urban development. Even within existing city infrastructure, important steps can be taken to make cities healthier and safer. Existing city streets can be rebalanced for mass transport, walking and cycling. Existing neighbourhoods can also be rebalanced to be multifunctional with green spaces to make the places where we live, work and play safely accessible. By enhancing their disaster health risk management systems, cities can mitigate the impact of unpredictable events.

There are solutions for every city. City leaders can choose to enable people to live healthier, more productive lives. They can prioritize people and vibrant economies at the same time, priorities that can be mutually reinforcing. It requires city leaders to think beyond the health sector when they prioritize the health of their people. It entails city departments co-owning these priorities and working together on coordinated strategies with communities.

C 1		c .	
31	DG		

PVRTY	
HNGR	
HLTH	
EDUC	
	SECTION
	SECIION
GNDR	

A RENEWED FOCUS ON URBAN GOVERNANCE

3

BIODV

PEACE 16

PARTN 17

	AUT
	BRA
KEY MESSAGES	BTN
	CAN
Bringing it all together for health equity	DNK
•	
Participation	FRA
•	GHA
Citizen empowerment through information sharing	нир
	IND
•	ITA
Public-private partnerships	KEN
•	MLI
Intersectoral action	NLD
•	PHL
Equity as the core value	PRT
	TZA
	UGA
	UKR

BRINGING IT ALL TOGETHER FOR HEALTH EQUITY

The primary purpose of this report is to elicit how health and health equity in cities is impacted by a multitude of factors and stakeholders, including social, political, and economic forces, urban planning, environment, safety, housing, pollution and access to health services, among others, and what can be done to remedy negative impacts and maximize positive health outcomes. Local governments are responsible for addressing many local needs. They typically have responsibility over a number of critical functions that determine liveability of cities such as land use, building standards, water and sanitation systems, roads and transportation, and environmental protection, among other issues. Their actions may exacerbate or diminish inequities in health, or in the distribution of determinants of health.

This concluding section of this report aims to bring together the various issues discussed in this report under the overarching issue of urban governance. It builds on the argument made earlier that the various topics covered in each chapter are actually closely interconnected and interdependent, and requires an integrated approach by different actors in order to maximize the desired effects and efficiency. Based on that premise, this chapter highlights some of the key features of urban governance that can help cities realize such an approach to becoming healthier and more sustainable places for all people.

WHO has previously identified four prerequisites for apt local action: political commitment; vision; institutional change; and networks (28). Political commitment to the values, principles and strategies of health for all urban residents is required at the highest level. A vision of the future with a strong health dimension provides a common basis for intersectoral action. Institutional structures, mechanisms and capacities must support both near-term change and enduring healthy public policy over the long term. Networks at local, national and international levels promote shared learning and innovation. These are all underpinned by strong leadership at the city or urban level.

Interest in urban governance and its impacts on city life is not new. The city council of Siena, Italy, commissioned a series of frescoes in 1338-1339 to illustrate the effects of good and bad government in the city (368). The artist Ambrogio Lorenzetti painted a series of six frescoes titled "Allegory of good and bad government", which are often referred to as representing good and bad governance, or the conduct of government. In one of the frescoes, the artist depicts virtues of good government by six crowned, stately female figures: peace; fortitude; prudence; magnanimity; temperance; and justice. Bad government, in a separate fresco, is represented by crime, disease and drought.

Acting on ill-health and poverty became an imperative in major cities of 19th century Europe. In Great Britain, for example, rapid urbanization and economic growth were associated with rising mortality rates for the country's poorest groups, who were increasingly concentrated in urban slums. However, actions to reduce the burden of disease were not realized until political shifts supported progressive urban governance, including sanitary improvements. Important policy lessons from Great Britain emphasize information systems as well as civic and political institutions in influencing the health development process (369).

Nearly seven centuries since Lorenzetti's frescoes, the world has become an urban majority. Michael Bloomberg, former mayor of New York City, refers to this as the world's first "metropolitan generation". Bloomberg posits that the rise of this generation's values of "industriousness, creativity, entrepreneurialism and, most important, liber-

PEACE 16

HLTH

3

FDUC

4

WATR 6

ECON

8

9

INEQ

10

СІТҮ

11

CLIMT

13



Source: Ambrogio Lorenzetti – Effects of good government in the city (1338–1339) – Google Art Project by Ambrogio Lorenzetti at the Google Cultural Institute. Licensed under public domain via Commons. ty and diversity" will increasingly shape our world (8). As demonstrated throughout this report, cities are poised to play a leading role in addressing major global challenges of the 21st century, especially with respect to the economy, climate change and public health.

The quality of governance in cities will be important not only for the local populations, but also for the achievement of ambitious international goals such as the SDGs. For this reason, the SDGs 16 and 17 specifically focus on the issues of governance and partnerships. So what should urban health governance look like in the 21st century given the experience and knowledge accumulated over the past few centuries, and more awareness of contemporary and future challenges? The discussion below outlines key elements of urban governance and the roles of members of civil society, the private sector and government to shape the future of public health in cities.

PARTICIPATION

The United Nations defines governance as "the process of decision-making and the process by which decisions are implemented (or not implemented)" (*370*). The power of participatory decision-making is not just enshrined in theory. An important lesson from British cities of the 19th century is the role played by empowered and organized groups and citizens in creating healthy social change. The Health of Towns movement in the 1840s and the Sanitary Idea resulted in the first national Public Health Act in 1848. National legislation, though, was not nearly as important in the causal story of improved mortality rates in Britain as was the widening of the electorate in local government affairs in 1869 (*371*).

Broad participation, although widely recognized as a desirable process for

PG

205

pvrty governance, has often been difficult to achieve in practice. Compromised processes have cut off participation in the implementation phases of projects and eliminated the need for accountability of authorities to grassroots stakeholders. Non-binding processes, lack of diversity in representation of stakeholders and lack of timely information sharing are some of the key barriers to effective participation. Furthermore, grassroots stakeholders may not have sufficient independence or capacity to apply pressure to organize outside of process. Where participatory processes yield gains, these are often due to independent grassroots actions (*372*).

These practical shortcomings are likely to reduce the effectiveness of participatory processes. A United States Agency for International Development (US-AID)-sponsored study in the Plurinational State of Bolivia, Honduras, India, Mali, the Philippines and the Ukraine concluded that although democratic local governance has the potential to strengthen participation and accountability, "there seem to be important limitations on how much participation can actually deliver" (*373*). Even successful participatory budgetary programmes such as those in Belo Horizonte and Porto Alegre in Brazil did not reflect the priorities of the poorest populations in the cities. The majority of poor populations did not even participate in the deliberations. A survey in 150 municipalities across Brazil in 1991 showed that the poorest and less-educated voters mentioned economic survival concerns, including job opportunities, cost of living and low salaries, as their top priorities and not infrastructure, which was the main focus of the participatory budgetary investment (*374*).

Despite the difficulties associated with productive participatory processes, several examples of successful contemporary urban health initiatives are presented in this report in which community participation was also a key success factor. Building community ownership of processes and implementation is critical in ensuring sustainable action on health inequities. City authorities and local institutions can also play an important role in ensuring access. As Box 24 shows, city governments and city-based institutions such as universities can play an important facilitating role in participatory processes to improve health equity.

CITIZEN EMPOWERMENT THROUGH INFORMATION SHARING

Improving transparency and sharing quality information widely in cities will further empower people to participate productively in decision-making processes. Technology is likely to play an important role in this regard, but it is no longer the major barrier. It is often the government processes that can be slow, cumbersome and ultimately not that effective, despite laws that require them to provide data to citizens when asked (*375*).

Open data are powering a new civic movement that is changing the way citizens experience their cities. Originally driven by a commitment to transparency and accountability, citizens, public and private sectors can now work together to lay the groundwork for cities to be as efficient as possible. For instance, the United States federal government website (Data.gov) indicates that hundreds of software applications (apps) have been created by citizens using government data. Many of the apps focus on sharing knowledge and information on public health and its determinants. The app "AIRNow" uses United States Environmental Protection Agency data to provide location-specific real-time air quality information and air quality forecasts for both

PEACE 16

FDUC

4

WATR 6

ECON

8

9

INEQ 10

CITY 11

- SUBSECTION

ozone and fine particle pollution.

NGOs are also playing an important role in empowering citizens with information. Twaweza, an NGO working in Kenya, Uganda and the United Republic of Tanzania focus on enabling children to learn, citizens to exercise agency and governments to be more open and responsive. They have two main objectives. First, they seek to enhance citizen agency by enhancing the ability of people to get better information more quickly, cheaply and reliably, monitor and discuss what is going on, speak out and act to make a difference. Second, empowered with the information, citizens are then able to access quality basic education, health care and clean water (*376*).

If a city has appropriate data, then it is not very expensive to create platforms that are openly available. Not only can open data make it possible for citizens to do more with data, but it should also help governments get better at doing new things. Above all, a well-informed populace will be able to hold elected officials accountable to the data that are available in their communities.

While open data have the potential to further empower people, the use is currently limited to cities in high-income countries such as Amsterdam, Belo Horizonte, Melbourne, Paris, Nantes and Vienna, for example. By demonstrating the use of open data in enhancing citizen engagement to improve quality and reach of public services in the city, a precedent can be set for other cities around the world. Given the rapid spread of technology, such as smartphones, local governments in LMICs should soon have the capacity to generate and share city-level data openly; subject, of course, to their willingness to do so.

Community participation is a fundamental requirement for meaningful urban governance, from prioritizing issues to evaluating interventions and monitoring the outcomes. Participation of residents helps ensure that appropriate issues are being addressed, promotes local ownership and engenders the sustainability of interventions. It also supports the broader agenda of community development and empowerment.

PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS

Rapid urbanization is constraining city governments' ability to provide quality services to their increasing populations. Physical infrastructure and financial and human resources have to be continually upgraded to keep up with the demands of the population. In this scenario, the private sector plays a critical role in supporting the provision of services that people need. The United Nations Global Compact lists 10 principles that can help private businesses establish a culture of integrity, and support them in upholding their basic responsibilities to people and to the planet, while also setting the stage for long-term success (*377*). These principles are focused on issues related to human rights, labour, environment and anticorruption issues.

Business leaders are also encouraging private companies to take the lead in bringing business and society back together. This can be done, for example, by redefining their business models based on the principle of shared value, which involves creating economic value in a way that also creates value for society by addressing its needs and challenges. Shared value is not the same as social responsibility, philanthropy or even sustainability, but a new way to achieve economic success. Social success is not intended



AUS

АЛТ

BRA

BTN

FRA



IND

MLI

KEN

- PHL
- PRT

TZA

UGA

to be on the margin of what companies do, but instead at the centre.

Demand for products and services that meet societal needs are rapidly growing. For instance, food companies that traditionally concentrated on taste and quantity to drive greater consumption are refocusing on the fundamental need for better nutrition. Given the comparative advantage of businesses in marketing to motivate customers to embrace products and services, governments and NGOs could partner with them to focus on products that create societal benefits, such as healthier food or environmentally friendly products, in line with international normative standards.

While public-private partnerships are not the focus of this report, they are an important aspect of urban governance. The private business sector can provide its financing capacity and business expertise to cities by working independently or in partnership with the public sector. Three main ways in which the private sector can engage in urban health governance are: (i) in a partnership with the public sector on building infrastructure and providing health-related services; (ii) by investing their comparative advantages in specific areas such as marketing to support the adoption of health-promoting behaviours and products; and (iii) as a donor or philanthropist supporting initiatives relevant to public health.

For instance, there is an increase in corporate philanthropic activity in Latin America (378). Health is one of the three priorities together with education and social assistance. Some companies are investing resources in local development programmes in municipalities or neighbouring communities. These programmes usually include participatory diagnostic processes and the establishment of partnerships with civil society organizations and local government authorities. Others aim to modernize public administration, offering financial resources and expertise to build the capacity of managers and policy-makers in the implementation of public programmes, often in health services.

Even so, there is a need for caution while considering public-private partnerships, especially with respect to promoting equity. With the rise of neoliberalism in the late 20th century, more private sector participation was widely promoted including by international development agencies. However, the resulting public-private partnerships proved no better at reaching deprived urban neighbourhoods.

In some countries such as India, it is not out of choice but out of necessity that much of the middle class in cities benefits from privately provided services for health and education (379). Public service provision is inadequate to meet the demands of its populations. For example, the key barrier in upgrading and maintaining cities in India is political. At one end, there is political resistance at the state government level to empowering towns and cities with a statutory urban local government that could articulate and deliver their demand for infrastructure and services. At the other end, rural local governments are reluctant to "go urban" because local politicians see more funds coming their way through rural development schemes. India's urban population is projected to increase from 380 million (33%) in 2014 to 600 million (about 40%) by 2031. Inadequate planning for the inevitable increase in urbanization in India is creating a socially and environmentally unsustainable situation.

There are constraints in bringing public and private sectors together effectively. Getting the financial and institutional aspects right requires constructive and efficient negotiations between the two sectors. A study in Accra, Ghana, was conducted on waste collection performance from 1985 to 2000 under two different institutional regimes (*380*). The study compared the situation of entire public sector dependence to

PEACE 16

HLTH

3

FDUC

4

ECON

8

INFRA

9

INEQ

10

CITY

11

CLIMT 13

PARTN SUBSECTION

increased private sector involvement. It found that the public–private mix was more effective for the solid waste collection rate, and disposal improved from 51% in 1998 to 91% in 2000. However, the results could not be sustained in the long term, in this case beyond 10 years of public–private partnership.

According to a United Nations report (5), private sector contributions through both good governance in business practices and investment in sustainable development will be critical to the fulfilment of the SDGs. Public sector contributions will remain indispensable, but may be insufficient to meet demands across all SDG-related sectors. While recognizing the challenges in sustaining public–private partnerships in relation to productivity and equity in outcomes, it is time to enhance this relationship. With the wide and ambitious ambit of the SDGs there appears to be little choice but to do so.

INTERSECTORAL ACTION

Intersectoral action for urban health equity can refer to: (i) working across departments within city government (e.g. health; transport; environment); (ii) working across different actors (e.g. government, private sector; civil society); and (iii) action across the different levels of policy and action concerned with urban health (e.g. neighbourhood, city, provincial, national and international levels).

This report shows the impact of the health sector along with other sectors, such as housing, transport, urban planning and the environment on public health in cities. While each of the factors and their impacts are considered separately, this division is largely for convenient illustration. In reality, these factors are inextricable. For instance, increasing traffic density in poorly planned cities of LMICs with weak enforcement of seatbelt legislation and speed limits is not only a risk for road traffic crashes, but the pollution from motor vehicles contributes to ambient air pollution, which is strongly linked to cardiovascular and respiratory health.

Reducing the health impacts of increasing traffic density in such cities will involve improving legislation (e.g. on seatbelts), law enforcement and making roads and motor vehicles safer. To control the magnitude of ambient air pollution, exhaust and non-exhaust emissions standards for motor vehicles would have to be created and enforced. The health system would need to enhance its capacity to prevent, treat and manage health problems linked to air pollution. To develop positive impacts for health, additional options for low-emissions public transport or active transport will need to be formulated. Infrastructure development for new transport options will also necessitate appropriate urban planning, which can redefine urban form in cities. To add to the complexity, pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists account for 49% of all deaths (274). Therefore, any action would need to consider its differential impact on road users as well. Cities do not always have the mandate to develop legislation for all the issues discussed, such as for seatbelt use or exhaust emissions levels. This means that coordination with the national government will also be essential to mitigate the negative impacts of increased motor vehicle traffic on health.

While the analysis above may not be exhaustive, it illustrates the point that mitigating adverse health impacts cannot only be handled by the health system, it also requires a system-wide approach, working across sectors in the city government as well

ΡG

209

GHA

as engaging with different levels of government.

Health in All Policies (HiAP), a specific application of intersectoral action, is an approach to decision-making that recognizes that most public policies have the potential to influence health and health equity, either positively or negatively (*381*). In the process of HiAP, decision-makers in other sectors routinely consider health outcomes, including benefits, harms and health-related costs.

HiAP has been most successfully applied at the regional level in Australia, Canada and Finland. The North Karelia Project, launched in 1972, aimed to reduce the impact of coronary heart disease in the Finnish region of North Karelia through engaging other sectors such as community organizations, dairy and meat producers, and schools to improve community health (*382*). The project resulted in significant reductions in CVD mortality and has been noted as a successful model for cross-sector collaboration. At the city level, Richmond in the San Francisco Bay Area has been pursuing and has successfully implemented an HiAP strategy that views its municipal employees as "community clinicians" (Box 24) (*383*).

Box 24.

Health equity in all urban policies

In the San Francisco Bay Area of California, local governments and university partners are collaborating to address chronic, socially produced urban health inequities. An African-American child born in West Oakland in this area will die, on average, 15 years earlier than a Caucasian child living just a few kilometres away. In this same geographic region, life expectancy for everyone increased between 1960 and 2006, yet the difference in life expectancy between these racial groups has persisted and is increasing.

As part of a response to this longstanding problem, local governments and civil society groups began developing new strategies to alter policy and urban planning practice. The Richmond Health Equity Partnership (RHEP) strategy was crafted with the help of the University of California, Berkeley. As part of RHEP, the city/county health department, the school district and community-based organizations were brought together to work on health equity for the first time. Three new initiatives emerged: (i) a full service community schools project, where public schools act as resources for children and adults in the community to deliver health services, employment and ongoing education; (ii) a health equity indicator effort, where residents and health officials gather data to define and track progress towards health equity; and (iii) a Health in All Policies strategy and ordinance. The result of 18 months of collaborative work was an HiAP law, enacted in April 2014, and accompanying implementation guidance that was the first for a city in the USA.

The impacts of HiAP have been significant and gained national attention. Richmond is using HiAP to retrain municipal employees and create a culture of health, where all city staff are viewed as "community clinicians". The city has also used it to: address housing foreclosure and gentrification issues; invest in violence reduction, not prisons; advocate industrial air pollution control; attract new

PARTN

17

PEACE 16

HLTH

3

FDUC

4

ECON 8

CITY

11

СШМТ

13

A renewed focus on urban governance

economic development; revitalize parks and greenspaces; hire local youth for municipal improvement projects; and build a care centre for victims of domestic violence and human trafficking.

While population health outcomes may not change in only a few years, gun-related homicides were at their lowest number in 30 years by 2014, and city survey results indicated that self-rated "good" health and positive perceptions of community and the role of local government were all at their highest level in seven years. As the work to implement HiAP in Richmond continues, it offers a democratic model for addressing health equity through an integrated urban governance strategy.

Source: HiAP 2014 (383).

Despite a long history of recognizing the need for intersectoral action in addressing public health and implementing specific strategies such as HiAP, there are limited examples of the process being effectively applied. A number of reasons for this have been put forward, but a critical one has been the lack of replicable models of successful intersectoral action. Specific challenges, for example, were identified in a citybased effort on intersectoral action for health in Varde, Denmark (384). First, employees outside the health sector perceived the initiative as an additional task. Second, there was a lack of direct funding for the initiative. Third, there was a lack of ownership of the policy and the level of ambition in pursuing success varied widely between sectors. Fourth, baseline measures were lacking and the objectives of the initiative were not clear to all participants.

Place-based intersectoral action for health offers an opportunity to overcome many of these barriers by focusing on improvements in neighbourhood resources and conditions. New York City's Take Care New York (TCNY) 2020 initiative, for example, calls for working with communities to make neighbourhoods healthier (*385*). To determine neighbourhood health, the plan considers both health and social factors such as how many people in a community graduate from high school or go to jail. Including these social factors has highlighted the need for partnerships and collaborations to improve health. Financially backed by the city government and supported by evidence of community health profiles, community consultations are organized by TCNY with open invitations to the public. While this is still an ongoing process, such initiatives can potentially set an example of how to address health equity by including health considerations in all neighbourhood issues.

Given the complex interconnectivity of issues related to health in cities, HiAP is very much an essential approach to adopt. Truly embedding health equity into policy and decision-making processes across all city government departments will require that HiAP be institutionalized (386). This needs formal and sustainable structures, processes and resources that enable timely analysis of the health consequences of decisions. Translation of this understanding into action necessitates an active engagement of a wide range of relevant stakeholders.

There are a number of key considerations in order for HiAP to be successful. First, the most effective placement for HiAP will be within the executive office of government to help ensure that this becomes a priority across all agencies. Health experts or a health department would need to play an important leadership and technical assistance role. Second, funding allocation to a single agency or team can create

211

CAN

AUS

DNK

unfair burdens for other participating agencies, or unrealistic expectations for the funded agency. On the other hand, distributed funding requires interagency agreements that can be complicated or require contractual obligations that limit flexibility. A contextual approach, or even a place-based approach, for the funding strategy will need to be determined. Third, not every policy decision will impact health, and applying a health lens often requires resources. It is important to determine when a health lens analysis is appropriate, who will conduct that screening and how it will be done. Fourth, HiAP requires new skills for workers in public health and partner agencies including technical skills such as how to conduct a health lens analysis or policy analysis, collaboration skills and political skills. An active partnership with academia can support local authorities with the necessary evidence and expand the availability of skills for HiAP.

EQUITY AS THE CORE VALUE

At the heart of the matter is the urgency for cities to improve equity in health and development, which is being challenged by a multitude of forces such as rapid unplanned urbanization, climate change and unequal economic growth and prosperity. Increasing meaningful participation from citizens, especially those who are most affected by adverse events and conditions, will increase the effectiveness of programmes and initiatives to improve equity. Reaching an understanding with the private sector on the harmony between social and economic goals in the city will vastly expand opportunities and access to services for citizens. And all of this will be more efficiently achieved if health of the people is not viewed solely as a responsibility of the health system. All sectors in cities benefit from a healthy population. There should be no reason for not developing a shared responsibility for health in city departments.

This report presents evidence that health is not only "manufactured" by the health sector. People's health in cities is strongly dependent on their living and working conditions, and accessibility to a wide range of services as well as physical and social environments. Urban living is mostly beneficial with respect to increased prosperity and better access to health and social services. However, new threats to human health have emerged. While some health threats are due to limited resources in cities that are experiencing a rapid rise in population, other challenges are arising from how available resources are used, including how cities and their services are planned and managed. Of greatest concern are the implications for people who are socially and economically excluded from the benefits of living in a city.

Effective urban governance is not the sole domain of government, but the combined effort of a multitude of actors, including different levels of government, NGOs, the private sector and the community. We all have a role to play in improving the situation either as a part of the community in which we live, or in our professional capacities. Our actions in making the city a better place to live and work in for all will result in important health improvements for current and future generations. Demand for transparency in generating and sharing evidence and in decision-making will increase accountability and efficiency. As citizens, we need to constructively engage in understanding the implications of policies and decisions taken on our behalf, and develop an informed response to situations that may not be in the best interests of people's health.

The global political commitment to the SDGs provides us all a platform to

PEACE 16

FDUC

4

GNDR 5

WATR 6

ECON

8

INEQ

10

CITY

11

CLIMT 13

SUBSECTION PARTN

contribute to improving health and quality of life in cities. While each of the 17 SDGs address critical areas for development, it is important to capture the links between the different goals and address them holistically. For example, nearly half the goals are related directly to environmental and social sustainability. The World Economic Forum has linked five goals, including health, to the Global Competitiveness Index, which measures competitiveness of national policy environments (*387*). The United Nations has estimated a US\$ 2.5 trillion annual investment gap for achieving the SDGs in developing countries alone (*5*). If we are to address health of populations in cities, a holistic approach needs to be applied in achieving the SDGs for health, cities, education, nutrition, gender equality, poverty eradication, climate action, and clean water and sanitation.

One of Lorenzetti's six frescoes titled "Peaceful city" illustrates that if government is virtuous and rules justly, then the city thrives and prospers. The artist, in particular, emphasizes the role of "justice". At the lower end of the wall, words inscribed by the artist translate into "...how sweet and peaceful is that life of the city where is preserved this virtue [Justice] who outshines any other" (388). Health equity is social justice in health (389). As cities grapple with 21st century challenges and pledge to improve the health of their populations, it is critical that the core value of their strategy is equity.

SUBSECTION

213

ANNEX 1 — Methodological notes for the urban-level analysis using the Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) and the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS)

Reliable and comparable data for 102 countries, mostly low- and middle-income (LMICs), were analysed for determining health and health inequities in urban areas. Data presented in this report are only from countries for which at least one dataset beyond 2005 for urban areas was publicly available at the time of analysis in 2014–2015. In order to assess how urban areas perform in comparison to the national and rural levels, national, urban and rural averages were calculated for all indicators of interest. To further investigate inequalities *within* urban settings, the indicators were also disaggregated using different socioeconomic stratifiers, including wealth and education.

The purpose of the comprehensive descriptive and trend analysis of these data was to identify countries that have been more effective at reaching the urban poor over the past two decades. The main objectives were to:

- identify patterns, magnitudes and trends of health inequalities in urban settings at the national level on key health and social determinants of health indicators;
- analyse whether the urban poor are being left behind by development initiatives and overall improvement of health indicators at the national level;
- identify health inequities in selected cities where sample sizes were sufficiently large and data were reliable.

While this report focuses on highlighting the most relevant evidence to support its key messages, the full datasets on 102 countries can be found on the WHO Global Health Observatory, urban health theme page: www.who.int/gho/urban_health.

DATA SOURCES

The descriptive analysis used two sources of data, namely the Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) and the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS). The DHS and MICS have been conducted in several developing countries across the world since the late 1980s. Both provide information, mostly comparable between countries and over time, about health issues and their social and economic context. They include a variable that allows the extraction of data from urban areas. Therefore, they provide an opportunity to develop a reliable and comparable evidence base that will enable better understanding of relevant urban health issues. Both the DHS and MICS have been a major source of data for the Millennium Development Goals (MDG) indicators and will continue to be a major data source for the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) indicators as part of the post-2015 agenda.

SUBSECTION

Annex 1

ΡG

DATASETS AND INDICATORS

Data were used from 196 DHS surveys in 68 countries and 85 MICS surveys in 60 countries. Also used were all standard and interim DHS surveys, from Phase II to Phase VI, that were publicly available as of May 2015, covering the period from 1990 to 2013. Data from Phase I of the DHS (1984–1989) were not used, mainly because questionnaires have changed significantly, making data less comparable over time, and because key household wealth information was missing in many surveys in this initial phase. Also excluded were surveys with only raw data available and those that were not representative of the whole country. In addition, surveys were excluded that did not have wealth information and, therefore, were not suited for inequality analysis.

Data were used from all MICS surveys from Round III and Round IV that were publicly available as of May 2015, covering the period from 2005 to 2012. All nationally representative surveys were considered as well as specific regional/state surveys such as those from Macedonia, Pakistan and Serbia. To improve comparability across the MICS surveys and with the DHS surveys, surveys corresponding to the first rounds of implementation in the 1990s and early 2000s were excluded.

The list of indicators and their respective definitions for which data were available from the WHO Global Health Observatory urban health theme page is shown in Table A1.1. While only selected analyses are highlighted in this report based on relevance to the particular issue being discussed, data on all indicators can be downloaded from the WHO Global Health Observatory.

Table A1.1.	
List of indicators and definitions	

Indicator		Definition	
	HEALTH OUTCOMES		
1.	Under-5 mortality rate	Probability of dying before fifth birthday (5q0) expressed as number of deaths per 1000 live births	
2.	Infant mortality rate	Probability of dying before first birthday (1q0) expressed as number of deaths per 1000 live births	
3.	Adolescent birth rate	Number of births among women ages 15–19 per 1000 women ages 15–19	
HEALTH SYSTEM COVERAGE			
4.	Coverage of skilled birth attendance	Percentage of births attended by a health-care professional	
5.	Coverage of antenatal care (at least four visits)	Percentage of women who had at least four antenatal care visits to a health-care professional for their last birth	
6.	Coverage of DPT3 vaccination in children	Percentage of children under 5 years immunized with the third dose of the DPT vaccine	
7.	Coverage of measles vaccination in children	Percentage of children under 5 years immunized against measles	

SUBSECTION
	Indicator	Definition
8.	Coverage of bednet ownership in household	Percentage of households that have a bednet for sleeping
9.	Coverage of ITN ownership in household	Percentage of households with at least one ITN for sleeping (an ITN is a factory-treated net that does not require any treat- ment or a net that has been soaked with insecticide within the past 12 months)
10.	Coverage of bednet use among children	Percentage of children under 5 years who slept under a bednet the previous night
11.	Coverage of ITN use among children	Percentage of children under 5 years who slept under an ITN the previous night
	PHYSIOLOGICAL RI	SK FACTORS
12.	Prevalence of (moderate or severe) chronic malnutrition in children (stunting)	Percentage of children under 5 years whose height for age is less than minus 2 standard deviations from the median for the standard reference population
13.	Prevalence of (moderate or severe) under- weight in children	Percentage of children under 5 years whose weight for age is less than minus 2 standard deviations from the median for the standard reference population
14.	Prevalence of overweight and obesity in children	Percentage of children under 5 years of age whose weight for height is more than 2 standard deviations from the medi- an for the standard reference population
15.	Prevalence of overweight and obesity in women	Percentage of women ages 15–49 years with a BMI greater than 25
16.	Prevalence of obesity in women	Percentage of women ages 15–49 years with a BMI greater than 30
	BEHAVIOURAL RIS	K FACTORS
17.	Prevalence of current cigarette smoking among women	Percentage of women ages 15–49 years that currently smoke cigarettes
18.	Prevalence of current cigarette smoking among men	Percentage of men ages 15–54/64 years that currently smoke cigarettes
19.	Comprehensive correct knowledge about sexu- al transmission of HIV/AIDS among women	Percentage of women ages 15–49 who know that using con- doms AND having just one sexual partner can reduce the risk of getting HIV/AIDS
20.	Comprehensive correct knowledge about sexu- al transmission of HIV/AIDS among men	Percentage of men ages 15–54/64 who know that using con- doms AND having just one sexual partner can reduce the risk of getting HIV/AIDS
21.	Knowledge about the use of condoms as a way to avoid HIV/AIDS among young women	Percentage of women ages 15–24 that identify the use of con- doms as a way to avoid HIV/AIDS
22.	Knowledge about the use of condoms as a way to avoid HIV/AIDS among young men	Percentage of men ages 15–24 that identify the use of con- doms as a way to avoid HIV/AIDS

	Indicator	Definition					
	ENVIRONMENTAL RISK FACTORS						
23.	Exposure to indoor air pollution	Percentage of the population using solid fuels as the main energy for cooking					
24.	Access to piped water onto premises	Percentage of the population using a piped water connection located inside the dwelling, plot or yard					
25.	Access to improved drinking-water	Percentage of the population using an improved drinking-wa- ter source					
26.	Open defecation	Percentage of the population not using any sanitation facility (human faeces are disposed of in fields, forests, bushes, open bodies of water, beaches or with solid waste)					
27.	Access to adequate handwashing facilities	Percentage of households with soap and water at a handwash- ing facility in the dwelling, yard or plot					
28.	Poor housing quality (durable structures)	Percentage of households living in dwellings that have dirt (earth), sand, mud or dung floor					

BMI, body mass index; DPT, diptheria, pertussis and tetanus; ITN, insecticide treated net

Table A1.2 shows the list of countries for which data were analysed and disaggregated at the urban level for this report. It includes the United Nations 3-letter code for the country, the region to which the country belongs using the United Nations classification, income category using the World Bank classification, number of surveys available for the country during the study period and the latest year for which data were used in this report.

Table A1.2.List of countries with DHS or MICS data available for urban analysis

	Country	3-letter United Nations code	World Bank income category	Total number of surveys (DHS or MICS) available, 1990–2013	Latest year of data available
			AFRICA		
1	Benin	BEN	Low-income	4	2011
2	Burkina Faso	BFA	Low-income	5	2010
з	Burundi	BDI	Low-income	2	2010
4	Cameroon	CMR	Lower-middle-income	5	2011
5	Central African Republic	CAF	Low-income	3	2010

SUBSECTION

	Country	3-letter United Nations code	World Bank income category	Total number of surveys (DHS or MICS) available, 1990–2013	Latest year of data available
6	Chad	тср	Low-income	3	2010
7	Comoros	СОМ	Low-income	2	2012
8	Congo (Brazzaville)	COG	Lower-middle-income	2	2011
9	Democratic Republic of the Congo	COD	Low-income	3	2013
10	Côte d'Ivoire	CIV	Lower-middle-income	4	2011
11	Djibouti	DJI	Lower-middle-income	1	2006
12	Egypt	EGY	Lower-middle-income	5	2008
13	Ethiopia	ЕТН	Low-income	3	2011
14	Gabon	GAB	Upper-middle-income	2	2012
15	Gambia	GMB	Low-income	1	2005
16	Ghana	GHA	Lower-middle-income	6	2011
17	Guinea	GIN	Low-income	3	2012
18	Guinea-Bissau	GNB	Low-income	1	2006
19	Kenya	KEN	Lower-middle-income	4	2008
20	Lesotho	LSO	Lower-middle-income	2	2009
21	Liberia	LBR	Low-income	2	2013
22	Madagascar	MDG	Low-income	3	2008
23	Malawi	MWI	Low-income	5	2010
24	Mali	MLI	Low-income	4	2012
25	Mauritania	MRT	Lower-middle-income	1	2007
26	Mozambique	MOZ	Low-income	4	2011
27	Namibia	NAM	Upper-middle-income	4	2013
28	Niger	NER	Low-income	3	2012
29	Nigeria	NGA	Lower-middle-income	6	2013
30	Rwanda	RWA	Low-income	5	2010
31	Sao Tome and Principe	STP	Lower-middle-income	1	2008
32	Senegal	SEN	Lower-middle-income	4	2012

SUBSECTION

Annex 1

	Country	3-letter United Nations code	World Bank income category	Total number of surveys (DHS or MICS) available, 1990–2013	Latest year of data available
33	Sierra Leone	SLE	Low-income	4	2013
34	Somalia	SOM	Low-income	1	2006
35	Sudan	SDN	Lower-middle-income	1	2010
36	Swaziland	SWZ	Lower-middle-income	2	2010
37	United Republic of Tanzania	TZA	Low-income	4	2010
38	Тодо	TGO	Low-income	3	2010
39	Tunisia	TUN	Upper-middle-income	1	2010
40	Uganda	UGA	Low-income	4	2011
41	Zambia	ZMB	Lower-middle-income	3	2007
42	Zimbabwe	ZWE	Low-income	5	2010
			ASIA-PACIFIC		
43	Afghanistan	AFG	Low-income	1	2010
44	Bangladesh	BGN	Lower-middle-income	7	2011
45	Bhutan	BTN	Lower-middle-income	1	2010
46	Cambodia	КНМ	Low-income	3	2010
47	India	IND	Lower-middle-income	3	2005
48	Indonesia	IDN	Lower-middle-income	4	2012
49	Iraq	IRQ	Upper-middle-income	2	2011
50	Jordan	JOR	Upper-middle-income	6	2012
51	Kazakhstan	KAZ	Upper-middle-income	4	2010
52	Kyrgyz Republic	KGZ	Lower-middle-income	3	2012
53	Lao People's Democratic Republic	LAO	Lower-middle-income	2	2011
54	Maldives	MDV	Upper-middle-income	1	2009
55	Mongolia	MNG	Upper-middle-income	2	2010
56	Nepal	NPL	Low-income	4	2011
57	Pakistan	РАК	Lower-middle-income	3	2012
58	Philippines	PHL	Lower-middle-income	5	2013

SUBSECTION

	Country	3-letter United Nations code	World Bank income category	Total number of surveys (DHS or MICS) available, 1990–2013	Latest year of data available
59	Palestine	PSE	Lower-middle-income	1	2010
60	Syrian Arab Republic	SYR	Lower-middle-income	1	2006
61	Tajikistan	тјк	Lower-middle-income	1	2006
62	Thailand	ТНА	Upper-middle-income	1	2005
63	Timor-Leste	TLS	Lower-middle-income	1	2009
64	Uzbekistan	UZB	Lower-middle-income	2	2006
65	Vanuatu	νυτ	Lower-middle-income	1	2007
66	Viet Nam	VNM	Lower-middle-income	4	2010
67	Yemen	YEM	Lower-middle-income	1	2006
			EASTERN EUROPE		
68	Albania	ALB	Upper-middle-income	2	2008
69	Armenia	ARM	Lower-middle-income	3	2010
70	Azerbaijan	AZE	Upper-middle-income	1	2006
71	Belarus	BLR	Upper-middle-income	2	2012
72	Bosnia and Herzegovina	він	Upper-middle-income	2	2011
73	Georgia	GEO	Lower-middle-income	1	2005
74	Macedonia	МКД	Upper-middle-income	2	2011
75	Moldova	MDA	Lower-middle-income	2	2012
76	Montenegro	MNE	Upper-middle-income	1	2005
77	Serbia	SRB	Upper-middle-income	2	2010
78	Ukraine	UKR	Lower-middle-income	3	2012
		LATIN AMER	ICA AND THE CARIBBEAN (L	AC)	
79	Argentina	ARG	Upper income	1	2011
80	Barbados	BRB	Upper income	1	2012
81	Belize	BLZ	Upper-middle-income	2	2011
82	Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	BOL	Lower-middle-income	4	2008

Annex 1

	Country	3-letter United Nations code	World Bank income category	Total number of surveys (DHS or MICS) available, 1990–2013	Latest year of data available
83	Colombia	COL	Upper-middle-income	5	2010
84	Costa Rica	CRI	Upper-middle-income	1	2011
85	Cuba	CUB	Upper-middle-income	2	2010
86	Dominican Republic	DOM	Upper-middle-income	5	2013
87	Guyana	GUY	Lower-middle-income	2	2009
88	Haiti	нті	Low-income	4	2012
89	Honduras	HND	Lower-middle-income	2	2011
90	Jamaica	JAM	Upper-middle-income	2	2011
91	Peru	PER	Upper-middle-income	9	2012
92	Saint Lucia	LCA	Upper-middle-income	1	2012
93	Suriname	SUR	Upper-middle-income	2	2011
94	Trinidad and Tobago	тто	Upper income	1	2006

DHS, Demographic and Household Surveys; MICS, Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey

ANNEX 2 — Methodological notes on the calculation of the Urban Health Index (UHI)

ABOUT THE UHI

The UHI is a single, composite metric that can be used to measure and map the inequalities in health determinants and outcomes in urban areas. The UHI provides a flexible approach to selection, amalgamation and presentation of health data. Its purpose is to furnish visual, graphical and statistical insight into various health indicators and health determinants within particular geographic boundaries, with a focus on capturing intra-urban health inequalities.

The UHI was commissioned by the World Health Organization Centre for Health Development (WHO Kobe Centre) and developed by researchers at Georgia State University in Atlanta, USA, with funding and technical guidance from the WHO Kobe Centre. The tool that emerged through expert consultations and commissioned papers was not predicated on new methods, but rather built on a methodology that

SUBSECTION

ΡG

has been under development for many years. A review of existent indicator databases and current approaches to the formation of indices revealed diversity in terminology, but considerable concordance in the types of indicators used (390). Numerous indices have been proposed, most predicated on the inclusion of specific indicators, and many employing arbitrary weighting schemes. The UHI builds on the considerable correlation among indicators of the same type (for example, total mortality and its subsets) and eschews weighting in favour of different indicator combinations.

The method for the UHI construction has drawn on the approach used by the Human Development Index (HDI) that standardizes indicators by converting them to a proportion of their range so that they are directly comparable, and then combines them using the geometric mean. The resulting UHI value has a range from 0 to 1. The UHIs for contiguous areas are rank ordered. A disparity ratio is calculated from the extremes of the distribution and a disparity slope is calculated by the angle of increase. UHIs for contiguous areas are mapped to provide an immediate visual grasp of the extent and distribution of disparities. This approach permits freedom to choose the scale (from small area estimates to national comparisons), the indicators (largely dependent on data availability) and the mode of presentation.

The detailed methodology for the UHI has been published elsewhere (32). A handbook for the calculation and use of the UHI is available from the WHO Kobe Centre, along with an Excel-based calculation tool and sample data (391).

ABOUT THE UHI RESULTS IN THIS REPORT

While the main focus of the UHI is on examining intra-urban inequalities, for the purpose of this global report, the UHI was applied to city data extracted from the Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) to conduct an inter-city comparison across as many cities as possible. The dataset selected was all data made available and collected or released through the DHS from 2003 to 2013. For each country, a capital city was identified. Then, variables related to the residential location of the interviewee – mainly v024, v025, v026 – were used to identify and extract urban observations from the capital city (or capital region) of that country. In some cases where additional major cities were identifiable, urban observations from those cities were included in the analysis as well (e.g. Kolkata, Mumbai and New Delhi in India). Subsequently, 60 cities in 56 countries were identified.

Various combinations of indicators were considered for the construction of the UHI for this particular analysis. The main objective was to select a set of key urban health determinants and tracer indicators of UHC. Indicator selection also took into consideration the number of missing observations and effective sample sizes per variable in order to maximize the number of city samples that could be included in the analysis. Thus, the final construction of the UHI reflects the optimal balance between relevance of the indicators and number of city samples available for analysis.

The final version of the UHI presented in Figure 2 in the Introduction of this report is based on a UHI comprised of nine indicators calculated at the city level for the urban samples of households, women and children, as applicable: (i) percentage of households with water piped onto premises; (ii) percentage of households with improved sanitation; (iii) percentage of households that do not use solid fuel for cooking in

the home; (iv) percentage of women who completed secondary education or higher; (v) percentage of women who believe that having only one partner can decrease HIV risk; (vi) percentage of women who believe that condom use can decrease HIV risk; (vii) percentage of children 1–4 years of age who received three doses of the DPT vaccine; (viii) percentage of children 1–4 years of age who received three doses of the polio vaccine; and (ix) percentage of children 1–4 years of age who received the measles vaccine. The two indicators on HIV/AIDS were assigned a weight of ½ each, while the three indicators on immunization were assigned weights of ⅓ each.

This UHI could be calculated for 57 (mostly capital) cities in 54 countries. The results are visualized in the map presented in Figure 2 in the Introduction of this report. The city-level UHI has been divided into quintiles and colour-coded with the darker colour shades indicating worse UHI scores. The size of the bubble for each city represents population size. Specific findings are highlighted in the accompanying text.

A detailed technical report (27) describing the sample selection method, the rationale for the indicator selection and additional analyses is available from the WHO Kobe Centre. The indicator values and the resulting UHI values for each of the 57 cities can be found in the appendix of the technical report.

Another example of an analysis that used the UHI method is presented in the chapter on health equity in this report. It was applied to visualize the variance in health outcomes at the ward and municipal subdivision levels of the Greater Tokyo Area of Japan using a UHI based on age-adjusted, cause-specific mortality rates (32). In this case, a higher UHI value represented worse outcomes (higher mortality).

223

SEMANTIC INDEX - SDG

Each SDG is defined by a set of words, that when cited in the text, link to the respective SDG on the left of the page

SDG 1 - PVRTY End poverty in all its forms everywhere

Poor/-s, poverty, slum/-s, exposure, low-income, exclusion, basic services, social protection, urban povertv

SDG 2 - HNGR

End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture

Land/-s, malnutrition, hunger, agricultural land, agricultural sector, crop/-s, farmers, farming, farms, food/-s, food consumption, food deserts. food markets

SDG 3 - HLTH Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages

AIDS, alcohol, alcoholic/-s, antenatal care, birth attendance, cancer/-s, condom/-s, CVD, diabete/-s, diarrhoea, diarrhoeal, epidemic/-s, medicine/-s, family planning, health financing, health risk/-s, HIV, hypertension, infectious disease/-s, injury/-s, low-birth-weight, malaria, mental health, NCD/-s, obesity, physical activity/-s, physical inactivity, premature mortality, primary health-care, reproductive health, respiratory disease/-s, respiratory infection/-s, risk reduction, sedentary behaviour, smoke, smoke-free, smoking, stillbirth/-s, stroke/-s, TB, tobacco, tuberculosis, UHI, UNAIDS, under-mortality, universal health coverage

SDG 4 - EDUC Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all

Community/-ies, recreation, participation/-s, school/-s, education, enrolment, literacy, university/-ies, skill/-s, culture, learning, training

SDG 5 - GNDR Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls

Gender, empowerment, discrimination/-s

SDG 6 - WATR Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all

Drinking-water, inadequate sanitation, open defecation, safe water, sanitation, sewer/-s, stagnant water, tap/-s, toilet/-s, undrinkable water, unsafe water, water, water storage, water supply system/-s, water source/-s

SDG 7 - ENRG

Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all

Coal, cooking, electricity, fuel/-s, heating, enerav/-ies

SDG 8 - ECON

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all

Economic growth, employment, job/-s, investment/-s, labour, salar/-s

SDG 9 - INFRA Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation

Infrastructure/-s, innovation, road/-s, transport, transportation, commute, commuter/-s, bicycle/-s, bicycle lanes, cycling, cyclists, private vehicles, public transport

SDG 10 - INEO Reduce inequality within and among countries

Disparity/-ies, equality, inequality/-ies, inequity, richest, poorest

SDG 11 - CITY Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable

Dirt floors, mobility, affordable housing, age-friendly, ageing, air quality, carbon dioxide, decentralization, dioxide emissions, food price/-s, hospitals, house, household/-s, housing, inclusion, initiatives, lighting, motor vehicles, national and regional development planning, older adults, older people, overcrowding, parking, pedestrians, psup, public parks, road safety, settlement/-s, solid waste, traffic, traffic accident/-s, underserved neighbourhoods, urban growth, Urban Health Index, urban planning, urbanization, walking, waste, waste management

SDG 12 - CNSUM Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns

Production, consumption, food waste, supply chain/-s, sustainable tourism, taxation

SDG 13 - CLIMT

Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts

Air pollution, greenhouse gas emission/-s, natural disaster/-s, adaptation, awareness, climate change, mitigation, temperature/-s, weather, flood/-s, flooded, earthquake/-s, gas emissions, heat waves

SDG 14 - OCNS

Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development

Harvesting, resilience, sea/-s

SDG 15 - BIODV

Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss

Food security, biodiversity, habitat, shelter

SDG 16 - PEACE

Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels

Abuse, corruption, crime, firearms, freedom, homicide, identity, murder/-s, security, trafficking, transparency, violence, violent, justice, peace

SDG 17 - PARTN

Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development

Stability, civil society, communication/-s, data, export, financial resources, financing, governments, knowledge, market, mobilization, monitoring, negotiation/-s, partnership/-s, policy/-ies, policy coordination, poverty eradication, private sector, science, support, technology

SUBSECTION

SEMANTIC INDEX

SEMANTIC INDEX - COUNTRY

When a city is cited in the text, the respective country code appears on the right of the page

AFG	Afghanistan	MNG	Mongolia
ARE	United Arab Emirates	MOZ	Mozambique
AUS	Australia	MRT	Mauritania
AUT	Austria	MWI	Malawi
BEN	Benin	NAM	Namibia
BFA	Burkina Faso	NGA	Nigeria
BGD	Bangladesh	NLD	Netherlands
BRA	Brazil	NOR	Norway
BTN	Bhutan	NPL	Nepal
CAF	Central African Republic	NZL	New Zealand
CAN	Canada	PAK	Pakistan
CHN	China	PER	Peru
COD	Congo (Democratic Republic of the)	PHL	Philippines
COG	Congo	PRT	Portugal
COL	Colombia	RUS	Russian Federation
СҮР	Cyprus	RWA	Rwanda
DEU	Germany	SDN	Sudan
DNK	Denmark	SEN	Senegal
ECU	Ecuador	SLE	Sierra Leone
EGY	Egypt	SLV	El Salvador
ESP	Spain	SOM	Somalia
ETH	Ethiopia	SSD	South Sudan
FIN	Finland	STP	São Tomé e Príncipe
FRA	France	SWE	Sweden
GBR	United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland	SWZ	Swaziland
GHA	Ghana	SYR	Syrian Arab Republic
GIN	Guinea	TCD	Chad
GTM	Guatemala	TGO	Togo
HND	Honduras	THA	Thailand
IDN	Indonesia	тјк	Tajikistan
IND	India	TLS	Timor-Leste
IRN	Iran	TUR	Turkey
IRQ	Iraq	TZA	Tanzania
ITA	Italy	UGA	Uganda
JEY	Jersey	UKR	Ukraine
JOR	Jordan	URY	Uruguay
JPN	Japan	USA	United States of America
KEN	Кепуа	VNM	Viet Nam
кнм	Cambodia	YEM	Yemen
LBR	1 th and a	ZAF	South Africa
MAR	Liberia		
	Morocco	ZMB	Zambia
MEX			Zambia Zimbabwe

SEMANTIC INDEX

1. Sustainable Development Goals. In: United Nations Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform [website]. New York: United Nations; 2015 (https://sustainabledevelopment.un-.org/?menu=1300, accessed 1 December 2015).

2. World urbanization prospects: the 2014 revision highlights. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division; 2014 (http://esa.un.org/unpd/wup/ Highlights/WUP2014-Highlights.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

3. AIS Overview. In: The DHS Program [website]. Rockville: ICF International; 2015 (http://dhsprogram.com/What-We-Do/Survey-Types/AIS.cfm, accessed 4 December 2015).

4. Global report on human settlements: cities and climate change. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2011 (http:// unhabitat.org/books/cities-and-climate-changeglobal-report-on-human-settlements-2011/, accessed 9 December 2015). Foreign Affairs. 18 August 2015 (https://www. foreignaffairs.com/articles/2015-08-18/city-century, accessed 5 December 2015).

9. Cities for health. Kobe: WHO Centre for Health Development, Metropolis; 2014 (http:// www.who.int/kobe_centre/publications/publication/en/, accessed 15 December 2015).

10. Cheshire J. Lives on the line: mapping life expectancy along the London Tube Network. Environ Plan A. 2012;44:1525–28. doi:10.1068/ a45341.

11. Neighbourhood health profile reports [website]. Baltimore: Baltimore City Health Department; 2012 (http://health.baltimorecity.gov/ neighborhoods/neighborhood-health-profile-reports, accessed 25 December 2015).

12. Millennium Development Goals report 2015. New York: United Nations; 2015 (http:// www.un.org/millenniumgoals/2015_MDG_Report/ pdf/MDG 2015 rev (July 1).pdf, accessed 19 January 2016). 16. The top 10 causes of death. Fact sheet No. 310 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/index2.html, accessed 4 December 2015).

17. de Vries G, Aldridge RW, Cayla JA, Haas WH, Sandgren A, van Hest NA et al. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in big cities of the European Union and European Economic Area countries. Euro Surveill. 2014;19:20726.

18. Waiselfisz JJ. Mapa da violência 2013: homicídios e juventude no Brasil. Rio de Janeiro: CEBELA and FLACSO; 2013 (http:// oglobo.globo.com/arquivos/mapa_2013_jovens. pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

19. The state of the world's children 2012: children in an urban world. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2012 (http://www. unicef.org/sowc2012/pdfs/SOWC 2012-Main Report_EN_13Mar2012.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

REFERENCES

5. World investment report 2014. Investing in the SDGs: an action plan. Geneva: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development; 2014 (http://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/ wir2014_en.pdf, accessed 11 December 2015).

6. Gilbert AG, Dávila JD. Bogotá: progress within a hostile environment. In: Myers DJ, Dietz HA, editors. Capital city politics in Latin America: democratization and empowerment. Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers; 2002:29–63.

7. Foreign Affairs Office of Guangzhou Municipal Government. Guangzhou: Guangzhou Municipal Government; 2015.

8. Bloomberg M. City century: why municipalities are the key to fighting climate change. 13. State of the world's cities 2012/2013: prosperity of cities. New York: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2013.

14. Frayne B, Pendleton W, Crush J, Acquah B, Battersby-Lennard J, Bras E et al. The state of urban food insecurity in Southern Africa. Kingston and Cape Town: Queen's University and African Food Security Urban Network; 2010.

15. Ezzati M, Vander Hoorn S, Lawes CMM, Leach R, James WPT, Lopez AD et al. Rethinking the "diseases of affluence" paradigm: global patterns of nutritional risks in relation to economic development. PLoS Med. 2005;2:e133. doi:10.1371/journal. pmed.0020133. 20. State of the world's mothers: the urban disadvantage. London: Save the Children; 2015 (http://www.savethechildren.org/site/c.8rKLIXMGIpI4E/b.8585863/k.9F31/State_of_the_Worlds_Mothers.htm?msource=wen-lpstw0515, accessed 5 December 2015).

21. Global health observatory, urban health [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/gho/urban_health/ en/, accessed 5 December 2015).

22. Urban Health Equity Assessment and Response Tool (Urban HEART). Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2010 (http://www.who.int/kobe_centre/ publications/urban_heart/en/, accessed 15 December 2015).

SUBSECTION

References

226

23. Human development report 2015: work for human development. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2015 (http://hdr.undp. org/sites/default/files/2015_human_development_ report_0.pdf, accessed 16 December 2015).

24. The Matsapha Urban HEART experience. Presentation at the second report-back meeting of Urban HEART in Africa, Manzini, Swaziland, 14–16 October 2015.

25. Prasad A, Kano M, Dagg KA-M, Mori H, Senkoro HH, Ardakani MA et al. Prioritizing action on health inequities in cities: an evaluation of Urban Health Equity Assessment and Response Tool (Urban HEART) in 15 cities from Asia and Africa. Soc Sci Med. 2015;145:237–42. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.09.031.

26. Agarwal S, Goel S, Bhatnagar V, Sharma M, Sharma C, Dhakde S. Qualitative adaptation of Urban HEART assessments across slums and vulnerable neighbourhoods. Paper presented at the 12th International Conference on Urban Health, Dhaka, Bangladesh, 24–27 May 2015.

27. Stauber C, Weaver SR, Dai D, Luo R, Rothenberg R. Comparison of cities using the Urban Health Index: an analysis of Demographic and Health Survey data from 2003–2013. A technical report prepared for the World Health Organization Centre for Health Development. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2015 (http://www.who.int/ kobe_centre/measuring/innovations/TechnicalReport_Comparison_DHS_Cities_UHI.pdf, accessed 16 December 2015).

28. Hidden cities: unmasking and overcoming health inequities in urban settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (http:// www.who.int/kobe_centre/publications/hiddencities_media/who_un_habitat_hidden_cities_web. pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

29. Cronin CJ, Guilkey DK, Speizer IS. The effects of health facility access and quality on family planning decisions in urban Senegal. SSRN Electron J. 2015.

30. Fink G, Günther I, Hill K. Slum residence and child health in developing countries. Demography. 2014;51:1175–97. doi:10.1007/s13524-014-0302-0.

31. Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) [website]. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2015 (http://mics.unicef.org/, accessed 5 December 2015).

32. Rothenberg R, Weaver SR, Dai D, Stauber C, Prasad A, Kano M. A flexible urban health index for small area disparities. J Urban Health. 2014;91:823–35. doi:10.1007/s11524-014-9867-6. Kano M, Hotta M, Prasad A. Inequalities in noncommunicable disease mortality in the ten largest Japanese cities. J Urban Health. 2013;90:1041–52. doi:10.1007/s11524-013-9808-9.

Borrell C, Marí-Dell'olmo M, Palència L, Gotsens M, Burström BO, Domínguez-Berjón F et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in mortality in 16 European cities. Scand J Public Health.
 2014;42:245–54. doi:10.1177/1403494814522556.

35. Mberu B, Wamukoya M, Oti S, Kyobutungi C. Trends in causes of adult deaths among the urban poor: evidence from Nairobi Urban Health and Demographic Surveillance System, 2003–2012. J Urban Health. 2015;92:422–45. doi:10.1007/s11524-015-9943-6.

36. Ageing in cities. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2015 (http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/urban-rural-and-regional-development/ageing-in-cities_9789264231160-en, accessed 5 December 2015).

37. Ito K, Aida J, Yamamoto T, Ohtsuka R, Nakade M, Suzuki K et al. Individual- and community-level social gradients of edentulousness. BMC Oral Health. 2015;15:34. doi:10.1186/ s12903-015-0020-z.

38. Kanamori S, Kai Y, Aida J, Kondo K, Kawachi I, Hirai H et al. Social participation and the prevention of functional disability in older Japanese: the JAGES cohort study. PLoS One. 2014;9:e99638. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0099638.

39. Cox W. Suburban and urban core poverty 2012 special report. In: New Geography [website]. 2013 (http://www.newgeography.com/ content/004006-suburban-urban-core-poverty-2012-special-report, accessed 5 December 2015).

40. Rossier C, Soura A, Baya B, Compaore G, Dabire B, Dos Santos S et al. Profile: the Ouagadougou Health and Demographic Surveillance System. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41:658–66. doi:10.1093/ije/dys090.

41. Chetty R, Hendren N. The impacts of neighborhoods on intergenerational mobility: childhood exposure effects and county-level estimates. Cambridge: Harvard University; 2015 (http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/hendren/files/ nbhds_paper.pdf?m=1430722623, accessed 5 December 2015).

42. Chetty R, Hendren N, Katz LF. The effects of exposure to better neighborhoods on children: new evidence from the Moving to Opportunity experiment. NBER working paper No. 21156. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic

Research; 2015 (http://www.nber.org/papers/ w21156, accessed 7 December 2015).

43. Schultz C. Migration, health and urbanization: interrelated challenges. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2014 (https://www.iom.int/sites/default/files/our_work/ ICP/MPR/WMR-2015-Background-Paper-CSchultz.pdf, accessed 20 December 2015).

44. Temin M, Montgomery MR, Engebretsen S, Barker KM. Girls on the move: adolescent girls and migration in the developing world. New York: Population Council; 2013 (http://www. popcouncil.org/uploads/pdfs/2013PGY_GirlsOn-TheMove.pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

45. Feng W, Ren P, Shaokang Z, Anan S. Reproductive health status, knowledge, and access to health care among female migrants in Shanghai, China. J Biosoc Sci. 2005;37:603–22. doi:10.1017/S0021932004006844.

46. Walker KE. Mapping immigrant America [website]. 2015 (http://personal.tcu.edu/kylewalker/immigrant-america/, accessed 20 January 2016).

47. World migration report. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2015 (http://publications.iom.int/system/files/wmr2015_ en.pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

48. Health of migrants: the way forward. Report of a global consultation, Madrid, Spain, 3–5 March 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization, Government of Spain Ministry of Health and Social Policy and International Organization for Migration; 2010 (http://www.who.int/hac/events/ consultation_report_health_migrants_colour_web. pdf, accessed 19 January 2016).

49. A world that counts: mobilising the data revolution for sustainable development. New York: United Nations Data Revolution Group; 2014 (http://www.undatarevolution.org/wp-content/ uploads/2014/12/A-World-That-Counts2.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

50. Baldwin W. Demographic data for development overview report. New York: Population Council; 2011 (http://www.hewlett.org/uploads/ files/Finaloverviewreport.pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

51. Providing health intelligence to meet local needs. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2014 (http://www. who.int/kobe_centre/publications/uho_guide/en/, accessed 7 December 2015).

52. Urban Reproductive Health Initiative (URHI). In: Measurement, Learning & Evaluation Project for the Urban Reproductive Health Initiative [website]. Chapel Hill: Carolina Population

SUBSECTION

References

227

Centre; 2015 (https://www.urbanreproductivehealth.org, accessed 4 December 2015).

53. INDEPTH Network [website]. Accra, Ghana: INDEPTH Network; 2015 (http://www. indepth-network.org/, accessed 4 December 2015).

54. Africa Population and Health Research Center (APHRC) [website]. Nairobi: APHRC; 2015 (http://aphrc.org/, accessed 4 December 2015).

55. The African Food Security Network (AFSUN) [website]. 2015 (http://www.afsun.org/, accessed 4 December 2015).

56. World Bank, World Health Organization. Global civil registration and vital statistics scaling up investment plan 2015–2024. Washington DC: World Bank; 2014 (http://documents. worldbank.org/curated/en/2014/05/19581045/ global-civil-registration-vital-statistics-scaling-up-investment-plan-2015-2024, accessed 5 December 2015).

57. Bloomberg MR, Bishop J. Understanding death, extending life. Lancet. 2015;386:e18–e19. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)00400-6.

58. What works cities [website]. New York: Bloomberg Philanthropies; 2015 (http:// whatworkscities.bloomberg.org/, accessed 7 December 2015).

59. Setel PW, Macfarlane SB, Szreter S, Mikkelsen L, Jha P, Stout S et al. A scandal of invisibility: making everyone count by counting everyone. Lancet. 2007;370:1569–77. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(07)61307-5.

60. Mahapatra P, Shibuya K, Lopez AD, Coullare F, Notzon FC, Rao C et al. Civil registration systems and vital statistics: successes and missed opportunities. Lancet. 2007;370:1653–63. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61308-7.

61. Hill K, Lopez AD, Shibuya K, Jha P. Interim measures for meeting needs for health sector data: births, deaths, and causes of death. Lancet. 2007;370:1726–35. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61309-9.

62. AbouZahr C, Rampatige R, Lopez A, DeSavigny D. When civil registration is inadequate: interim methods for generating vital statistics. Pac Health Dialog. 2012;18:215–30.

63. Intersectoral action on health: a path for policy-makers to implement effective and sustainable action on health. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2011 (http://www.who.int/kobe_centre/publications/intersectorial_action_health2011/en/, accessed 20 January 2016). 64. World Health Organization and World Bank. Tracking universal health coverage: first global monitoring report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitst ream/10665/174536/1/9789241564977_eng.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

65. Resolution A/67/PV.53. Global health and foreign policy. In: Sixty-seventh General Assembly of the United Nations, New York, 12 December 2012. New York: United Nations; 2012 (http://www.who.int/universal_health_coverage/ un_resolution/en/, accessed 5 December 2015).

66. World Health Organization, International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/World Bank. Monitoring progress towards universal health coverage at country and global levels: framework, measures and targets. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/112824/1/WHO_HIS_ HIA_14.1_eng.pdf, accessed 20 December 2015).

67. Mitnick C, Bayona J, Palacios E, Shin S, Furin J, Alcantara F et al. Community-based therapy for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in Lima, Peru. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:119–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa022928.

68. The Peru connection [website]. Lebanon: The Dartmouth Center for Health Care Delivery Science; 2012 (http://tdchcds.dartmouth.edu/ stories/launch-issue/peru-experiment, accessed 19 January 2016).

69. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. National urban health mission: framework for implementation [website]. New Delhi: Government of India; 2013 (http://www.pbnrhm.org/docs/ nuhm_framework_implementation.pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

70. Who we are. In: Asha Community Health and Development Society [website]. New Delhi: Asha; 2015 (http://asha-india.org/, accessed 5 December 2015).

71. Asha: hope and transformation in the slums of Delhi [website]. Carlton: Australia India Institute and Nossal Institute for Global Health; 2011 (http://ni.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/ pdf_file/0003/511842/Asha_Hope_and_Transformation_in_the_slums_of_Delhi.pdf, accessed 2 December 2015).

72. The investment case (IC) document. Lagos: Lagos State Ministry of Health; 2012 (http://www.lagosstateministryofhealth.com/ programmes/the-investment-case-ic-document#. VTQrZbVZTPu, accessed 2 December 2015).

73. From agenda to action: urban health policy development in Nepal. In: Health Research and Social Development Forum [website]. Kathmandu: HERD; 2015 (http://herd.org.np/content/

228

agenda-action-urban-health-policy-development-nepal, accessed 2 December 2015).

74. Boerma T, Eozenou P, Evans D, Evans T, Kieny M-P, Wagstaff A. Monitoring progress towards universal health coverage at country and global levels. PLoS Med. 2014;11:e1001731. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001731.

75. Youemail D, Jones G, Hill K, Wardlaw T, Chopra M. Levels and trends in child mortality, 1990–2009. Lancet. 2010;376:931–3. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61429-8.

76. Immunization summary: a statistical reference containing data through 2013 (2014 edition). New York: United Nations Children's Fund and World Health Organization; 2014 (http://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring_surveillance/ Immunization_Summary_2013.pdf, accessed 2 December 2015).

Achieving equitable immunization coverage: the Bolivia project. EPI Newsl. 2002;24:4–6.

78. Universal health coverage: why health insurance schemes are leaving the poor behind. Oxford: Oxfam; 2013 (https://www.oxfam.org/ sites/www.oxfam.org/files/bp176-universal-health-coverage-091013-en_.pdf, accessed 1 December 2015).

79. McLaughlin C, Colby M, Taylor E, Harrington M, Higgins T, Byrd V et al. Evaluation of Healthy San Francisco. Ann Arbor: Mathematica Policy Research; 2011 (http:// healthysanfrancisco.org/wp-content/uploads/ Evaluation-of-HSF-Aug-2011.pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

80. Meng Q, Fang H, Liu X, Yuan B, Xu J. Consolidating the social health insurance schemes in China: towards an equitable and efficient health system. Lancet. 2015;386:1484–92. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00342-6.

81. Franco LM, Diop FP, Burgert CR, Kelley AG, Makinen M, Simpara CHT. Effects of mutual health organizations on use of priority health-care services in urban and rural Mali: a case-control study. Bull World Health Organ. 2008;86:830–8. doi:10.2471/BLT.08.051045.

82. Lu C, Chin B, Lewandowski JL, Basinga P, Hirschhorn LR, Hill K et al. Towards universal health coverage: an evaluation of Rwanda mutuelles in its first eight years. PLoS One. 2012;7:e39282. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0039282.

83. The cities report. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 (http:// www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/

SUBSECTION PG

JC2687_TheCitiesReport_en.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

84. World urbanization prospects: the 2014 revision. New York: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division; 2014.

85. Monitoring equity in access to AIDS treatment programmes: a review of concepts, models, methods and indicators. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (http://www.who.int/sdhconference/resources/who_monitoring_equity_aids.pdf, accessed 25 November 2015).

86. On the fast-track to end AIDS: UN-AIDS 2016–2021 strategy. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2015 (http:// www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20151027_UNAIDS_PCB37_15_18_EN_rev1. pdf, accessed 1 December 2015).

87. 90–90–90 An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/ media_asset/90-90-90_en_0.pdf, accessed 14 August 2015).

88. The gap report. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 (http:// www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/ unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2014/UNAIDS_Gap_report_en.pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

89. Aulagnier M, Janssens W, De Beer I, van Rooy G, Gaeb E, Hesp C et al. Incidence of HIV in Windhoek, Namibia: demographic and socio-economic associations. PLoS One. 2011;6:e25860. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0025860.

90. Towards strategic investments in HIV and AIDS at city level: lessons learnt from the Know Your Epidemic, Know Your Response exercise in Windhoek, Namibia. Windhoek: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, City of Windhoek; 2013.

91. Ending the AIDS epidemic: the advantage of cities. Nairobi: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2015 (http://www.unaids. org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20150918_ Ending_urban_AIDS_epidemic_en.pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

92. Rwanda global AIDS response progress report (GARPR) 2014. Kigali: Republic of Rwanda Ministry of Health, Rwanda Biomedical Center; 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/ files/country/documents/RWA_narrative_report_2014.pdf, accessed 15 December 2015). 93. Global tuberculosis report 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http:// www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/en/, accessed 15 December 2015).

94. Drug-resistant TB [website]. Atlanta: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015 (http://www.cdc.gov/tb/topic/ drtb/, accessed 25 November 2015).

95. Lönnroth K, Zignol M, Uplekar M. Controlling tuberculosis in large metropolitan settings. In: Raviglione MC, editor. Reichman and Hershfield's tuberculosis: a comprehensive, international approach, 3rd edition, part A. CRC Press; 2006:1005–27.

96. Tuberculosis in the UK: 2014 report. London: Public Health England; 2014 (https:// www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/360335/TB_Annual_report_4_0_300914.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

97. Tuberculosis. Fact sheet No. 104
[website]. Geneva: World Health Organization;
2015 (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs104/en/, accessed 1 December 2015).

98. Ogbudebe CL, Chukwu JN, Nwafor CC, Meka AO, Ekeke N, Madichie NO et al. Reaching the underserved: active tuberculosis case finding in urban slums in southeastern Nigeria. Int J Mycobacteriol. 2015;4:18–24. doi:10.1016/j.ijmyco.2014.12.007.

99. Banu S, Rahman MT, Uddin MKM, Khatun R, Ahmed T, Rahman MM et al. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in an urban slum of Dhaka City, Bangladesh. PLoS One. 2013;8:e77721. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0077721.

100. TB annual status report. Mumbai: Maharashtra State Tuberculosis Office; 2014.

101. Epstein H. Ebola in Liberia: an epidemic of rumors [website]. New York: The New York Review of Books; 2014 (http://bit.ly/1LaBB2j, accessed 8 December 2015).

102. Involving everyone: social mobilization is key in an Ebola outbreak response in Guinea [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://www.who.int/features/2014/ social-mobilisation/en/, accessed 3 December 2015).

103. Gholipour B. Nigeria: how Ebola was contained in Africa's largest city. Live Science.
20 October 2014 (http://www.livescience.
com/48359-nigeria-how-ebola-was-contained.
html, accessed 8 December 2015).

104. Pacheco C. Rethinking the Ebola response: how Liberians helped themselves

[website]. Washington DC: Devex; 2015 (https:// www.devex.com/news/rethinking-the-ebola-response-how-liberians-helped-themselves-87030, accessed 25 November 2015).

105. Noncommunicable diseases. Fact sheet No. 355 [website]. Geneva; World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs355/en/, accessed 18 September 2015).

106. Report on causes of death in India 2001–2003. New Delhi: Office of the Registrar General, India, Ministry of Home Affairs; 2009 (http://www.cghr.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/Causes_of_death_2001-03.pdf, accessed 20 December 2015).

107. Ageing and health. Fact sheet No. 404 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs404/en/, accessed 15 October 2015).

108. From burden to "best buys": reducing the economic impact of non-communicable diseases in low- and middle-income countries. Cologny/Geneva: World Economic Forum and World Health Organization; 2011 (http://apps.who.int/ medicinedocs/documents/s18804en/s18804en. pdf, accessed 15 October 2015).

109. Bloom DE, Cafiero ET, McGovern ME, Prettner K, Stanciole A, Weiss J et al. The economic impact of non-communicable disease in China and India: estimates, projections and comparisons. Boston: Harvard School of Public Health; 2013 (http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/program-on-the-global-demography-of-aging/WorkingPapers/2013/PGDA_WP_107.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

110. Heeley E, Anderson CS, Huang Y, Jan S, Li Y, Liu M et al. Role of health insurance in averting economic hardship in families after acute stroke in China. Stroke. 2009;40:2149–56. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.540054.

111. Jan S, Essue BM, Leeder SR. Falling through the cracks: the hidden economic burden of chronic illness and disability on Australian households. Med J Aust. 2012;196:29–31. doi:10.5694/mja11.11105.

112. Amuyunzu-Nyamongo M. Need for a multi-factorial, multi-sectorial and multi-disciplinary approach to NCD prevention and control in Africa. Glob Health Promot. 2010;17:31–2. doi:10.1177/1757975910363928.

113. Damasceno A, Azevedo A, Silva-Matos C, Prista A, Diogo D, Lunet N. Hypertension prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control in mozambique: urban/rural gap during epidemiological transition. Hypertension. 2009;54:77–83. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.132423.

SUBSECTION

References

229

114. Galea S, Vlahov D. Urban health: evidence, challenges, and directions. Annu Rev Public Health. 2005;26:341–65. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.26.021304.144708.

115. Andrade LH, Wang Y-P, Andreoni S, Silveira CM, Alexandrino-Silva C, Siu ER et al. Mental disorders in megacities: findings from the São Paulo megacity mental health survey, Brazil. PLoS One. 2012;7:e31879–e31879. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0031879.

116. Decline in smoking prevalence: New York City, 2002–2006. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2007;56:604–8.

117. Been JV, Mackay DF, Millett C, Pell JP, van Schayck OCP, Sheikh A. Impact of smokefree legislation on perinatal and infant mortality: a national quasi-experimental study. Sci Rep. 2015;5:13020. doi:10.1038/srep13020.

118. Tan CE, Glantz SA. Association between smoke-free legislation and hospitalizations for cardiac, cerebrovascular, and respiratory diseases: a meta-analysis. Circulation. 2012;126:2177–83. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONA-HA.112.121301.

119. Jha P, Peto R. Global effects of smoking, of quitting, and of taxing tobacco. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:60–8. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1308383.

120. Tobacco. Fact sheet No. 339 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http:// www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/, accessed 25 September 2015).

121. Making cities smoke-free. Kobe: WHO Centre for Health Development; 2011 (http://www. who.int/kobe_centre/publications/smoke_free_cities2011/en/, accessed 15 September 2015).

122. Smoke-free cities [website]. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2016 (http://www.who.int/kobe_centre/interventions/smoke_free/en/, accessed 20 January 2016).

123. Anderson P, Chisholm D, Fuhr DC. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol. Lancet. 2009;373:2234–46. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(09)60744-3.

124. Nugent R. Effective policy and programme approaches to promoting healthy lifestyles. Paper prepared for the United Nations Expert Group Meeting on Priorities for Improved Survival: ICPD Beyond 2014, New York, 21–22 October 2013.

125. Elder RW, Lawrence B, Ferguson A, Naimi TS, Brewer RD, Chattopadhyay SK et al. The effectiveness of tax policy interventions for reducing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 2010;38:217–29. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.11.005.

126. Heath GW, Brownson RC, Kruger J, Miles R, Powell KE, Ramsey LT et al. The effectiveness of urban design and land use and transport policies and practices to increase physical activity: a systematic review. J Phys Act Health. 2006;3:S55–S76.

127. Lee KK. Working across sectors for health equity: the case of New York city. In: Cities for health. Kobe: World Health Organization and Metropolis; 2014:26–33 (http://www.who. int/kobe_centre/publications/publication/en/, accessed 8 December 2015).

128. Measuring the street: new metrics for 21st century streets. New York: New York City Department of Transportation; 2012 (http://www.nyc. gov/html/dot/downloads/pdf/2012-10-measuringthe-street.pdf, accessed 14 September 2015).

129. Oni T, Youngblood E, Boulle A, Mc-Grath N, Wilkinson RJ, Levitt NS. Patterns of HIV, TB, and non-communicable disease multi-morbidity in peri-urban South Africa: a cross sectional study. BMC Infect Dis. 2015;15:20. doi:10.1186/ s12879-015-0750-1.

130. Nigatu T. Integration of HIV and noncommunicable diseases in health care delivery in low- and middle-income countries. Prev Chronic Dis. 2012;9:110331. doi:10.5888/pcd9.110331.

131. Innovative care for chronic conditions: building blocks for action. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002 (http://www.who.int/chp/ knowledge/publications/icccglobalreport.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

132. Integrated chronic disease management framework: a step-by-step manual to guide implementation. Pretoria: Department of Health, Republic of South Africa; 2013 (http://www. kznhealth.gov.za/family/Integrated-chronic-disease-management-manual.pdf, accessed 15 November 2015).

133. Obesity and overweight. Fact sheet No. 311 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs311/en/, accessed 25 November 2015).

134. Global nutrition report 2014: actions and accountability to accelerate the world's progress on nutrition. Washington DC: International Food Policy Research Institute; 2014 (http:// ebrary.ifpri.org/cdm/ref/collection/p15738coll2/ id/128484, accessed 15 October 2015).

135. Pampel FC, Denney JT, Krueger PM. Obesity, SES, and economic develop-

ment: a test of the reversal hypothesis. Soc Sci Med. 2012;74:1073–81. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2011.12.028.

136. Drewnowski A, Moudon AV, Jiao J, Aggarwal A, Charreire H, Chaix B. Food environment and socioeconomic status influence obesity rates in Seattle and in Paris. Int J Obes. 2014;38:306– 14. doi:10.1038/ijo.2013.97.

137. Ziraba AK, Fotso JC, Ochako R.
Overweight and obesity in urban Africa: a problem of the rich or the poor? BMC Public Health.
2009;9:465. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-465.

138. Mendez MA, Monteiro CA, Popkin BM. Overweight exceeds underweight among women in most developing countries. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81:714–21.

139. Sustaining the drive to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases: second WHO report on neglected tropical diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (http://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/9789241564540/en/, accessed 8 December 2015).

140. The state of food insecurity in the world 2015: meeting the 2015 international hunger targets: taking stock of uneven progress. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2015 (http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4646e.pdf, accessed 16 October 2015).

141. Kimani-Murage EW, Muthuri SK, Oti SO, Mutua MK, van de Vijver S, Kyobutungi C. Evidence of a double burden of malnutrition in urban poor settings in Nairobi, Kenya. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0129943. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0129943.

142. Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet. 2013;382:427–51. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60937-X.

143. Gillespie S, Haddad L, Mannar V, Menon P, Nisbett N, Maternal et al. The politics of reducing malnutrition: building commitment and accelerating progress. Lancet. 2013;382:552–69. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60842-9.

144. Global health risks: mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/global_health_risks/en/, accessed 8 December 2015).

145. The cost of hunger in Africa: Egypt 2013. Implications of child undernutrition on the social and economic development of Egypt.

References

SUBSECTION

Rome: World Food Programme; 2013 (https:// www.wfp.org/content/egypt-cost-hunger-implications-child-undernutrition-social-economic-development-june-2013, accessed 8 December 2015).

146. Obesity [website]. New York: New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene; 2015 (http://www.nyc.gov/html/doh/html/living/ obesity.shtml, accessed 8 December 2015).

147. Kirby T. Tackling obesity in cities. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2013;1:s1–s2. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70126-8.

148. Tarasuk V, Cheng J, de Oliveira C, Dachner N, Gundersen C, Kurdyak P. Association between household food insecurity and annual health care costs. CMAJ. 2015;187:E429–E436. doi:10.1503/cmaj.150234.

149. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, Dachner N. Household food insecurity in Canada. Toronto: Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF); 2015 (http://nutritionalsciences.lamp.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/foodinsecurity2013.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

150. Hoddinott J, Alderman H, Behrman JR, Haddad L, Horton S. The economic rationale for investing in stunting reduction. Matern Child Nutr. 2013;9:69–82. doi:10.1111/mcn.12080.

151. Behrman J, Bhalotra S, Deolalikar A, Laxminarayan R, Nandi A. Human capital and productivity benefits of early childhood nutritional interventions. In: Jamison D, Gelband H, Horton S et al., editors. Disease control priorities, 3rd edition (DCP3). Seattle: University of Washington Department of Global Health (http://dcp-3.org/ chapter/1938/human-capital-and-productivity-benefits-early-childhood-nutritional-interventions, accessed 25 November 2015).

152. Understanding the true cost of malnutrition [website]. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2014 (http:// www.fao.org/zhc/detail-events/en/c/238389/, accessed 8 December 2015).

153. Gillespie S, Haddad L. Attacking the double burden of malnutrition in Asia and the Pacific. Manila: Asian Development Bank; 2001 (http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/Pnacn866.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

154. Finkelstein EA, DiBonaventura M daCosta, Burgess SM, Hale BC. The costs of obesity in the workplace. J Occup Environ Med. 2010;52:971–6. doi:10.1097/ JOM.0b013e3181f274d2.

155. Improving nutrition outcomes with better water, sanitation and hygiene: practical solutions for policy and programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund and United States Agency for International Development; 2015 (http://www.who.int/nutrition/ publications/nutritionandwash/en/, accessed 8 December 2015).

156. Prüss-Üstün A, Bos R, Gore F, Bartram J. Safer water, better health: costs, benefits and sustainability of interventions to protect and promote health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstre am/10665/43840/1/9789241596435_eng.pdf, accessed 16 October 2015).

157. Liu L, Johnson HL, Cousens S, Perin J, Scott S, Lawn JE et al. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. Lancet. 2012;379:2151–61. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)60560-1.

158. Ziegelbauer K, Speich B, Mäusezahl D, Bos R, Keiser J, Utzinger J. Effect of sanitation on soil-transmitted helminth infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2012;9:e1001162. doi:10.1371/journal. pmed.1001162.

159. Soil-transmitted helminthiases: eliminating soil-transmitted helminthiases as a public health problem in children: progress report 2001– 2010 and strategic plan 2011–2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (http://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/10665/44804/1/9789241503129_ eng.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

160. Food, agriculture and cities: challenges of food and nutrition security, agriculture and ecosystem management in an urbanizing world. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2011 (http://www.fao.org/3/aau725e.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

161. The global food security index 2015: an annual measure of the state of global food security. London: The Economist Intelligence Unit; 2015 (http://foodsecurityindex.eiu.com/, accessed 16 October 2015).

Birch EL, Keating A. Feeding cities:
food security in a rapidly urbanizing world.
Philadelphia: Penn Institute for Urban Research;
2013 (http://penniur.upenn.edu/uploads/media/
Feeding-Cities-Report.pdf, accessed 8 December
2015).

163. Mulenga C. The state of food insecurity in Lusaka, Zambia. Capetown: African Food Security Urban Network; 2013 (http://www.afsun. org/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/AFSUN19.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

164. Coleman-Jensen A, Rabbitt MP, Gregory C, Singh A. Household food security in the United States in 2014. Washington DC: United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2015 (http://www.ers.usda.gov/ media/1896841/err194.pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

165. 100 Mayors adopt Seoul Declaration for sustainable cities [website]. Seoul: ICLEI Local Governments for Sustainability; 2015 (http://www.iclei.org/details/article/96-mayors-adopt-seoul-declaration-for-sustainable-cities.html, accessed 9 December 2015).

166. Milan urban food policy pact [website]. Milan: Milano Food Policy; 2015 (http://www. foodpolicymilano.org/en/mufpp-un-secretary-general/, accessed 9 December 2015).

167. Rydin Y, Bleahu A, Davies M, Dávila JD, Friel S, De Grandis G et al. Shaping cities for health: complexity and the planning of urban environments in the 21st century. Lancet. 2012;379:2079–108. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60435-8.

168. De Zeeuw H, Dubbeling M. Cities, food and agriculture: challenges and the way forward. Leusden: Resource Centres on Urban Agriculture and Food Security Foundation; 2009 (http://www.ruaf.org/publications/cities-food-and-agriculture-challenges-and-way-forward, accessed 14 October 2015).

169. Conigliaro M, Borelli S, Salbitano F. Urban and peri-urban forestry as a valuable strategy towards African urban sustainable development. In: Bojang F, Ndeso-Atanga A, editors. Sustainable natural resources management in Africa's urban food and nutrition equation [website]. Accra: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Regional Office for Africa; 2014 (http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4141e.pdf, accessed 20 January 2016).

170. Cai J. Urban agriculture makes China's cities more livable. In: Null S, Darden M, Garland A et al., editors. Dawn of the smart city? Perspectives from New York, Ahmedabad, São Paulo, and Beijing. Washington DC: Wilson Center; 2014 (https://www.wilsoncenter.org/publication/DawnSmartCity, accessed 16 October 2015).

171. Urban and peri-urban agriculture in Latin America and the Caribbean: Growing Greener Cities – Quito [website]. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2015 (http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/ greenercities/en/GGCLAC/quito.html, accessed 9 December 2015).

172. Growing Greener Cities in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2010 (http://www.fao.org/3/a-i1901e.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

SUBSECTION

173. Shrimpton R, Rokx C. The double burden of malnutrition: a review of global evidence. Washington DC: World Bank; 2012 (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2012/11/18004669/ double-burden-malnutrition-review-global-evidence, accessed 9 December 2015).

174. McMillan T. The new face of hunger [website]. Washington DC: National Geographic Society; 2014 (http://www.nationalgeographic. com/foodfeatures/hunger/, accessed 4 December 2015).

175. A guide to healthy food markets. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (http:// www.who.int/foodsafety/publications/capacity/ healthymarket_guide.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

176. Get Healthy Philly: 2014 annual report. Philadelphia: Department of Public Health, City of Philadelphia; 2015 (http://www.phila.gov/health/ pdfs/2014_PDPH_AR_webFINAL.pdf, accessed 25 October 2015).

177. Meerman J, Aphane J. Impact of high food prices on nutrition. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2012 (http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/ agn/pdf/Meerman_Aphane_ICN2_FINAL.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

178. Cohen M, Garrett J. The food price crisis and urban food (in)security. Urbanization and emerging population issues working paper series No. 2. London: International Institute for Environment and Development/UNFPA; 2009 (http://pubs.iied.org/10574IIED.html, accessed 14 October 2015).

179. Mozaffarian D, Afshin A, Benowitz NL, Bittner V, Daniels SR, Franch HA et al. Population approaches to improve diet, physical activity, and smoking habits: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2012;126:1514–63.

180. Key recommendations for improving nutrition through agriculture and food systems. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2015 (http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4922e.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

181. Synthesis of guiding principles on agriculture programming for nutrition. Rome:
Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2013 (http://www.fao.org/docrep/017/ aq194e/aq194e.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

182. Fiszbein A, Schady N, Ferreira FHG, Grosh M, Keleher N, Olinto P et al. Conditional cash transfers: reducing present and future poverty. Washington DC: World Bank; 2009 (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/2009/01/10298306/conditional-cash-transfers-reducing-present-future-poverty, accessed 9 December 2015).

183. Popkin BM. Nutrition, agriculture and the global food system in low and middle income countries. Food Policy. 2014;47:91–6. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.05.001.

184. Angell SY, Cobb LK, Curtis CJ, Konty KJ, Silver LD. Change in trans fatty acid content of fast-food purchases associated with New York City's restaurant regulation: a pre-post study. Ann Intern Med. 2012;157:81–6. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-157-2-201207170-00004.

185. Preliminary results on the effects of taxing sugary drinks in Mexico [website]. Cuernavaca: Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública México; 2014 (http://www.insp.mx/epppo/blog/ preliminares-bebidas-azucaradas.html, accessed 20 October 2015).

186. Hawkes C. Promoting healthy diets through nutrition education and changes in the food environment: an international review of actions and their effectiveness. Nutrition Education and Consumer Awareness Group, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2013 (http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3235e.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

187. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/strategy/eb11344/strategy_english_web.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

188. Nutrition friendly schools initiative (NFSI) [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/ nutrition_friendly_schools_initiative/en/, accessed 9 December 2015).

189. Singhal N, Misra A, Shah P, Gulati S. Effects of controlled school-based multi-component model of nutrition and lifestyle interventions on behavior modification, anthropometry and metabolic risk profile of urban Asian Indian adolescents in North India. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2010;64:364–73. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2009.150.

190. Romon M, Lommez A, Tafflet M, Basdevant A, Oppert JM, Bresson JL et al. Downward trends in the prevalence of childhood overweight in the setting of 12-year schooland community-based programmes. Public Health Nutr. 2009;12:1735–42. doi:10.1017/ S1368980008004278.

191. EPODE model [website]. Brussels: EPODE International Network; 2015 (http:// epode-international-network.com/about/context/2014/09/15/epode-model, accessed 20 October 2015). 192. Resolution A/RES/64/292. The human right to water and sanitation. In: Sixty-fourth General Assembly of the United Nations, New York, 16 July 2010. New York: United Nations; 2010 (http://www.un.org/es/comun/docs/?symbol=A/RES/64/292&lang=E, accessed 5 October 2015).

193. Progress on sanitation and drinking water: 2015 update and MDG assessment. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund and World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www. wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/ JMP-Update-report-2015_English.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

194. Bain R, Cronk R, Hossain R. Global assessment of exposure to faecal contamination through drinking water based on a systematic review. Trop Med Int Health. 2014;9:917–27. doi:10.1111/tmi.12334.

195. Bartram J, Cairncross S. Hygiene, sanitation, and water: forgotten foundations of health. PLoS Med. 2010;7:e1000367. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000367.

196. Preventing diarrhoea through better water, sanitation and hygiene: exposures and impacts in low-and middle-income countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstre am/10665/150112/1/9789241564823_eng.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

197. Prüss-Ustün A, Bartram J, Clasen T, Colford JM, Cumming O, Curtis V et al. Burden of disease from inadequate water, sanitation and hygiene in low- and middle-income settings: a retrospective analysis of data from 145 countries. Trop Med Int Health. 2014;19:894–905. doi:10.1111/tmi.12329.

198. Morella E, Foster V, Banerjee SG. Climbing the ladder: the state of sanitation in sub-Saharan Africa. Summary: Africa infrastructure country diagnostic background paper No. 13. Washington DC: World Bank, Water and Sanitation Programme; 2008 (http://www.eu-afri ca-infrastructure-tf.net/attachments/library/aicdbackground-paper-13-sanit-sect-summary-en. pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

199. Solid waste management in the world's cities: water and sanitation in the world's cities 2010. London/Washington DC: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2010 (http://mir-ror.unhabitat.org/pmss/listltemDetails.aspx?publicationID=2918, accessed 5 October 2015).

200. Spears D. How much international variation in child height can sanitation explain? World Bank policy research working paper No. 6351. Washington DC: World Bank; 2013 (http:// elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/1813-9450-6351, accessed 15 December 2015).

SUBSECTION

References

201. Progress on drinking water and sanitation: 2014 update. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund; 2014 (http://www.unicef.org/gambia/Progress_ on_drinking_water_and_sanitation_2014_update. pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

202. WHO/UNICEF joint monitoring programme for water supply and sanitation. World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund; 2015 (http://www.wssinfo.org/data-estimates/, accessed 5 October 2015).

203. Wastewater management. A UN-Water analytical brief. Geneva: UN-Water; 2015 (http:// www.unwater.org/fileadmin/user_upload/unwater_new/docs/UN-Water_Analytical_Brief_Wastewa-ter_Management.pdf, accessed 20 January 2016).

204. Hoornweg D, Bhada-Tata P. What a waste: a global review of solid waste management. Washington DC: World Bank; 2012 (http:// siteresources.worldbank.org/INTURBANDEVEL-OPMENT/Resources/336387-1334852610766/ What_a_Waste2012_Final.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

205. Banerjee A, Bharadwaj A, Pande R, Walton M. Delhi's slum-dwellers: deprivation, preferences and political engagement among the urban poor. London: International Growth Centre, London School of Economic and Political Science; 2012 (http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/Output/200039/ Default.aspx, accessed 4 December 2015).

206. Jenkins MW, Cumming O, Scott B, Cairncross S. Beyond "improved" towards "safe and sustainable" urban sanitation: assessing the design, management and functionality of sanitation in poor communities of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. J Water Sanit Hyg Dev. 2014;4:131. doi:10.2166/washdev.2013.180.

207. MacDonald Gibson J, DeFelice N, Sebastian D, Leker H. Racial disparities in access to community water supply service in Wake County, North Carolina. Am J Public Health. 2014;104:e45. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.10412e45.1.

208. Andrianou XD, Charisiadis P, Andra SS, Makris KC. Spatial and seasonal variability of urinary trihalomethanes concentrations in urban settings. Environ Res. 2014;135:289–95. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2014.09.015.

209. Wright J, Gundry S, Conroy R. Household drinking water in developing countries: a systematic review of microbiological contamination between source and point-of-use. Trop Med Int Health. 2004;9:106–17.

210. Bain R, Cronk R, Wright J, Yang H, Slaymaker T, Bartram J. Fecal contamination of drinking-water in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2014;11:e1001644. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001644.

211. Hulland K, Martin N, Dreibelbis R, Valliant JD, Winch P. What factors affect sustained adoption of safe water, hygiene, and sanitation technologies? 3ie Systematic Review Summary. London: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie); 2015 (http://www.3ieimpact.org/media/ filer_public/2015/08/23/srs_2-_factors_for_sustained_wash_adoption.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

212. Wolf J, Prüss-Ustün A, Cumming O. Assessing the impact of drinking water and sanitation on diarrhoeal disease in low-and middle-income settings: systematic review and meta-regression. Trop Med Int Health. 2014;19:928–42.

213. Global experiences on expanding services to the urban poor. Accompanying volume to the guidance notes on "improving water supply and sanitation services for the urban poor in India". New Delhi: Water and Sanitation Program – South Asia, World Bank; 2009 (https://www.wsp.org/ sites/wsp.org/files/publications/SA_GUIDANCE-NOTES_globaleg.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

214. Duflo E, Galiani S, Mobarak M. J-PAL urban services review paper. Cambridge: Abdul Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab (J-PAL); 2012 (http://www.povertyactionlab.org/publication/improving-access-urban-services-poor, accessed 9 December 2015).

215. Bassett EM. The persistence of the commons: economic theory and community decision-making on land tenure in Voi, Kenya. African Stud Q. 2007;9.

216. J-PAL Policy Briefcase: Happiness on Tap. Cambridge: Abdul Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab (J-PAL); 2013 (http://www.povertyactionlab.org/publication/happiness-tap, accessed 10 December 2015).

217. Hutton G. Global costs and benefits of drinking-water supply and sanitation interventions to reach the MDG target and universal coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/publications/2012/globalcosts.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

218. WWAP (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme). United Nations World Water Development Report: Water for a sustainable world. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2015 (http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002318/231823E.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

219. Pricing water resources and water sanitation services. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; 2010 (http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/ pricing-water-resources-and-water-and-sanitation-services_9789264083608-en, accessed 10 December 2015).

220. Brouwer R, Job FC, van der Kroon B, Johnston R. Comparing willingness to pay for improved drinking-water quality using stated preference methods in rural and urban Kenya. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2015;13:81–94. doi:10.1007/s40258-014-0137-2.

221. Khan NI, Brouwer R, Yang H. Household's willingness to pay for arsenic safe drinking water in Bangladesh. J Environ Manage. 2014;143:151–61. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.04.018.

222. Devoto F, Duflo E, Dupas P, Pariente W, Pons V. Happiness on Tap: piped water adoption in urban Morocco. Am Econ J. 2012;4:68–99. doi:10.3386/w16933.

223. Roy J. Willingness to pay and water service charge in Kolkata City. Report submitted to Kolkata Municipal Corporation. Kolkata: Kolkata Municipal Corporation; 2007.

224. Population and health dynamics in Nairobi's informal settlements: report of the Nairobi Cross-sectional Slums Survey (NCSS) 2012. Nairobi: African Population and Health Research Center; 2014 (http://aphrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/NCSS2-FINAL-Report.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

225. Mberu B, Elungata P. The fading fad of "flying toilets": slum upgrading program seeks to improve health in urban slums. APHRC News. 2013;11:8–9.

226. The economic role of cities. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2011 (http://mirror.unhabitat.org/pmss/getElectronicVersion.aspx?nr=3260&alt=1, accessed 10 December 2015).

227. Angel S, Parent J, Civco DL, Blei AM. Making room for a planet of cities. Cambridge: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy; 2011 (https:// www.citiesalliance.org/sites/citiesalliance.org/ files/CA_Images/Making Room for a Planet of Cities.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

228. Angel S, Sheppard SC, Civco DL. The dynamics of global urban expansion. Washington DC: World Bank; 2005 (http://web.worldbank. org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTURBANDE-VELOPMENT/0,,contentMDK:20970341~pageP-K:148956~piPK:216618~theSitePK:337178,00. html, accessed 20 January 2016).

229. Rode P, Floater G. Accessibility in cities: transport and urban form. NCE Cities – Paper 03. London: London School of Economics

SUBSECTION

and Political Science; 2014 (http://eprints.lse. ac.uk/60477/7/NCE Cities Paper03.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

230. Hanaki K. Induction to a low-carbon city: innovation of urban form and human activities. In: Sumi A, Mimura N, Masui T, editors. Climate change and global sustainability: a holistic approach (Sustainability Science Series, volume II). Tokyo: United Nations University Press; 2011.

231. Physical activity and adults: recommended levels of physical activity for adults aged 18–64 years [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_adults/en/, accessed 5 October 2015).

232. Schrank D, Eisele B, Lomax T, Bak J. 2015 Urban mobility scorecard. College Station: Texas A&M Transportation Institute and INRIX; 2015 (http://d2dtl5nnlpfr0r.cloudfront.net/tti. tamu.edu/documents/mobility-scorecard-2015. pdf, accessed 14 September 2015).

233. Measuring sprawl 2014. Washington DC: Smart Growth America; 2014 (http://www. smartgrowthamerica.org/documents/measuring-sprawl-2014.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015).

234. Zahniser KA. Why litigation-driven history matters: lessons learned from the secret history of TCE. Public Hist. 2015;37:46–53.

235. Borrego C, Martins H, Tchepel O, Salmim L, Monteiro A, Miranda Al. How urban structure can affect city sustainability from an air quality perspective. Environ Model Softw. 2006;21:461–7. doi:10.1016/j.envsoft.2004.07.009.

236. 11th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey 2015: ratings for metropolitan markets. Belleville/Christchurch: Demographia and Performance Urban Planning; 2014 (http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf, accessed 10 September 2015).

237. Durand CP, Andalib M, Dunton GF, Wolch J, Pentz MA. A systematic review of built environment factors related to physical activity and obesity risk: implications for smart growth urban planning. Obes Rev. 2011;12:e173–e182. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00826.x.

238. Ewing R, Cervero R. Travel and the built environment. J Am Plan Assoc. 2010;76:265–94. doi:10.1080/01944361003766766.

239. Healthy built environments: a review of the literature. Sydney: University of New South Wales; 2011 (https://www.be.unsw.edu. au/city-futures/city-wellbeing/literature-review, accessed 10 December 2015).

240. Sugiyama T, Cerin E, Owen N, Oyeyemi AL, Conway TL, Van Dyck D et al. Perceived neighbourhood environmental attributes associated with adults^[] recreational walking: IPEN Adult study in 12 countries. Health Place. 2014;28:22–30. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.03.003.

241. Ding D, Sallis JF, Kerr J, Lee S, Rosenberg DE. Neighborhood environment and physical activity among youth a review. Am J Prev Med. 2011;41:442–55. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.06.036.

242. Energy Foundation China [website]. San Francisco: Energy Foundation China; 2016 (http://www.efchina.org/, accessed 20 January 2016).

243. World population prospects: the 2012 revision, volume II. Demographic profiles. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division; 2013 (http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/publications/Files/ WPP2012_Volume-II-Demographic-Profiles.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

244. Global age-friendly cities: a guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (http:// www.who.int/ageing/publications/Global_age_ friendly_cities_Guide_English.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

245. Measuring the age-friendliness of cities: a guide to using core indicators. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2015 (http://www.who.int/kobe_centre/ publications/AFC_guide/en/, accessed 15 January 2016).

246. Plouffe LA, Kalache A. Making communities age friendly: state and municipal initiatives in Canada and other countries. Gac Sanit. 2011;25:131–7. doi:10.1016/j.gaceta.2011.11.001.

247. Final report on piloting the Age-Friendly City indicator guide. Bilbao: Bilbao City Council; 2015.

248. Cole S, McCarthy L. NASA, NOAA find 2014 warmest year in modern record. In: National Aeronautics and Space Administration [website]. Washington DC; NASA: 16 January 2015 (https:// www.nasa.gov/press/2015/january/nasa-determines-2014-warmest-year-in-modern-record, accessed 16 January 2015).

249. Protecting the public and minimizing health effects from heat: towards the development of a Heat-Health Action Framework for the Prefecture of Hyogo, Japan. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2013 (http://www.who.int/kobe_centre/publications/Technical_report_Heat_health_action_framework_HyogoPrefecture_19MAR13_final.pdf, accessed 5 October 2015). 250. Costello A, Abbas M, Allen A, Ball S, Bell S, Bellamy R et al. Managing the health effects of climate change: Lancet and University College London Institute for Global Health Commission. Lancet. 2009;373:1693–733. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60935-1.

251. Barriopedro D, Fischer EM, Luterbacher J, Trigo RM, García-Herrera R. The hot summer of 2010: redrawing the temperature record map of Europe. Science. 2011;332:220–4. doi:10.1126/ science.1201224.

252. Taylor A. Pakistan's heat wave is so deadly that morgues are overflowing. Washington DC: The Washington Post; 25 June 2015 (https:// www.washingtonpost.com/news/worldviews/ wp/2015/06/25/pakistans-heat-wave-is-so-deadly-that-morgues-are-overflowing/, accessed 25 January 2016).

253. Salamanca F, Georgescu M, Mahalov A, Moustaoui M, Wang M. Anthropogenic heating of the urban environment due to air conditioning. J Geophys Res Atmos. 2014;119:5949–65. doi:10.1002/2013JD021225.

254. Heat island effect. In: United States Environmental Protection Agency [website]. 2015 (http://www.epa.gov/heat-islands, accessed 10 December 2015).

255. Li D, Bou-Zeid E. Synergistic interactions between urban heat islands and heat waves: the impact in cities is larger than the sum of its parts. J Appl Meteorol Climatol. 2013;52:2051–64. doi:10.1175/JAMC-D-13-02.1.

256. Koppe C, Kovats S, Jendritzky G, Menne B. Health and global environmental change series, No. 2. Heat-waves: risks and responses. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2004 (http://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/heat-waves-risks-and-responses, accessed 10 December 2015).

257. Goodyear S. Resilience is about relationships, not just infrastructure. In: CityLab [website]. 3 January 2013 (http://www.citylab. com/weather/2013/01/resilience-about-relationships-not-just-infrastructure/4305/, accessed 5 October 2015).

258. Radcliffe D. Social networks boost heat wave resilience. In: In Common [website]. Nelson Institute for Environmental Studies; 2014 (http://nelson.wisc.edu/news/in-common/ spring-summer2014/story.php?s=1469, accessed 5 October 2015).

259. Li H, Harvey JT, Holland TJ, Kayhanian M. The use of reflective and permeable pavements as a potential practice for heat island mitigation and stormwater management. Environ Res Lett. 2013;8:015023. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/015023.

SUBSECTION

260. Hoag H. How cities can beat the heat. Nature. 2015;524:402–4. doi:10.1038/524402a.

261. Block AH, Livesley SJ, Williams NSG. Responding to the urban heat island: a review of the potential of green infrastructure. Melbourne: Victorian Centre for Climate Change Adaptation (VCCCAR); 2012 (http://www.preventionweb.net/english/professional/publications/v. php?id=36299, accessed 10 December 2015).

262. Doocy S, Daniels A, Murray S, Kirsch TD. The human impact of floods: a historical review of events 1980–2009 and systematic literature review. PLoS Curr. 2013;5:doi:10.1371/currents.dis.f4deb457904936b07c09daa98ee8171a.

263. Guzmán JM, Martine G, McGranahan G, Schensul D, Tacoli C. Population dynamics and climate change. New York/London: United Nations Population Fund and the International Institute for Environment and Development; 2009 (http://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/ resource-pdf/pop_dynamics_climate_change_0. pdf, accessed 10 November 2015).

264. The human cost of natural disasters 2015: a global perspective. Brussels: Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED), United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction; 2015 (http://reliefweb.int/ sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/PAND_report. pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

265. Grant M, Bird C, Marno P. Health inequalilties and determinants in the physical urban environment: evidence briefing [website]. Bristol: University of the West of England, Bristol; 2012 (http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/ item.aspx?RID=118056, accessed 10 December 2015).

266. Balk D, Mcgranahan G, Montgomery MR, Chandrasekhar S, Small C, Mara V et al. Mapping the risks of climate change in developing countries. 2008 (https://www.researchgate. net/publication/229029047_Mapping_the_risks_ of_climate_change_in_developing_countries, accessed 10 December 2015).

267. Nicholls RJ, Hanson S, Herweijer C, Patmore N, Hallegatte S, Corfee-Morlot J et al. Ranking port cities with high exposure and vulnerability to climate extremes. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Publishing; 2008 (http://www. oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/ranking-port-cities-with-high-exposure-and-vulnerability-to-climate-extremes_011766488208, accessed 10 December 2015).

268. Jha AK, Stanton-Geddes Z. Strong, safe and resilient: a strategic policy guide for disaster risk management in East Asia and the Pacific. Washington DC: World Bank; 2013 (http:// www.wcdrr.org/wcdrr-data/uploads/869/Strong Safe and Resilient.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

269. UN recognizes Hoboken as a role model city [website]. Geneva: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction; 2015 (http:// www.unisdr.org/archive/42762, accessed 10 December 2015).

270. Gupta K. Urban flood resilience planning and management and lessons for the future: a case study of Mumbai, India. Urban Water J. 2007;4:183–94. doi:10.1080/15730620701464141.

271. Planning and design for sustainable urban mobility: global report on human settlements 2013. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme (http://unhabitat.org/ planning-and-design-for-sustainable-urban-mobility-global-report-on-human-settlements-2013/, accessed 15 December 2015).

272. Ecola L, Rohr C, Zmud J, Kuhnimhof T, Phleps P. The future of driving in developing countries. Santa Monica: RAND Corporation; 2014 (http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/ pubs/research_reports/RR600/RR636/RAND_ RR636.pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

273. Habitat III issues papers: 19-transport and mobility. New York: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2015 (http://unhabitat. org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Habitat-III-Issue-Paper-19_Transport-and-Mobility-2.0.pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

274. 2015 Global status report on road safety. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/ road_safety_status/2015/en/, accessed 10 December 2015).

275. World malaria report 2013. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (http://www. who.int/malaria/publications/world_malaria_report_2013/en/, accessed 10 December 2015).

276. Wright L, Fulton L. Climate change mitigation and transport in developing nations. Transp Rev. 2005;25:691–717. doi:10.1080/01441640500360951.

277. Towards a green economy: pathways to sustainable development and poverty eradication. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme; 2011 (http://www.unep.org/ greeneconomy/Portals/88/documents/ger/ ger_final_dec_2011/Green EconomyReport_Final_Dec2011.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

278. Air quality deteriorating in many of the world's cities [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://bit.ly/1nnM5Pb, accessed 10 December 2015). 279. Krzyzanowski M, Apte JS, Bonjour S, Brauer M, Cohen AJ, Prüss-Ustun AM. Air pollution in the mega-cities. Curr Environ Health Reports. 2014;1:185–91. doi:10.1007/s40572-014-0019-7.

280. Ambient (outdoor) air pollution in cities database 2014 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://www.who.int/phe/ health_topics/outdoorair/databases/cities/en/, accessed 20 January 2016).

281. HEI Panel on the Health Effects of Traffic-Related Air Pollution. Traffic-related air pollution: a critical review of the literature on emissions, exposure, and health effects. HEI special report No. 17. Boston: Health Effects Institute; 2010 (http://pubs.healtheffects.org/getfile. php?u=552, accessed 25 November 2015).

282. Jerrett M, Su J, Apte J, Beckerman B. Estimates of population exposure to traffic-related air pollution in Beijing, China and New Delhi, India. Boston: Health Effects Institute; 2010 (http:// www.healtheffects.org/International/Jerrett_Asia_ Traffic_Exposure.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

283. Ambient (outdoor) air quality and health. Fact sheet No. 313 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://www.who. int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs313/en/, accessed 14 September 2015).

284. Lelieveld J, Evans JS, Fnais M, Giannadaki D, Pozzer A. The contribution of outdoor air pollution sources to premature mortality on a global scale. Nature. 2015;525:367–71. doi:10.1038/nature15371.

285. Bhalla K, Shotten M, Cohen A, Brauer M, Shahraz S, Burnett R et al. Transport for health: the global burden of disease from motorized road transport. Seattle/Washington DC: Global Road Safe Facility, World Bank and Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2014 (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/2014/01/19308007/transport-health-global-burden-disease-motorized-road-transport, accessed 10 December 2015).

286. Decade of action for road safety 2011–2020: saving millions of lives. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (http://who.int/ violence_injury_prevention/publications/road_traffic/saving_millions_lives_en.pdf, accessed 10 October 2015).

287. Welle B, Liu Q, Li W, Adriazola-Steil C, King R, Sarmiento C et al. Cities safer by design: guidance and examples to promote traffic safety through urban and street design. Washington DC: World Resources Institute; 2015 (http://www.wri. org/publication/cities-safer-design, accessed 15 December 2015).

SUBSECTION

288. Wright L, Hook W. Bus rapid transit planning guide. New York: Institute for Transportation and Development Policy; 2007 (http://www. nbrti.org/docs/pdf/ITDP BRT Planning Guide.pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

289. Echeverry JC, Ibáñez AM, Moya A, Hillón LC. The economics of TransMilenio: a mass transit system for Bogota. Economía. 2005;5:151– 96.

290. Carrigan A, King R, Velasquez JM, Raifman M, Duduta N. Social, environmental and economic impacts of BRT systems: bus rapid transit case studies from around the world. Washington DC: EMBARQ/World Resources Institute; 2013 (http://www.wricities.org/sites/ default/files/Social-Environmental-Economic-Impacts-BRT-Bus-Rapid-Transit-EMBARQ.pdf, accessed 15 November 2015).

291. Winstead R. BRT hits 400 corridors and systems worldwide. In: The City Fix [website]. Washington DC: World Resources Institute; 2015 (http://thecityfix.com/blog/brt-hits-400-corridorssystems-worldwide-ryan-winstead/, accessed 10 December 2015).

292. Bus rapid transit: projects improve transit service and can contribute to economic development. Washington DC: United States Government Accountability Office; 2012 (http:// www.gao.gov/products/GAO-12-811, accessed 10 December 2015).

293. Ireland C. The makeover of Mexico City. In: The Harvard Gazette [website]. 6 February 2015 (http://news.harvard.edu/gazette/ story/2015/02/the-makeover-of-mexico-city/, accessed 10 December 2015).

294. Transformando la movilidad urbana en México: hacia ciudades accesibles con menor uso del automóvil. Mexico City: Instituto de Politicas para el Transporte y el Desarrollo; 2012 (http://mexico.itdp.org/wp-content/uploads/ Transformando-la-movilidad-urbana-en-Mexico1. pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

295. Riojas-Rodriguez H, Alamo-Hernandez U, Texcala-Sangrador JL, Romieu I. Evaluación de impacto en salud por exposición a ozono y material particulado en la Zona Metropolitana del Valle de México. Salud Publica Mex. 2014;56:579–91.

296. The benefits and costs of a bus rapid transit system in Mexico City. Mexico City: Instituto Nacional de Ecologia; 2006 (http://www.inecc. gob.mx/descargas/calaire/metrobus_bca.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

297. Using the Health Economic Assessment Tools (HEAT) for walking and cycling: lessons learnt. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2013 (http://www. euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/241728/ USING-THE-HEALTH-ECONOMIC-ASSESS-MENT-TOOLS-HEAT-FOR-WALKING-AND-CY-CLING,-LESSONS-LEARNT.pdf?ua=1, accessed 9 December 2015).

298. Verma P, Valderrama JSL, Pardo C. Bicycle account: Bogotá 2014. Bogotá: Despacio; 2014 (http://despacio.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/01/Bicycle-Account-BOG-2014-20150109-LR.pdf, accessed 15 November 2015).

299. Duduta N, Adriazola-Steil C, Hidalgo D. Saving lives with sustainable transport: traffic safety impacts of sustainable transport policies. Washington DC: World Resources Institute and EMBARQ; 2013 (http://www.wri.org/publication/ saving-lives-sustainable-transport, accessed 9 December 2015).

300. Rojas-Rueda D, de Nazelle A, Tainio M, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ. The health risks and benefits of cycling in urban environments compared with car use: health impact assessment study. BMJ. 2011;343:d4521. doi:10.1136/bmj.d4521.

301. Mohan D, Tiwari G, Bhalla K. Road safety in India status report. New Delhi: Indian Institute of Technology Delhi; 2015 (http://tripp. iitd.ernet.in/road_safety_in_India_status_report. pdf, accessed 15 December 2015).

302. Rosen E, Sander U. Pedestrian fatality risk as a function of car impact speed. Accid Anal Prev. 2009;41:536–42. doi:10.1016/j. aap.2009.02.002.

303. Aarts L, van Schagen I. Driving speed and the risk of road crashes: a review. Accid Anal Prev. 2006;38:215–24. doi:10.1016/j. aap.2005.07.004.

304. Road traffic injuries. Fact sheet No.
358 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization;
2015 (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs358/en/, accessed 15 January 2016).

305. Income disparities in street features that encourage walking. Chicago: Bridging the Gap (BTG); 2012 (http://www.bridgingthegapre-search.org/_asset/02fpi3/btg_street_walkabili-ty_FINAL_03-09-12.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

306. Adriazola-Steil C, Li W, Welle B. Designing safer cities for children. In: The City Fix [website]. Washington DC: World Resources Institute; 2015 (http://thecityfix.com/blog/urbandesign-street-road-safety-children-cities-claudia-adriazola-steil-wei-li-ben-welle/, accessed 4 December 2015).

307. Why Sweden has so few road deaths. In: The Economist Explains, The Economist [website]. 26 February 2014 (http://www.economist. com/blogs/economist-explains/2014/02/economist-explains-16, accessed 4 December 2015).

308. The right to adequate housing. Fact sheet No. 21 (rev. 1). Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2009 (http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FS21_rev_1_Housing_en.pdf, accessed 14 November 2015).

309. Habitat III issue papers: 20-housing. New York: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2015 (http://unhabitat.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Habitat-III-Issue-Paper-20_Housing-2.0.pdf, accessed 20 October 2015).

310. Woetzel J, Ram S, Mischke J, Garemo N, Sankhe S. A blueprint for addressing the global affordable housing challenge. Seoul: McKinsey Global Institute; 2014 (http://globalhousingindicators.org/sites/globalhousingindicators.org/ files/McKinsey Global Institute Full Report.pdf, accessed 22 September 2015).

311. Krieger J, Higgins DL. Housing and health: time again for public health action. Am J Public Health. 2015;92:758–68.

312. Braubach M, Jacobs DE, Ormandy D, editors. Environmental burden of disease associated with inadequate housing. A method guide to the quantification of health effects of selected housing risks in the WHO European Region. Summary report. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2011 (http://www.euro.who. int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/ urban-health/publications/2011/environmental-burden-of-disease-associated-with-inadequate-housing.-summary-report, accessed 22 September 2015).

313. Housing and slum upgrading. In: UN-Habitat [website]. United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2015 (http://unhabitat. org/urban-themes/housing-slum-upgrading/, accessed 9 December 2015).

314. The challenge of slums: global report on human settlements 2003 [website]. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2003 (http://www.unhabitat.org.jo/pdf/ GRHS.2003.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

315. Cattaneo MD, Galiano S, Gertler PJ, Martinez S, Titiunik R. Housing, health and happiness. Policy research working paper series No. 4214. Washington DC: World Bank; 2007 (https://ideas.repec.org/p/wbk/wbrwps/4214. html, accessed 9 December 2015).

316. Thomson H, Thomas S, Sellstrom E, Petticrew M. Housing improvements for health and associated socio-economic outcomes.

SUBSECTION	PG
References	236

Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2013;2:CD008657. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008657.pub2.

317. Thomson H, Thomas S. Developing empirically supported theories of change for housing investment and health. Soc Sci Med. 2015;124:205–14. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.11.043.

318. Watson I, Hatcher P. Tackling health inequalities: Liverpool Healthy Homes Programme. In: Stewart J, editor. Effective strategies and interventions: environmental health and the private housing sector. London: Chartered Institute of Environmental Health; 2013:71–5 (http://gala.gre.ac.uk/9937/1/ ITEM_9937_STEWART_-_CIEH_effective_strategies 2013.pdf, accessed 9 December 2015).

319. Galiani S, Gertler PJ, Cooper R, Martinez S, Ross A, Undurraga R. Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums. Washington DC: Inter-American Development Bank; 2014 (https://www.poverty-action.org/sites/default/files/publications/IDB-WP-528-martinez-paper-shelter-from-the-storm. pdf, accessed 8 December 2015).

320. Mehdipanah R, Rodríguez-Sanz M, Malmusi D, Muntaner C, Díez E, Bartoll X et al. The effects of an urban renewal project on health and health inequalities: a quasi-experimental study in Barcelona. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2014;68:811–7. doi:10.1136/jech-2013-203434.

321. Mehdipanah R, Malmusi D, Muntaner C, Borrell C. An evaluation of an urban renewal program and its effects on neighborhood resident's overall wellbeing using concept mapping. Health Place. 2013;23:9–17. doi:10.1016/j.health-place.2013.04.009.

322. Turley R, Saith R, Bhan N, Rehfuess E, Carter B. Slum upgrading strategies involving physical environment and infrastructure interventions and their effects on health and socio-economic outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2013;6:57. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010067.pub2.

323. Participatory slum upgrading programme. In: UN-Habitat [website]. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2012 (http://unhabitat.org/urban-initiatives/initiatives-programmes/participatory-slum-upgrading/, accessed 22 September 2015).

324. Urban planning for city leaders. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2012 (http://mirror.unhabitat.org/ pmss/listltemDetails.aspx?publicationID=3385, accessed 22 September 2015).

325. World energy outlook. Paris: International Energy Agency; 2014 (http://www.worldenergyout-look.org/weo2014/, accessed 9 December 2015).

326. Chafe ZA, Brauer M, Klimont Z, Van Dingenen R, Mehta S, Rao S et al. Household cooking with solid fuels contributes to ambient PM2.5 air pollution and the burden of disease. Environ Health Perspect. 2014;122:1314–20. doi:10.1289/ehp.1206340.

327. Smith KR, Bruce N, Balakrishnan K, Adair-Rohani H, Balmes J, Chafe Z et al. Millions dead: How do we know and what does it mean? Methods used in the comparative risk assessment of household air pollution. Annu Rev Public Health. 2014;35:185–206. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182356.

328. Mortality from household air pollution. In: Global health observatory [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (http://www.who. int/gho/phe/indoor_air_pollution/burden_text/en/, accessed 1 October 2015).

329. Bruce N, Pope D, Rehfuess E, Balakrishnan K, Adair-Rohani H, Dora C. WHO indoor air quality guidelines on household fuel combustion: strategy implications of new evidence on interventions and exposure-risk functions. Atmos Environ. 2015;106:451–7. doi:10.1016/j. atmosenv.2014.08.064.

330. Banerjee R, Benson SM, Bouille DH, Brew-Hammond A, Cherp A, Coelho ST et al. Global energy assessment: toward a sustainable future. Cambridge/New York/Laxenburg: Cambridge University Press and International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis; 2012 (http://www. iiasa.ac.at/web/home/research/Flagship-Projects/ Global-Energy-Assessment/GEA-Summary-web. pdf, accessed 22 September 2015).

331. Rehfuess EA, Puzzolo E, Stanistreet
D, Pope D, Bruce NG. Enablers and barriers to large-scale uptake of improved solid fuel stoves: a systematic review. Environ Health Perspect.
2014;122:120–30. doi:10.1289/ehp.1306639.

332. Smith KR. Changing paradigms in clean cooking. Ecohealth. 2015;12:196–9. doi:10.1007/s10393-015-1020-9.

333. Mobarak M, Dwivedi P, Bailis R, Hildemann L, Miller G. Low demand for nontraditional cookstove technologies. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109:10815–20. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1115571109.

334. Egondi T, Kyobutungi C, Ng N, Muindi K, Oti S, van de Vijver S et al. Community perceptions of air pollution and related health risks in Nairobi slums. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2013;10:4851–68. doi:10.3390/ijerph10104851.

335. Hanna R, Duflo E, Greenstone M. Up in smoke: the influence of household behavior on the long-run impact of improved cooking stoves. NBER working paper No. 18033. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research; 2012 (http://www.nber.org/papers/w18033, accessed 4 December 2015).

336. Leach G. The energy transition. Energy Policy. 1992;20:116–123. doi:10.1016/0301-4215(92)90105-B.

337. Hiemstra-van der Horst G, Hovorka AJ. Reassessing the "energy ladder": household energy use in Maun, Botswana. Energy Policy. 2008;36:3333–44. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2008.05.006.

338. Heltberg R. Fuel switching: evidence from eight developing countries. Energy Econ. 2004;26:869–87. doi:10.1016/j.eneco.2004.04.018.

339.Pachauri S, Jiang L. The household energy transition in India and China. Energy Policy.2008;36:4022–35. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.06.016.

340. Eichholtz P, Lindenthal T. Demographics, human capital, and the demand for housing. J Hous Econ. 2014;26:19–32. doi:10.1016/j. jhe.2014.06.002.

341. Nicoll G, Lee KK, Dubose J. Active design: affordable designs for affordable housing. New York: City of New York; 2013 (http://www1.nyc.gov/assets/doh/downloads/pdf/ environmental/affordable-designs.pdf, accessed 15 September 2016).

342. Litman T. Affordable-accessible housing in a dynamic city: why and how to increase affordable housing in accessible neighborhoods. Victoria: Victoria Transport Policy Institute; 2015 (http://www.vtpi.org/aff_acc_hou.pdf, accessed 4 December 2015).

343. Lall S V, Van den Brink R, Dasgupta B, Leresche KM. Shelter from the storm - but disconnected from jobs: lessons from urban South Africa on the importance of coordinating housing and transport policies: policy research working papers. Washington DC: World Bank; 2012.

344. Liveanomics: urban liveability and economic growth. London: Economist Intelligence Unit; 2011 (http://www.economistinsights.com/sites/ default/files/legacy/mgthink/downloads/LON - IS -Philips liveable cities Report 02 WEB.pdf?community[74]=74, accessed 9 December 2015).

345. Enhancing urban safety and security: global report on human settlements, 2007. Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme; 2007 (http://unhabitat.org/books/ global-report-on-human-settlements-2007-enhancing-urban-safety-and-security/, accessed 8 December 2015).

SUBSECTION

References

346. The 50 most violent cities in the world [website]. Mexico City: El Consejo Ciudadano para la Seguridad Pública y la Justicia Penal; 2014 (http://www.seguridadjusticiaypaz.org.mx/ biblioteca/analisis-estadistico/send/5-analisisestadistico/199-the-50-most-violent-cities-inthe-world-2014, accessed 10 December 2015).

347. Allen N. Straight into Compton: house prices soar as murderous gangs reach truce. In: The Telegraph [website]. 2014 (http://www. telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/northamerica/ usa/11313948/Straight-into-Compton-houseprices-soar-as-murderous-gangs-reach-truce. html, accessed 15 October 2015).

348. Homicide monitor [website]. Rio de Janeiro: Igarapé Institute; 2012 (http://homicide. igarape.org.br, accessed 20 January 2016).

349. Violence in the city: understanding and supporting community responses to urban violence. Washington DC: World Bank; 2011 (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/2011/04/14831166/violence-city-understanding-supporting-community-responses-urban-violence, accessed 10 November 2015).

350. Peres MFT, Vicentin D, Nery MB, de Lima RS, de Souza ER, Cerda M et al. Decline in homicide rates in São Paulo, Brasil: a descriptive analysis. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2011;29:17– 26. doi:10.1590/S1020-49892011000100003.

351. Willett S. Insecurity, conflict and the new global disorder. IDS Bull. 2001;32:35–47. doi:10.1111/j.1759-5436.2001.mp32002004.x.

352. Muggah R. Researching the urban dilemma: urbanization, poverty and violence. Ottawa: International Development Research Centre; 2012 (http://www.idrc.ca/EN/PublishingImages/ Researching-the-Urban-Dilemma-Baseline-study. pdf, accessed 15 November 2015).

353. Global burden of armed violence 2011: lethal encounters. Geneva: Geneva Declaration Secretariat; 2011 (http://www. genevadeclaration.org/measurability/global-burden-of-armed-violence/global-burden-of-armed-violence-2011.html, accessed 15 October 2015).

354. 2013 Global study on homicide. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2013 https://www.unodc.org/documents/gsh/ pdfs/2014_GLOBAL_HOMICIDE_BOOK_web.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

355. WHO Multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women. Summary report of initial results on prevalence, health outcomes and women's responses. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005 (http:// www.who.int/gender/violence/who_multicountry_study/summary_report/summary_report_English2.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

356. Briceno-Leon R, Zubillaga V. Violence and globalization in Latin America. Curr Sociol. 2002;50:19–37. doi:10.1177/001139210205000 1003.

357. Kelly A. Safe cities for women: from reality to rights. Dublin: ActionAid; 2014 (http:// global.safecitiesforwomen.org/wp-content/up-loads/sites/5/2014/02/safe-cities.pdf, accessed 5 December 2015).

358. Gupta K, Arnold F, Lhungdim H. Health and living conditions in eight Indian cities. National Family Health Survey (NFHS-3) India 2005–2006. Mumbai/Calverton: International Institute for Population Sciences and ICF Macro; 2009 (http://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/ od58/od58.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

359. 2011 Global study on homicide. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2011 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/congress/background-information/Crime_Statistics/ Global_Study_on_Homicide_2011.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

360. Global status report on violence prevention 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization, United Nations Development Programme and United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2014 (http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/, accessed 7 December 2015).

361. Rosenberg T. Colombia's data-driven fight against crime. In: The New York Times [website]. 20 November 2014 (http://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/2014/11/20/colombias-data-driven-fight-against-crime/?_r=1, accessed 15 September 2015).

362. Toro F. How to cut crime in Colombia: treat violence as a social disease. In: The Guardian [website]. 8 December 2014 (http:// www.theguardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2014/dec/08/columbia-cuts-crime-treating-violence-as-disease, accessed 7 December 2015).

363. Matzopoulos R, Myers JE. The Western Cape Government's new Integrated Provincial Violence Prevention Policy Framework: successes and challenges. Aggress Violent Behav. 2014;19:649–54. doi:10.1016/j. avb.2014.09.009.

364. Cerdá M, Morenoff JD, Hansen BB, Tessari Hicks KJ, Duque LF, Restrepo A et al. Reducing violence by transforming neighborhoods: a natural experiment in Medellín, Colombia. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;175:1045–53. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr428. 365. Blattman C. Reducing crime and violence: experimental evidence on adult non-cognitive investments in Liberia. NBER working paper No. 21204. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research; 2015 (http://www.nber.org/papers/w21204, accessed 7 December 2015).

366. Becoming a Man (BAM) – Sports edition. University of Chicago Crime Lab Research and Policy Brief. Chicago: University of Chicago; 2012 (https://crimelab.uchicago.edu/sites/ crimelab.uchicago.edu/files/uploads/BAM_FINAL Research and Policy Brief_20120711.pdf, accessed 7 December 2015).

367. Cure Violence [website]. Chicago: Cure Violence; 2016 (http://cureviolence.org, accessed 20 January 2016).

368. Barten F, Akerman M, Becker D, Friel S, Hancock T, McGranahan G et al. Governance for health equity in urban settings. London: Global Research Network on Urban Health Equity; 2010 (https://www.ucl.ac.uk/gheg/GRNUHE/GRNUHE-Publication/GRNUHE_WorkingPaper_Governance_and_Urban_Health_Equity.doc, accessed 10 December 2015).

369. Szreter S. Economic growth, disruption, deprivation, disease, and death: on the importance of the politics of public health for development. Popul Dev Rev. 1997;23:693–728. doi:10.2307/2137377.

370. What is good governance? Bangkok: United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific; 2009 (http://www. unescap.org/sites/default/files/good-governance. pdf, accessed 16 December 2015).

371. Szreter S. Industrialization and health. Br Med Bull. 2004;69:75–86. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldh005.

372. Katz AS, Cheff RM, O'Campo P. Bringing stakeholders together for urban health equity: hallmarks of a compromised process. Int J Equity Health. 2015;14:138. doi:10.1186/s12939-015-0252-1.

373. Blair H. Participation and accountability at the periphery: democratic local governance in six countries. World Dev. 2000;28:21–39. doi:10.1016/S0305-750X(99)00109-6.

374. Souza C. Participatory budgeting in Brazilian cities: limits and possibilities in building democratic institutions. Environ Urban. 2001;13:159–84. doi:10.1177/095624780101300112.

375. Harris D. 5 reasons why good governments should embrace open data. Gigaom. 4 January 2014 (http://gigaom.com/2014/01/04/5reasons-why-good-governments-should-embrace-open-data/, accessed 10 December 2015).

SUBSECTION

References

376. What is Twaweza? In: Twaweza [website]. (http://www.twaweza.org/go/what-is-twaweza, accessed 16 December 2015).

377. The ten principles of the UN Global Compact. New York: United Nations (https://www. unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles, accessed 16 December 2015).

378. As fundações privadas e associações sem fins lucrativos no Brasil 2010. Rio de Janeiro: Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE); 2012 (ftp://ftp.ibge.gov.br/ Fundacoes_Privadas_e_Associacoes/2010/fasfil. pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

379. Ahluwalia IJ. Improving our cities through better governance. NUG papers – Essay 03. London: London School of Economics and Political Science; 2014 (https://files.lsecities.net/ files/2015/05/New-Urban-Governance_Essay03. pdf, accessed 10 December 2015).

380. Fobil JN, Armah NA, Hogarh JN, Carboo D. The influence of institutions and organizations on urban waste collection systems: an analysis of waste collection system in Accra, Ghana (1985–2000). J Environ Manage. 2008;86:262–71. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2006.12.038.

381. Leppo K, Ollila E, Peña S, Wismar M, Cook S, editors. Health in All Policies: seizing opportunities, implementing policies. Helsinki: Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland; 2013 (http://www.euro.who.int/en/about-us/partners/ observatory/publications/studies/health-in-all-policies-seizing-opportunities,-implementing-policies, accessed 16 December 2015).

382. Health in All Policies: the emperor's old clothes. In: Healthy Policies [website]. 2011 (http://www.healthypolicies.com/2011/08/health-in-all-policies-the-emperor%E2%80%99s-old-clothes/, accessed 11 December 2015).

383. Health in All Policies (HiAP) [website]. Richmond: City of Richmond, California; 2014 (http://www.ci.richmond.ca.us/2575/Health-in-All-Policies-HiAP, accessed 11 December 2015).

384. Larsen M, Rantala R, Koudenburg OA, Gulis G. Intersectoral action for health: the experience of a Danish municipality. Scand J Public Health. 2014;42:649–57. doi:10.1177/1403494814544397.

385. Mettey A, Garcia A, Isaac L, Linos N, Barbot O, Bassett M. Take Care New York 2020: every neighborhood, every New Yorker, everyone's health counts. New York: New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene; 2015 (http://www.nyc.gov/html/doh/downloads/pdf/tcny/tcny-2020.pdf, accessed 16 December 2015).

386. Rudolph L, Caplan J, Mitchell C, Ben-Moshe K, Dillon L. Health in All Policies: improving health through intersectoral collaboration [website]. Washington DC: Institute of Medicine of the National Academies; 2013 (https://www. phi.org/uploads/application/files/q79jnmxq5krx-9qiu5j6gzdnl6g9s41l65co2ir1kz0lvmx67to.pdf, accessed 11 December 2015).

387. Schwab K. The global competitiveness report 2014–2015 [website]. Geneva: World Economic Forum; 2014 (http://www3.weforum. org/docs/WEF_GlobalCompetitivenessReport_2014-15.pdf, accessed 11 December 2015).

388. Sienese followers of Duccio: Ambrogio and Pietro Lorenzetti. In: SUNY Oneoneta [website]. (http://employees.oneonta.edu/farberas/ arth/arth213/lorenzetti.html, accessed 11 December 2015).

389. Braveman PA, Kumanyika S, Fielding J, Laveist T, Borrell LN, Manderscheid R et al. Health disparities and health equity: the issue is justice. Am J Public Health. 2011;101:S149–S155. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2010.300062.

390. Rothenberg R, Stauber C, Weaver S, Dai D, Prasad A, Kano M. Urban health indicators and indices-current status. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:494. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1827-x.

391. Urban Health Index tool kit [website]. Kobe: World Health Organization Centre for Health Development; 2014 (http://www.who.int/ kobe_centre/publications/urban_health_index_ toolkit/en/, accessed 10 December 2015).

GLOBAL REPORT

URBAN

equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development

HEALTH

The Sustainable Development Goals, 2016-2030 (SDGs), inclusive of its goals and targets for health and for urban settings, provides an unprecedented opportunity to improve the lives, health, productivity, and wellbeing of all people living in an increasingly urbanized world.

The WHO-UN Habitat Global Report on Urban Health: equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development presents new information and evidence-based multi-sectoral practical solutions to enable cities, countries, and the global health community reduce health inequities, achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and realize universal health coverage (UHC) and the New Urban Agenda. The report reveals the impact of health inequities on achieving health outcomes and outlines options for strengthening health systems and reshaping urban environments, capitalizing on synergy of actions across sectors and co-benefits.



World Health Organization Centre for Health Development (WHO Kobe Centre) Kobe, Japan http://www.who.int/kobe_centre/en/ wkc@who.int



United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat) Nairobi, Kenya http://www.unhabitat.org infohabitat@unhabitat.org

